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CITATION OF REPORTS

Rule 46 of the Supreme Court is as follows:

Inasmuch as all the Reports prior to the 83rd have been reprinted by the
State, with the number of the Volume instead of the name of the Reporter,
counsel will cite the volumes prior to 83 N. C. as follows:

1 and 2 Martin, 1N.C 9 Iredell Law 31 N. C.
Taslor & Cont, { as €l g0 . " 39
1 Haywood .....covmmmnnncersienns o2 11 " " 83 -
2 B s “ 3 “ 12 " o 34 «
1 and 2 Car. Law Re- wog o 138 " 35
pository & N. C. Term } 1 u Eq. L3836 ¢
1 Murphey 5 “ 2 . v 87
2 ‘“ 6 " 3 “ ‘ 38 "
3 “ 7 “ 4 o ‘ i 39 .
1 Hawks v, g « 5 “ (i I
2 . . 9 ¢ 6 “* s 41 “
3 L " T o ‘“ K A
4 s " 8 “ ¢ 43 “«
1 Devereux Law “ Busbee Law ... 44 -
2 ° “ * Eq. ... 45
3 s “ 1 Jones Law ., 46 -
4 “ “ o “ " 4-‘- “
1 i i 3 “ § 48 ‘“
2 e S 49
1 Dev. & Bat. Law “ 3 “ “ 50
2 6 & L 6 b ) 51 .
3&4¢ “ T “ ¢ 52
1 Dev. & Bat. Eq " 8 ¢ “ “ 53 «
2 [ 4 1 " Eq. “ 54 "
1 Iredell Law “ 2 6 e “ BB
2 [ e e vens & " 3 & 44 13 56 e
3 (13 [y 4 g B [ 57 1"
4 [ [11 5 [ L % 5R “
5 & “ 6 “ LU [y 59 e
6 - * 1 and 2 Winston. .80
7 “ “* Phillipe T.aw .iiinnennne L B
8 “ “ o EQ. i “ g2 «

& In quoting from the reprinted Reports, counsel will cite alwayrs the
marginal (i.e.. the original) paging.

The opinions published in the first six volumes of the reports were written
by the “Court of Conference” and the Supreme Court prior to 1819.

From the Tth to the 62d volumes, both inclusive, will be found the opinions
of the Supreme Court, consisting of three members, for the first fifty vears
of its existence. or from 1818 to 1868. The opinions of the Court. consisting
of five members. immediately following the Civil War. are published in the
volumes from the 63d to the 79th, both inclusive. From the 80th to the
101st volumes, both inclusive. will be found the opinion of the Court. con-
sisting of three members. from 1879 to 1889, The opinions of the Court. con-
sisting of five members. from 1889 to 1 July, 1937. are published in volumes
102 to 211. both inclusive. Since 1 July. 1937, and beginning with volume 212,
the Court has consisted of seven members.
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JUSTICES

OF THE

SUPREME COURT OF NORTH CAROLINA

FALL TERM, 1956—SPRING TERM, 1957.

CHIEF JUSTICE:

J. WALLACE WINBORNE.

ASSOCIATE JUSTICES !

EMERY B. DENNY, WILLIAM H. BOBBITT,
JEFF. D. JOHNSON, JR,, CARLISLE W. HIGGINS,
R. HUNT PARKER, WILLIAM B. RODMAN, JR.

EMERGENCY JUSTICES:

W. A. DEVIN? M. V. BARNHILL.

ATTORNEY-GENERAL ;

GEORGE B. PATTON.

ASSISTANT ATTORNEYS-GENERAL !

T. W. BRUTON, HARRY W. McGALLIARD,
CLAUDE L. LOVE, JOHN HILL PAYLOR,
PEYTON B. ABBOTT, SAMUEL BEHRENDS, JR.,

ROBERT E. GILES.

SUPREME COURT RFEPORTER .

JOHN M. STRONG.

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT:

ADRIAN J. NEWTON.

MARSHAL AND LIBRARIAN:

DILLARD 8. GARDNER.

ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT TO THE CHIEF JUSTICE:

BERT M. MONTAGUE.

10n recall for the Fall Term, 1456,
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JUDGES

OF THE

SUPERIOR COURTS OF NORTH CAROLINA

FIRST DIVISION

Name District © Address
CHESTER R. MORRIS....coccvrirerirraservnecernrossaens FIrst. e Coinjock.
MarcorLm C. PavL... ..Second Washington.
WirLiaM J. Bunpy....... .Third ...Greenville.
HENRY L. STEVENS, JB. ccciviinneinninieninnnn Fourth.. Warsaw.
CrirtoN I.. MOORE....... .Fifth ..Burgaw.
JosEpH W. PARKER.. ..Sixth Windsor.
WALTER J. BONE....ccoiiinnnieiininnimececnnnenne Seventh.... ...Nashville.
J. PAUL FRIZZELLE.....cccccvverurervenrercrnrnenrecenan Eighth..oovceeerenneeinn Snow Hill.

SECOND DIVISION
HAMILTON H. HOBGOOD.....coierrcvnnninscsirensrenna Ninthe.cneenneeen Louisburg.
WILLIAM Y. BICKETT..... ....Raleigh.

CLAWBON L. WILLIAMS.....ocoreeriarirerennneeee BlEVENtHoceccn e, Sanford.

Q. K. NIMOCKS, JR. coovnnniiinneseessnnmsieisniosens Twelfth....coconeeerinnnnn Fayetteville.
RAYMOND B, MALLARD ..Thirteenth Tabor City.
C. W, HALL....ooccocvvrrvennnn Fourteenth. ....Durham,
LEO CARR....cccecricarimrnnreireineinnesisisssessssssassoneans Fifteenth........ ....Burlington,
MALCOLM B. SEAWELL......cveiimeresnsininnnens Sixteenth.....cccceverinnns Lumberton. |
ALLEN H. GWYNummimmisinamenes Reidsville.
WALTER BE. CRISSMAN.... ..Kighteenth ...High Point.
L. RICHARDSON PREYER....ccovrionrisnreisns Eighteenth Greensboro.
FRANK M., ARMSTRONG....cccvrmreirversnerneen Nineteenth................... Troy.

F. DoNALD PHILLIPS Twentieth...... ....Rockingham.
WALTER E. JOHNSTON, JR. wiivircnianiinnas Twenty-First.... ....Winston-Salem.

HUBERT E. OLIVE.....c..covnures .Twenty-Second........... Lexington,

J. A, ROUBSEAU...c.ocomnmruersunsenmsiiasersessssrissies Twenty-Third.............. North Wilkeshoro,
FOURTH DIVISION

J. FRANK HUSBKINS...cooccimimniinieninnenissnnsninns Twenty-Fourth........... Burnsville.

J. C. RupisILL .Twenty-Fifth.... ..Newton.

FRANCIS O. CLARKSON.....coceeinveniersansssssenenss Twenty-Sixth Charlotte.

HUGH B. CAMPBELL......cccocvveeerrenrernenecnnencnn Twenty-Sixth.............. Charlotte.

P. C. FRONEBERGER... Twenty-Seventh.......... Gastonia.

Zes V. NETTLES......... Twenty-Eighth............ Asheville.

J. WiLL PLEss, Jr.. .Twenty-Ninth............. Marion.

DAN K. MOORE......ccovccivisieennrenrersrecsirensnnsnnen Thirtieth.....cccoiviinnn Sylva.
SPECIAL JUDGES.

GEORGE M. FOUNTATIN it rsncecienie st s sse s sat s sabassans ssoretasees Tarboro.

.Pinehurst.
.Reidsville.

W. A. LEraND McKEITHEN.
SUSIE SHARP.......

J. B. CRAVEN, JR. iiiiiiiiiiriiiiiiiriiineescinneseneesasssessssssssssssensessssssaseesssaessrsacssnes Morganton.
EMERGENCY JUDGES.

HENRY A, GRADY ..ooivtioiviirieniiennrisnecrrerssteseresessrassresssssssssssassrsessssssasssessoaossns New Bern.

FELIX E. ALLEY, SR.L..iiiiiiieiiimiririreiiinnirees e sassississssmsssnisssoscranessson: Waynesville.

H. HOYLE SINK . ciiii tiiiriiteesirieeieeeornieteveesessneseescasessssbessostassssassssasssssresso Greensboro.

W H. S, BURGWY N, cotiivtirvnrsrrenneirseiieenne: seosatsesss sortostersssssssssssssnsssnssossssesss Woodland.

1Died 6 January. 1957,
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SOLICITORS

EASTERN DIVISION

Name District Address
.Elizabeth City.
.Nashville.
............................. Roxobel.

W. JACK HOOKS...cccrirrrerecreeseensracenseceiveesans

RosERT D. ROUSE, JR . .

WALTER T. BRITT...iconnieisnrrirerrorsesesonesnecsanes Clinton.

LESTER V. CHALMERS, JR. wveervirenreriernnnnen, Seventh........occoerrivnnn. Raleigh.

JoHN J. BURKNEY, J&. ....... .. Wilmington.

MAURICE E. BRASWELL...cccovvniiriennniniesinssnnen. Fayetteville.

WILLIAM H. MURDOCK....ccoorerrrverereriecincenns Durham.
WESTERN DIVISION

HARVEY A. LUPTON...corecieiimmimenienereniiennne Eleventh......ccccccenvernnnea Winston-Salew.

HORACE R. KORNEGAY ...cirverirmeecreciianeniierenns Twelfth...o.ccoveervieennnnne Greensboro.

M. G. BOYETTE. ..cccovrrieecreeirornecorersencosacesinnns Thirteenth......ccoc....... Carthage.

GRADY B. StoTT. ....Fourteenth. ..Gastonia.

ZEB. A. MORRIS.....ccovurieerreenrcressseessseesoreeessens Fifteenth.......cooceveennne Concord.

JAMES C. FARTHING...cmmiirrmssisaressecrscrsensas Sixteenth.....ccccernenenne Lenoir.

J. ALLIE HAYEs... ..Seventeenth... ..North Wilkesboro.

C. O. RIDINGS.ioniinienimniorsessiosssmsissssossenssone Eighteenth....ccccvuvnene Forest City.

ROBERT 8. SWAIN.....ccccreemvrererrercsrerniessnensones Nineteenth.....c.cceeeee. Asheville.

THADDEUS D, Brysox, JRr. .Twentieth .Brysor City.

CHARLES M, NEAVES............ LTwenty-first.... Elkin.



SUPERIOR COURTS,

SPRING TERM, 1957

FIRST DIVISION

FIRST DISTRICT
Judge Parker
Camden—Apr, 8.
Chowan—Apr. 1; Apr. 29%.
Currituck—Jan. 21t; Mar, 4,
Dare—Jan. 14t; May 27.
Gates—Mar, 25; May 20%.
Pasquotank-—Jan. 7t; Feb, 11t; Feb. 18°¢
(2); May 6% (2); June 8* (2); June 17f.

Perquimans—Jan. 28t (2); Apr. 15.

SECOND DISTRICT
Judge Bone

Beaufort—Jan, 21* (2); Feb. 18t (2);
Mar. 11*; May 6+ (2); June 10%; June 24.

Hyde—May 20.

Martin—Jan. 7t Mar. 8t (2);
May 27t (2): June 17,

Tyrrell—Feb. 4%; Apr, 22.

Washington—Jan. 14*; Feb. 11t; Apr. 1t;
Apr. 29%,

18; Apr.

THIRD DISTRICT
Judge Frizzelle
Carteret~—Mar. 11t; Apr. 1;
June 10 (2).
Craven—Jan. 7 (2); Feb. 4% (3); Apr. 8;
May 61 (2); June 3.

Apr. 29%;

Sampson—Jan. 28 (2); Apr. 8t (2); Apr.
29*; May 61; June 3t (2).

FIFTH DISTRICT
Judge Paul.

New Hanover—Jan. 14%; Jan, 21t (2):
Feb. 11t (2); Feb. 25* (2); Mar. 111 (2);
Apr, 8*; Apr, 1561 (2); May 6} (2); May 20%;
May 27t (2); June 10*; June 171 (2).,

Pender—Jan., 7; Feb. 4t; Mar. 25; Apr

29t.
SIXTH DISTRICT
Judge Bundy

Bertie—~Feb. 11 (2); May 13 (2).

Halifax-——Jan, 28 (2); Mar, 4t (2); Apr
29; May 27t (2); June 10°.

Hertford—Feb. 25; Apr, 15 (2).

Northampton—Apr. 1 (2).

SEVENTH DISTRICT
Judge Stevens
Edgecombe—Jan. 21*; Feb. 256* (2); Mar.
25t (A) (2); Apr., 22*; June 3 (2).
Nash—Jan, 28¢ (2); Mar. 11t (2); Apr.
8% (2); May 20* (2).
Wilson—Jan. 7t (2); Feb. 11* (2); Mar.

Pamlico—Feb, 11 (A) (2). 11t (A) (2); Mar. 25* (2); May 6* (2):
Pitt—Jan. 21t; .‘Iarx.2 28]\5‘ Feb. 25t ;g]): June 17t (2).
3‘:;; 128“('2). Apr. 16t (2); May 20: May 27¢; EIGHTH DISTRICT
FOURTH DISTRICT Judge Moore
Judge Morrls Greene—-Jan. 7t; Feb. 25; Apr. 29.
Duplin—Jan. 21%; Feb. 11t (2); Mar. 11¢ Lenoir-——Jan. 14*; Feb. 11t (2); Mar. 18
(2); Apr. 1*; Apr. 22¢%. (2); Apr. 15t (2): May 20t (2); June 17*
Jones—Mar, 4; May 134, (2).

Onslow—Jan. 7 (2); Feb. 25; Mar. 26¢t; Wayne—Jan. 21%*; Jan, 28% (2); Mar, 4t
May 20 (2). (2); Apr. 1* (2); May 61 (2); June 3% (2).
SECOND DIVISION

NINTH DISTRICT 20* (2); June 3% (2); June 17* (2).
Judge Hall Hoke—Jan. 14 (8); Mar. 4; Apr. 29,
Franklin—Feb, 4*; Feb. 18f (2); Apr. 22} THIRTEENTH DISTRICT
(2): May 13*.

Granville—Jan, 21; Apr. 8 (2).

Person—Feb, 11; Mar. 25% (2); May 2T.

Vance—Jan, 14%; Mar, 4*; Mar. 18%; June
17*: June 24f%.

Warren—Jan. 7%; Jan. 28%; Mar, 11%;
May 61; June 3%,
TENTH DISTRICT
Judge Carr
Wake—Jan, 7*; Jan. 7t (A) (2); Jan.

14% (2); Jan, 28%; Feb. 4t (A) (2); Feb, 11t
(2); Feb. 26* (2); Mar, 11% (2); Mar. 25%;

Mar. 25t (A) (2); Apr. 1t (2); Apr. 15t
(2); Apr. 29*; May 6t (2); May 20t (2);
June 3* (2); June 3t (A) (2); June 17t

(2); June 24% (A).

ELEVENTH DISTRICT
Judge Seawell

Harnett—Jan. 7*; Jan. 141 (A) (2); Feb.
18+ (2); Mar. 18*; Apr. 22t (2); May 20*;
May 27t; June 10t (2).

Johnston—Jan, 7t (8); Jan. 14% (2); Feb,
11; Feb. 18 (A); Mar. 4t (2); Apr. 1t (2);
Apr. 15*; May 6% (2); June 3; June 24°.

Lee—Jan., 28% (2); Mar. 25*; May 6t (A)
(2); June 17t (A) (2).

TWELFTH DISTRICT
Judge Hobgood
Cumberland—Jan., 7* (2): Jan. 21t (2);

Feb, 4* (2); Feb. 18t (2); Mar, 11* (2);
Apr. 1t (2): Apr. 15* (2): May 6% (2): May

Judge Bickett
Bladen—Feb., 18; Mar. 18%; Apr. 22; May
20%

érunswlck—.]’an. 21; Feb. 25%; Apr. 29t;
May 13.
Columbus—Jan., 7t (2); Jan. 28* (2):

Mar, 4t (2); May 6*; June 17.

FOURTEENTH DISTRICT
Judge Willlams
Durham—Jan. 7%; Jan. 14t (2); Jan. 28%;
Feb. 4t (2); Feb. 18* (2); Mar. 4% (2);
Mar, 18*; Mar. 25* (2); Apr. 8t (2); Apr.
22%; Apr. 29% (2); May 13¢ (2); May 27t
(2); June 10%: June 17* (2).
FIFTEENTH DISTRICT
Judge Nimocks
Alamance—Jan. Tt (2); Feb. 4% (2); Mar.

4* (2): Apr. 161 (2); May 6*; May 20t (2);
June 10* (2).

Chatham-—Jan., 28%; Feb, 18; Mar, 18%;
May 13: June 17% (A).
Orange—Jan, 21%; Feb. 25*; Mar, 25%;

Apr. 29%; June 24%.

SIXTEENTH DISTRICT
Judge Mallard
Robeson—Jan. Tt (2); Jan. 21* (2); Feb.
25¢ (2); Mar. 11*; Mar. 25%f (2); Apr. 8°*
(2): Apr, 22%; May 6% (2); May 20% (2):

June 10*; June 17t%.
[Qeatland—Feb, 41: Mar, 1R: Apr, 20¢,

vi



COURT CALENDAR. vii

THIRD DIVISION

SEVENTEENTH DISTRICT
Judge Johnston

Caswell-——Mar, 41; Mar. 25* (A).

Rockingham—Jan. 28* (2); Mar. 11%;
Mar. 18%; Apr. 15t (2); May 20% (2): June
10* (2).

Stokes—Feb. 25*;
24.

Apr. 1*; Apr. 87; June

Surry-—Jan. 7* (2); Feb. 111 (2); Mar.

25; Apr. 29*% (2); June 3.
EIGHTEENTH DISTRICT
Schedule A—Judge Olive
Guil. Gr.—Jan. 7* (2); Jan. 211 (2); Feb.
4* (2); Feb. 25* (2); Apr. 156* (2); May 13*
(2); June 10* (2).
Guil. H P.—Feb. 18*; Mar. 11%*: Mar, 18t
(2); Apr. 1*; Apr. 29%; May 27*; June 3%,
Schedule B—Judge Rousseau

Guil. Gr.—Jan. 7t (2); Feb. 4% (2); Feb.
18%; Feb. 25t (2); Mar. 11t (2); Mar, 25*%;

Apr. 1t (2); Apr. 16t (2); Apr. 29t (2);
May 27t (2); June 101 (2).

Guil. H.P.—Jan. 21*; Jan. 28%; May 13t
(2).

NINETEENTH DISTRICT
Judge Gwyn

Cabarrus—Jan. 7 (2); Mar, 4%t (2); Apr.
22 (2); June 10t (2).

Montgomery—Jan. 21%; May 201 (2).

Randolph—Jan. 28*; Feb. 4% (2); Apr.
1*; Apr. 8t (2); May 27t (A) (2); June 24%.

Rowan—Feb. 18 (2); Mar. 18t (2); May
6 (2).

TWENTIETH DISTRICT
Judge Preyer

Anson—Jan. 14*; Mar, 4%; Apr. 15 (2);
June 10*; June 17%.

Moore—Jan. 21%; Jan. 28*; Mar. 11¢%;
Apr. 29*; May 20t.

Richmond—Jan. 7*; Feb, 11%; Mar. 18%

(2); Apr. 8*; May 271 (2).
Stanly—Feb, 4t; Apr. 1; May 13¢t.
Union—Feb. 18 (2); May 6.

TWENTY-FIRST DISTRICT
Judge Crissman
Forsyth—Jan. 7 (2); Jan. 21% (3); Feb.
4 (A) (2); Feb. 111 (3); Mar. 4 (2); Mar.
18 (3); Apr. 8 (2); Apr. 22t (2); May ¢
(2); May 61 (A) (2); May 20t (3); June 10
(2); June 17t (A) (2).

TWENTY-SECOND DISTRICT
Judge Armstrong

Alexander—Mar. 11; Apr. 15,

Davidson—Jan. 28; Feb. 18t (2); Apr. 1t
(2); Apr. 29; June 3% (2); June 24,

Davie—Jan. 21*; Mar, 4t; Apr. 22,
(ZIredeIl—Feb. 4 (2); Mar. 18f; May 20

).

TWENTY-THIRD DISTRICT
Judge Phillips

Alleghany—Jan. 28; Apr. 22,

Ashe—Apr. 1*; May 27%.

Wilkes—Jan. 141 (2); Feb. 18t (2); Mar.
1;;‘ (2); Apr. 29f (2): June 3 (2); June 17%
(2).

Yadkin—Jan. 7; Feb, 4 (2); May 13.

FOURTH

DIVISION

TWENTY-FOURTH DISTRICT
Judge Nettles
Avery—Apr. 29 (2).
Madison—Feb. 41; Feb. 25; Mar. 26t (2);
May 27* (2); June 24%.
Mitchell-——Apr, 8 (2).
2}7Vatauga——Jan. 21%;
(2).
Yancey—Jan. 28t; Mar. 4 (2).
TWENTY-FIFTH DISTRICT
Judge Pless
Burke—Feb. 18; Mar. 11 (2); June 3 (2).
Caldwell-—Jan, 21% (2); Feb., 25 (2); Mar.
251 (2); Apr. 22% (2); May 20 (2).
Catawba—Jan, 7t (2). Feb. 4 (2); Apr. 8
(2); June 171 (2).
TWENTY-SIXTH DISTRICT
Schedule A—Judge Moore

Apr. 22*; June 10%

Mecklenburg—Jan. 7* (2); Jan. 21t (2);
Feb. 4% (3); Feb. 25f (2); Mar. 11* (2);
Mar. 26% (2); Apr. 8* (2); Apr. 22t (2);
May 6%t (2); May 20t (2): June 3t (2);
June 17* (2).

Schedule B—Judge Huskins

Mecklenburg—Jan. 7t (2); Jan 21t (2);
Feb. 4t; Feb. 11* (2); Feb. 25%f (2); Mar.
11t (2); Mar. 25% (2); Apr. 8t (2); Apr.

22t (2); May 6* (2); May 20t (2); June 3%
(2); June 17t (2).
Special Terms—Jan., 7t (2); Jan. 21+ (2).
TWENTY-SEVENTH DISTRICT
Judge Rudisill
Cleveland-—Jan. 28; Mar.
29 (2).

25 (2); Apr.

Gaston-—Jan. 14t (8); Feb. 41 (2); Feb.
25*% (2); Mar, 11t (2); Apr. 22*; May 27t
(2); June 10*.

Lincoln—Jan. 14; Jan. 21t; May 13; May
20¢t.

TWENTY-EIGHTH DISTRICT
Judge Campbell

Buncombe—Jan. 7* (2); Jan. 14t (A);
Jan, 211 (3); Feb. 11*; Feb. 11% (A) (2);
Feb. 25% (3); Mar. 18*; Mar. 18%f (A); Mar.
251 (3); Apr. 15% (2); Apr. 22t (A); Apr.
29% (3); May 20*; May 20t (A) (2); June
3t (3).

TWENTY-NINTH DISTRICT
Judge Clarkson

Henderson—Feb, 11 (2); Mar. 18+ (2):
May 6*; May 27f (2).

McDowell—Jan, 7%; Feb. 25t (2); Apr.
15*; June 10 (2).

Polk—Jan. 28; June 24.

Rutherford—Jan. 14t* (2); Mar. 11t*;

Apr, 221% (2); May 13*% (2).
Transylvania—Apr. 1 (2).

THIRTIETH DISIRICT
Judge Froneberger
Cherokee-—Apr. 1 (2); June 24%.
Clay—Apr. 29.
Graham—Mar. 18 (2); June 3 (2).
Haywood—Jan. 7t (2); Feb. 4 (2); May
6t (2).
Jackson—Feb. 18 (2); May 20
171,
Macon—Apr, 15 (2).

(2); June

Swain—Mar. 4 (2).

*Indicates criminal term.

1Indicates civil term.

No @esignation indicates mixed term.
{A) Indicates judge to be assigned.

flndicates jall and civil term.
(2) Indicates number of weeks of term:
no number indicates one week term.



UNITED STATES COURTS FOR NORTH CAROLINA

DISTRICT COURTS
Eastern District—DoN GiLrLiaM, Judge, Tarboro.
Middle District—JouNsoN J. HavEs, Judge, Greensboro.
Western District—WiILsoN WARLICK, Judge, Newton.

EASTERN DISTRICT
Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Raleigh, Civil term, second Monday in Marech and September; crim-
inal term, fourth Monday after the second Monday in March and
September. A. Hanp Jaumes, Clerk, Raleigh,

Fayetteville, third Monday in March and September. Mes. Lira C.
Hox, Deputy Clerk, Fayetteville,

Llizabeth City, third Monday after the second Monday in March and
September. Lroyp 8. SAwWYER, Deputy Clerk, Elizabeth City.

New Bern, fifth Monday after the second Monday in March and Sep-
tember. Mrs. MaTiLpA H. TurNER, Deputy Clerk, New Bern.

Washington, sixth Monday after the second Monday in March and
September, Mgs. SALLIE B. Epwarps, Deputy Clerk, Washington,

Wilson, eighth Monday after the second Monday in March and Sep-
tember. Mrs. Eva L. Young, Deputy Clerk, Wilson.

Wilmington, tenth Monday after the second Monday in March and
tenth Monday after second Monday in September. J. Doucras
TAYLOR, Deputy Clerk, Wilmington.

OFFICERS

Juriax T. GaskiLy, U. 8. Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
SAMUEL A, Howarp, Assistant U. 8. Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
IrvIN B. TUCKER, JR., Assistant U. 8. Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
LawreNcE HARRIs, Assistant U. S. Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
Miss JANE A. PARKER, Assistant U. S. Attorney, Raleigh, N. C.
B. Ray Comnoox, United States Marshal, Raleigh.
A. Hanp JaMEes, Clerk United States District Court, Raleigh.

MIDDLE DISTRICT
Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Durham, fourth Monday in September and fourth Monday in March.
HerMAN A, SMmITH, Clerk, Greenshoro.

Greensboro, first Monday in June and December. HERMAN A, SMITH,
Clerk ; MyrtLE D. CopB. Chief Deputy ; LiLLiAN HARKRADER. Deputy
Clerk ; Mrs. RurH R. MrircHeLL, Deputy Clerk; Mrs. RUTH STARR,
Deputy Clerk. NEeLsonN B. CassTevENns, Deputy Clerk.

Rockingham, second Monday in March and September. HERMAN A,
SumitH, Clerk, Greensboro. .

Salisbury, third Monday in April and October. HERMAN A, SMITH,
Clerk, Greensboro.

Winston-Salem, first Monday in May and November. HERMAN A.
SmrrH, Clerk, Greensboro.

Wilkesboro, third Monday in May and November. HERMAN A, SMITH,
Clerk, Greensboro; SUE LLyoNn BUMGARNER, Deputy Clerk.

OFFICERS
Epwin M. STANLEY, United States District Attorney, Greensboro.
LAFAYETTE WirriaMs, Assistant U, S, Distriet Attorney, Yadkinville.
RoneRT L. GAviN, Assistant U. 8. District Attorney, Sanford.
H. VerNoN Harr, Assistant U. 8. Distriet Attorney, Greensboro.
Miss EprrH HaworTH. Assistant U. 8. District Attorney, Greensboro.
WM. B. SonmErs, United States Marshal. Greensboro.
HerMaN A. Smriti, Clerk U. 8. District Court, Greensboro.
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UNITED STATES COURTS.

ix

WESTERN DISTRICT
Terms—District courts are held at the time and place as follows:

Asheville, second Monday in May and November. THoS. E. RHODES,
Clerk ; WiLLiaM A. LyTLE, Chief Deputy Clerk; VERNE E. BARTLETT,

Deputy Clerk; M. Louise MorisoN, Deputy Clerk.

Charlotte, first Monday in April and October. ELva McKNIGHT,

Deputy Clerk, Charlotte. GrENis S. Gamy, Deputy Clerk.

Statesville, Third Monday in March and September. ANNIE ADER-

HoLDT, Deputy Clerk.
Shelby, third Monday in April and third Monday in Oectober.
Ruobes, Clerk.

THos. E.

Bryson City, fourth Monday in May and November. THos. E. RHODES,

Clerk.
OFFICERS
James M. BaLEY, JR., United States Attorney, Asheville, N. C.
WiLriaM J. WAGGONER, Ass’t U. S. Attorney, Charlotte, N. C.
Roy A, HarMoN, United States Marshal, Asheville, N. C.
THos. E. RHoDES, Clerk, Asheville, N. C.
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CASES

ARGUED AND DETERMINED

SUPREME COURT
NORTH CAROLINA
RALEIGH

FALL TERM, 19586

GERTRESE V. HOLDEN v. GLEOLIA HAYES ROGERS HOLDEN.
(Filed 21 Novemnber, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 19—

Exceptions which appear nowhere in the record except under the pur-
ported assignments of error will not be considered.

2. Appeal and Error § 21—

Even in the absence of any exceptions or when no exceptions have been
preserved, the appeal itself will be taken as an exception to the judgment,
which presents the question whether error appears on the face of the record.

8. Judgments §§ 1, 4: Divorce and Alimony § 15 14 —Consent judgment for
support entered in action for divorce a mensa may not be set aside
except by consent.

A consent judgment, entered in a husband’s action for divorce a mensa,
providing for division of property, for the payment of a stipulated sum by
the husband monthly for the use of the wife, and for the payment of a
stipulated sum by the husband for the support of a minor child of the
marriage, is merely a contract between the parties entered into with the
sanction of the court, the court not having decreed that the husband should
make the payments therein stipulated, and, except as to the support of the
minor child, such judgment is final and terminates the action, and may
not be set aside except by consent of the parties in the absence of a finding
that its provision for the division of the property and for the wife's support
were unfair to her or that her consent thereto was obtained by fraud or
mutual mistake.
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4. Judgments § 25—

The procedure to set aside a consent judgment for fraud or mutual mis-
take is by independent action.

5. Divorce and Alimony § 16: Contempt of Court § 2b——

A consent judgment for the payment of a stipulated sum monthly for the
support of the wife and for division of the property entered prior to the
19535 amendment to G.S. 50-18 in the husband’s action for divorce @ mensa,
in which the wife does not pray for a divorce @ mensa, and in which no
divorce a miense is granted, cannot be more than a contract between the
parties, and the husband cannot be punished as for contempt if he breaches
such agreement. G.S.5-8.

6. Divorce and Alimony § 151 —Where action for divorce a mensa is termi-
nated by consent judgment for support, court may not enter further
order for support,

Where, in a husband’s action for divorce ¢ mensa, the parties enter into
a consent judgment providing that the parties should continue to live sepa-
rate and apart and stipulating that the husband should pay a designated
sum monthly for the support of his wife and a designated sum for the sup-
port of the minor child of the marriage, held, the consent judgment termi-
nates the action in regard to the wife, and therefore in regard to support
for the wife such judgment may not thereafter be modified by a judge of
the Superior Court without the consent of the parties, nor may the court
enter a judgment for the support of the wife in direct conflict therewith,
since there is no action pending in which such judgment may be entered.

7. Divorce and Alimony §§ 12, 15—

Neither alimony pendcnte lite nor permanent alimony may be awarded
unless there is an action pending in whieh verified pleadings have been
filed and in which the wife has alleged facts at least sufficient to meet the
requirements of the statute for divorce a wensa ¢t thoro, G.S. 50-16.

8. Appeal and Error § 12—

An order directing the husband to pay stipulated sums monthly for the
support of the wife may not be entered pending an appeal by the husband
to a like order theretofore entered in the cause, nor may jurisdiction be
conferred on the Superior Court pending the appeal by consent of the
parties, and when such order is entered prior to the withdrawal of the
appeal, the order is void.

Joxson, J., not sitting.

AprpeaL by plaintiff from Hobgood, J., at Chambers in Louisburg,
North Carolina, on 14 April 1956. From FRANKLIN.

This action was instituted by the plaintiff on 23 December 1953
against the defendant for a divoree from bed and board.

The plaintiff and defendant were married in 1945. A son, Carroll
Cecil Holden, was born of this marriage on 20 February 1946.
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The defendant denied the pertinent allegations of the complaint and
alleged in her further answer and for affirmative relief certain miscon-
duct of the plaintiff. However, she did not ask for a divorce from bed
and board, but for permanent alimony and support for herself and
child; that certain property be awarded to her and that she be awarded
permanent custody of the child born of the marriage.

At the April 1954 Criminal Term of the Superior Court of Franklin
County the parties tendered to Judge Henry L. Stevens, Jr., holding the
court, a consent judgment. The judgment recites that the matters and
things in controversy have been amicably settled and agreed upon as
hereinafter set forth:

“Now THEREFORE, it is, by consent of the plaintiff and the defendant
and their attorneys, ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED:

“1. That on October 2, 1953, the plaintiff Gertrese Van Holden and
the defendant Gleolia Hayes Rogers Holden by mutual agreement and
consent, separated from each other and have since that date continued
to live separate and apart from each other, and it is their purpose,
intent and desire to so continue to live separate and apart each from
the other as fully and completely and in the same manner and to the
same extent as though they had never been married.

“2. That the care, custody and tuition of Carroll Cecil Holden, minor
son of the plaintiff and defendant, who was born on 20 February 1946
be, and the same is hereby, awarded to the defendant Gleolia Hayes
Rogers Holden, subject to the further orders of this court.

“3. That the parties have agreed that the plaintiff shall pay into the
office of the Clerk of the Superior Court of Franklin County monthly
the sum of $50.00 for the support of the defendant Gleolia Hayes Rogers
Holden so long as plaintiff and the defendant shall remain husband and
wife, said payments to be made not later than the 15th day of cach
calendar month commencing with the 15th day of May 1954, that the
parties have further agreed that the plaintiff shall pay to the office of
the Clerk of the Superior Court of Franklin County monthly the sum
of $50.00 for the support and maintenance of his minor child Carroll
Cecil Holden, said payments to be made not later than the 15th day of
each calendar month, commencing with the 15th day of May 1954, and
are to be paid over by said Clerk to the defendant Gleolia Hayes Rogers
Holden for the use, support and maintenance of said Carroll Cecil
Holden, and subject to further orders of this court regarding the support
of said child.

“4, That plaintiff and defendant have agreed upon a mutual division
of the real and personal property belonging to them jointly, by which
agreement the defendant shall receive, have and keep a washing ma-
chine, a living room suite, consisting of sofa, mirror and chair, and a



4 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

HoLDpEN v. HOLDEN.

chest of drawers, which was a part of a bedroom suite, and that the
plaintiff is to keep and retain the remaining articles of personal property
now in his possession and described and referred to in the Writ of Claim
and Delivery issued in this cause; and the bonds given by the plaintiff
and the defendant in the Claim and Delivery in this cause are hereby
dissolved and released.

“5. That all real property owned by the plaintiff and defendant as
tenants by the entirety, including a tract or parcel of land on Pettigrew
Street in the City of Raleigh, North Carolina, shall be sold under orders
of the Clerk of the Superior Court of Wake County, North Carolina,
in the manner provided by law for judicial sales for partition of real
estate, and the net proceeds of said sale shall be paid one-half to the
plaintiff and one-half to the defendant, except that from the plaintiff’s
one-half of said net proceeds there is to be, and shall be, deducted there-
from and paid to the defendant the sum of $421.75.”

On 12 September 1955 the defendant caused an order and notice to be
served on the plaintiff, notifying him to show cause, if any, why he
should not be adjudged in contempt of court for failure to comply with
the terms of the judgment entered on 13 April 1954. The notice also
requested the plaintiff to show cause why the allowance for the support
of the minor child and the alimony for the support of defendant should
not be increased.

A hearing pursuant to the above notice and order was held on 1 Octo-
ber 1955. The court did not find the plaintiff in contempt, but ordered
and deereed that “pendente lite the plaintiff, Gertrese Van Holden, be,
and he is hereby ordered and required to pay to the Clerk of the Supe-
rior Court of Franklin County a monthly sum of $150.00 for eighteen
months, beginning on the 15th day of October 1955, and, thereafter, a
monthly sum of $100.00 on the 15th day of each succeeding month, all
for the support and maintenance of the defendant, Gleolia Hayes
Rogers Holden and Carroll Cecil Holden, the minor son of plaintiff and
defendant, the said sum to be delivered by said Clerk of Superior Court
to Gleolia Hayes Rogers Holden for the benefit and support of herself
and the minor child, Carroll Cecil Holden, and pay to Charles P. Green
and G. M. Beam the sum of $300.00 as a pavment on their fees for legal
services in this matter.”

The plaintiff gave notice of appeal to the Supreme Court and dock-
eted his appeal in said Court on 17 October 1955. Thereafter, while the
case was pending in the Supreme Court, the parties hereto agreed that
the judge holding the November-December 1955 Term of the Superior
Court of Franklin County might hear the evidence, without a jury, find
the facts and enter judgment in said cause. The judge purported to
strike out the judgment entered by him on 1 October 1955 and proceeded
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to award alimony in the sum of $700.00, payable in monthly install-
ments of $75.00, beginning on 10 April 1956 through May, October,
November and December 1956, and January, February, March and
April 1957, and the balance of $25.00 on 10 May 1957, and counsel fees
to defendant’s counsel in the sum of $300.00, payable in four equal
installments of $75.00 each, beginning with 10 December 1955 and each
month thereafter through March 1956. The judgment further decreed
that upon the payment of the monthly sums fixed therein, such pay-
ments would constitute a complete settlement of all obligations of the
plaintiff to the defendant for her support or alimony, present, past, or
prospective, including counsel fees allowed to defendant’s counsel. This
judgment was signed and filed on 1 December 1955, On the 5th day of
December 1955, the parties filed a motion in the Supreme Court re-
questing permission to withdraw the appeal in this cause, which was
still pending in said Court. The motion was allowed on 13 December
1955.

The defendant thereafter filed a petition and affidavit in the Superior
Court of Franklin County on 23 March 1956, alleging that the plaintiff
was in arrears in his payments in the sum of $275.00 under the terms
of the judgment entered on 1 December 1955, and prayed the court that
plaintiff be ordered to show cause, if any, why he should not be held in
contempt of court for failure to comply with that order. Pursuant
thereto, the Honorable Hamilton H. Hobgood, Resident Judge of the
Ninth Judicial District, ordered the plaintiff to appear before him in
Chambers on the 31st day of March 1956 (continued to 14 April 1956),
at 10:00 a.m., at the courthouse in Louisburg, and show cause, if any,
why he should not be adjudged in contempt of court for failure to com-
ply with the terms of the judgment entered on 1 December 1955.

The plaintiff filed an answer to the petition, admitted he was in
arrears in his payments in the sum of $275.00 and denied all other alle-
gations therein. As a further answer, the plaintiff alleged that pursuant
to the consent judgment entered by Judge Stevens in April 1954, he had
released to the defendant his interest in over $3,000.00 in real estate
and over $1,000.00 in personal property; that he had at all times pro-
vided adequately for the support and maintenance of his child, Carroll
Cecil Holden, and had attempted to comply with all other judgments
entered in this cause but had been prevented from doing so because of
the excessive expense in defending himself in this litigation. He prayed
the court that he not be held in contempt; and moved that the judg-
ments entered on 1 October and 1 December 1955 be declared void and
that they be set aside.

The court found as a fact that the plaintiff was not in arrears in his
payments for the support of his child, but that he was in arrears in the
sum of $300.00 in his payments on counsel fees and alimony to his wife;
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and that he was financially able to make these payments. The court
thereupon found the defendant in contempt of court for willful failure
to comply with the order entered on 1 December 1955 and sentenced
him to thirty days in jail or until he complies in full with the order
entered on 1 December 1955, together with the costs of the hearing and
the sum of $150.00 attorney fees to defendant’s counsel for their legal
services in this contempt hearing,.
Plaintiff appeals, assigning error.

W. B. Nivens for plaintiff.
Gaither M. Beam and Charles P. Green for defendant.

Dexny,J. The appellant in his case on appeal undertakes to set out
six assignments of error based on a like number of exceptions. How-
ever, the exceptions appear nowhere in the record except under the
purported assignments of error. Such exceptions are worthless and will
not be considered on appeal. Even so, in the absence of any exceptions,
or when exceptions have not been preserved in accord with the require-
ments of our Rules, the appeal will be taken as an exception to the
judgment. Barnette v. Woody, 242 N.C. 424, 88 S.E. 2d 223. Conse-
quently, as pointed out by the appellee, in view of the state of the record
in this appeal, we are limited to the question whether or not error
appears on the face of the record.

It is apparent the appellee has not taken into consideration the con-
tents and effect of the consent judgment entered on 13 April 1954.
That was a final judgment in every respect except as to the minor child.
The question of the custody of the minor child and the sufficiency of the
amount agreed upon for the support of such child were not final but
made subject to the further orders of the court. The judgment merely
sets out the payments agreed upon for the support of the defendant as
well as those for the support and maintenance of the minor child, and
the court did not decree that the payments should be made by the plain-
tiff. In this respect, the judgment constitutes nothing more than a
contract between the parties. Davis v. Davis, 213 N.C. 537, 196 S.E.
819. Therefore, as to the defendant, in the absence of a finding that
the agreement incorporated in the judgment, providing for a division
of the property and for her support, was unfair to her, or that her con-
sent thereto was obtained by fraud or mutual mistake, such judgment
cannot be set aside except by consent of the parties. Spruill v. Nixon,
238 N.C. 523, 78 S.E. 2d 323; Luther v. Luther, 234 N.C. 429, 67 S.E. 2d
345; Lee v. Rhodes, 227 N.C. 240, 41 SE. 2d 747; King v. King, 225
N.C. 639, 35 S.E. 2d 893.

It is a well settled principle of law in this jurisdiction that ordinarily
a consent judgment cannot be modified or set aside without the consent



N.CJ] FALL TERM, 1956. 7

HoLDEN v. HOLDEN,

of the parties thereto, except for fraud or mutual mistake, and in order
to vacate such order, an independent action must be instituted. Spruzll
v. Nizon, supra; King v. King, supra; LaLonde v. Hubbard, 202 N.C.
771, 164 S.E. 359; Weaver v. Hampton, 201 N.C. 798, 161 S.E. 480;
Bd. of Education v. Commassioners, 192 N.C. 274, 134 S.E. 852; Morris
v. Patterson, 180 N.C. 484, 105 S.E. 25.

In support of the conclusion we have reached with respect to the
judgment entered 13 April 1954, we call attention to the fact that at the
time such judgment was entered Judge Stevens had no power to enter
a decree awarding permanent alimony in this cause. Prior to the enact-
ment of Chapter 814, 1955 Session Laws, now codified as a part of G.S.
50-16, permanent alimony could not be granted in an action for divorce
a mensa unless such divorce was granted.

In the case of Silver v. Stlver, 220 N.C. 191, 16 S.E. 2d 834, this Court
held that permanent alimony under C.S. 1665, now G.S. 50-14, could
be allowed only upon a decree of divorce a mensa and that a decree
allowing permanent alimony, when unsupported by a judgment for
divorce a mensa, cannot be sustained.

The defendant in her answer to the complaint in this action did not
pray the court for a divorce a mensa and none was granted. Therefore,
it appears upon the face of the record that the judgment entered on
13 April 1954 is nothing more than a contract between the parties and
i8 in full force and effect, and if breached the plaintiff is not punishable
for contempt under G.8. 5-8. Luther v. Luther, supra; Stanley wv.
Stanley, 226 N.C. 129, 37 S.E. 2d 118; Broun v. Brown, 224 N.C. 556,
31 S.E. 2d 529; Davis v. Davis, supra.

A careful examination of the record discloses that the motion which
culminated in the judgment entered 1 October 1955 and the judgment
entered 1 December 1955 only involved a request for alimony and
counsel fees. Nowhere is it indicated or found that the plaintiff was
at any time in arrears in his payments for the support of his child, as
provided in the consent judgment. Furthermore, in the order signed on
14 April 1956, from which this appeal is taken, the Clerk of the Superior
Court of Franklin County testified that the plaintiff was not in arrears
in his allowance to his minor child, and the court so found.

We hold that all matters pertaining to the support of the defendant.
Gleolia Hayes Rogers Holden, which were raised in the original plead-
ings in this cause, were settled by the consent judgment, and that they
are res judicata. Therefore, the original action has not been pending
since the entry of the consent judgment on 13 April 1954, for any
purpose, except as to the custody and support of the minor child born
of the marriage. Consequently, a judge of the Superior Court does not
have the power to modify the consent judgment entered in this cause
with respect to the support of the defendant without the consent of the
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parties. They are remitted to their rights and liabilities under the con-
tract. Lentz v. Lentz, 193 N.C. 742, 138 S.E. 12; s. ¢, 194 N.C. 673,
140 8.E. 440; Turner v. Turner, 205 N.C. 198, 170 S.E. 646.

Brogden, J., concurring in the opinion of the Court involving a con-
sent judgment in the case of Brown v. Brown, 205 N.C. 64, 169 S.E. 818,
said: “Public policy recognizes the right of a wife to contract with her
husband with reference to mutual property or with reference to sepa-
ration agreements based upon mutual release of property rights, If
the right of alimony and counsel fees is a property right, growing out
of marriage, and the wife has the power to contract and does contract
with reference thereto, with the approval and sanction of a court, then
it would seem that a judge had no discretion in the matter. Discretion
exists only when a matter is open for negotiation and not precluded by
a provision of the law or a valid agreement of the parties. Conse-
quently, I am of the opinion that the trial judge had neither the power
nor the discretion to dip his hand into a pocket which was protected by
a valid contract of a person under no disability and under the solemn
sanction of the judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction.”

In the case of Bd. of Education v. Commissioners, supra, & consent
judgment was entered. Thereafter, a judgment was entered purporting
to set aside the consent judgment without the consent of the parties to
the action. This Court held the judgment vacating the consent judg-
ment was ineffectual.

Likewise, in Ellis v. Ellis, 193 N.C. 216, 136 S.E. 350, this Court said:
“A judgment or decree entered by consent is not a judgment or decree
of the court, so much as the judgment or decree of the parties, entered
upon its record with the sanction and permission of the court, and being
the judgment of the parties which cannot be set aside or entered with-
out their consent.”

If the legal effect of a consent judgment is such that a judge of the
Superior Court cannot modify it or set it aside without the consent of
the parties, logic and reason support the view that a judge of the Supe-
rior Court is without power to enter an effective judgment in direct
conflict therewith. Furthermore, since this action is no longer pending
on the question of support, the purported judgments entered on 1 Octo-
ber 1955, 1 December 1955, and 14 April 1956 are supported neither by
an action instituted and pending in the Superior Court of Franklin
County nor by any pleadings filed therein.

We construe the provisions of G.S. 50-16, as amended, to require as
a prerequisite to the awarding of alimony pendente lite, or permanent
alimony, the pendency of an action in which verified pleadings have
been filed and in which the wife has alleged facts at least sufficient to
meet the requirements of the statute for divorce a mensa et thoro. Ollis
v. Ollis, 241 N.C. 709, 86 S.E. 2d 420; Ipock v. Ipock, 233 N.C. 387,
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64 S.E. 2d 283; Bateman v. Bateman, 232 N.C. 659, 61 S.E. 2d 909;
McManus v. McManus, 191 N.C. 740, 133 S.E. 9; Price v. Price, 188
N.C. 640, 125 S.E. 264.

The judgments complained of herein show upon the face of the record
that they purport to rest upon the pleadings in an action that had been
terminated by a consent judgment, which is res judicata as to the iden-
tical matters the defendant thereafter sought to relitigate.

Therefore, we hold that the judgment entered on 1 October 1955 was
invalid and unenforceable. Furthermore, if the judge of the Superior
Court had been clothed with power to enter such judgment, upon appeal
therefrom to the Supreme Court the Superior Court was without juris-
diction to enter the purported judgment dated 1 December 1955, the
appeal not having been withdrawn until 13 December 1955. Shaver v.
Shaver, 244 N.C. 311, 93 S.E. 2d 615; Harris v. Fairley, 232 N.C. 555,
61 S.E. 2d 619; Lawrence v. Lawrence, 226 N.C. 221, 37 S.E. 2d 496;
Ridenhour v. Ridenhour, 225 N.C. 508, 35 S.E. 2d 617; Vaughan v.
Vaughan, 211 N.C. 354, 190 S.E. 492,

It is equally clear that the judgment entered on 1 December 1955
could not be upheld on this record had there been no appeal from the
October judgment, since the matter sought to be adjudicated had been
settled by a consent judgment which was and still is in full force and
effect. Furthermore, parties cannot confer jurisdiction by consent upon
the Superior Court while a permissible appeal from that court is pend-
ing in the Supreme Court.

Consequently, the purported judgments entered on 1 October 1955
and 1 December 1955 are ineffective and they are hereby set aside.
It follows, therefore, that the order entered 14 April 1956, adjudging
the plaintiff in contempt for failure to comply with the terms of the
judgment entered 1 December 1955 and taxing him with the costs and
counsel fees in such hearing, is likewise ineffectual and the same is
reversed and set aside.

Reversed.

JoHNsON, J., not sitting.
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STATE v. JOHN ROBINSON.

(Filed 21 November, 1956,)
1. Bastards § 1—

Under G.S. 49-2 each parent is made criminally liable for wilful failure
or refusal to support his or her illegitimate child, and, the wilful failure
to support being the offense, the erime cannot be committed before the
child is born.

2. Same—

In proceedings under G.S. 49-2, et seq., the paternity of an illegitimate
child must be established beyond a reasonable doubt before conviction of a
male defendant and the question of paternity may be determined even
before the birth of the child in any court having criminal jurisdiction in
excess of that of a justice of the peace. G.S. 49-5, G.8. 49-7,

8. Same~—

Proceedings under G.8, 49-2, et seq., can be instituted only by the mother
of an illegitimate child, her personal representative or the superintendent
of public welfare. G.S. 49-5.

4. Same: Courts § 18—

A Domestic Relations Court has jurisdiction to determine the question
of paternity in a proceeding under G.S. 49-2, et seq. G.S. 7-103.

5. Bastards § 7T—

In proceedings in a Domestic Relations Court upon an affidavit charging
defendant with being the father of the unborn child of prosecutrix and
failing to provide her with medical care and a warrant of arrest to answer
the charge, the court found that defendant was the father of the child.
Held: The fact that the offense of wilfully neglecting his illegitimate child
had not been committed at the time the affidavit was filed, and the fact
that the court exceeded its power in ordering defendant to make payments
for the support of the child, do not vitiate the court’s determination ot the
question of paternity.

6. Bastards § 83—

Where the question of paternity is judicially determined within three
years after the birth of the illegitimate child, the defendant may thereafter
be prosecuted for his wilful neglect and refusal to support the child. G.S.
49-4,

7. Criminal Law § 60b—
The fact that the sentence imposed is not justified by the verdict does
not vacate the verdict.
8. Bastards § 634~

In a prosecution for wilful failure of defendant to support his illegitimate
child, a charge to the jury which does not instruct them that the failure
to support must be wilful in order to constitute the offense, must be held
for prejudicial error.
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JoHNsoN, J., not sitting.
HiGeiNs, J., dissents.

AppEAL from Bone, J., July A Criminal Term 1956, WAKE.

On 4 April, 1956, Myrtle Christmas made an affidavit charging that
the defendant “did beget upon the body of Myrtle Christmas a child,
Margaret Elaine, born 12-17-50 and did unlawfully and wilfully neglect
and refuse to support said illegitimate child sinee July 27, 1953 . . .”
Based on this affidavit a warrant issued and a hearing was had in the
Domestic Relations Court on 25 May, 1956. The court found the de-
fendant guilty and rendered judgment requiring him to pay $7 per week
for the support of the child. The judgment contains this recital: “This
Court found on 7 August, 1951, that this defendant was the father of
Margaret Elaine, born 12-17-50.” Defendant appealed from the judg-
ment of the Domestic Relations Court to the Superior Court. The case
was heard in the Superior Court on the warrant issued 4 April, 1956.
The jury found defendant guilty. Judgment was thereupon entered
sentencing defendant to six months in prison, suspended upon condition
that defendant make stated payments for the support of the infant.
Defendant appealed.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Love for
the State.
Taylor & Muitchell for defendant appellant.

Robman, J. Prosecuting witness testified that her child was born
17 December, 1950, and prosecutrix and defendant were never married.
She further testified: “I had the defendant up; I signed a warrant for
him myself, and we had the trial in August after the baby was born;
he was supposed to pay me $7.00 a week until the baby became 18 years
old; he paid that $7.00 for about two years and then he quit paying;
I had him up again for nonsupport of the child; that was about two
vears ago. Judge Fountain told him he would have to pay $12.00 a
week to catch up and he paid for a week or two or two weeks or three
weeks and then he was out of town. I didn’t have him up any more
until back in this April.” There was further evidence from prosecutrix
of the gift of a $32 tricycle to the infant and payment of some small
medical fees for the child. On cross-examination she said that the
weekly payments of $7 came to her from the Domestic Relations Court
and were made as commanded by the judgment rendered by that court
on 7 August, 1951.

The defendant offered in evidence the records of the Domestic Rela-
tions Court consisting of: affidavit of Myrtle Christmas dated 13 De-
cember, 1950, stating “on or abont the 12 day of April 1950, John
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Robinson with force and arms, at and in the County aforesaid, did
wilfully, maliciously, unlawfully beget upon the body Myrtle Christmas
a child yet unborn and did fail to provide medical care for the said
Myrtle Christmas against the Statute in such cases made and provided,
against the peace and dignity of the State.”

On the same day the court issued its order directed to the sheriff “to
forthwith apprehend the said John Robinson and him have before J. L.
Fountain, the Judge, in the Domestic Relations Court . . . on the
29 day of December, at 10:00, 1850, then and there to answer the above
complaint and be dealt with according to law.”

Defendant, on 20 December, 1950, executed bond with surety for his
appearance at the term fixed.

On 7 August, 1951, the Domestic Relations Court entered a judgment
which reads: “Upon the trial of this case the defendant is found guilty
and is ordered and adjudged that the Court finds that this defendant is
the father of this child born 12-17-50. Prayer for judgment continued
for 2 years on condition that defendant pay into each week for the
support of his illegitimate child $7.00. . . . This case retained for fur-
ther orders of this Court.”

In 1953 the defendant ceased to make the weekly payments called
for in the August 1951 judgment. Upon motion of prosecutrix he was
cited to appear before the Domestic Relations Court. On 23 July, 1953,
this entry was made: ‘“Prosecuting witness admits that this defendant
gave her $8.00. Pay $12.00 each week until back payments in the
amount of $87.00 is paid. First payment payable July 27, 1953. Pay
capias cost today. No change in judgment.”

Pursuant to this order defendant made one payment of $12. No other
or further payments were made prior to the filing of the affidavit of
April 1956 on which this prosecution is based.

Defendant offered no parol evidence. The court charged the jury:
“Members of the Jury, this defendant, John Robinson, is being tried
upon a charge of unlawfully neglecting and refusing to support and
maintain his illegitimate child begotten upon the body of Myrtle Christ-
mas, the name of the child being Margaret Elaine Christmas, born
12-17-50.

“Now, the court charges the jury that if you believe the evidence and
find beyond a reasonable doubt the facts to be as all the evidence tends
to show then you would return a verdict of guilty as charged; if you do
not believe the evidence or do not find beyond a reasonable doubt the
facts to be as all the evidence tends to show, then you would return a
verdict of not guilty.”

Defendant excepted and assigns the charge as error. He insists that
the paternity of the child has not been established, that more than three
years have elapsed since the birth of the child, and prosecution is now
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barred. He further insists that a peremptory instruction cannot be
given when it is necessary to find that an act was wilful.

The law imposes a duty on a parent to provide support for his child.
This duty may, as to legitimate children, be enforced by civil action,
Green v. Green, 210 N.C. 147, 185 S.E. 651; Burke v. Turner, 85 N.C.
500; Walker v. Crowder, 37 N.C. 478; and when a parent wilfully
abandons and fails to support his legitimate offspring, he is guilty of a
misdemeanor. G.S. 14-322.

The common law recognized no legal duty on the part of the father to
provide for the support of an illegitimate child. He was said to be a
filius nullius, the child of nobody. He had no rights against an asserted
parent that could be enforced in court. Allen v. Hunnicutt, 230 N.C.
49, 52 S.E. 2d 18.

The provincial General Assembly of North Carolina, in 1741, by
ch. XIV, undertook to deal with the paternity of bastards and the obli-
gation of the father to provide support. The Act provided: “any two
Justices of the Peace, upon their own knowledge, or Information made
to them, that any single Woman within this County is big with Child,
or delivered of a Child or Children, may cause such Woman to be
brought before them, and examine her, upon Oath, concerning the
Father; and if she shall refuse to declare the Father, she shall pay the
Fines in this Act before mentioned, and give sufficient Security to keep
such Child or Children from being chargeable to the Parish, or shall be
committed to Prison, until she shall declare the same, or pay the Fine
aforesaid, and give Security as aforesaid. But in Case such Woman
shall, upon Oath, before said Justices, accuse any Man of being the
Father of a Bastard Child or Children, begotten of her Body, such
Person so accused shall be adjudged the reputed Father of such Child
or Children, and stand Charged with the Maintenance of the same,
as the County Court shall Order, and give Security to the Justices of
said Court to perform said Order, and to indemnify the Parish where
such Child or Children shall be born, free from Charges for his, or her,
or their Maintenance, and may be committed to Prison until he find
Securities for the same, if such Security is not by the Woman before
given.” Section XI of the Act provides that if the charge is made
before the child is born that the cause might be continued until the
birth of the child. XXIII State Records, p. 174.

The act of 1741, entitled “An Act for the better Observation and
keeping of the Lord’s Day, commonly called Sunday; and for the more
effectual Supression of Vice and Immorality,” made the oath of the
woman conclusive evidence of the paternity of the child. Paternity
having been established, the father could be imprisoned until he pro-
vided security to protect the community from the burden of supporting
the child. In 1799 the statute was amended to provide that execution
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might issue and the obligation to support might also be enforced by the
sale of the property of the father.

The conclusive force given to the oath of the mother remained the
law until 1814. Ch. VII of the laws of that year amended the Act of
1741. The preamble of the 1814 Act recites: “WHEREAS by the before
recited act whenever a single woman shall upon oath before two Magis-
trates according to its provisions, accuse any man of being the father
of her bastard child or children, such person so accused shall be ad-
judged the reputed father of such child or children and stand charged
with the maintenance thereof: And whereas the said act by rendering
the oath of the woman alone conclusive evidence of the fact, so far from
operating as a suppression of vice and immorality, has a contrary
effect:” It then provides that the man charged with the paternity of
the child may traverse the allegation and have a trial of the issue of
fact thus raised. Upon such trial the oath of the woman was made
prima facte but not conclusive evidence, The Act further provided:
“sll examinations upon oath to accuse or charge any man of being the
father of a bastard child shall be had and taken within three years next
after the birth of said child, and not after.” Provision was made for
appeal on the question of paternity by this language: “the officer prose-
cuting in behalf of the county, shall, and he is hereby authorized to
appeal to the Superior Court of Law in all cases where he shall think
that justice has not been obtained in the trial of any issue.”

The Act of 1741 as modified in 1799 and 1814, with slight modifica-
tions and changes in phraseology, was the law of North Carolina as it
relates to bastards until 1933. Ch. 12, Rev. Stat.; ch. 12, Rev. Code;
ch. 5, Code 1883; ch. 8, Revisal of 1905; ch. 6 of Con. Stat, of 1919.

Proceedings to compel a parent to provide support for his child were,
under the Act of 1741, regarded, except for a short period, as being civil
in nature, intended only to protect the community from the burden of
supporting a child. S. v. Roberts, 32 N.C. 350; S. v. Edwards, 110 N.C.
511; 8. v. Liles, 134 N.C. 735; 8. v. Mansfield, 207 N.C. 233, 176 S.E.
761. This is the usual approach to the problem of providing support
for illegitimate children. 7 Am. Jur. p. 680. The Legislature of 1933
changed the approach to the problem. Now the proceeding is criminal.
It is now the wilful neglect or refusal of a parent to support his or her
illegitimate child. Such failure is by the express language of the statute
made a misdemeanor. P.L. 1933, ch. 228, G.8. 49-2; S. v. Mansfield,
supra; 8. v. Cook, 207 N.C. 261, No longer is the primary burden
placed upon the father. Each parent is made responsible for his wilful
failure to perform his duty. The crime cannot be committed before
the child is born. 8. v. Thompson, 233 N.C, 345, 64 S.E. 2d 157; S. v.
Ferguson, 243 N.C. 766, 92 S.E, 2d 197. The begetting of the child is
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not a crime. S. v. T'yson, 208 N.C. 231, 180 S.E. 85; 8. v. Dill, 224 N.C.
57,29 8.E. 2d 145; 8. v. Stiles, 228 N.C. 137, 44 S.E. 2d 728.

To impose responsibility on one for the support of an illegitimate
child, it must first be established that he is the father of the child. As
noted, the Act of 1741 created a conclusive presumption from the oath
of the mother. This was modified in 1814 to make a prima facie case
by the affidavit or oath of the woman. There is now no presumption
from the affidavit or testimony of the mother.

By express statutory language preliminary proceedings to determine
the paternity of the child may be initiated and determined before the
birth of the child. A continuance of the proceeding until after the birth
of the child rests in the sound discretion of the trial court, G.S. 49-5;
and when such continuance is granted, “the courts shall recognize the
person accused of being the father of the child with surety for his ap-
pearance, either at the next term of the court or a time to be fixed by
the judge or court granting a continuance, which shall be after the
delivery of the child.”

Proceedings under the statute may be instituted in the Superior
Court or any court inferior to the Superior Court “except courts of
justices of the peace and courts whose eriminal jurisdiction does not
exceed that of justices of the peace.” G.S. 49-7. Thus it appears that
the preliminary proceeding to determine paternity is to be tried in a
court having criminal jurisdiction in excess of a justice of the peace.
The court is expressly commanded to first determine the paternity of
the child. G.8. 49-7. That fact cannot be established by mere pre-
ponderance of the evidence but must be established beyond a reasonable
doubt. S.w. Ellison, 230 N.C. 59, 52 S.E. 2d 9; S. v. Robinson, 236 N.C.
408, 72 S.E. 2d 857; S. v. Humphrey, 236 N.C. 608, 73 S.E. 2d 479;
S. v. Chambers, 238 N.C. 373, 78 S.E. 2d 209.

Proceedings under the Act can only be instituted by the mother or
her personal representative or the superintendent of publiec welfare.
G.S. 49-5. That provision is, of course, applicable both to preliminary
proceedings authorized by the statute to determine paternity and to
proceedings involving the completed crime.

Was there a judicial determination of the paternity of the child by
the Domestic Relations Court in August 1951? Undoubtedly the Do-
mestic Relations Court had jurisdiction to determine that question.
G.S. 7-103. The mother filed an affidavit specifically charging the
defendant with being the father of her unborn child. The fact that the
affidavit also stated that the defendant had failed to provide medical
care for affiant neither weakens nor strengthens the charge defendant
was required to answer. Process duly issued from the court command-
ing defendant “to answer the above complaint and be dealt with ac-
cording to law.” Thereupon the defendant gave bond for his appear-
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ance. He was properly before the court on a charge of which the court
had authority to make due inquiry and find the facts. On the hearing
the court found and adjudged “this defendant is the father of this child
born 12-17-50.” When the affidavit was filed and the warrant of arrest
issued, defendant had not committed the statutory offense of wilfully
neglecting his illegitimate child. S. v. Thompson, supra; S. v. Ferguson,
supra. That crime had been committed when the cause was tried. The
court was, however, without power to try the defendant for the crime,
but lack of authority to pass on the guilt of the defendant because of
the date of the complaint did not impair the authority of the court to
proceed to determine the issue of paternity.

Because the court exceeded its power and ordered the defendant to
make payments for the support of the child does not vitiate and destroy
that which the court had the power and authority to do, i.e., to find the
facts as to paternity. Such finding was in effect a jury verdict. A
sentence imposed not justified by a verdict does not vacate the verdict.
8. v. Graham, 224 N.C. 347, 30 S.E. 2d 151; 8. v, Malpass, 226 N,C. 403,
38 S.E. 2d 156; 8. v. Austin, 241 N.C. 548, 85 S.E. 2d 924; S. v. Marsh,
234 N.C. 101, 66 S.E. 2d 684. Defendant had the right to appeal the
finding that he was the father of the child. G.S. 49-7. He elected not
to do so, preferring to make the payments directed by the court. The
paternity of the child has been judicially declared within three years
of its birth, and hence defendant may be prosecuted and convicted if
he has wilfully neglected and refused to support his child. G.S. 49-4.

The court charged the jury that the defendant was on trial for unlaw-
fully neglecting and refusing to support and maintain his illegitimate
child. He made no attempt to define the unlawful failure to support.
He nowhere told the jury that the failure to support must be wilful.
This oversight of the judge can be understood because the battle in the
lower court turned on the effect to be given to the judgment of the
Domestic Relations Court rendered in August 1951, Nevertheless the
oversight must be held for prejudicial error. Defendant cannot be con-
victed unless he wilfully neglects to support his child. 8. v. Cook,
supra; S. v. Mansfield, supra; 8. v. Stiles, supra; 8. v. Vanderlip, 225
N.C. 610, 35 S.E. 2d 885; S. v. Morgan, 226 N.C. 414, 38 S.E. 2d 166;
S. v. Hayden, 224 N.C. 779, 32 S.E. 2d 333; S. v. Coppedge, 244 N.C.
590; S. v. Gtbson, post, 71.

New trial.

Jounson, J., not sitting,

Hiccins, J., dissents,



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1956. 17

BUMGARDNER ¥. GROOVER.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

8. BUMGARDNER v. BARNEY LEE GROOVER a~xp Wirg, MARY LEE
GROOVER, axp MRS. MARIETTA GRANT.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)
Pleadings § 15—

The sufficiency of a further answer and defense and cross-action may be
tested by demurrer. G.S. 1-141,

Rills and Notes § 83—

A pre-existing debt, or a release or waiver of a legal right, or a for-
bearance to exercise a legal right, is sufficient consideration to support a
note.

Same—

While neither a debt due by a father and mother nor the fact of the
relationship is sufficient consideration to support the execution of a note
by the daughter, forbearance to exercise a legal right against the parents
is sufficient consideration.

Bills and Notes § 29—Allegations that note sued on was executed for
money borrowed to pay installment due on another note executed to
plaintift held no defense.

This action was instituted by an endorser before delivery, who had paid
the note to the payee, against a husband and wife and daughter who had
executed the note. The answers alleged that the husband and wife had
executed a mortgage note in a much larger sum to plaintiff, that they were
in arrears on the mortgage note, and that the note sued on was executed
for money borrowed to pay a delinquent installment on the mortgage note.
Held: Forbearance of foreclosure on the mortgage note was sufficient con-
sideration for the execution of the note sued on, both in regard to the
husband and wife and to the daughter, and therefore plaintiff’'s demurrer
to the further answer setting up want of consideration was properly sus-
tained.

Same-—Agreement to reconvey in satisfaction of mortgage note held no
defense in action on another note for money borrowed to pay install-
ment on mortgage note,

This action was instituted by an endorser before delivery, who had paid
the note to the payee, against husband and wife and daughter who had
executed the note. The answers alleged that the husband and wife had
purchased land from plaintiff, giving a purchase money note therefor under
an agreement that if they could not pay the mortgage note they would recon-
vey the land in satisfaction, and that the note sued on was given for money
borrowed to pay a delinquent installment on the mortgage note. Defend-
ants, husband and wife, further alleged that they were willing to reconvey
and sought recovery of sums theretofore paid on the mortgage note. Held:
The alleged parol agreement to reconvey related to the mortgage note and
not the note in suit, and further the agreement does not provide that
money paid on the mortgage note should be refunded upon reconveyance,
but only for cancellation upon reconveyance of the mortgage note as then
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partially paid, and therefore the allegations of the answers constitute no
defense and were properly stricken upon motion.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

APPEAL by defendants from Campbell, J., February “A” Civil Term
1956 of MECKLENBURG.

Civil action to recover amount paid on a promissory note by plaintiff
under his liability as endorser thereon.

The allegations of the complaint are in substance as follows: On
8 January 1953 the defendants executed a promissory note under seal in
the amount of $1,484.62 payable to the Union National Bank of Char-
lotte. The note recites that for value received the defendants promise
to pay the bank $1,484.62, with interest after maturity, in consecutive
monthly installments beginning on 26 January 1953—14 installments
being for $100.00 and the last one for $84.62—: failure to pay any
installment when due shall, at the option of the payee or assignee,
render the whole note immediately due. Plaintiff endorsed this note on
behalf of the defendants to enable them to obtain the sum of $1,484.62
from the bank. The makers of the note made five consecutive payments
of $100.00 each on the note, and thereafter defaulted in five consecutive
payments. After such defaults the bank declared the remainder due
on the note, to-wit, $984.62, due and payable, and after demand for the
payment of this amount from the makers, and their refusal to pay, gave
notice of such demand and default to the plaintiff endorser. On 12
November 1953 the plaintiff as endorser paid the bank $984.62, and is
now the holder of the note. He made demand upon the defendants for
payment to him on the note of $984.62, and upon their refusal to pay,
he instituted this action, and prays judgment against them for that
amount with interest.

This is a summary of the joint answer of defendants: They admit
their execution of the note to the bank, and that plaintiff endorsed the
same, but allege that plaintiff, endorsed the note to obtain the money
for himself, and that it was without any consideration to them. They
admit that one of the defendants Barney Lee Groover made five pay-
ments of $100.00 each on the note, and thereafter the defendants made
no further payments on the note, and that on 12 November 1953 the
balance due and payable on the note was $984.62. They admit that
plaintiff on 12 November 1953 paid the bank on the note $984.62 by
virtue of his liability as endorser thereon. They admit that plaintiff
made demand on the defendants Barney Lee Groover and wife Mary H.
Groover to pay him $984.62.

The defendants as a first further answer and defense, and as a cause
of action for affirmative relief allege in substance as follows: On 1 July
1952 plaintiff and the defendants Barney Lee Groover and wife Mary
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H. Groover entered into an agreement, part of which was in writing and
part oral, and pursuant to the agreement plaintiff conveyed to them a
farm for the price of $15,000.00, and these two defendants executed and
delivered to plaintiff their note for $15,000.00 secured by a deed of trust
on the farm. This note was payable $1,000.00 a year, with 5% interest,
beginning on 1 January 1953 and including 1959, and $2,000.00 on
1 January 1960. On 1 January 1953 these two defendants were unable
to make the $1,000.00 payment due. Shortly thereafter plaintiff in-
duced these two defendants and their daughter the defendant Marietta
Grant to execute to the Union National Bank of Charlotte the note
described in the complaint, which plaintiff endorsed. Plaintiff received
the entire amount loaned by the bank on the note, and defendants
received nothing, and as to them the note is without consideration. The
note executed to the bank represents part of the identical money repre-
sented by the note for $15,000.00, which bears 5% interest, and if plain-
tiff can recover on the note set forth in his complaint he will be recover-
ing on a note for money included in the $15,000.00 note, and interest of
6% on part of the same money represented by the $15,000.00 note. The
defendant Marietta Grant had no connection with the purchase of the
farm. The note sued upon is void, and plaintiff is not entitled to recover
thereon. Wherefore, the defendant Barney Lee Groover prays for a
recovery from plaintiff of the amount of $500.00 he paid on the note,
with interest,

The defendants as a second further answer and defense allege in
substance: The purchase of the farm for $15,000.00, as set forth in their
first further answer and defense. That according to the contract of
purchase the defendants Barney Lee Groover and wife were to make
improvements on the farm, and put the land, which had not been culti-
vated for 7 years, in a state of cultivation, so that if these two defend-
ants had to give up the farm, the plaintiff would lose nothing. That
these two defendants have made improvements on the land of the value
of $1,500.00. That at the time of purchase, it was agreed by plaintiff
and these two defendants that if they could not keep up the payments
on their purchase money note, they would re-convey the farm to plain-
tiff, who would mark the note paid and satisfied, and surrender it to
them. These two defendants have not been able to keep up the pay-
ments, and now are ready and able to re-convey the farm to plaintiff
“upon the cancellation and surrender to them of all notes which they
have executed, and which are now held by the plaintiff.” That by
reason of their agreement the note sued upon in this action and all other
obligations of these two defendants to plaintiff have been settled, and
plaintiff is estopped to maintain this action.

Plaintiff demurred to the first further answer and defense and cause
of action for affirmative relief of the defendants on the ground that it
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does not constitute a counter-claim and defense, and does not state a
cause of action for affirmative relief, in that the two defendants admit
they owed plaintiff $1,000.00 on 1 January 1953, that the defend-
ants admit they executed a note to the Union National Bank of Char-
lotte for the payment of this amount, and subsequently paid $500.00
on their note to the bank, and they have no legal right to recover the
$500.00 they paid the bank.

Plaintiff made a motion that the entire second further answer and
defense be stricken from the answer for that it is entirely immaterial,
irrelevant and incompetent and that plaintiff would be prejudiced and
damaged, if it were permitted to remain in the answer.

Plaintiff made a second motion to strike the second further answer
and defense on the ground that it alleges no defense to plaintiff’s action
as it is an attempt to vary or modify a written agreement by verbal
evidence, and on the further ground that the purported oral agreement
relating to the sale of real estate is not valid because not in writing:
that evidence in support of the allegations would be incompetent and
prejudicial.

The court entered an order sustaining the demurrer, and allowing
the motions to strike.

At the trial the plaintiff offered evidence: the defendants none. The
jury found for its verdict that the plaintiff was entitled to recover of
the defendants $984.62 with interest from 12 November 1953.

From judgment upon the verdict the defendants except and appcal.

B. Kermit Caldwell for Plaintiff, Appellee.
J. C. Sedberry for Defendants, Appellants.

ParkEer, J. With the exception of formal assignments of error, the
defendants have only two assignments of error: one, to that part of
the order sustaining the demurrer to the first further answer and defense
and cause of action for afirmative relief, and two, to that portion of the
order allowing the motion to strike from the answer the entire second
further answer and defense.

This is not an action based on the $15,000.00 note executed and deliv-
ered to plaintiff by the defendants Bar®ey Lee Groover and wife, Mary
Lee Groover, as a purchase money note for a farm, and secured by a deed
of trust on the property. This is an action to recover from the defend-
ants $984.62 which the plaintiff paid the Union National Bank of
Charlotte by reason of his liability as an endorser on defendants’ sealed
note for $1,484.62, which the defendants admit they executed and deliv-
ered to the bank with the plaintiff as an endorser thereon, and which
note the plaintiff now holds.
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In essence the allegations of defendants’ first answer and defense, and
cause of action for affirmative relief are these: The Union National
Bank of Charlotte loaned the defendants $1,484.62 on their note under
seal for that amount, endorsed by plaintiff, which sum was paid to
plaintiff as a payment on the $1,000.00 installment past due on the
purchase money note of $15,000.00 of Barney Lee Groover and wife,
Mary Lee Groover, and of the accrued interest on this note, that Barney
Lee Groover paid the bank $500.00 on this note, that the defendants
defaulted in the payment of the remainder due on their note held by
the bank, that the plaintiff by virtue of his liability as endorser on their
note held by the bank paid the remainder due on the note, to-wit,
$984.62, and is now the holder of the note, that their note executed and
delivered to the bank is null and void, becaused based on no consider-
ation as to them, and that plaintiff is entitled to recover nothing on the
note transferred to him by the bank, and Barney Lee Groover is entitled
to recover from plaintiff the $500.00 he paid the bank on the note. In
this part of their answer the defendants allege the note they executed
and delivered to the bank “represents part of the identical money repre-
sented by the said note and deed of trust for $15,000.00.”

Whether the allegations of defendants’ first answer and defense, and
cause of action for affirmative relief are sufficient can be tested by a
demurrer. G.S. 1-141; Jenkins v. Fields, 240 N.C. 776, 83 S.E. 2d 908.

Accepting these allegations as true, this is the situation presented.
The defendants make no contention that the purchase money note for
$15,000.00 is not based upon an adequate legal consideration. They
admit that the $1,000.00 installment payment due on this note 1 Janu-
ary 1953 was past due, when they executed and delivered their sealed
note to the bank, and it is manifest from the allegations that this note
was used by them to obtain money to pay this past due installment,
which installment payment Barney Lee Groover and his wife justly
and lawfully owed, and for which payment they are entitled to credit
on their $15,000.00 note. It seems that the rest of the money secured
from the bank was used to pay accrued interest on the $15,000.00 note,
and they are entitled to credit for that payment. It also seems plain
that the payment was made by the defendants to prevent a foreclosure
of the deed of trust, and to permit Barney Lee Groover and wife to
retain possession of the farm, because it nowhere appears in the Record
that the deed of trust on the farm has been foreclosed, or that Barney
Lee Groover and wife are not in possession of the farm. Certainly by
accepting payment of this past due installment plaintiff waived and
surrendered his right to foreclose the deed of trust by reason of the
non-payment of the $1,000.00 installment due 1 January 1953 on the
$15,000.00 note, and to proceed to judgment on the note, and the amount
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he received is & proper credit for the makers of the $15,000.00 note on
the note.

G.S. 25-30 (Negotiable Instruments) reads in part: “An antecedent
or pre-existing debt constitutes value, and is deemed such whether the
instrument is payable on demand or at a future time.” “And it is well
settled that a pre-existing, valid and enforceable indebtedness or lia-
bility of a contracting party constitutes a sufficient consideration to
support his undertaking on a bill or note. Consequently, it is generally
held that a bill or note given for practically any kind of pre-existing
debt or liability of the maker or drawer is supported by a consideration.

. .7 10 CJ.8,, Bills and Notes, p. 604.

Undoubtedly, the release or waiver of a legal right, or a forbearance
to exercise a legal right, is a sufficient consideration to support a note
made on account of it. Searcy v. Hammett, 202 N.C. 42, 161 S.E. 733;
Exum v. Lynch, 188 N.C. 392, 125 S.E. 15; Lowe v. Weatherley, 20
N.C. 355; 10 C.J.S., Bills and Notes, p. 618,

So far as Barney Lee Groover and wife, Mary Lee Groover, are con-
cerned their sealed note to the bank, according to the allegations of
their first further answer and defense and cause for affirmative relief,
was based upon a valid consideration, and Barney Lee Groover is not
entitled to recover from plaintiff the $500.00 he paid to the bank. As
to them the demurrer was properly sustained.

Mrs. Marietta Grant, daughter of the other two defendants, says
that she was not a party to the purchase of the farm, did not sign the
$15,000.00 purchase money note, and that there was no consideration
so far as she was concerned in respect to the note she executed with her
parents and delivered to the bank. In 10 C.J.8., Bills and Notes, pp.
619 and 620, it is written: “It is well settled that the discharge, release,
or forbearance of a right or claim against a third person, at the instance
or request of the obligor, is sufficient consideration to support the lat-
ter’s undertaking on a bill or note. A bill or note given in payment or
extinguishment of a debt or liability of a person other than the maker
is supported by consideration, although the debtor is wholly without
means, or although the maker mistakenly believed that he was in turn
indebted to the debtor. It is apparent, therefore, that if a bill or note
of a relative or spouse of a debtor has been taken in discharge or pay-
ment of the indebtedness, or has induced a forbearance thereon, the
instrument is supported by consideration, although, as already noted,
neither the debt itself, see supra sec. 150 d, nor the interest or affection
attendant on the relationship involved, see supra sec. 148, would of
itself have been sufficient to sustain the undertaking.”

In Bank v. Harrington, 205 N.C. 244, 170 S.E. 916, it was held that
the cancellation and surrender of deceased husband’s notes to widow
constituted a sufficient consideration for widow’s notes. The Court
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said: “In the instant case the plaintiff had surrendered the notes of the
deceased husband, and thereby discharged his estate from liability for
said notes, 8 C.J., 219. This was a sufficient consideration for the
notes sued on in these actions.”

In Searcy v. Hammett, supra, the second headnote in our Reports
correctly states: ‘“Where the creditor of a corporation aceepts its notes
endorsed by its stockholders and directors in settlement of the debt he
extends the maturity of the debt and gives up his right to reduce the
debt to judgment until after the maturity of the notes, and the endorse-
ment of such notes by a stockholder and president of the corporation
is supported by a legal consideration, and he is liable thereon . . .”

Accepting as true the allegations of the defendants’ first further
answer and defense, when the plaintiff received the proceeds from the
bank of the note executed by Mrs. Marietta Grant and her parents it
constituted a payment of the $1,000.00 installment past due on her
parents’ $15,000.00 note, and plaintiff waived and surrendered his legal
right to foreclose the deed of trust on the farm by their failure to pay
this installment when due, and his legal right to proceed to judgment on
the $15,000.00 note, and such payment and such forbearance is a suffi-
cient consideration for the note executed and delivered by Mrs. Grant
and her parents, as to them and as to her. Accepting the allegations of
the first further answer and defense as true, it alleged no defense for
Mrs. Grant and her parents, and no ground for affirmative relief, and as
to Mrs. Grant and her parents the demurrer was correctly sustained.

The essence of defendants’ second further answer and defense is this:
That contemporaneously with the execution of the purchase money note
for $15,000.00, secured by deed of trust upon the farm conveyed to the
makers of the note, the plaintiff, the seller, agreed with Barney Lee
Groover and wife, the makers of the note, that if they eould not keep up
the payments on the $15,000.00 note as provided, they could rc-convey
the farm to plaintiff, and plaintiff would mark the note and deed of
trust “paid and satisfied” and surrender them to the makers. That they
have not been able to keep up the payments, and are ready and willing,
as they have been at all times, to convey the farm to plaintiff upon the
cancellation of and surrender to them of all notes of theirs held by
plaintiff, and that by reason of; this oral agreement the note sued on,
and all other obligations of theirs, have been settled, and plaintiff is
estopped to maintain this action.

According to these allegations the parol agreement was to cancel the
$15,000.00 note and the deed of trust securing it under certain condi-
tions. No such agreement is alleged as to the note for $1,484.62, or any
other note. The alleged parol agreement does not provide that any
money paid to plaintiff on the $15,000.00 note by Barney Lee Groover
and wife, Mary Lee Groover, shall be repaid to them by plaintiff, if they
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could not keep up the payments on the note, and re-conveyed the farm
to plaintiff. Therefore, if a payment has been made on the note by the
defendants, the cancellation according to the alleged oral agreement
would be of the $15,000.00 note partially paid and the deed of trust
securing it. That is manifest, because under such circumstances it
would no longer be a note for the payment of $15,000.00. There is no
allegation that defendants offered before or at the time the $1,484.62
note was executed by them to re-convey the farm to plaintiff, and
demanded the cancellation of the $15,000.00 note and deed of trust,
though they allege they have always been ready to do so. However,
their acts in executing the $1,484.62 note and payment of $500.00 on it
do not show a willingness to re-convey the farm at that time. There
is no allegation that Barney Lee Groover and wife are not now in
possession of the farm.,

If the plaintiff brings an action to foreclose the deed of trust, or if
Barney Lee Groover and wife bring an action to cancel the note and
deed of trust, then the question as to whether the alleged parol agree-
ment, if there was one, runs counter to the terms of the written instru-
ments, and all other attendant questions, can be presented for decision.
See Coral Gables, Inc. v. Ayres, 208 N.C. 426, 181 S.E. 263; Stanback
v. Haywood, 209 N.C. 798, 184 S.E. 831.

Accepting the allegations of the second further answer and defense
as true, it alleges no defense to plaintiff’s cause of action in the instant
case. The alleged parol agreement does not cover the $1,484.62 note.
These allegations are clearly irrelevant, and the facts which these alle-
gations relate were incompetent in evidence in this action. The court
properly struck this second further answer and defense from the answer,
upon plaintiff’s motions. Daniel v. Gardner, 240 N.C. 249, 81 S.E. 2d
660.

No error.

JounsoN, J., not sitting.

®

IN THE MATTER OF GUY A. GIBBONS, JR.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)
1. Infants § 22—

In determining the right to custody of an infant, the paramount consid-
eration, to which all other factors must yield, is the welfare and best
interest of the child.
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2. Appeal and Error § 49—

The findings of fact of the trial court are conclusive when supported by
competent evidence received in a properly constituted hearing.

8. Constitutional Law § 20—

Parties have the fundamental right to be present in court when evidence
is offered and to an opportunity to rebut it, and when parol evidence is
offered, to cross-examine the witnesses.

4. Evidence § 22—

‘While the court has power to confine cross-examination to its proper
scope and proper limits, it may not entirely deny a party the right to cross-
examine the witnesses of his adversary.

5. Infants § 22—

In a proceeding to determine the right of custody of a minor child, the
action of the court in conferring with witnesses in his chambers in the
absence of one of the parties deprives such party of a constitutional right,
vitiating the decree awarding custody.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpEAL by petitioner from Hobgood, J., March Civil Term 1956,
WAKE.

This action was instituted in the Domestic Relations Court of Wake
County in October 1954 by petition of Richard Bright, hereinafter
referred to as petitioner. The petition asserted that Guy A. Gibbons,
Jr., an infant under sixteen years, was a neglected child under such
improper or insufficient control as to endanger the health and general
welfare of the infant. It also asserted that the custody of the infant
was in controversy. Guy A. Gibbons, Sr., hereinafter referred to as
respondent, denied the allegations of the petition. From a judgment
adverse to petitioner an appeal was taken to the Superior Court of Wake
County. The cause was heard at the March Term 1956 on affidavits
and oral testimony submitted by petitioner and respondent. The court
made findings of fact and conclusions of law based on the facts found
and awarded custody of the child to respondent. Petitioner excepted
to the findings of fact and the conclusions of law based thereon. From
the judgment awarding custody of the child to respondent, petitioner
appealed.

J. L. Emanuel, Hill Yarborough, and Robert L. Emanuel for peti-
tioner appellant.

Manning & Fulton for respondent appellee.

Ropman,J. Guy A. Gibbons, Jr., was born 26 April, 1947. Adoption
proceedings were initiated by Guy A. Gibbons, Sr., and wife, Rebecea



26 IN THE SUPREME COURT. {245

IN RE GIBBONS,

Gibbons, on 23 February, 1948, and final order of adoption was entered
30 April, 1949. In June 1949 Rebecca Gibbons died. Following her
death, the child was taken to Miss Ruth Lindley, who lived at Guilford
College. Miss Lindley, a sister of Mrs, Gibbons, was a school teacher.
She was unable to care for the child after the school opened in Septem-
ber. Hence the child was returned to the respondent in Raleigh. He
placed the child in the home of Mrs. Ralph Turner, who operated a
boarding home for children. When the child had been at the boarding
home about two weeks, Mrs, Turner notified respondent that she could
not continue to keep the child, whereupon she was directed to find a
suitable home for the child. Pursuant to this direction, Mrs. Turner
placed the infant with the petitioner, Richard Bright, in September
1949. The infant remained in the home of petitioner and his wife,
except for short visits to respondent, until 1 August, 1954. On that
date, respondent and another man went to New Hope Baptist Church
while Sunday School was in session and forcibly took Guy Gibbons, Jr.,
from the Sunday School where he had been sent by the petitioner and
his wife. For this, respondent wag indicted and convicted of disturbing
religious worship.

Respondent made small contributions to the support of the infant in
1949, 1950, and 1951, No contributions were made thereafter while he
was in the custody of petitioner.

In September 1952 respondent married Harriet Scott, a lady of excel-
lent character. Respondent and his wife live in Raleigh. Mrs. Gibbons
is regularly employed with the probation office of the Federal Govern-
ment.

The court found that the petitioner and his wife are both of excellent
character. Petitioner is employed as a professor in the Chemical Engi-
neering Department of North Carolina State College and has been so
employed for many years. Petitioner and his wife are active in chureh,
educational, and community life of their community, own their own
home, have no children of their own, and plan, upon their death, to
leave their home to Guy A. Gibbons, Jr. The court further found:

“That the home life of Guy A. Gibbons, Jr. while he lived with Mr.
and Mrs. Bright was happy and cheerful and the said Mr. and Mrs.
Bright took particular pains to see that he appeared neat, clean, and
saw to it that he was given proper medical attention at all times.”

“That Guy A. Gibbons, Sr. is not a man of bad character. He owns
his own home and he is the owner of and engaged in the business of
operating a service station and a small nursery on U. 8. Highway No. 1
about seven miles north of Raleigh and near the Millbrook community.”

“That from the time of the death of his first wife, Rebecca L. Gib-
bons, in 1949, until a few months ago the said Guy A. Gibbons, Sr. was
addicted to the excessive use of alcohol to such an extent that he fre-
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quently became intoxicated and he became a member of Alcoholics
Anonymous.”

Then follows a finding that respondent was convicted of a misde-
meanor relating to the operation of an automobile in each of the years
1950, 1951, and 1952. “That except as hereinabove set forth said Guy
A. Gibbons, Sr. has been a law-abiding citizen, has attended church
regularly, engaged continuously in business in Wake County, North
Carolina for several years and does not appear to have any vices except
an addiction to excessive use of aleohol.”

The court made these additional findings, each of which was excepted
to by petitioner:

“That during the time the said child has lived with Mr. and Mrs.
Gibbons, Sr, since August 1, 1954, he has progressed normally in his
physical development, in his school grades, and in his aptitudes; how-
ever, the child appears to be uncertain as to what his proper attitude
should be as between the petitioner and the respondent, due to their
conflict of interest in seeking complete custody and control of said
child and said child freely admits his desire to live with Mr. and Mrs.
Richard Bright due to the fact that they furnished more clothes for
him, provided him with more toys and playground equipment, axp Do
Nor Punisag Hivm WueEN He Mi1sBeHAVES ; WHEREAS, ON THE CONTRARY,
THE GieeoNs Do Puxisu Him Wuex He MisBeHAVES, (EMPHASIS
by Hamilton H. Hobgood).”

“That this Court has held three conferences in chambers with Guy A.
Gibbons, Jr. without either Mr. or Mrs. Bright or Mr. or Mrs. Guy A.
Gibbons, Sr. being present, this being done with the view of obtaining
full knowledge of the child’s problems and attachment with reference
to the petitioner and the respondent.

“That the respondent Guy A. Gibbons, Sr. and his wife, Harriet Scott
Gibbons, are fit, suitable and proper persons to have the care, custody
and control of Guy A. Gibbons, Jr., the adopted child of Guy A. Gib-
bons, Sr.; and the Court further finds as a fact that Guy A. Gibbons,
Sr. has a comfortable home and finds, further, that Guy A. Gibbons, Sr.
and his wife, Harriet S. Gibbons are giving said minor child, Guy A.
Gibbons, Jr., proper instruction and supervision to the extent as to
promote a wholesome and proper development of said minor child and
to instill in him social, moral and religious principles and at the same
time properly control his conduct in his daily activities so that he may
develop as a normal child and be better prepared to meet the normal
problems with which he will be faced upon reaching adulthood; and
the Court further finds as a fact that Guy A. Gibbons, Sr, and his wife,
Harriet S. Gibbons, are giving said child such care as to promote his
best welfare, interest and development.”
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The crucial question in this case, as in all cases involving the custody
of an infant, is: What, in fact, is for the best interest of the child?
Schenck, J., in Tyner v. Tyner, 206 N.C. 776, 175 S.E. 144, said: “In
determining the custody of children, their welfare is the paramount
consideration. Even parental love must yield to the claims of another,
if, after due judicial investigation, it is found that the best interest of
the children is subserved thereby.”

Denny, J., in Gafford v. Phelps, 235 N.C. 218, 69 S.E. 2d 313, said:
““The welfare of the child should be the paramount consideration which
guides the court in making an award of custody.”

Johnson, J., speaking with reference to the custody of children, said
in Griffith v. Griffith, 240 N.C. 271, 81 S.E. 2d 918: “In such case we
apprehend the true rule to be that the court’s primary concern is the
furtherance of the welfare and best interests of the child and its place-
ment in the home environment that will be most conducive to the full
development of its physical, mental, and moral faculties. All other
factors, including visitorial rights of the other applicant, will be de-
ferred or subordinated to these considerations . . .”

Probably no more difficult task devolves upon a Superior Court Judge
than to find the correct answer to the question raised when he is called
upon to determine who shall have the custody and control of a little
child. Nearly always any decision he makes will produce heartaches.
The one denied the right to custody is certain to inquire of himself,
“Where, how, and why did I fail to convince the court of my great love
and affection for the child? Does not the evidence which the court has
heard demonstrate that the party given the custody is not because of
habits and character a fit and proper person to rear the child?”

The findings of fact made by the trial judge, like a jury verdict, con-
clude the parties and are binding on us when supported by competent
evidence received at a properly constituted hearing. Reid v. Johnston,
241 N.C. 201, 85 S.E. 2d 114; Radio Station v. Eitel-McCullough, 232
N.C. 287, 59 S.E. 2d 779; Griffin v. Griffin, 237 N.C. 404, 75 S.E. 2d 133;
Gafford v. Phelps, supra.

The asserted errors are presented by exceptions 15, 6, and 16. The
record states exception 15 thus: “On March 22, 1956, in Wake County
Superior Court, a hearing was held in the above entitled cause, and
following the oral testimony of Guy A. Gibbons, Sr., and Richard
Bright, His Honor Hamilton H. Hobgood, Judge Presiding, in open
court directed the Sheriff of Wake County to subpoena Rev. J. W. Page,
pastor of Fairmont Methodist Church of Raleigh, N. C., and Dr. Owen
Herring, pastor of New Hope Baptist Church of Wake County, to
appear in open court and give testimony in this case. That the hearing
which was scheduled for March 29, 1956, was not held. That thereafter
Judge Hobgood did confer with said Rev. J. W. Page and Dr. Owen
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Herring in a single conference in his chambers in Wake Superior Court
with no one being present except said Rev. J. W. Page, Dr. Owen Her-
ring and Judge Hobgood. To the foregoing action of His Honor, peti-
tioner excepted; and this constitutes petitioner’s Exception No. 15.”

Exception 6 is to the finding of fact that the court held three con-
ferences with the infant Guy A. Gibbons, Jr., without any of the parties
being present; and exception 16 is to the refusal of the court to permit
petitioner to examine the infant in open court.

The basic and fundamental law of the land requires that parties
litigant be given an opportunity to be present in court when evidence
is offered in order that they may know what evidence has been offered
and that they may have an opportunity to rebut the evidence with the
opportunity, when parol evidence is offered, to cross-examine the wit-
nesses. Barnhill, J. (later C. J.), speaking in Biddiz v. Rex Mills, 237
N.C. 660, 75 S.E. 2d 777, said: “In a judicial proceeding the determi-
native facts upon which the rights of the parties must be made to rest
must be found from admissions made by the parties, facts agreed,
stipulations entered into and noted at the hearing, and evidence offered
in open court after all the parties have been given full opportunity to
be heard.” (Emphasis supplied.) To like effect see In re Custody of
Gupton, 238 N.C. 303, 77 S.E. 2d 716; S. v. Gordon, 225 N.C. 241, 34
S.E. 2d 414; In re Estate of Edwards, 234 N.C. 202, 66 S.E. 2d 675;
Townsend v. Coach Co., 231 N.C. 81, 56 S.E. 2d 39; S. v. Armstrong,
232 N.C. 727, 62 S.E. 2d 50; S. v. Stone, 226 N.C. 97, 36 S.E. 2d 704;
Bank v. Motor Co., 216 N.C. 432, 5 S.E. 2d 318.

The power of the court to confine cross-examination to its proper
scope and within proper limits is undoubted. Crouse v. Vernon, 232
N.C. 24, 59 S.E. 2d 185; 8. v. Stone, supra; S. v. Tola, 222 N.C. 406,
23 S.E. 2d 321.

The court committed error in receiving testimony from witnesses
without affording petitioner an opportunity to be present and know
what evidence was offered.

The fact that the conclusions of law were based on findings of fact
made without an opportunity to petitioner to be present when the
evidence was offered vitiates the judgment. There is

Error.

Jornsox. J., not sitting,
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PHYLLIS LEE MORRIS, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS ADMINISTRATRIX WITH THE
WiLL ANNEXED OF RICHARD MORRIS v. RICHARD LEE MORRIS, aAx
INFANT, AND J, HARVEY LUCK, GUARDIAN Ap LLITEM FOR.THE INFANT,
RICHARD LEE MORRIS.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)
1, Wills § 16—
A will is wholly ineffectual as an instrument of title unless the will is
probated and made a matter of record in accordance with the applicable
statutes.

2. Wills § 15a—

While the Superior Court has no initial probate jurisdiction, this being
in the exclusive original jurisdiction of the clerk of the Superior Court,
G.8. 2-16, G.8. 281, G.S. 81-12, et seq., when the issue of devisavit vel non
is raised and the matter is transferred to the civil {ssue docket, the Supe-
rior Court in term has jurisdiction of the question of probate as well as
the issue of devisavit vel non. G.8. 1-276.

8. Same—

A holographic will must be probated upon the testimony of at least three
witnesses that they believe the will to be written entirely in the hand-
writing of the person whose will it purports to be, and that the name of
the testator as written in or on, or subsecribed to, the will, is in the hand-
writing of the person whose will it purports to be, and a probate which
shows on its face that the handwriting of the deceased was proven by
only two witnesses renders the paper writing ineffectual to pass title.
G.S. 31-39.

4, Wills § 16—

While an order of probate in common form is conclusive until set aside
in a direct proceeding and may not be collaterally attacked, when the
record of probate of a holographic will shows on its face that the hand-
writing of the deceased was proven by only two witnesses, this rule does
not apply, since G.8. 81-19 is applicable only to a decree of probate regular
on its face.

5. Declaratory Judgment Act § 2—

A proceeding under the Declaratory Judgment Act for a declaration as
to how the estate of deceased passed by his purported will must be dis-
missed when the record of probate of the instrument discloses on its face
that the paper writing had not been proven as required by statute, since
in such instance the question of title to property under the paper writing
is moot, and a moot question is not within the scope of the Declaratory
Judgment Act.

JounsoN, J., not sitting.
ArpraL by defendant J. Harvey Luck, guardian ad [litem for the

infant, Richard Lee Morris, from Fountain, Special Judge, July Term
1956 of RANDOLPH.



N.C] FALL TERM, 1956. 31

Mogrris v. MORRIS.

Proceeding under the Declaratory Judgment Act (G.S. 1-253 et seq.)
for construction of a paper writing purporting to be a holographic will
of Richard Morris, deceased, and a declaration as to how the real and
personal estate of the late Richard Morris passed by his purported will
as between Phyllis Lee Morris, his widow, and Richard Lee Morris,
an infant, his only son.

This is the decree of probate:

“NorTH CAROLINA Ix TaE SupERIOR COURT
Ranporra County

A paper writing, without subseribing witnesses, purporting to be
the last will and testament of Richard Morris, deceased, is ex-
hibited for probate in open court by Phyllis Lee Morris, and it is
thereupon proved by the oath and examination of Phyllis Lee
Morris that the said will was lodged in the hands of her for safe-
keeping of the said Richard Morris after his death.

“And it is further proved by the oath and examination of three com-
petent and credible witnesses, to wit, Bob S. Morris, H. L. Griffin,
and , that they are acquainted with the handwriting
of the said Richard Morris, having often see (si¢) him write, and
verily believe that the name of the said Richard Morris, subscribed
to the said will, and the said will itself, and every part thereof, is
in the handwriting of the said Richard Morris.

“And it is further proved by the evidence of the three last mentioned
witnesses, that the said handwriting is generally known to the
acquaintances of the said Richard Morris.

Severally sworn and subseribed,
this 23 day of January, 1956, Bor S. Morris
before me. H. L. Grirrin
JosEpHINE G. HARPER, Asst.
Clerk of the Superior Court.

“It is therefore considered and adjudged by the Court that the said
paper writing and every part thereof is the last will and testament
of the said Richard Morris and the same is ordered to be recorded
and filed.

This 23 day of January, 1956.
JosePHINE G. HARPER, Ass't.
Clerk of the Superior Court.
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MORRIS ¥, MORRIS,

Dec. 30, 1954

Being of sound mind I hereby bequeath to my wife Phyllis Lee
Morris all of property both real and personal to provide for my son
Richard Lee Morris and herself.

Richard Morris

Deec. 30, 1954
In Witness of the above:
I, Bartley T. Garvey attest the
signature to be of Mr. Richard
Morris whom I know personally.”

Judge Fountain rendered a declaratory judgment adjudicating how
the estate passed under the purported will.
To the judgment entered the guardian ad litem excepts and appeals.

J. Harvey Luck, in propria persona, as guardian ad litem for Richard
Lee Morris, Appellant.
Archie L. Smith and Hammond & Walker for Appellee.

ParkEeRr, J. G.S. 31-39 provides “No will shall be effectual to pass
real or personal estate unless it shall have been duly proved and allowed
in the probate court of the proper county . . .”

A will is wholly ineffectual as an instrument of title unless the will
is probated and made a matter of record in accordance with the appli-
cable statutes of our State. Osborne v. Leak, 89 N.C. 433; Poore v.
Poore, 201 N.C. 791, 161 S.E. 532; Cartwright v. Jones, 215 N.C. 108,
1 S.E. 2d 359; Brissie v. Craig, 232 N.C. 701, 62 S.E. 2d 330; Anderson
v. Atkinson, 234 N.C. 271, 66 S.E. 2d 886; Vandiford v. Vandiford, 241
N.C. 42, 84 S.E. 2d 278. See also Eckland v. Jankowskr, 407 111. 263,
95 N.E. 2d 342, 22 A L.R. 2d 1102.

“The testamentary disposition of property is governed by statute.
In order that a paper writing, so designed, may effectuate this purpose
it must have been executed and proven in strict compliance with the
statutory requirements. G.S. 31-3, 31-18.”" In re Wil of Puett, 229
N.C. 8,47 S.E. 2d 488.

The statutes of North Carolina confer upon the Clerk of the Superior
Court exelusive and original jurisdiction of proceedings for the probate
of wills. G.S. 2-16, 28-1, and 31-12 to 31-27 inclusive; McCormick v.
Jernigan, 110 N.C. 406, 14 S.E. 971; Brissie v. Craig, supra. Under the
statutes governing probate matters, the Superior Court, as a mere court
of law and equity, has no jurisdiction to determine an issue whether a
disputed writing is the last will of a deceased person in an ordinary
civil action. Brissie v. Craig, supra. However, when an issue of de-
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visavit vel non is raised, that necessitates the transfer of the cause to
the civil issue docket for trial by jury, where the Superior Court in
term has jurisdiction to determine the whole matter in controversy as
well as the issue of devisavit vel non. G.8. 1-276; In re Will of Wood,
240 N.C. 134, 81 S.E. 2d 127.

If the paper writing here purporting to be a will is a will, it is a holo-
graphic will. G.S. 31-18.2 sets forth the manner of probate of a holo-
graphic will and reads: “ManN~Eer or ProBaTE oF HoLoGraPHIC WILL,—
A holographic will may be probated only in the following manner: (1)
Upon the testimony of at least three competent witnesses that they
believe that the will is written entirely in the handwriting of the person
whose will it purports to be, and that the name of the testator as written
in or on, or subscribed to, the will is in the handwriting of the person
whose will it purports to be; and (2) Upon the testimony of one witness
who may, but need not be, one of the witnesses referred to in paragraph
(1) of this section to a statement of facts showing that the will was
found after the testator’s death as required by G.S. 31-3.4.”

The probate of the paper writing here is fatally defective on its face
because it states that it was probated upon the testimony of only two
competent witnesses, when G.S. 31-18.2 requires the testimony of at
least three competent witnesses that they believe that the will is writ-
ten entirely in the handwriting of the person whose will it purports to
be, and that the name of the testator as written in or on, or subscribed
to, the will is in the handwriting of the person whose will it purports to
be. Therefore, the probate shows on its face that the paper writing in
the instant case has never been validly proven and probated as a holo-
graphic will, and is therefore ineffective to pass real or personal prop-
erty, G.S. 31-39.

Cartwright v. Jones, supra, was a controversy without action sub-
mitted upon an agreed statement of facts to determine whether the
plaintiff was able to convey a good and indefeasible fee simple title to
the land in question. On the hearing the title offered was properly made
to depend upon the effectiveness of an attempted change in a portion of
Item III of a joint will executed by the plaintiff and her late husband,
H. Cartwright. This item stated “it is our mutual will and desire, that
whatever property which belonged to both or either of us and which
may be in existence at the death of the survivor of us, shall be divided
and distributed after the death of the survivor of us as follows: . . .
(¢) The home place to go to our son Melick Cartwright in fee simple
(As I have sold the home place T want Melick have the store house in
place of the one I sold. Hilery Cartwright).” According to the agreed
facts, the plaintiff, Cornelia Cartwright, owned in fee simple “the store
house” property referred to in said Item III prior to and at the time
of the execution of the joint will; the words in parenthesis were inserted

2—245
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in the joint will in pencil by Hilery Cartwright after the execution
thereof by him and his wife, the plaintiff, and without her knowledge or
consent. The joint will, with the exception of the pencil insertion in
parenthesis, was typewritten and was proven and ordered to probate on
the oath and examination of two subsecribing witnesses: the penecil
insertions in parenthesis were proven and ordered to probate as a codicil
to the typewritten will on the oath and examination of three witnesses.
The decree of probate is set forth in the opinion and fails to show on
its face that the purported holographic codicil was found among the
valuable papers and effects of the deceased, or had been lodged in the
hands of any person for safe keeping. The court in its opinion set
forth the statute then in force C.S. 4144(2) in respect to the probate of
holographic wills, and the statute C.S. 4131 in respect to the formal
execution of wills, and said: “The words inserted in the joint will in
pencil were not in it at the time of its execution, but were inserted some-
time thereafter without the knowledge or consent of the plaintiff. Such
words have never been properly or validly proven and probated as the
will of anyone, since it does not appear on oath of any of the witnesses
or other credible person that such purported holograph codicil was
found among the valuable papers and effects of the decedent or was
lodged in the hands of any person for safe-keeping. The insertion of
these words under the circumstances was ineffective to pass title to the
lands of the plaintiff.” The lower court held that the deed tendered by
the plaintiff Cornelia Cartwright was sufficient to convey a full and
complete legal title to the lands in question, and this Court affirmed the
judgment below.

Leatherwood v. Boyd, 60 N.C. 123, was an ejectment case. The
lessor of the plaintiff adduced his title regularly to John Leatherwood,
whose will conveying the same to her, was offered in evidence, but
objected to for the want of a due probate. The evidence was admitted,
and defendant excepted. The court held the admission of the evidence
error requiring a venire de novo, and said in its opinion: “We are of
opinion that the probate of the will of John Leatherwood was not suffi-
cient according to the certificate, and it was, consequently, error to
permit the will to be read in evidence. Had the certificate stopped after
these words, ‘The last will and testament of John Leatherwood was duly
proved in common form by the oath of Rufus A, Edmonston, one of the
subscribing witnesses thereto,’ it would have been sufficient in this view
of the question (Marshall v. Fisher, 46 N.C. 111; Beckwith v. Lamb,
35 N.C. 400; University v. Blount, 4 N.C. 13), on the ground that every
court, where the subject-matter is within its jurisdiction, is presumed
to have done all that is necessary to give force and effect to its pro-
ceedings, unless there is something on the face of the proceeding to show
to the contrary; for the presumption is that the court knew how to take



N.C] FALL TERM, 1956. 35

MoORRIS v. MORRIS.

the probate of a will, and saw that it was properly done. But if there
be anything on the face of the proceeding to show the contrary, that
will rebut the presumption. . . . So it appears on the face of this pro-
ceeding that the probate was defective in this: the witness did not state
that he subscribed the will, as a witness, in the presence of the testator,
which is an essential requisite in the due execution of a will to pass land.
The omission of this faect, where particulars are entered into, rebuts
the presumption that would otherwise have been made under the maxim
omnia presumuntur rite esse acta; consequently the probate as it now
appears must be held to be defective.”

G.S. 31-19 states: “Such record and probate is conclusive in evidence
of the validity of the will, until it is vacated on appeal or declared void
by a competent tribunal.” The words of this statute have been given
effect by numerous decisions of the Court, and a will probated and
recorded in accord with applicable statutes may not be collaterally
attacked, and constitutes a muniment of title. In re Will of Puett,
supra, where the cases are cited. Ilowever, it would seem that this
statute is restricted to a decree of probate regular on its face, and does
not apply where on the face of the decree of probate it affirmatively
shows that the will was not probated as required by mandatory appli-
cable statutes for the probate of wills, as here, and when, as here, G.S.
31-39 provides “No will shall be effectual to pass real or personal estate
unless it shall have been duly proved and allowed in the probate court
of the proper county . . .” Cartwright v. Jones, supra; Leatherwood v.
Boyd, supra. See also: Blacksher Co. v. Northrop, 176 Ala. 190, 57
So. 743, 42 L.R.A. (N.S.) 454 with annotation; 57 Am. Jur., Wills, sec.
942; Page on Wills, Third Lifetime Ed., Vol. 2, p. 340. In the case of
In re Will of Puett, supra, the Court said, speaking in reference to the
formal execution and probate of wills: ‘“When executed, proven and
recorded in manner and form as prescribed, it (a will) is given conclu-
sive legal effect as the last will and testament of the decedent, subject
only to be vacated on appeal or declared void by a court of competent
jurisdiction in a proceeding instituted for that purpose.”

We have a number of cases in respect to the probate and registration
of deeds. The second headnote in our Reports in Howell v. Ray, 92
N.C. 510, reads: “Where in such cases, (the probate and registration
of deeds) the evidence upon which the probate judge acted in ordering
the registration is set out in full, and it appears that such evidence was
insufficient, the registration is void.” In MecClure v. Crow, 196 N.C.
657, 660, 146 S.E. 713, it is said: ‘“The registration of a deed on a
probate which is apparently regular is prima facie evidence of its due
execution, citing authority. It is otherwise when the probate upon its
face is fatally defective.” In Horton v. Hagler, 8 N.C. 48, this Court
said: “But when the certificate enters into detail, and goes on to show
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in what manner the deed has been proved, the inquiry into the legality
of the proof is open to the court.”

While the decree of the probate court declares the paper writing in
question to be the last will of Richard Morris, and admitted it to pro-
bate, the testimony upon which the decree of probate was based, which
is set forth in detail, shows upon its face that the paper writing here has
never been properly or validly proven and probated according to our
applicable statutes as the holographic will of Richard Morris. To hold
otherwise would be to nullify, or, in effect, amend or repeal our appli-
cable statutes. It would be making something out of nothing. The
decree of probate in question on its face bespeaks its own impotency.
Therefore, the question as to how the real or personal estate of the late
Richard Morris passed by this paper writing is a moot question, and a
moot question is not within the scope of our Declaratory Judgment Act.
Poore v. Poore, supra.

If the paper writing here was properly executed, and if it is duly
proved and allowed in the probate court of Randolph County so as to
be effectual to pass real or personal estate, the questions sought to be
determined in the instant proceeding can properly be adjudicated under
our Declaratory Judgment Act.

The judgment below is ordered vacated. The present proceeding is
not within the terms of our Declaratory Judgment Act.

Proceeding dismissed.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

PANSY G. FUTRELLE, ApMINISTRATRIX oF THE EsTaTE oF EGBERT A.
FUTRELLE, v. ATLANTIC COAST LINE RAILROAD COMPANY.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

1. Master and Servant § 25¢—

In order to be subject to the Federal Employers’ Liability Act, an em-
ployee need not be at the precise moment of the injury engaged in inter-
state rather than intrastate commerce, and where the conductor on a run
starts with cars destined for interstate as well as for intrastate commerce,
the fact that at the time of his injury his train was composed solely of
cars for intrastate shipment does not preclude the application of the
Federal Act.

[T

Master and Servant § 28—

Nonsuit for contributory negligence of the employee is not permissible
under the Federal Employers’ Liability Act, since under the Act contribu-
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tory negligence does not bar recovery, but is to be considered only in
diminution of damages.

8. Master and Servant § 26—Evidence held insufficient to show negligence
of railroad employer in action under Federal Employers’ Liability Act.

Evidence tending to show that defendant’s engine was pushing freight
cars in switching operations, so that its headlight and oscillating light
were obstructed by a boxcar immediately in front of the engine, is insuffi-
cient to be submitted to the jury on the question of negligence of the car-
rier in causing the death of the conductor of the train, presumably hit by
the front freight car in the course of his duties relating to the switching
operation, when the evidence further shows that the place where the con-
ductor was killed was in a well lighted area, that he was standing on the
opposite side of the train from the side on which he knew the signals with
respect to the movement of the train would be made, and that the switching
operations were being performed in the usual and customary manner there-
tofore followed in this particular yard and in accordance with the express
instructions given to ‘the crew by the conductor.

Jouxson, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by plaintiff from Stevens, J., April Term, 1956, of NEw
HANOVER.

This is a civil action instituted on 9 November 1951, pursuant to the
provisions of the Federal Employers’ Liability Act, to recover for the
alleged wrongful death of Egbert A. Futrelle on 21 November 1950.
Pansy G. Futrelle, his childless wife and sole dependent relation, is the
duly qualified and acting administratrix of his estate.

Plaintiff’s intestate had been an employee of the defendant for 39
yvears. He had been a conductor for 24 years prior to his death at
approximately 12:07 a.m. on 21 November 1950. He was 61 years
of age.

On 20 November 1950, conductor Futrelle and his regular crew, con-
sisting of V. C. Mclntyre, engineer, J. P. Tucker, Jr., brakeman, R. N.
Walters, flagman, and R. H. Perkins, fireman, left Sanford, North
Carolina, about 6:00 p.m. with defendant’s train No. 228 for Fayette-
ville and Wilmington, North Carolina. In the train as originally con-
stituted in Sanford there were five cars which were destined for move-
ment outside of the State of North Carolina. All of these cars were
set out of the train at Fayetteville or between Sanford and Fayetteville.
None of the cars in the train which left Fayetteville, or which were in
the train at the time of the death of plaintiff’s intestate or which were
in the train when it arrived in Wilmington, were destined for movement
outside of the State of North Carolina.

The scene of conductor Futrelle’s death was within the yards of the
Becker County Sand and Gravel Company, hereinafter called Becker.
These yards are located about four miles west of Vander, North Caro-
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lina, on the Becker lead which turns off of the main line at Vander,
which is about ten miles south of Fayetteville. There is a pass track
about one mile east of the approximate center of the Becker yards and
is approximately 1,000 feet northeast of Highway No. 53. It is about
1,000 feet from the loading chute in the Becker yards to the dead end of
the track on what is referred to in the evidence as the “hill.” The
elevation of the track where it ends on the “hill” is some 15 feet higher
than it is at the loading chute.

On the night in question the train was left on the Becker lead between
the Vander turn-off and the pass track. The entire crew went to the
Becker yards with just the engine. A boxcar was picked up at the
concrete house and coupling made to the loaded gondola cars on the
loading or western track. The shipping instructions were picked up
from the Becker office by conductor Futrelle and flagman Walters, and
the cars marked “East” or “West.”” Conductor Futrelle then instructed
flagman Walters and brakeman Tucker to take the loaded cars out to
the pass track, bring back the empties there and couple them with 12
other empty cars standing on the by-pass or eastern track; and accord-
ing to the testimony of J. P. Tucker, Jr., conductor Futrelle said “he
would walk back up on the hill where we spot the cars, and line up the
switches and check the cars, and would be there when we came back.
We have to give the initials and numbers of all the cars in the plant
for the dispatcher and the agent each night.” Likewise, flagman
Walters testified that conductor Futrelle told him he would be on the
“hill”; and told him to complete the coupling of the empties with the
other 12 cars. The crew took the loaded cars out to the pass track and
left conductor Futrelle to go up on the “hill,” which was the last time
any of the crew saw him alive. The crew then coupled the engine to
27 cars (the concrete boxcar, another car, and 25 empty cars) and
started back into the Becker yards. The engine was pushing in a for-
ward direction. The engine headlight and the oscillating light were
burning. Signals were blown at the highway crossings. Flagman
Walters was standing inside the front end of a gondola car, which was
the leading car, away from the engine, and was giving his signals with
a fusee. He was making the movement and was the lookout. Brake-
man Tucker was riding on a hopper or gondola car about midway the
cut of 27 cars.

Engineer McIntyre and fireman Perkins were in the engine cab.
Signals were relayed by light from the flagman through the brakeman
to the fireman on the left side of the engine, who relayed the signals to
the engineer on the right side of the engine. Signals were of necessity
passed on the left or fireman’s side because the track made a rather
sharp turn to the left. Conductor Futrelle was familiar with the yard
and knew that the signals had to be made from the fireman’s side.
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Flagman Walters signaled for a stop and the train stopped 15 to 20
feet short of the 12 empty cars. Flagman Walters signaled for a for-
ward movement and the coupling was made. After the coupling was
made the only movement made by the 12 cars was the slack running
out and in of the 12 cars, which would be about six feet in the 12 cars.
Flagman Walters then began checking the couplings and air hoses on
the 12 cars towards the south. After checking ten couplings, when he
got between the tenth and eleventh cars, from the one to which the train
had coupled (second and third from the south end), he found the body
of conductor Futrelle. The body was lying on the rail on the engineer’s
side, the opposite side of the track from where the signals were passed.
This point was approximately 40 feet north of the loading chute and
was well lighted from the lights on the chute and the ground was level
with no holes or obstructions. The conductor’s lantern was lying at
his feet between the rails and under the couplings of the car and was
still burning.

At the close of the plaintiff’s evidence the defendant moved for judg-
ment as of nonsuit which was allowed, and the plaintiff appeals, assign-
ing error.

Aaron Goldberg and George Rountree, Jr., for appellant.
Poisson, Campbell & Marshall and L. J. Poisson, Jr., for appellee.

DexNy,J. We do not understand that in order for an employee of a
railroad to be entitled to the benefits of the Federal Employers’ Lia-
bility Act such employee at the precise moment of the injury must have
been engaged in interstate rather than in intrastate commerce. U.S.C.A.
45, section 51, as amended in 1939; Robinson v. Pennsylvania R. Co.,
214 F. 2d 798; Agostino v. Pennsylvania R. Co., D.C.N.Y. 1943, 50 F.
Supp. 726; Albright v. Pennsylvania R. Co., 183 Md. 421, 37 A. 2d 870,
certiorart denied 323 U.S. 735, 89 L. Ed. 589; Scarborough v. Pennsyl-
vania R. Co., 154 Pa. Super. 129, 35 A, 2d 603.

The 1939 amendment, to section 51 of U.8.C.A. 45 added the following
paragraph: “Any employee of a carrier, any part of whose duties as
such employee shall be the furtherance of interstate or foreign com-
merce; or shall, in any way directly or closely and substantially, affect
such commerce as above set forth shall, for the purposes of this chapter,
be considered as being employed by such carrier in such commerce and
shall be considered as entitled to the benefits of this chapter.”

In Robinson v. Pennsylvania R. Co., supra, the Court held that a
railroad carpenter who was injured while repairing a highway bridge
over the defendant’s railroad which carried interstate rail movements,
the employee’s work so directly or closely and substantially affected
interstate commerce as to bring him within the coverage of the Federal
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Employers’ Liability Act, although the bridge was intrastate in char-
acter.

In the case of Albright v. Pennsylvania R. Co., supra, Clayton L.
Albright was employed by the railroad as a special policeman whose
duty it was to guard and examine cars in the yard of its terminal in
Baltimore and to ascertain whether the seals had been broken on the
cars. If he found a seal broken, it was his duty to apply another seal
to the car in order to safeguard the lading, and generally to see that no
theft was committed. While engaged in guarding interstate as well as
intrastate shipments, he sustained an injury that resulted in his death.
The Court held that under the provisions of the 1939 amendment to
section 51 of the U.S.C.A. 45, the right to recover for his injury and
death was limited to the Federal Employers’ Liability Act.

The evidence on the present record shows that between Sanford and
Fayetteville on this particular run, conductor Futrelle and his crew
had handled five cars destined for interstate movement. Consequently,
we hold that part of the duties of conductor Futrelle required him to
engage in the furtherance of interstate commerce, and whatever rights
his personal representative may have, if any, against the defendant
railroad are subject to the provisions of the Federal Employers’ Lia-
bility Act.

In determining whether or not the court below committed error in
granting the defendant’s motion for judgment as of nonsuit, we are not
concerned with the question of contributory negligence. Under the
provisions of the Federal Employers’ Liability Act, U.S.C.A. 45, section
53, contributory negligence is not a bar to recovery, but, in the event of
a recovery, the damages shall be diminished by the jury in proportion
to the amount of negligence attributable to such employee. Graham
v. Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., 240 N.C. 338, 82 S.E. 2d 346; Cobia v.
Atlantic Coast Line R, Co., 188 N.C, 487, 125 S.E. 18; Dawvis v. South-
ern R. Co., 175 N.C. 648, 96 S.E. 41.

Therefore, the sole question before us is whether or not the plaintiff’s
evidence is sufficient to go to the jury on the question of actionable
negligence on the part of the defendant. Wilkerson v. McCarthy, 336
U.S. 53, 93 1.. Ed. 497; Eckenrode v. Pennsylvania R. Co., C.C.A. Pa.
1947, 164 F. 2d 996, affirmed 335 U.S. 329, 93 L. Ed. 41.

The plaintiff argues and contends that in pushing 27 cars towards the
12 standing empties to which the train was to be coupled, with a cement
box car immediately in front of the engine, obscuring the headlights,
was in conflict with I.C.C. Rule 231 (a) through (f), especially section
(e) thereof, and, without regard to any other acts of negligence, is
sufficient to take the case to the jury, citing Tiller v. Atlantic Coast
Line R. Co., 323 U 8. 574, 89 L. Ed. 465.
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Section (e) of I.C.C. Rule 231 reads as follows: “Each locomotive
used in yard service between sunset and sunrise shall have two lights,
one located on the front of the locomotive and one on the rear, each of
which shall enable a person in the cab of the locomotive under the
conditions, including visual capacity, set forth in section (a), to see a
dark object such as there described (as large as a man of average size
standing erect) for a distance of at least 300 feet ahead and in front
of such headlight; and such headlights must be maintained in good
condition.”

In the last cited case, the defendant had failed to have a light at-
tached to the rear of its engine (in which direction it was being operated
at the time of the accident), as required by the rules, and the Court
sald: “The deceased met his death on a dark night, and the diffused
rays of a strong headlight even though directly obscured from the front,
might easily have spread themselves so that one standing within three
car-lengths of the approaching locomotive would have been given warn-
ing of its presence, or at least so the jury might have found. The back-
ward movement of the cars on a dark night in an unlit yard was poten-
tially perilous to those compelled to work in the yard.”

In the present case the headlight was on, and an oscillating light.
Moreover, the movement of the train was being made in accord with
the express instructions of the plaintiff’s intestate and at a time when he
had said he would be up on the “hill.”” The place where conductor
Futrelle was killed was some 40 feet north of the loading chute, in a
well lighted area, on the opposite side of the train from where he knew
the signals with respect to the movement of the train would be given.
The cars which conductor Futrelle said he was going to check and where
he would be when his crew came back to couple with the 12 empty cars
on the by-pass track, were located near the south end of the track which
was approximately 1,000 feet south of the loading chute.

The plaintiff’s evidence, in our opinion, supports the view that the
members of the train crew of the defendant at the time of the death of
plaintiff’s intestate were performing their duties in the usual and cus-
tomary manner theretofore followed in the Becker yard and according
to the express instructions given to them by conductor Futrelle. Hence,
we hold that the evidence is insufficient to establish actionable negli-
gence on the part of the defendant.

The ruling of the court below is

Affirmed.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting,
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1.

4,

8.

8.

STATE v. PAUL STONE.
(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

Criminal Law § 17b—
A plea of guilty is equivalent to a conviction.

Criminal Law § 17¢c—

A plea of nolo contendere authorizes the court in that particular case to
pronounce judgment as though there had been a conviction by verdict or
plea of guilty, but a plea of nolo contendere cannot be used against the
defendant as an admission of guilt in a subsequent civil or criminal action.

Criminal Law § 62h—

An indictment must charge that the offense is a second or subsequent
offense within the meaning of the statute prescribing a higher penalty in
case of repeated convictions in order for a defendant to be subject to the
higher penalty. G.S. 15-147.

Same—

A transeript of a duly certified record of a prior conviction and proof of
the identity of defendant as the person therein convicted is sufficient to
be submitted to the jury for the purpose of imposing a higher penalty for
repeated offenses under provision of statutes. G.S. 15-147.

Same: Automobiles § 75—
A plea of nolo contendere in a prosecution for driving while under the
influence of intoxicating liguor may not be made the basis for a higher
penalty in a subsequent prosecution. G.S, 20-179.

Same—

Where an indictment for driving a motor vehicle while under the influ-
ence of intoxicating liquor charges that defendant had theretofore been
twice convicted for like offenses, but the proof discloses that defendant
had entered a plea of nolo contendere in one of the prior instances, the
court should not submit such instance to the jury, and the court’s action
in admitting evidence thereof must be held prejudicial since it may have
influenced the jury and also the court in fixing punishment.

Automobiles § 72—

Where the State’s evidence is amply sufficient to be submitted to the
jury on the question of defendant’s guilt of operating an automobile on the
highways of the State while under the influence of intoxicating liquor,
and is also sufficient as to defendant’s prior conviction for a like offense,
the fact that the evidence is insufficient as to a second prior conviction
alleged in the indictment, does not justify nonsuit, since the entire case
does not stand or fall upon whether the State had established beyond a
reasonable doubt that the defendant was convicted on each and all the
prior occasions alleged in the warrant or indietment.

Criminal Law § 62h—

In a prosecution under indictment charging prior offenses as a basis for
a higher penalty, the court should submit the question of defendant’s guilt
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of the offense charged, and then whether they further find that defendant
had theretofore been convicted of one or more of the alleged prior viola-
tions of the applicable statute.

JoHNsON, J., not gitting.

AppEAL by defendant from Hobgood, J., July-August, 1956, Criminal
Term, of LEE.

Criminal prosecution on bill of indictment charging that defendant
on 13 July, 1956, “did unlawfully and willfully drive a motor vehicle
upon the public highways within the County and State aforesaid while
then and there being under the influence of intoxicating liquor or nar-
cotic drugs, same being his third offense he having been convicted
thereof in the County Criminal Court of Lee County, N. C., at Sanford,
N. C., on the 10th day of January, 1950, and in the County Criminal
Court of Lee County, N. C., at Sanford, N. C., on the 10th day of April,
1956, . . .” (Italics added.)

The only evidence was that offered by the State.

There was evidence tending to show that defendant, about 8:30 a.m.
13 July, 1956, was driving an automobile along the right side of McIver
Street in Sanford, N. C.; that he pulled across to his left, coming to a
stop “more or less diagonally,” two feet or more from the curbing; that
the parking zone at this point was parallel with the curbing; that in so
driving and stopping he attracted the attention of police officers; that,
after so stopping, defendant got out of the car and went towards the
sidewalk, stumbling on the curb; that defendant staggered when he
walked; that defendant gave out “a very strong odor of whiskey”; and
that, in the opinion of each of two police officers who observed his
driving and who made the arrest, defendant was under the influence of
intoxicating liquor.

Over objection by defendant, the State offered in evidence records of
the Lee County Court tending to show these facts:

1. On 10 January, 1950, one Paul Stone entered a plea of nolo con-
tendere to a charge of “drunk driving” and judgment was pronounced
thereon.

2. On 10 April, 1956, one Paul Stone entered a plea of guilty to a
charge of “drunken driving” and judgment was pronounced thereon.

The jury returned a verdict of “Guilty as charged.” Thereupon, the
court pronounced judgment imposing a road sentence of six months.
Defendant excepted and appealed, assigning errors.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Love for
the State.
Pittman & Staton and Lowry M. Betts for defendant, appellant.
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BossirT, J. The court instructed the jury that if they found from
the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty
of operating a motor vehicle upon said public street on 13 July, 1956,
while under the influence of intoxicating liquor, and further that
this was defendant’s third offense, their verdict would be “Guilty as
charged”; but if they failed to so find from the evidence beyond a
reasonable doubt their verdict would be “Not Guilty.” No other ver-
dict was permissible under the instructions.

G.S. 20-138 provides: “It shall be unlawful and punishable, as pro-
vided in sec. 20-179, for any person, whether licensed or not, who is a
habitual user of narcotic drugs or any person who is under the influence
of intoxicating liquor or narcotic drugs, to drive any vehicle upon the
highways within the State.”

G.S. 20-179 prescribes the punishments, respectively, upon conviction
of a first, second and third (or subsequent) violation of G.S. 20-138.

A plea of guilty is “equivalent to a conviction.” Harrell v. Scheidt,
Comr. of Motor Vehicles, 243 N.C. 735, 92 S.E. 2d 182, and cases cited.

Defendant, by proper exceptive assignments of error, presents this
question: Did the record of the plea of nolo contendere to the charge
of “drunk driving” in Lee County Court on 10 January, 1950, show a
“conviction of the same offense” within the meaning of G.S. 20-179?

In a criminal prosecution, if the State, by leave of the court, elects
to accept the defendant’s plea of nolo contendere, the court’s authority
to pronounce judgment in that particular case is the same as if there
had been conviction by verdict or plea of guilty; but this plea of nole
contendere cannot be used against the defendant “as an admission in
an action in the nature of a civil action, or as an admission in any other
criminal action.” Winesett v. Scheidt, Comr. of Motor Vehicles, 239
N.C. 190, 79 S.E. 2d 501, and cases cited. Also, see Fox v. Scheidt,
Comr. of Motor Vehicles, 241 N.C. 31, 84 S.E. 2d 259.

In conformity with G.S. 15-147, it is well established that “where a
statute prescribes a higher penalty in case of repeated convictions for
similar offenses, an indictment for a subsequent offense must allege facts
showing that the offense charged is a second or subsequent crime within
the contemplation of the statute in order to subject the accused to the
higher penalty.” 8. v. Miller, 237 N.C. 427, 75 S.E. 2d 242, and cases
cited; S. v. Cole, 241 N.C. 576, 86 S.E. 2d 203.

G.S. 15-147 provides, in part, that “a transcript of the record of the
first convietion, duly certified, shall, upon proof of the identity of the
person of the offender, be sufficient evidence of the first conviction.”
In this connection, it is noted that the State introduced records relating
to Paul Stone. Absent an admission, it would seem necessary that the
State offer evidence that the Paul Stone then on trial was the identical
person referred to in said records. Since no assignment of error raises
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the question, we need not determinc whether an admission that this
defendant is the Paul Stone referred to in said records may be implied
from the circumstances disclosed by the record on this appeal.

Here the indictment charged the violation of G.S. 20-138 on 13 July,
1956, and defendant’s conviction for violation thereof on two prior
occasions. Evidence showing each alleged prior conviction was compe-
tent. Moreover, the jury had to determine that he had been convicted
of a second or third violation thereof before judgment could be pro-
nounced on the basis of such second or third convictions. S. v. Cole,
supra.

Conviction by verdict or plea of guilty of a violation of G.S. 20-138
on the alleged prior occasion(s) is required before the court is author-
ized under G.S. 20-179 to pronounce judgment for a second conviction
or a third or subsequent conviction. A plea of nolo contendere in the
prior case is not the equivalent of a plea of guilty as a basis for the
pronouncement of judgment under G.S. 20-179. Hence, the plea of
nolo contendere on 10 January, 1950, could not be made the basis of a
verdict that defendant’s violation of G.S, 20-138 on 13 July, 1956, was
his third violation thereof within the meaning of G.S. 20-179.

Even so, the motion for judgment of nonsuit was properly overruled.

The evidence, considered in the light most favorable to the State, was
sufficient to warrant a finding by the jury that on 13 July, 1956, defend-
ant was operating a motor vehicle on Mclver Street in Sanford while
under the influence of intoxicating liquor. Moreover, assuming defend-
ant is the Paul Stone referred to therein, the record of the plea of guilty
entered 10 April, 1956, was sufficient to support a finding that defendant
was then “convicted” of a separate violation of G.S. 20-138.

In such ease, upon trial on said bill of indictment, should the court
have submitted the question of the guilt or innocence of defendant in
respect of the violation of G.8S. 20-138 on 13 July, 1956, and in respect
of the previous conviction on 10 April, 19567 The answer is, “Yes.”

We need not determine whether in a strict sense a violation of G.S.
20-138 on 13 July, 1956, without a further finding in respect of prior
convietions, should be deemed a less degree of the crime charged in said
bill of indietment within the meaning of G.S. 15-170. Apart from G.S.
15-170, sound reason impels the conclusion that where the warrant or
bill of indictment includes additional allegations, which, if proven, vest
in the court different authority as to the minimum punishment to be
imposed upon convietion, it is for the jury, under proper instructions,
to determine upon competent evidence which of such additional allega-
tions, if any, have been established.

If the State fails in its proof as to one or more of the alleged prior
convictions, this fact does not defeat the entire prosecution and require
a verdict of not guilty. Rather, the court before submitting the case
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will eliminate the allegations in the warrant or indictment of which
there is no competent evidence; and the jury, in returning their verdiet,
will eliminate the allegations which are not established by the evidence
beyond a reasonable doubt. In short, the verdict should spell out, first,
whether the jury find the defendant guilty of the violation of G.S.
20-138 charged in the warrant or indictment, and if so, whether they
further find that he was convicted of one or more of the alleged prior
violations thereof. The entire case does not stand or fall upon whether
the State has established beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant
was convicted on each and all of the prior occasions alleged in the
warrant or indictment,

Since the evidence was sufficient to establish defendant’s guilt in
respect of a violation of G.8. 20-138 on 13 July, 1956, the judgment
pronounced was authorized by G.S. 20-179, whether this was defend-
ant’s first, second or third violation thereof; for the difference in the
punishment prescribed by G.S. 20-179 for a second or subsequent viola-
tion of .S, 20-138 concerns only the minimum punishment to be im-
posed. Even so, these facts confront us: first, the court below may
have been influenced in pronouncing judgment by the jury’s verdict
purporting to establish defendant’s present conviction as his third con-
vietion; and second, the admission in evidence of the record of the plea
of nolo contendere entered 10 January, 1950, was prejudicial error.
Since it did not support the allegation as to a prior conviction on 10
January, 1950, evidence offered initially by the State tending to show
that defendant had been previously charged with an unrelated prior
criminal offense and of the disposition thereof under plea of nolo con-
tendere was incompetent. S. v. McClain, 240 N.C, 171, 81 S.E. 2d 364,
and cases cited.

We are not now concerned with the effect of the plea of nolo con-
tendere entered 10 January, 1950, in relation to the authority of the
Commissioner of Motor Vehicles to revoke the defendant’s operator’s
license. Fox v. Scheidt, Comr. of Motor Vehicles, supra; Mintz v.
Scheidt, Comr. of Motor Vehicles, 241 N.C. 268, 84 S.E. 2d 882; Harrell
v. Schetdt, Comr. of Motor Vehicles, supra.

For the errors indicated, a new trial is awarded.

New trial.

JoHNsoN, J., not sitting.
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STATE v. LAWRENCE ALLEN DORSETT.
(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

1. Kidnapping § 2: Robbery § 38—

Evidence in this case as to the identity of defendant as the person who.
from the back of the car, pointed a pistol at the prosecuting witness, who
was driving the vehicle, forcing the witness to drive to a designated place
and to leave the car in the possession of defendant, who thereafter took a
bag of money from the vehicle, is held sufficient to be submitted to the jury
both on the charge of kidnapping and of robbery with firearms. G.8. 14-39,
G.S. 14-87.

2. Criminal Law § 32d—

Where the State fails to introduce evidence of the breeding, training or
proven qualities of a dog used by a witness in trailing defendant, but the
court excludes all testimony as to the activities of the dog, and instructs
the jury not to consider the testimony of the witness that he was running
with a bloodhound, but that they might consider the testimony that the
man found had with him a bag similar to the bag with the stolen money,
ete., exception to the statement of the witness that he had a bloodhound
with him on the day in question cannot be sustained.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by defendant from Olive, J., at April 1956 Term, of CaTawsa.

Criminal prosecution upon two bills of indictments, Numbers 94 and
95, charging defendant with the crimes of kidnapping and of robbery
with firearms, respectively,—consolidated for trial upon motion by
defendant.

Defendant pleaded not guilty.

Upon the trial in Superior Court the State offered evidence taken in
the light most favorable to the State, tending to show substantially the
following narrative as summarized in brief of the Attorney General:

The evidence for the State discloses that on the early morning of the
7th of October, 1954, Jacob E. Baker, Manager of the Dixie Home
Grocery Store in Hickory, went to the bank and secured approximately
$2,700.00 to be used at the store that day for the purposes of making
change and carrying on other business. He left the bank, went out to
his car, and placed the money in a cloth bag on the seat beside him.
As he drove down the street, he heard a noise in the back of the car.
As he looked back, he noticed the whole back seat was being pushed
forward toward him and a gun was being pointed in his face. He could
not recognize the holder of the gun, but he was instructed by the person
in the back seat to push the rear-view mirror up as far as it would go
and to drive down the Taylorsville Road out of town. Under the in-
structions of the voice from the rear seat, Baker drove on several streets
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of the town and finally crossed the Catawba River into Caldwell
County. During all this time, a running conversation was carried on
between Baker and the person in the rear of his car. He was cautioned
not to try to signal to anyone, to drive slow, and to act like nothing was
happening. He continued to drive the car for several miles on various
roads in Caldwell County, and, when they reached the village of Double
Shoals, Baker was ordered to stop the car, leave the motor running, get
out, and leave the bag of money on the seat. He jumped out of the
car, ran behind an old house, and, in a short time, called the police
officers. While driving out of Hickory and down the road into Caldwell
County, Baker managed to extract the folding money from the bag and
kick it under the front seat with his feet. At no time did he actually
see the person in the back seat of the car. However, when the man was
finally arrested and charged with the crime, Baker very definitely iden-
tified the voice of the person arrested as the voice of the person who
was in the back seat of his car and who had kidnapped and robbed
him. Baker testified: “. . . I had not seen Mr. Dorsett when I heard
his voice and it had been some 15 months since then that I heard him
again. I still say, to the best of my belief it is the same voice; I had
never been under such an ordeal. I did not say positively—absolutely
but to the best of my knowledge, and I do not think I shall ever forget
it . . . but I am sure it is the same voice.” The next time Baker saw
his automobile was at the Police Station in Hickory. The cross bars
from the trunk to the back seat had been torn out to the extent that
there was an opening from the trunk into the back seat of Baker’s car.
When the car was found by officers, the money which Baker had kicked
under the front seat was intact. The bag containing the change was
not in the car. As a result of Baker’s call to the police, a search was
made for Baker’s car and for his assailant. One Marvin McGuire, a
prisoner at the Taylorsville Prison Camp, was called to help in the
search. He testified that he took a bloodhound, which he customarily
used in chasing escaped prisoners, to the place where Baker’s car was
found and, from there, a trail was followed across two mountains. An
objection by defendant’s counsel to the use of bloodhound evidence was
sustained, and the witness was instructed to simply tell where he went.
As he went over the mountain and down into the valley, he came across
a house and got a drink of water. He then resumed his search. Here
again, an objection by counsel for the defendant to bloodhound evidence
was sustained. McGuire testified that, as he resumed his search, he
came upon the defendant lying on the ground eating some jelly. Me-
Guire grabbed a shotgun which was lying there beside the defendant.
Also on the ground beside the defendant was a money bag. As McGuire
was questioning the defendant about the gun and money bag, the de-
fendant pulled out a pistol and disarmed McGuire. The defendant then
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ordered McGuire to take the money bag on his shoulder and proceed as
instructed. As they started off, the dog started barking and the de-
fendant ordered McGuire to kill the dog. McGuire refused to do so,
and the defendant took a knife and stabbed the dog between the two
front legs—killing it. After the defendant killed the dog, he marched
McGuire for about 45 minutes until they came to a ravine. Here
McGuire grabbed the gun of the defendant and threw him over into the
ravine. He threw the money bag into another ravine nearby and ran
for help. McGuire went with officers back to the ravine the next morn-
ing and found the money bag. He gave a description of the defendant
to officers, and, after looking at a lot of pictures presented to him, he
finally identified one as that of the defendant. As a result of the identi-
fication by McGuire, officers discovered that he had been living in
Hickory in an apartment owned by a Mrs. Newell, but were advised
that he had left town. As a result of information furnished officers by
the F. B. I, the defendant was found to be living in Fayetteville. He
was arrested and brought to Hickory where he was confronted by
McGuire who definitely identified the defendant as the man he had found
in the woods with the gun and the money bag. Upon being identified
by McGuire as the man who killed his dog, the defendant did not deny
it. A short time later, upon advice of counsel, the defendant did deny
that he was the man involved.

Defendant, reserving exception to the denial of his motions made
when the State first rested its case for judgment as of nonsuit as to
each count in each bill, offered evidence tending to support his plea of
not guilty.

Then the State offered evidence in rebuttal.

At the close of all the evidence defendant renewed his motions for
judgment as of nonsuit, to the denial of which he excepted.

Verdict: Guilty as charged in both cases.

Judgment in each case: That defendant be confined in the State
Prison at Raleigh for a period of not less than five nor more than eight
years,—the two sentences to run concurrently.

Defendant excepted thereto, and appeals to Supreme Court and as-
signs error,

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton
for the State.

George D. Hovey and Nance, Barrington & Collier for Defendant
Appellant.

Winsorng, C. J. The record and case on appeal show twenty-four
assignments of error, in none of which, after careful consideration, is
prejudicial error made to appear.
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Assignments 14 and 16 based upon exceptions of like number are
directed to denial of defendant’s motions aptly made for judgment as
of nonsuit. However, taking the evidence offered upon the trial in
Superior Court, as summarized hereinbefore, in the light most favorable
to the State, it is abundantly sufficient to take the case to the jury and
to support the verdict returned by the jury on which judgments were
rendered. Even counsel for defendant, while contending in their brief
that the evidence offered by the State amounted to no more than a
scintilla, say: “True it was a scintilla from which an inference of guilt
might possibly be inferred . . .”

In this connection, the statute relating to kidnapping, G.S. 14-39,
provides, in pertinent part, that “it shall be unlawful for any person
. . . tokidnap . . . any human being . . . ” And the word “kidnap”
as defined by Webster, means “To carry (anyone) away by unlawful
force or by fraud, and against his will, or to seize and detain him for the
purpose of so carrying him away.” See S. v. Witherington, 226 N.C.
211, 37 S.E. 2d 497.

And the statute relating to robbery with firearms, G.S. 14-87, declares
in pertinent part that “Any person or persons who, having in his posses-
sion or with the use or threatened use of any firearms or other dangerous
weapon, implement or means, whereby the life of a person is endangered
or threatened, unlawfully takes or attempts to take personal property
from another . . . shall be guilty of a felony . . .”

By means of several assignments of error appellant undertakes to
show prejudicial error in respect to the bloodhound which the witness
McGuire had with him on the day of the alleged crime, when he found
defendant with bag of money. However, a perusal of the case on appeal
reveals that the trial judge sustained objections to evidence as to
activities of the dog, and the record fails to show that defendant made
request, at the time, for any special instruction. But the record does
show that in the charge to the jury the court, at request of counsel for
defendant, gave this special instruction:

“2. I further charge you that when you come to consider the testi-
mony of the witness, Marvin McGuire, you may not consider the evi-
dence indicated by the use of a bloodhound. This, under the law, does
not connect the defendant with the crime. There has been no evidence
as to the breeding, training, or proven qualities of the so-called blood-
hound. The State has introduced evidence that the man found in the
woods eating jelly had with him a bag similar to the bag which con-
tained the stolen money; this you may consider along with the fact
that the amount of money it contained was approximately the same
as the amount contained in the bag which was stolen, but you may not
give any more credit to the testimony of Marvin McGuire because he
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said he was running with a bloodhound than had he stated or testified
he was running with a foxhound.”

And it is noted here that some assignments of error fail to show the
basis for exception, and hence are not in compliance with the Rules of
this Court. Nevertheless error is not made to appear. Indeed the case
was fairly submitted to the jury upon a charge free from error.

In the trial below, we find

No error.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

DOROTHY V. GILREATH, ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE oF FRANK
GILREATH, JR., DEcEasep, v. JERRY SILVERMAN.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)
1. Boating § 2—

Evidence of the negligent operation of a motor boat causing a passenger
to be thrown therefrom and drowned, held sufficient, when considered in
the light most favorable to plaintiff, to take the issue to the jury.

2. Negligence § 19¢c—

When there is conflict in the evidence as to the pertinent facts bearing
on the issue of contributory negligence, nonsuit on that ground is error.

8. Trial § 22¢c—

Discrepancies and contradictions, even in plaintiff's evidence, are for the
jury and not the court.

4. Boating § 2: Automobiles § 50—

The doctrine of joint enterprise does not apply as to the liability between
the operator of a vehicle and a passenger, but applies only in regard to
third persons not parties to the enterprise.

5. Boating § 2: Negligence § 1014 —

The doctrine of assumption of risk is not available as a defense when
there is no contractual relationship between the parties.

Jomuxson, J., not sitting.

ArpraL by plaintiff from Froneberger, J., April Term, 1956, of
Buw~coMseE.

This is a eivil action instituted on 6 June 1955 to recover damages
for the alleged wrongful death of Frank Gilreath, Jr., on 5 March 1955,
Dorothy V. Gilreath is the duly appointed and acting administratrix
of the estate of Frank Gilreath, Jr., deceased.
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Plaintiff's intestate, Frank Gilreath, Jr., came to his death by drown-
ing in Lake Lure on Saturday, 5 March 1955, about 5:00 p.m., after
falling from a motor boat occupied at said time by the defendant Jerry
Silverman, Howard Wolfe, and the deceased. The three men had on
the previous Wednesday been together at the place where Wolfe and
Gilreath were employed. Both Wolfe and Gilreath were mechanics.
Wolfe suggested to the defendant Silverman that they get Silverman’s
boat tuned up for the season. Silverman agreed to go the next Saturday
afternoon, at Wolfe’s time off. Gilreath, who was present at the time
of the conversation, voluntarily requested to be permitted to go along.
It was agreced.

The next Saturday afternoon Wolfe drove his own car to Lake Lure
and Silverman took Gilreath. The men worked on the boat. After
getting it in shape to run, they proceeded to operate the boat for the
purpose of testing it.

According to Wolfe’s testimony at the trial, in making the test,
Silverman was back in the motor compartment at the rear of the boat,
adjusting the timing or distributor, and he, Wolfe, was operating the
boat, running at maximum speed. Silverman was moving the distribu-
tor while he was reading the instrument panel to get the highest reading
on the instrument while the boat was in operation as they were going
down the lake. They had completed that mission. At the time of the
accident, the boat was being operated by Wolfe at a speed of approxi-
mately 30 miles per hour; the lake was choppy, there was quite a bit of
wind, white caps were breaking. The boat in the choppy water had
been bumping along, a little rough, “like running over a crosstie with
an automobile.” According to this witness, after the testing had been
completed, Gilreath and Silverman sat down on the back of the seat
in which Wolfe was sitting. The back of the seat was about 10 inches
wide; Gilreath next to Wolfe and Silverman on the outside. Wolfe saw
a boat come out some two or three hundred yards down the lake. The
boat operated by Wolfe was near the center of the lake. The wind was
blowing toward them. “I was still concentrating on the instrument

. and on the very last glance I looked up, the boat, . . . going up
in the front it is a little hard to see directly over the front—I in turn
saw some waves, pretty rough to me, coming rolling—of course we were
going slightly parallel to it, so I, in turn, made a right turn to hit the

wave crossways instead of lengthwise, instead of alongside . . . in the
process of our turn to head onto (sic) the wave straight along, . . . we
hit the wave on the right side of the boat, and it, in turn, . . . gave a

couple of bounces and off they both went, just that quick, so I stopped
the boat as quick as I could, turned completely around to the scene,
and that is it, right there, is the way I know it. I have been on the lake
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propelling a boat practically every season for the past ten or twelve
years. I have been working with motors since 1930.”

This witness was asked the following questions: “Mr. Wolfe, based
on your approximately ten seasons of driving motor boats on Lake
Lure, which you have described to his Honor and the jury, and based
on your many years of experience with motors, and based on the con-
dition of the waves on Lake Lure, and the winds as you have testified
to on March 5, 1955, in the afternoon, do you have an opinion satis-
factory to yourself as to whether or not the rate of speed you have
described, and the condition of the lake at that time, was safe driving
at that speed?” The attorney examining the witness tried to get the
witness to say whether or not he had an opinion as to whether or not
the speed he was making was safe under the conditions then existing.
Finally, he asked the witness the following questions: “Then you do
have an opinion, do you?” The witness replied, “Yes, I would, in that
particular spot it would be rough, and reckless, yes, sir.” Q: “At the
time of the fatal aceident?” A: “Right at that moment it would be.”

Mr. Fred Crowe, coroner of Rutherford County, testified that pur-
suant to information received by him he went to L.ake Lure on 5 March
1955; that he had occasion to talk with Silverman and Wolfe. Silver-
man stated he was the owner of the boat in which he, Wolfe and Gil-
reath were passengers on Lake Lure; that the boat in which they were
riding was driven by a 115 horsepower motor. “That they were going
at a high rate of speed on the lake at the time this accident happened;
that the late Mr. Gilreath was sitting up in the boat towards the back
and that when the boat lunged forward Mr. Gilreath toppled from the
boat along with Mr. Silverman and that Mr. Wolfe, the driver of the
boat, went up the lake a short distance, turned around and Mr. Silver-
man caught on to the side of the boat, and in the meantime Mr. Gil-
reath had disappeared from the surface of the water.” This witness
further testified that Wolfe stated, in the presence of Silverman, that
the boat was being driven at a high rate of speed at the time of the
accident, and that Wolfe also stated, in the presence of Silverman, that
he was operating the boat at the direction of Silverman.

At the close of plaintiff’s evidence, the defendant made a motion for
judgment as of nonsuit. Motion was allowed and the plaintiff appeals,
assigning error.

James 8. Howell and William J. Cocke for plaintiff.
Harkins, Van Winkle, Walton & Buck for defendant.

DennNy, J. A careful consideration of the evidence adduced in the
trial below leads us to the conclusion that it is sufficient, when consid-
ered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, as it must be on a
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motion for nonsuit, to take the case to the jury. Williamson v. Clay,
243 N.C. 337,90 S.E. 2d 727; Singletary v. Nizon, 239 N.C. 634, 80 S.E.
2d 676; Winfield v. Smith, 230 N.C. 392, 53 S.E. 2d 251; Thomas v.
Motor Lines, 230 N.C. 122, 52 S.E. 2d 377. Nor will nonsuit be allowed
on the grounds of contributory negligence where there is a conflict of
evidence, as there is in the instant case, as to the pertinent facts bearing
on that issue. Levy v. Aluminum Co., 232 N.C. 158, 59 S.E. 2d 632;
Bundy v. Powell, 229 N.C. 707, 51 8.E. 2d 307; Hayes v. Telegraph Co.,
211 N.C. 192, 189 S.E. 499,

“Discrepancies and contradictions, even in plaintiff’s evidence, are
for the twelve and not for the court.” Barlow v. Bus Lines, 229 N.C.
382, 49 S.E. 2d 793, and cited cases.

We refrain from a discussion of the evidence so as not to prejudice
either party on the further hearing. We do point out, however, that
the allegations in the defendant’s further answer and defense, in which
the defendant pleads that the plaintifi’s intestate together with Howard
Wolfe and the defendant were at the time complained of engaged in a
joint enterprise and, therefore, any negligence with respect to the oper-
ation of the boat is in law imputed to plaintiff’s intestate and consti-
tutes a bar to any recovery in the action, are not well founded.

In Am. Jur., Negligence, section 238, page 925, it is said: “The doe-
trine of joint enterprise whereby the negligence of one member of the
enterprise is imputable to others, resting as it does upon the relationship
of agency of one for the other, does not apply in actions between mem-
bers of the joint enterprise and does not, therefore, prevent one member
of the enterprise from holding another liable for personal injuries
inflicted by the latter’s negligence in the prosecution of the enterprise.
In other words, the doctrine of common or joint enterprise as a defense
is applicable only as regards third persons and not parties to the enter-
prise.” Rollison v. Hicks, 233 N.C. 99, 63 S.E. 2d 190.

The appellee also alleges that the plaintiff’s intestate assumed the
risk and hazard which brought about his death and argues that such
assumption of risk and his contributory negligence constitute a bar to
any recovery in this action.

The doctrine of assumption of risk is not available as a defense where
there is no contractual relationship between the parties. Goode v.
Barton, 238 N.C. 492, 78 S.E. 2d 398; Broughton v. Oil Co., 201 N.C.
282, 159 S.E. 321.

The judgment of the court below is

Reversed.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting,.
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MRS. PAULINE B. SLOAN, ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE EsSTATE oF LAWRENCE
SLOAN, v. JOE H. GLENN, JR., JAMES K. GLENN, MRS. CORINNA J.
BENNETT, LOUISE G. GLENN, VERA E. BENNETT, PaArRTNERS, DoING
BusINEsS UNDER THE PARTNERSHIP NAME oF QUALITY OIL TRANSPORT,
AND CLAUDE DEAN LEWIS.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

1, Automobiles § 413d—

Evidence of defendant driver’s negligence in attempting to pass a vehicle
traveling in the same direction in an area of special hazard from a ditch-
digging operation on the side of the higzhway, which area was protected by
warning signs of “One-Way Road,” “Slow,” “Men Working,” held suffi-
cient to sustain the court’s denial of defendants’ motion for judgment of
nonsuit and to the court’s refusal to give peremptory instructions in an
action to recover for the death of the driver of the preceding vehicle re-
sulting when defendant driver collided therewith.

2. Same: Automobiles § 14—Attempt to pass vehicle traveling in same
direction in area of special hazard held not negligence per se under
circumstances.

The evidence disclosed that the accident in suit occurred at an area on
the highway along which a ditchdigging machine, proceeding east, was in
operation on the south side, piling dirt some 12 to 18 inches on the 22 foot
wide hard surface, that the area was protected by warning signs of “One-
Way Road,” “Slow,” “Men Working,” that there was room in the area for
traffic to meet and pass and that it had been doing so except immediately
near the machines, and that no one was directing traffic at the area. The
evidence further tended to show that defendant driver, in a tractor-trailer,
was following a backfiller tractor used in the work, both traveling west,
that east of the ditchdigging machine, as defendant driver attempted to
pass, the operator of the backfiller turned left, and that both vehicles
proceeded diagonally across the south lane and the tractor-trailer struck
the backfiller at or near the edge of the south pavement, knocking the
driver of the backfiller therefrom to his death. Defendant’s evidence was
to the effect that he blew his horn to pass, and that the operator of the
backfiller turned to his right, and then sharply to the left into defendant’s
path of travel. Held: The warning signs were sufficient to put motorists
on notice that they were approaching an area of special hazard, making
the question of negligence of defendant driver in attempting to pass one
for the jury, G.S. 20-150, but not being sufficient under the circumstances
to justify instructions to the effect that the act of defendant driver in
attempting to pass was negligence in itself.

JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by defendants from Phillips, J., 23 April, 1956, Term, of
ForsyTH.

Action to recover damages for the alleged wrongful death of Law-
rence Sloan.

Plaintiff alleges that Sloan’s death was caused by the negligence of
defendant Lewis. Lewis’ codefendants, partners trading as Quality
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Oil Transport, admit responsibility for Lewis’ negligence, if any, under
the doctrine of respondeat superior.

The court submitted issues as to negligence, contributory negligence
and damages. The jury, answering all issues in favor of plaintiff,
awarded damages in the amount of $25,000.00.

There was evidence tending to show the facts narrated below.

Highway #421 (Greensboro-Winston-Salem), at the point of collision,
runs east-west. The paved portion was 22 feet wide. A line marked
the center. On each side of the pavement there is a dirt shoulder 5
feet or more in width,

G. C. Crouch Construction Company, under contract with the State
Highway and Public Works Commission, was engaged in laying a pipe
line from the Kernersville water system to Pilgrim College, some 2,000
feet. This work started in Kernersville and was proceeding east along
the south shoulder of Highway #421. Under subcontract, the M & W
Motor Company, referred to as McLean, dug the diteh; and, after
Crouch’s men had laid and connected the pipe, “backfilled”” the ditch.
Murdock, the foreman, and Sloan were McLean’s only employees on
the job.

Murdock operated a Jeep and attached ditchdigger. The boom,
“with claw-like bits that rotate,” brought the dirt up under the Jeep;
and an auger pushed the dirt from under the Jeep to the north side
thereof. The ditch, 24-30 inches deep, was about 214 feet south of the
paved portion of Highway #421. As a result of this operation, a pile
of dirt 12-24 inches high was thrown some 12 to 18 inches onto the
south side of the pavement. The ditchdigging machine had dual wheels.
The inside (left) wheel cleared the pavement. The outer (left) wheel
ran on the pavement.

Sloan operated what was referred to as a backfiller tractor. This
was an ordinary small farm tractor with a blade attached to and across
the front to push the dirt back into the diteh. This blade was wider
than the front wheels, extending out approximately 2 feet on each side.

Prior to 25 September, 1952, the ditch had been dug and the pipe laid
for a distance of approximately 1,500 feet east from the Kernersville
city limits. The ditch, all but 125 feet, had been backfilled. On 25
September, 1952, prior to and at the time of the collision, Murdock was
operating the ditchdigger.

Fox, Crouch’s superintendent, obtained signs from the State Highway
and Public Works Commission. These signs were yellow with black
lettering, approximately 5 feet wide and 3 feet high. Fox placed three
signs, “ONE-WAY Roap”—*Srow”’—“MzeN WoORKING,” on each side of
the area of the ditchdigging, ete., operations. Those facing eastbound
traffic (south lane) were set up on the pavement. Those facing west-
bound traffic (north lane) were set up just north of the pavement. The
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“ONE-WaY Roap” sign facing traffic proceeding westwardly was ap-
proximately 400 feet east of the point of collision. The “One-Way
Roap” sign facing traffic proceeding castwardly was approximately 500
feet west of the point of collision.

Sloan, operating the backfiller tractor, and Lewis, operating a tractor-
tanker (trailer) combination about 40-45 feet long and loaded with
5,175 gallons of kerosene oil, were proceeding westwardly in the right
(north) lane of Highway #421, Sloan in front of Lewis. Both were east
of the ditchdigging equipment, hence east of where the dirt was piled
along the pavement. Sloan looked back at the tractor-tanker, and
thereafter pulled to his left onto the south lane of the highway. Lewis,
who had pulled to his left for the purpose of passing Sloan, cut farther
to his left. Both vehicles proceeded diagonally across the south lane,
the tractor-tanker striking the backfiller truck at or near the south edge
of the pavement and knocking it against the front of the Jeep-ditch-
digger. The impact knocked Sloan off the seat of the backfiller tractor.
He fell under the tractor-tanker and was crushed by the right rear
wheels thereof, dying instantly.

The foregoing will suffice to point up the basis of decision.

In charging the jury, the court gave these instructions:

“ . . and the Court further charges you that a motorist traveling
west had no right to pass a vehicle going in the same direction at the
place of this accident, because it was a one-way travel road, and the
signs so designated it, and if the defendants’ driver attempted to pass
the vehicle being driven by the plaintiff’s intestate at the place he
testified he did intend to pass it and attempted to pass, that would be
negligence on his part, and if such negligence on his part was the proxi-
mate cause of the injury and death of plaintiff’s intestate, the plaintiff
would be entitled to have you answer the first issue, ‘Yes.”

Again: “. . . and the Court charges you, as a matter of law, that the
defendants’ driver did not have a right to pass any vehicle from the
rear in this restricted area, but it was his duty to stay in the righthand
lane at all times until he got out of the restricted area.”

Exceptions No. 39 and No. 43 are to these portions of the charge.

Judgment for plaintiff, in accordance with the verdict, was signed and
entered. Defendants excepted and appealed, assigning errors.

C. H. Dearman and Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice for plaintiff.
appellee.
Deal, Hutchins & Minor for defendants, appellants.

BoeeiTT, J. The evidence was sufficient, when considered in the light
most favorable to plaintiff, to require submission of the case to the
jury. Moreover, the evidence, when so considered, did not warrant the
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special peremptory instruction requested by defendants, relating to the
contributory negligence issue. Hence, the assignments of error directed
to the denial of defendants’ motion for judgment of nonsuit and to the
refusal of the court to give the peremptory instruction requested by
defendants are overruled. Since a new trial is awarded for reasons
stated below, we refrain from discussing in detail the permissible infer-
ences that may be drawn from the evidence presently before us. Caudle
v. B. R., 242 N.C. 466, 88 S.E. 2d 138, and cases cited.

Defendants’ assignments of error, based on exceptions No. 39 and
No. 43, are well taken.

Work in progress related solely to the ditchdigging, pipe-laying and
backfilling operations. No person in this immediate area or within the
900 feet between the “ONE-Way Roap” signs undertook to direct traffic.

Admittedly, Lewis attempted to pass Sloan.

A witness for plaintiff testified: “Traffic there was going east and
west all the time. Vehicles would meet and pass each other. At times
when this work was in progress they would have to stop, but the traffic
was moving. There was plenty of room for traffic to meet and pass
each other, except immediately up near the machines, where they were
working.”

When Lewis started to pass, Sloan was proceeding westwardly in his
right (north) lane. He was not then engaged in backfilling the ditch.

Lewis testified, in substance, as follows: No traffic was behind him
or meeting him. He blew his horn as he approached the backfiller
tractor. When he did so, Sloan, who was seated on the backfiller tractor
and in plain view, turned his head and looked back at Lewis. When
the vehicles were 50-75 feet apart, Sloan pulled over to his right as if
he was going to pull out on the right (north) shoulder, the right wheels
of the backfiller tractor going 2-21% feet off the right (north) edge of
the pavement. Then he (Lewis), in attempting to pass, began to pull
out to his left, blew his horn again and “just eased up on him.” At that
time, Sloan suddenly cut across to his left in the path of the tractor-
tanker. He (Lewis), in an effort to avoid a collision, then cut farther
to his left; and the collision oceurred at or near the left (south) edge
of the pavement. Sloan gave no signal and did not otherwise indicate
that he intended to make a left turn.

Statutory limitations on the privilege of overtaking and passing an-
other vehicle proceeding in the same direction are prescribed by G.S.
20-150. No statutory provision prescribes the legal effect to be given
the signs placed on or near the highway by Fox. Under the circum-
stances disclosed by the evidence, the signs warned motorists that they
were approaching an area involving special hazards.

The presence of the warning signs, the ditchdigger, the dirt piled
along the highway, and the backfiller tractor, were circumstances tend-
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ing to put Lewis on notice that he was approaching and had entered a
zone of special hazard; and these circumstances were for consideration
by the jury in determining whether Lewis, in pulling out to his left in
an attempt to pass the backfiller tractor, failed to use due care, t.e.,
care commensurate with such circumstances. Too, they were for con-
sideration by the jury in determining whether Sloan was contributorily
negligent. Kellogg v. Thomas, 244 N.C, 722, 94 S.E. 2d 903. But the
instructions to the effect that the mere fact that Lewis attempted to
pass Sloan constituted negligence as a matter of law were not warranted
by the evidence. These instructions, when related to the evidence, were
tantamount to a peremptory instruction on the negligence issue. Since
such erroneous instructions were obviously prejudicial, defendants are
entitled to a new trial.

Questions posed by other assignments of error may not arise when
the cause is tried again.

New trial.

JounsoN, J., not sitting,

DAVID LANGLEY v. GEREORGE TAYLOR, CHAIRMAN., AND TOMMIE SPAR-
ROW axp J. L, LANCASTER, MeMBERS CoMPRISING THE BEAUFORT
COUNTY A. B. C. BOARD o~ June 15, 1956.

(Filed 21 November, 1958.)

1. Public Officers § 8-~

Even if it be conceded that the duty rests upon members of a county
alcoholic beverage control board to require a person employed by the board
as an enforcement officer to give bond, G.8. 128-9, the individual members
of the board cannot be held liable to a person assaulted by such enforce-
ment officer for failure to require him to give the bond, since the duty to
require bond is purely ministerial and a public officer is not individually
liable for negligent breach of a ministerial duty which is of a public nature
unless the statute creating the office or imposing the duty makes provision
for such liability. ‘‘Ministerial” defined.

2. Same—

In the absence of statute expressly imposing such liability, a public
officer cannot be held liable for the neglect of duty of the governmental
body of which he is a member if he acts in good faith,

JOHNSON, J., not sitting,
RoopMmaN, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case,
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APPEAL by plaintiff from Grady, E. J., at February Term 1956, Civil
Term of BEAUFORT.

Civil action to recover damages for the alleged negligent failure of
the defendants to require William A. Patrick, an ABC enforcement
officer, to give bond as prescribed by G.S. 128-9,

Plaintiff herein instituted an action in 1952 against William A.
Patrick, National Surety Corporation, George Taylor, Chairman, and
Tommie Sparrow and J. L. Lancaster, members comprising the Beaufort
County Alcoholic Beverage Control Board to recover damages for an
alleged assault and battery upon him by defendant Patrick, who was
employed by the Beaufort County Board as an enforcement officer, and
had been sent to Pitt County by his superiors, as permitted by G.S.
18-45(0) to assist officers of that county in raiding an illicit liquor still.
This case was disposed of upon plaintiff’s appeal at the Fall Term 1953
of this Court. See Langley v. Patrick, 238 N.C. 250, 77 S.E. 2d 656.
There in Superior Court at the close of plaintiff’s evidence, judgment of
involuntary nonsuit was entered in favor of all defendants except
William A, Patrick. And as to Patrick the jury returned a verdict in
favor of plaintiff in sum of $2,000, in accordance with which judgment
was entered.

In the opinion filed it is recited that ‘“the plaintiff concedes in this
Court that the judgment as of nonsuit was properly entered as to the
Beaufort County ABC Board.” Indeed, reference to brief of plaintiff,
appellant there, last paragraph, it appears that the individual members
of the Board were included in the concession as to the correctness of the
ruling of the trial court. However, plaintiff insisted there that the
Court erred in dismissing the case as to the defendant National Surety
Corporation. This Court held that the bond in suit there is not con-
ditioned “for the faithful performance” of the duties of enforcement
officer Patrick as a peace officer as required by G.S. 128-9,—that at
most it is a contract of indemnity.

Thereafter the present action, captioned as hereinabove set forth, was
instituted by plaintiff on 9 October, 1953, on the theory that the indi-
vidual members of the Aleoholic Beverage Control Board of Beaufort
County were negligent in failing to require William A. Patrick to give
bond as prescribed by G.S. 128-9 as proximate result of which plaintiff
has sustained loss.

Upon the trial in Superior Court, when plaintiff had rested his case,
motion of defendants for judgment as of nonsuit was allowed, and from
judgment entered in accordance therewith, plaintiff appeals to Supreme
Court and assigns error.

John A. Wilkinson and LeRoy Scott for Plaintiff Appellant.
Rodman & Rodman for Defendant Appellees.



N.C] FALL TERM, 1956. 61

LANGLEY v. TAYLOR.

WingorNE, C. J. In the light of the concessions made by plaintiff
on the former appeal, 238 N.C. 250, 77 8.E, 2d 656, it would seem that
if the present action be considered an action against the Alcoholic Bev-
erage Control Board of Beaufort County it may not be maintained by
plaintiff; and if it be considered an action against the individuals com-
prising the Board, it may not be maintained.

Be that as it may, the principle applied in case of Town of Old Fort
v. Harmon, 219 N.C. 241, 13 S.E. 2d 423, clearly indicates that there
is no civil liability on the part of the individual members of the Alco-
holic Beverage Control Board of Beaufort County, for failing to require
William A. Patrick to give a bond as prescribed in G.S. 128-9, even if
it be conceded that such duty rested upon them.

In the Old Fort case the action was against Harmon and the indi-
vidual members of the Board of Aldermen of the Town. He, Harmon,
had been appointed waterworks superintendent and tax collector. And
it was alleged, inter alia, that the individuals constituting the Board
of Aldermen were negligent in not requiring him to be bonded as pro-
vided by statute and the charter of the plaintiff. It is there declared
that it is a recognized principle in this State that “in case of duties
plainly ministerial in character the individual liability of public officer
for negligent breach thercof does not attach where the duties are of a
public nature, imposed entirely for public benefit, unless the statute
creating the office or imposing the duties makes provision for such
liability,” citing Hudson v. McArthur, 152 N.C. 445, 67 S.E. 995; Hipp
v. Ferrall, 173 N.C. 167, 91 S.E. 831.

In this connection the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act of 1937, Article
3 of Chapter 18 of General Statutes, G.S. 18-41, creates a county board
of alcoholic control to consist of a chairman and two other members in
each county which may be permitted to engage in the sale of alcoholie
beverages. And in G.S. 18-45(0) it is provided in pertinent part that
“the said county boards shall each have the following powers and
duties,” inter alia, “(0) To expend for law enforcement a sum not less
than five per cent nor more than ten per cent of the total profits . . .
and in the expenditure of said funds shall employ one or more persons
to be appointed by and directly responsible to the respective county
boards. The persons so appointed shall, after taking the oath pre-
seribed by law for peace officers, have the same powers and authorities
within their respective counties as other peace officers . . . Any law
enforcement officer appointed by such county boards and any other
peace officer is hereby authorized, upon request of the sheriff or other
lawful officer in any other county, to go into such other county and
assist in suppressing a violation of the prohibition law therein, and
while so acting shall have such powers as a peace officer as are granted
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to him in his own county and be entitled to all the protection provided
for said officer while acting in his own county.”

G.S. 128-9 provides that “the State of North Carolina shall require
every peace officer employed by the State, elected or appointed, to give
a bond with good surety payable to the State of North Caroling, in a
sum not less than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) and not more than
two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500.00), conditioned as well for
the faithful discharge of his or her duty as such peace officer as for his
diligently endeavoring to faithfully collect and pay over all sums of
money received . . .”

And it is provided in G.8. 109-2 that “every person or officer of whom
an official bond is required, who presumes to discharge any duty of his
office before executing such bond in the manner prescribed by law, is
liable to a forfeiture of five hundred dollars to the use of the State for
each attempt so to exercise his duty.”

Moreover, the Alcoholic Beverage Control Act of 1937 imposes no
express duty upon the county boards of alcoholic beverage control or
upon the individuals comprising such boards in respect to the provisions
of G.S. 128-9. The provisions of G.S. 109-2 would seem to place the
responsibility upon the officer of whom the bond is required. Hence
it is contended by appellee, and properly so, that no duty rests upon the
individuals comprising the county boards of alcoholic control in respect
to requiring law enforcement officers appointed by them to give bonds
as required by G.S. 128-9. But if there were such duty, it would be a
plain ministerial duty, of a public nature imposed entirely for public
benefit, for the neglect of which individual liability of members com-
prising the county boards would not attach, since the statute creating
the office and imposing the duty makes no provision for such liability.
Old Fort v. Harmon, supra.

Manifestly the individuals comprising the Aleoholic Beverage Con-
trol Board of Beaufort County were public officers, and if it be that
duty devolved upon them to require Patrick, as law enforcement officer,
to give bond as required by G.S. 128-9, the act of so doing was plainly
ministerial in character. A ministerial act is “one which a person per-
forms in a prescribed manner in obedience to the mandate of legal
authority, without regard to or the exereise of his own judgment upon
the propriety of the act being done.” Black’s Law Dictionary, 3rd Ed.
Indeed “a ministerial duty, the performance of which may in proper
cases be required of a public officer by judicial proceedings, is one in
respect to which nothing is left to discretion; it is a simple, definite duty
arising under circumstances admitted or proved to exist and imposed
by law.” Black’s Law Dictionary.

Finally, in the absence of statute expressly imposing such liability, a
public officer who is & member of a corporate or governmental body on
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which a duty rests cannot be held liable for the neglect of duty of that
body if he acts in good faith. 67 C.J.S. 418. And the case on appeal
fails to disclose evidence that the individual members of the Alcoholic
Beverage Control Board of Beaufort County did not act in good faith.
In truth the evidence tends to show that they did act in good faith.
Hence the judgment as of nonsuit will be, and it is
Affirmed.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

RopMmaN, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

ANNA B. THRUSH v. W. E. THRUSH, INpIvibUALLY, AND W, E. THRUSH,
TrapiNg AND Doing Business As THRUSH ENTERPRISES, axp H. B.
MEISELMAN axp WirgE, CLATRE MEISELMAN, anp F. B, GRAHAM,
TRUSTEE.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

Appeal and Error § 33—

The court considered verified pleadings in making its findings of fact,
but the complaint was not included in the record on appeal upon exceptions
to the findings. Held: The appeal must be dismissed under the mandatory
rule that the pleadings, issues and judgment shall be a part of the tran-
script in all cases and that memoranda of pleadings may not be substi-
tuted even by congent of counsel. Rules of Practice in the Supreme Court
Nos. 19 and 20.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpeaL by defendants from Moore (Clifton L.), J., in Chambers,
14 April, 1956, New Hanover Superior Court.

Civil action to set aside a deed of separation executed on 19 Decem-
ber, 1953, by W. E. Thrush and Anna B. Thrush, then husband and
wife. The agreement required the defendant to pay to the plaintiff the
sum of $20,000 as a full property settlement. The defendant executed
a note payable in quarterly installments over a period of four years, and
secured the payment by deed of trust to Thomas L. Rhodes, Trustee,
on certain described lands.

The plaintiff brought this action on 3 June, 1954, in which she alleged
the execution of the deed of separation was procured by coercion and
duress and she asked that it be set aside. Before the defendant filed
answer, the parties entered into a consent judgment before the clerk
superior court in which it was adjudged (1) that the deed of trust and



64 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

THRUSH v. THRUSH.

the note “be, and the same are canceled and of noneffect”; (2) that the
defendant within 90 days pay to the plaintiff the sum of $23,000 in full
settlement of all claims; (3) that the judgment shall be inoperative
unless the payment be made within the specified time. The judgment
was signed by the elerk, by the parties and by their attorneys.

Before the expiration of the 90-day period the defendant filed a
motion in the cause, supported by affidavit, stating he had tendered
$23,000 to the plaintiff but that she failed and refused to surrender the
note and deed of trust, and he prayed that he be permitted to pay the
amount into court and that $20,000 of the amount be retained by the
clerk until the plaintiff surrendered the note. The plaintiff replied to
the motion, stating the note had been lost, mislaid or stolen, and that
she had not assigned or transferred it. After hearing, participated in
by both parties, Judge Frizzelle ordered the defendant to pay the full
sum into court, that the clerk pay $3,000 to the plaintiff and her attor-
ney and retain $20,000 until the plaintiff either surrendered the note or
executed a good and sufficient bond to indemnify against loss in the
event the note was found to be held by an innocent purchaser. The
plaintiff accepted the $3,000 but failed to produce either the note or
the bond. However, she procured the payment on an ex parte order of
the sum of $7,500 from the clerk and returned $4,000 of that amount
when the order was rescinded.

On 16 May, 1955, relying upon the cancellation of the deed of trust
in the consent judgment, H. B. Meiselman and wife, Claire Meiselman,
purchased from W. E. Thrush the land in question and accepted and
recorded his deed thereto. They in turn executed a deed of trust to
F. B. Graham, Trustee, pledging the land as security for a loan of
$50,000 from Wilmington Savings and Trust Company. On 29 March,
1956, H. B. and Claire Meiselman and Graham, Trustee, were per-
mitted to intervene in the cause.

On 14 April, 1956, upon plaintiff’s motion, Judge Moore held a hear-
ing and after considering “affidavits, motions, minutes, deeds, records,
exhibits, and all verified pleadings,” made findings of fact and stated
his conclusions of law covering approximately 10 pages of the record.
Based upon the findings and conclusions, Judge Moore ordered (1) that
the clerk pay over to the plaintiff the $16,500 in his hands upon condi-
tion that Rhodes, Trustee, “shall have cancelled the deed of trust dated
December 19, 1953”7; (2) “the defendant at his own expense” shall
obtain a surety for the plaintiff on an indemnity bond against loss on
account of unproduced note, and upon his failure to do so for 60 days
payment shall be made to the plaintiff; (3) in case of appeal, proceed-
ings shall be stayed pending decision; (4) if the lost note shall be pre-
sented to the defendant or to the clerk, all proceedings shall be sus-
pended until further orders.
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The defendant Thrush requested specific findings of fact which the
court denied, and he excepted to specific findings which the court made.
All defendants excepted to the order and appealed, assigning errors.

Elkins & Calder,

By: Robert E. Calder, for plaintiff, appellee.

J. H. Ferguson, for defendant W. E. Thrush, appellant.

Marsden Bellamy, George Rountree, Jr., for defendant interveners,
appellants.

Hiceins, J. Rule No. 19 of the Rules of Practice in the Supreme
Court provides that pleadings, issues and judgment shall be a part of
the transeript in all cases. Rule 20 provides that memoranda of plead-
ings will not be received or recognized in the Supreme Court as plead-
ings, even by consent of counsel. The record in this case does not
contain the complaint. The trial judge took its contents into account
in his findings of fact. Exceptions were duly taken both to the court’s
findings and to its refusal to make requested findings. On review here,
therefore, this Court, in the absence of the complaint, cannot have
before it all the evidence upon which the court based its findings. The
absence of the complaint from the record makes it necessary to dismiss
the appeal. This procedure has been uniform since Allen v. Hammond,
122 N.C. 754, 30 S.E. 16. The decisions of this Court following the
Hammond case are collected and analyzed in Pruitt v. Wood, 199 N.C.
788, 156 S.E. 126; and since that decision the rule has been observed
in Gardner v. Moose, 200 N.C. 88, 156 S.E. 243; Lipe v. Stanly County,
200 N.C. 92, 156 S.E. 243; Riggan v. Harrison, 203 N.C. 191, 165 S.E.
358; Armstrong v. Service Stores, 203 N.C. 231, 165 S.E. 680; Parks v.
Seagraves, 203 N.C. 647, 166 S.E. 747; Payne v. Brown, 205 N.C. 783,
172 S.E. 348; S. v. Lumber Co., 207 N.C. 47, 175 S.E. 713; Goodman v.
Goodman, 208 N.C. 416, 181 S.E. 328; Abernethy v. Trust Co., 211
N.C. 450, 190 S.E. 735; Washington County v. Land Co., 222 N.C. 637,
24 S.E. 2d 338; Ericson v. Ericson, 226 N.C. 474, 38 S.E. 2d 517; Camp-
bell v. Campbell, 226 N.C. 653, 39 S.E. 2d 812; Macon v. Murray, 240
N.C. 116,81 S.E. 2d 126; Grifiin v. Barnes, 242 N.C. 306, 87 S.E. 2d 560.

The foregoing citation of authority is intended to emphasize the
uniform holding that compliance with the rule is mandatory.

In dismissing the appeal this Court does not affirm the order entered
by Judge Moore on 14 April, 1956, but leaves it as if no appeal had been
taken. Whether the findings of fact and conclusions of law are sup-
ported by the evidence, and whether that order modifies, changes or
overrules Judge Frizzelle's prior order, are questions not decided on
this appeal.

Appeal dismissed.

3—245
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JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

JOHN GATLING, PETITIONER, v. STATE HIGHWAY AND PUBLIC WORKS
COMMISSION, RESPONDENT.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

Eminent Domain § 17—

Where, in condemnation proceedings, the record discloses that no notice
was given of the final meeting of the appraisers at which the assessment of
damages was made, and that such meeting was not at a time and place
tixed by court, the record sustains the findings of the court that the filing
of exceptions by the landowner the twenty-first day after the filing of the
report was timely, G.S. 40-17, G.S. 40-19, since, in the absence of notice, it
may not be held that the filing of exceptions by the landowner was not
timely. Further, the judge of Superior Court had discretionary power to
allow the exceptions to be filed nunc pro tunc. Appeal from the order
allowing the exceptions to be filed and remanding the cause to the clerk
would seem to be premature.

Jonxsox, J., not sitting.

APPEAL by respondent from Hobgood, J., at February 1956 Regular
Civil Term, of Waxke.

Special proceeding in the nature of condemnation proceeding insti-
tuted 20 December, 1948, for the assessment of compensation to peti-
tioner for land, deseribed in the petition, taken by respondent for State
highway purposes, heard at February 1956 Regular Civil Term of
Wake County Superior Court, upon motion of petitioner filed 10 Feb-
ruary, 1956, to vacate judgment of Clerk of Superior Court to end that
hearing be had on petitioner’s exceptions to the commissioners’ report.

Upon such hearing the court found these facts: (1) “That the com-
missioners appointed in this condemnation proceeding conducted a
hearing on the 4th day of March, 1949, at which time evidence was
heard;” (2) “that the commissioners appointed herein filed their said
report in the office of the Clerk of the Superior Court for Wake County
on the 10th day of March, 1949, without giving notice of such filing to
the petitioner herein; and that judgment was entered in said cause on
the 6th day of April, 1949, by the Clerk of Superior Court of Wake
County . . . stating that more than twenty (20) days had elapsed
since the filing of the commissioners’ report, and that none of the
parties had filed exceptions thereto;” and (3) “that exceptions to the
commissioners’ report were filed on the 31st day of March, 1949, after
petitioner had learned of the filing of said commissioners’ report; and



N.C] FALL TERM, 1956. 67

GATLING v. HIGHWAY COMMISSION,

that the Clerk of the Court’s judgment rendered as aforesaid, is irregu-
lar, for the reason that the filing of exceptions by the petitioner herein
was timely.” And thereupon the court “ordered, adjudged and decreed
that the judgment of the Clerk of the Superior Court heretofore entered
in this cause be vacated and declared null and void,” and ‘“that this
cause be remanded to the Clerk of the Superior Court of Wake County
for further action by said Clerk upon the exceptions to the commis-
sioners’ report filed herein.”

The respondent excepted to the signing of the foregoing judgment,
and appeals to Supreme Court and assigns error.

Armistead J. Maupin for Petitioner Appellee.
R. Brookes Peters, General Counsel, for Respondent Appellant.

WineorNE, C.J. Appellant challenges in the main the finding of fact
that petitioner’s exceptions to the commissioners’ report were timely
filed. The findings of fact by the Judge, if supported by any competent
evidence, are binding on appeal. Hence the question arises as to
whether there is evidence to support the finding that the petitioner’s
exceptions were filed on time. Appellee contends, and we hold properly
s0, that the record in the case provides data from which the facts found
may be inferred. Indeed the Judge had the discretionary power to
allow the exeeptions to be filed nunc pro tunc. R. R. v. King, 125 N.C.
454, 34 S.E. 541.

In this connection it may be noted: The statute, G.S. 40-16, provides
that the court shall fix the time and place for the first meeting of the
commissioners. And the statute, G.S. 40-17, declares that whenever
the commissioners meet, except by the appointment of the court or pur-
suant to adjournment, they shall cause ten days notice of such meeting
to be given to the parties who are to be affected by their proceedings,
or their attorney or agent. It is also provided that after the hearing
and the testimony is closed, they shall ascertain and determine the
compensation which ought justly to be made, and “report the same to
the court within ten days.” And it is provided, G.S. 40-19, that within
twenty days after filing the report any person interested in the land
may file exceptions to the report, and upon the determination of the
same by the court, either party to the proceedings may appeal to the
court at term, and thence, after judgment, to the Supreme Court.
Indeed the court or judge on the hearing may direct a new appraisal,
modify or confirm the report, or make such order in the premises as to
him shall seem right and proper.

In the light of these statutory provisions, reference to the record in
hand discloses: (1) That the Clerk of Superior Court, in the order
appointing commissioners, fixed 2 o’clock p.m. on 3rd day of February,
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1949, as the time for their first meeting; (2) that on 19 February, 1949,
the Clerk entered and filed an order substituting one of the commis-
sioners and directed them to meet at 2 o’clock p.m. on Friday, 25 Feb-
ruary, 1949, to take oaths and begin the performance of their duties;
(3) that on 25 February, 1949, the Clerk entered and filed an order
substituting another of the commissioners to serve with the other two,—
but the order contained no reference to time or place; and (4) that on
10 March, 1949, the commissioners filed their report, dated 9 March,
1949, in which it is stated that they met on 25 February, 1949, and
thereafter met on 4 March, 1949, and heard such evidence as the parties
desired to offer, and, after full consideration, “we do assess the dam-
ages,”’—thus clearly indicating a meeting on 9 March, 1949. There is
nothing in the record to show that notice of a meeting on that date was
given to the parties or their attorney, or that the previous meeting had
been adjourned to take place at that time. And the record shows that
the exceptions were filed on 31 March, 1949, the twenty-first day after
the report was filed.

Indeed, as stated by Ervin, J., writing for the Court in Collins v.
Highway Comm., 237 N.C. 277, 74 8.E. 2d 709, “the law does not
require parties to abandon their ordinary callings and ‘dance continuous
or perpetual attendance’ on a court simply because they are served
with original process in a judicial proceeding pending in it.” If notice
of the meeting, at which the report was signed, had been given to the
parties, petitioner would have known of it. Hence in absence of notice
it may not be held that petitioner failed to file his exceptions within
twenty days after the report was filed. In any event, the order of the
Judge was permissible under the statute G.S. 40-19,

It is pertinent to note that this appeal may be premature. R. R. v.
King, supra. But be that as it may, for reasons stated the judgment
below is

Affirmed.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

GEORGE HERBERT SCOTT v. THOMAS W, LEE, /2 LEE'S CASH
GROCERY.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)
Automobiles § 54f——

Where the evidence tends to show that at the time of the collision be-
tween plaintiff's car and a truck, the truck was actually owned by one
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defendant and was being driven at the time by his employee, although the
registered title was in the name of a stranger to the action, proof of owner-
ship takes the issue of respondeat superior to the jury as to the defendant
employer, G.S. 20-71.1(a), and the granting of nonsuit was error.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpEAL by plaintiff from Mallard, J., March Civil Term 1956 of
WAKE.

Civil action for damages brought on the principle of respondeat
superior.

The evidence tends to show these facts: About 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. on
5 July 1954 plaintiff was driving his automobile about 15 miles an hour
West on East Lenoir Street in the city of Raleigh, and on his right side
of the street, when his automobile was struck violently in the rear by a
1938 Ford truck driven by Sam Walker. In the collision plaintiff
received personal injuries, and his automobile was damaged.

On this day Walker was employed by the defendant as a truck driver,
and also drove the truck from the defendant’s store taking feed to
defendant’s farm about 5:00 or 6:00 o'clock. The same day Jim
O’Neill saw Walker, who was about drunk, come out of the defendant’s
store, and drive the truck off going out Martin Street. That night
policemen came to O’Neill’s house, and asked him if he owned the truck.
He told them it was in his name, but belonged to the defendant, and
that Walker was driving it that day. O’Neill went with the officers to
Walker’s house, and found him drunk hiding under the bed.

The truck involved in the collision with plaintiff’s automobile was
registered in the name of Jim O’Neill, a person who can neither read
nor write, who was an employee of defendant until 4 or 5 months prior
to 5 July 1954. Some months prior to that date a man came to the
defendant’s store to sell him this truck. Defendant couldn’t leave his
store, and said to O’Neill: “Jim, run up there to the license department
and put it in your name.” O’Neill went there with the man selling the
truck, and the truck was registered in O’Neill’s name. O’Neill never
had an operator’s license, never drove the truck, never paid a nickel for
it, and never owned it. After the collision O’Neill asked defendant
three times to take this truck out of his name, and defendant said he
didn’t have time. Defendant tried to get the truck after the collision
from the place where it was stored, and O'Neill told the police not to
let him have it until he got it out of his name. Later defendant called
O’Neill to his store, and sent a man with him to a Justice of the Peace’s
office, where it was said the truck was changed out of O’Neill’s name.
Since the collision the truck has been seen in defendant’s parking lot
on Martin Street, where he keeps his trucks.
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At the close of plaintiff’s evidence, the court allowed the defendant’s
motion for judgment of nonsuit.
From the judgment entered, plaintiff appeals.

Bunn & Bunn for Plaintiff, Appellant.
No counsel for Defendant, Appellee.

Per CuriaMm. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff, it tends to show that plaintiff was injured and his automobile
damaged by the actionable negligence of Sam Walker, an employee of
the defendant, in the operation of a Ford truck owned in fact by the
defendant, though the naked legal title of the truck was registered in
the name of Jim O’Neill at the defendant’s request. G.S. 20-71.1(a)
provides “in all actions to recover damages for injury to the person or
to property or for the death of a person, arising out of an accident or
collision involving a motor vehicle, proof of ownership of such motor
vehicle at the time of such accident or collision shall be prima facie
evidence that said motor vehicle was being operated and used with the
authority, consent, and knowledge of the owner in the very transaction
out of which said injury or cause of action arose.” Therefore, the
evidence, by virtue of the statute, suffices to carry the case to the jury
on the question of the legal responsibility of the defendant on the
doctrine of respondeat superior for the operation of the Ford truck on
the occasion of the injury to plaintiff and damage to his automobile.
Travis v. Duckworth, 237 N.C. 471, 75 S.E. 2d 309; Caughron v,
Walker, 243 N.C. 153, 90 S.E. 2d 305.

Plaintiff aptly says in his brief: “Plaintiff does not contend that the
only inference which can be drawn from the evidence shows the defend-
ant to be the owner of said Ford truck, but to the contrary the plaintiff
realizes the evidence and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom
are in conflict, and therefore the trial judge usurped the province of the
jury by refusing to allow them to pass on the issues.”

The judgment, of nonsuit below is

Reversed.

JoHNsoN, J., not sitting.
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STATE v. N. W. GIBSON.
(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

Parent and Child § 12: Criminal Law § 52b—

In a prosecution of a father for abandonment and for nonsupport of his
minor child, a peremptory instruction for the State is prejudicial error in
depriving the defendant of his right to have the jury consider the essential
element of wilfulness.

Joux~NsoN, J., not sitting.

AppeaL by defendant from Crissman, J., April Term, 1956, of
CABARRUS.

Criminal prosecution tried in the Cabarrus County Domestic Rela-
tions Court upon a warrant charging that in said County the defendant
“on or about the 20th day of December 1955, did unlawfully, wilfully
and maliciously abandon, fail and refuse to provide adequate support
for his minor child, Lawrence Edward Gibson, age one month old, and
the said defendant, N. W. Gibson, still refuses to provide adequate
support for said minor child, . . .”

A plea of not guilty was entered. Defendant found guilty and sen-
tence pronounced. He appealed to the Superior Court, where he was
tried upon the original warrant. He entered a plea of not guilty;
whereupon, a jury was sworn and impaneled to try the case. The jury
returned a verdiet of guilty, and from the judgment imposed the de-
fendant appeals, assigning error.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton
for the State.

Bedford W. Black and John Hugh Williams for defendant.

Per CuriaM. The State concedes that assignments of error Nos. 12
and 13 present prejudicial error.

Assignment of error No. 12 is based on an exception to the peremptory
instruetion given to the jury as follows: “Now, members of the jury,
the court charges you that if you find from the evidence the facts to be
as all the evidence tends to show, it would be your duty to return a
verdict of guilty in this case.”

In 8. v. Hayden, 224 N.C. 779, 32 S.E. 2d 333, this Court, in consid-
ering a similar instruction, said: “The court’s instruction deprived the
defendant of his right to have the jury consider the question of his
willfulness as an issuable fact. . . . Rarely may a peremptory instruc-
tion be given to convict the defendant, if the jury finds the facts to be
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as testified, in cases where the substance of the offense is willfulness
or g specific intent is an essential element.”

The 13th assignment of error is based on an exception to the follow-
ing portion of the charge to the jury: “The court charges you that if
you are satisfied from this evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that
the defendant has abandoned this child and has failed to support the
child, failed to do anything for it, . . . it would be your duty to return
a verdict of guilty.”

Likewise, in this portion of the charge the court inadvertently failed
to include in the instruction the element of wilful abandonment and
nonsupport. The burden was upon the State to show beyond a reason-
able doubt that the defendant wilfully abandoned his child, without
providing adequate support for such child. 8. v. Smith, 241 N.C. 301,
84 S.E. 2d 913.

For the errors pointed out, there must be a

New trial.

Jounson, J., not sitting,

MRS. LASENIA MURCHISON v. WASHINGTON TERRACE APARTMENTS.
INCORPORATED, Ao CORPORATION.

(Filed 21 November, 1956.)

Landlord and Tenant § 11—

In an action against a corporation maintaining apartments with adja-
cent streets and sidewalks, evidence that plaintiff, in walking from the
street along a sidewalk to an apartment, tripped at the slight elevation of
the sidewalk and fell to her injury, is insufficient to be submitted to the
jury on the issue of negligence, since the construction of a sidewalk some
inch or two above the street level is customary.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

APpEAL by plaintiff from Hobgood, J., first April 1956 Term of WAKE.

Plaintiff seeks to recover damages resulting from a fall on the prem-
ises of defendant. She alleges that defendant owned and operated in
excess of two hundred apartments in the area in Raleigh known as
Washington Terrace Apartments, one of which was occupied by plain-
tiff. She alleges that defendant had constructed and maintained streets
and sidewalks within the apartment area for the use and convenience
of the occupants of the apartments. She further alleges that on the
night of 1 December, 1954, she visited her sister, and when returning
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home via “A” Street, one of the streets maintained by defendant for
the benefit of its tenants and their guests, she “proceeded across said
‘A’ Street and reached the north side of the same at a point where one
of defendant’s sidewalks abuts on said ‘A’ Street, she stepped up to
proceed on the sidewalk, but tripped and fell on same because of a
protrusion or raised portion of said sidewalk, as it adjoined ‘A’ Street.
That in falling plaintiff struck her left hand upon a sharp glass jar
lying upon said sidewalk and thereby seriously and permanently injured
her left hand and arm . . .” She alleges that defendant negligently
permitted the sidewalk to become and remain in an unsafe and danger-
ous condition, and with knowledge of this condition failed to repair it.

At the conclusion of plaintiff’s evidence, defendant’s motion for non-
suit was allowed. Plaintiff appealed.

E. A. Solomon, Jr., and Mordecai, Mills & Parker for plaintiff appel-
lant.
Ruark, Young & Moore for defendant appellee.

Per Curiam. The evidence shows that “A” Street is paved to a
width of ten feet. There are no sidewalks paralleling the street, but
there are sidewalks leading from the street to the various apartment
houses. Where plaintiff fell, the sidewalk is approximately one and
one-half inches higher than “A” Street. Plaintiff describes her fall
and its cause thus: “I went out of the back door of my sister's house,
with my four-year-old son on my left and I was holding his hand with
my left hand—went through her back yard—when I got to ‘A’ Street,
I turned to my left and went about 60 feet before I was to turn to go on
toward home. I attempted to turn on A Street to go up the sidewalk
that leads to apartments A-11 and A-12, and just as I entered the side-
walk, I stepped on the sidewalk with my left foot and my right foot
tripped on a raised portion of the sidewalk, and I fell about 2 or 3 feet
up the sidewalk and fell on this glass and cut my hand very seriously.”

To elevate a sidewalk an inch or two above the street is almost uni-
versally done. Such method of construction does not indicate negli-
gence. That plaintiff should, in stepping from the street to the side-
walk, stumble and fall because the sidewalk was an inch or two higher
than the street does not indicate that defendant was in any wise negli-
gent. That plaintiff, in falling, should cut her hand is unfortunate but
cannot impose any responsibility on the defendant. Plaintiff offered
no evidence tending to show when or how the glass on which she cut
her hand got there. The judgment is

Affirmed.

Jounson, J., not sitting,
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GILBERT DEAL, CESAR PEYRONEL, L. 0. DEAL, TROY CRAFT, RALPH
SIGMON, JEWI1S SIGMON, J. S. SIGMON, H, E. ABERNETHY AND
Wire, MRS. H. E. ABERNEFTHY, oN BEHALF oF THEMSELVES AND ALL
OTHER TAXPAYERS IN S0-CALLED ENON SANITARY DISTRICT, WHO MaAY
WisH To JoIN HEREIN, v. ENON SANITARY DISTRICT anp ROBERT L.
BAIRD, WILSON DEAL AnD R. EDGAR WILLIAMS As COoMMISSIONERS
THEREOF ; AND JOHN A. BLEYNAT, J. J. HALLYBURTON, ARTHUR H.
WHISNANT, BEN H. BRACKETT axp X. H. COX as COUNTY COM-
MISSIONERS OF BURKE COUNTY; axp MRS. NADINE BAKER,
REGISTRAR, AND FRANK GRIFFIN anp SADIE BAIRD as JUDGES OF
SpECIAL BOND ELECTION FOR S0-CALLED ENON SANITARY DISTRICT.

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 50—

Upon appeal from an order granting or refusing an interlocutory injunec-
tion, the Supreme Court may review the findings of fact as well as the
conclusions of law, and itself find the facts from the record evidence.

2. Sanitary Districts § 1—

The signature of 519 or more of the freeholders in the territory de-
seribed in a petition for the creation of a sanitary district is prerequisite
to the jurisdiction of the board of county commissioners to approve such
petition, and such petition thus approved is prerequisite to the jurisdiction
of the State Board of Health to define the boundaries of and create the
distriet. G.S. 130-36.

8. Same—

Where 519 of the freeholders within the boundaries described therein
sign a petition for the creation of a sanitary district, and the board of
county commissioners approve such petition, the State Board of Health has
jurisdiction, after hearing, to approve or disapprove the petition, and upon
its approval to create the district, but the State Board of Health has no
authority to exclude a portion of the territory described in the approved
petition and create as a sanitary district a territory substantially less in
area and in property values than the territory described in the petition.

4. Same—

The State Board of Health does not have authority to exclude from the
territory described in an approved petition for the creation of a sanitary
distriet, territory within the boundaries of the proposed district served
by a municipal water system, notwithstanding that such territory would
not benefit from the creation of the proposed district, since the authority
of the State Board of Health to create a sanitary district is limited by
statute to territory embraced within the boundaries described in an ap-
proved petition.

5. Appeal and Error § 50: Injunctions § 8—

Where on appeal it is determined that plaintiffs are entitled pendente
lite to the injunctive relief for which they have applied, the judgment
denying such relief will be vacated and the cause remanded with direction
that an interlocutory order be entered in gccordance with law,
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JOHNSON, J., not sitting,
Higains, J., dissenting.

AppeaL by plaintiffs from Huskins, J., as Presiding Judge of the
Twenty-Fifth Judicial District, entered at 24 May, 1956, Term, of
Caldwell, from BURKE.

Civil action commenced 17 May, 1956, in the Superior Court of Burke
County, to declare Enon Sanitary District, purportedly created and
established by the State Board of Health under G.S., Chapter 130,
Article 6, nonexistent as a body politic and corporate, and pendente lite,
to enjoin the holding on 26 May, 1956, of a special bond election on
the proposed issuance by Enon Sanitary District of $91,000.00 of water
bonds, or, if the holding of such election be not enjoined, to “restrain
the certification of the results thereof and any and all acts which might
be predicated on such certified results—including restraining of bond
issuance if voted for favorably in the election . . .”

After hearing on 24 May, 1956, upon return of a notice to show cause,
Huskins, J., denied plaintiffs’ application for injunctive relief pending
final determination of the cause.

The general factual background is set forth below. Other factual
matters will be considered in the opinion.

Plaintiffs reside within the territory purportedly created and estab-
lished as Enon Sanitary District by the State Board of Health. Seven
of the plaintiffs are resident freeholders therein. Six of these resident
freeholders signed the petition described below.

On 7 February, 1955, a petition was presented to the Board of Com-
missioners of Burke County for the establishment of the territory
described therein as a sanitary district to be known as Enon Sanitary
District. The territory described therein is in Burke County, west of
and adjoining the corporate limits of Valdese. The object was to pro-
vide a water supply for the residents of the proposed sanitary district.
The petition was signed by more than 51% of the freeholders residing
in the territory described in the petition.

On 12 March, 1955, after a public hearing thereon, the petition was
approved by the Board of Commissioners and transmitted to the State
Board of Health.

On 4 May, 1955, the State Board of Health conducted a public hear-
ing on said petition within the described territory, to wit, at Enon
Baptist Church.

The foregoing proceedings, in respect of the publication of notice and
otherwise, were in striet compliance with G.S. 130-34 and G.S. 130-35;
and plaintiffs do not challenge the regularity of any of them. The
description of the proposed sanitary district incorporated in the pub-
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lished notices of said two public hearings was the deseription set forth
in said petition.

On 12 January, 1956, the State Board of Health adopted a resolution
which, in part, provided: “. . . that in the opinion of the State Board
of Health of the State of North Carolina, the territory described in said
petition except for the area mentioned above now served by water
facilities should be created as a sanitary district, and it is for the best
interests of the residents and inhabitants of the said district for the
purpose of preserving and promoting the public health that the said
sanitary district be created, and that same be and is hereby created and
established as a sanitary district, all in accordance with and pursuant
to provisions of Chapter 130, Article No. 6, General Statutes of North
Carolina 1943 and 1951 Cumulative Supplements thereto.” (Italics
added.) The said resolution then defined the boundaries of Enon Sani-
tary District purportedly created and established thereby. These
boundaries do not include a substantial part of the territory described
in said petition.

Subsequent events, all with reference to Enon Sanitary District as
purportedly created and established by the State Board of Health,
include the following:

1. On 21 January, 1956, the Board of Commissioners, pursuant to
the State Board of Health’s said resolution of 12 January, 1956, elected
the members of a District Board of Enon Sanitary District.

2. On 19 April, 1956, the said District Board adopted a resolution
providing for submission to the qualified voters within the district of a
proposal that $91,000.00 of water bonds be issued by Enon Sanitary
District and that a tax sufficient to pay the principal of and the interest
on said bonds when due be levied and collected annually on all taxable
property within the Enon Sanitary District.

3. By order of the Board of Commissioners, a special bond election
was called for Saturday, 26 May, 1956; and notice of such special elec-
tion and of the new registration required therefor was published.

The court below made findings of fact on which he based his order.
Plaintiffs excepted to designated findings of fact, excepted to the court’s
refusal to make findings of fact tendered by them, excepted to the order
and appealed therefrom; and, on appeal, plaintiffs have brought for-
ward their exceptions by appropriate assignments of error.,

C. David Swift for plaintiffs, appellants.
Byrd & Byrd for defendants, appellees.

Bossrrt, J. Upon an appeal from an order granting or refusing an
interlocutory injunction, the findings of fact, as well as the conclusions



N.C.] FALL TERM, 1956. 77

DgAL v. SANITARY DISTRICT.

of law, are reviewable by this Court. Arey v. Lemons, 232 N.C. 531,
61 S.E. 2d 596; Cameron v. Highway Com., 188 N.C. 84, 123 S.E. 465.

The evidence fails to show any irregularity subsequent to the resolu-
tion adopted 12 January, 1956, by the State Board of Health, sufficient
to entitle plaintiffs to injunctive relief; and plaintiffs’ assignments of
error, directed to the order and published notice relating to the special
bond election, are overruled.

Decision on this appeal turns on whether Enon Sanitary District was
legally created and established by the State Board of Health,

The petition signed by more than 51% of the resident freeholders was
for the establishment of the territory described therein as a sanitary
district. This petition was approved, after public hearing thereon, by
the Board of Commissioners. Another public hearing thereon was con-
ducted by the State Board of Health.

The determinative question is this: Did the State Board of Health
in the absence of a petition therefor, signed by 51% or more of the
resident freeholders therein and approved by the Board of Commis-
sioners, have authority to create as a sanitary district a portion of the
territory described in the approved petition, that is, a territory substan-
tially less in area and in property valuations than the territory de-
seribed in the approved petition?

The question posed was answered by the court below in favor of
defendants in this conclusion of law: ‘“1. That the Enon Sanitary Dis-
trict has been legally created as provided by law, and this Court is of
the opinion that G.S. 130-36 gives to the State Board of Health the
discretionary right to adopt a Resolution defining the boundaries of
the sanitary district and declaring the territory within such boundary
to be a sanitary district, regardless of whether the boundary of the
area defined coincides with the boundary of the area described in the
Petition requesting the creation of such district.” Plaintiffs’ assign-
ment of error thereto squarely presents the crucial question.

When hereafter used, “original boundaries” refers to the territory
described in said approved petition and “excluded territory” refers to
the portion thereof not included in the sanitary district purportedly
created by the State Board of Health.

As a basis for determining plaintiffs’ right to injunctive relief, pen-
dente lite, this Court, after careful consideration of the evidence pre-
sented, finds the facts to be as stated below.

1. The excluded territory adjoins the Town of Valdese.

2. The properties in the excluded territory, with minor exceptions,
are presently connected with the Valdese water system.

3. Other properties within the original boundaries, but not in the
excluded territory, are presently connected with the Valdese water
system.
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4, The Town of Valdese let it be known that it planned to extend its
corporate limits so as to annex the excluded territory and that it would
not furnish water to a sanitary district embracing the excluded territory.

5. The 1955 valuations of properties in the excluded territory ex-
ceeded $83,865.00 and approximated 14 of the 1955 valuations of all
properties within the original boundaries.

6. If the excluded territory is taken out of the original boundaries,
this will reduce only by a Y4, part (less than $1,000.00) the expected
cost of the Enon water system.

7. If the excluded territory is taken out of the original boundaries,
the result will be a sanitary district in which ad valorem taxes necessary
to provide the Enon water system will be heavier than in a sanitary
district created and established in accordance with the original bound-
aries,

8. No petition has been signed, presented or approved, requesting
that the State Board of Health create and establish as a sanitary dis-
trict the territory described in its resolution of 12 January, 1956.

In Idol v. Hanes, 219 N.C. 723, 14 S.E. 2d 801, a petition signed by
51% or more of the resident freeholders within the proposed sanitary
district, was filed with the Board of County Commissioners in accord-
ance with G.8. 130-34. Prior to the advertised public hearing on the
petition, certain of the signers thereof requested that their names be
withdrawn; and, if their names were withdrawn, the remaining signers
constituted less than 51% of the resident freeholders within the pro-
posed distriet. Notwithstanding such requested withdrawals, the Board
of County Commissioners approved the petition and prepared to for-
ward such approval to the State Board of Health for further action
toward establishment of the district.

After holding that a signer had the legal right to withdraw his name
from the petition prior to action thereon by the Board of County Com-
missioners, this Court, speaking through Seawell, J., said: “The with-
drawal of these petitioners, conceded in the stipulation to reduce the
number to less than 51% of the resident freeholders, was fatal to the
jurisdiction of the defendant Board of County Commissioners, and the
judgment of the Superior Court so holding must be affirmed. Tarboro
v. Forbes, 185 N.C. 59, 116 S.E. 81; Armstrong v. Beaman, supra;
Charlotte v. Brown, 165 N.C. 435, 81 S.E, 611; Shelton v. White, supra;
McQuillin’s Municipal Corp., 1921 Supp., sec. 1858.” TUpon this basis,
the defendant Commissioners were permanently restrained from taking
further action with reference to said petition.

The jurisdictional petition required by G.S. 130-34 must set forth
the boundaries of the territory to be created and established as a sani-
tary district. The request of the resident freeholders who sign the
petition is that the territory described therein be created and estab-
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lished as a sanitary district. The Board of Commissioners, after a
public hearing on said petition, determines whether it approves the
creation and establishment of the territory described therein as a sani-
tary district as requested by 51% or more of the freeholders resident
therein,

If a petition signed by 51% or more of the freeholders residing in the
territory described in said petition is prerequisite to the jurisdiction of
the Board of Commissioners, as held in Idol v. Hanes, supra, said peti-
tion, approved by the Board of Commissioners, is prerequisite to the
jurisdiction of the State Board of Health.

G.S. 130-36, in part, provides: ‘“If, after such hearing the State
Board of Health shall deem it advisable to comply with the request of
said petition and that a district for the purpose or purposes therein
stated should be created and established, the State Board of Health
shall adopt a resolution to that effect, defining the boundaries of such
district and deelaring the territory within such boundaries to be «
sanitary district; . . .” (Italics added.)

Relying upon the italicized words, defendants contend that the State
Board of Health was authorized, in its discretion, to create and estab-
lish as a sanitary district a territory different from that described in
said approved jurisdictional petition, that is, the territory remaining
after the “excluded territory” is taken out of the “original boundaries.”
We are constrained to hold otherwise.

Our attention is directed to the fact that G.S. 130-34 and G.S. 130-35
refer to the “boundaries of the proposed sanitary district,” “the pro-
posed sanitary district,” and “this sanitary district,” while G.S. 130-36
refers to “a district” and “such district” and “a sanitary district.” In
this connection, it must be observed that no sanitary district exists
unless legally created and established by the State Board of Health.
We construe G.S. 130-36 to mean that the State Board of Health is to
determine whether it deems it advisable to comply with the request of
satd approved jurisdictional petition; and, if so, it is authorized to
create and establish a sanitary district in compliance therewith.

The approved petition, upon which the jurisdiction of the State Board
of Health rests, requests that the territory described therein, be created
and established as a sanitary district. Necessarily, as required by G.S.
130-36, the resolution of the State Board of Health must define the
boundaries of any sanitary district created and established by it. To
define, according to Webster, is “to determine with precision or to
exhibit clearly the boundaries of.” Here the State Board of Health
did more than make precise and clear the boundaries of the territory
described in said petition. The territory purportedly created and
established as a sanitary district by the State Board of Health differs
materially and substantially from that described in said petition. There
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is a marked distinction between defining with precision and exhibiting
clearly the territory created and established as a sanitary district and
the purported creation and establishment as a sanitary district of an
area substantially and materially different from that described in the
approved jurisdictional petition.

In this connection, it is noted that G.S. 130-36 contains a proviso,
namely, “. . . any industrial plant and its contiguous village shall be
included within or excluded from the area embraced within such sani-
tary district as expressed in the application of the person, persons or
corporation owning or controlling such industrial plant and its contigu-
ous village, said application to be filed with the State Board of Health
on or before the date of the public hearing as hereinbefore provided.”
All parties are charged with statutory notice that this may be done.
Suffice to say, the proviso is not relevant here except as an aid to inter-
pretation.

Defendants contend further that the State Board of Health was
authorized to exclude from the proposed district properties now con-
nected with, and using water from, the Valdese water system, on the
ground that such properties would not benefit from the creation of the
proposed district, citing Sanitary District v. Prudden, 195 N.C. 722,
143 S.E. 530. An analysis of the cited case seems appropriate.

Sanitary District v. Prudden, supra, was determined upon the sub-
mission of a controversy without action under C.S. 626, now G.S, 1-250.
The plaintiff, Druid Hills Sanitary District, was created pursuant to
the provisions of Ch. 100, Public Laws of 1927, which as amended is
now G.S., Ch. 130, Art. 6. All proceedings were in full compliance with
the statutory provisions, including the election authorizing the issuance
of district bonds payable from an unlimited ad valorem tax upon all
taxable property in said district and not from special assessments.
Prudden, et al., the defendants, refused to comply with their contract
to purchase the bonds.

The defendants contended that Ch. 100, Public Laws of 1927, was in
conflict with sec. 17, Art. I, the Constitution of North Carolina, and
the Fourteenth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.
They based this contention, inter alia, on these grounds: (a) “That the
so-called tax authorized by chapter 100, Public Laws 1927, is a special
assessment and limited to an amount not in substantial excess of the
benefits aceruing to the property taxed.” (b) “Because it does not
authorize the State Board of Health to exclude from a sanitary district
property which will not be benefited by the proposed improvements.”

This Court, in upholding the constitutionality of Ch. 100, Public
Laws of 1927, rejected the contention that a special assessment district
was involved. The basis of decision was that the health and welfare
of all the people who lived in the sanitary district was the prime con-
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sideration for the establishment thereof, not benefits, if any, to indi-
vidual property owners as such. Upon this basis, this Court held that
in such a sanitary district the tax to be levied is a general tax for a
special purpose as distinguished from a special assessment and therefore
is not limited by the amount of benefits conferred by the proposed im-
provement in respect of particular property. See: Williamson v. Snow,
239 N.C. 493, 80 S.I.. 2d 262.

In the course of a discussion of the defendants’ said contentions, the
opinion states: “Then again, taking a reasonable construction of sec-
tion 5, supra (G.S. 130-36), upon the hearing before the State Board
of Health, any landowner if not benefited could be heard, before the
State Board of Health defined the boundaries and created the sanitary
district. It is well settled that ‘no land can be taken without being
benefited.” See Drainage District v. Cahoon, 193 N.C. p. 326.” De-
fendants stress this excerpt from the opinion.

While the quoted excerpt, standing alone, lends some support to
defendants’ contention, it must be regarded as dicta; for the quotation
from Drainage District v. Cahoon, 193 N.C. 326, 137 S.E. 185, shows
plainly that the proposition stated relates to a special assessment dis-
trict whereas the decision in Sanitary District v. Prudden, supra, was
predicated squarely on the proposition that the Druid Hills Sanitary
District was not a special assessment district.

The required public hearing (G.S. 130-35) contemplates that every
interested person has a right to be heard by the State Board of Health
before it determines whether it deems it advisable to create and estab-
lish a sanitary distriet in compliance with the request of the approved
jurisdictional petition.

Assuming that, after the Town of Valdese had made known its afore-
said attitude, informal request was made that the territory defined in
said resolution of 12 January, 1956, be created and established as a
sanitary district, and that these developments were generally known to
residents of the Enon Community, we are confronted by the fact that
the State Board of Health had no authority except that conferred by
the approved jurisdictional petition.

The intention of the General Assembly is clear. 519% or more of the
resident freeholders may petition for the establishment of a specific
territory as a sanitary district. The Board of Commissioners and the
State Board of Health may approve or reject their petition. It is not
contemplated that, upon consideration of said petition, a different terri-
tory, for which no jurisdictional petition has been presented, may be
created and established.

If, as defendants contend, 51% or more of the resident freeholders
within the boundaries set forth in the resolution of the State Board of
Health favor the establishment of that territory as a sanitary distriet
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they may sign and present their petition to the Board of Cominissioners
and otherwise proceed in accordance with G.S., Ch. 130, Art. 6. In such
case, the further delay and additional expense are regrettable; but we
are mindful that the law as declared by this Court is applicable to all
proceedings for the establishment of sanitary distriets under G.8., Ch.
130, Art. 6. Uncertainty as to the statutory authority vested in the
State Board of Health by G.S. 130-36 may have contributed in large
measure to the already considerable delay in these proceedings.

It is noted that the jurisdictional petition must be signed by 51% or
more of the resident freeholders; but, if and when a sanitary district
has been legally created and established, the qualified voters, whether
freeholders or not, determine what bonds, if any, shall be issued by the
district.

Upon the facts disclosed by this record, plaintiffs herein were entitled
pendente lite to the injunctive relief for which they applied; and the
failure to grant an interlocutory injunction was error. Therefore, the
judgment of the court below is vacated and the cause remanded with
direction that an interlocutory order be entered consistent with the law
as declared herein.

Judgment vacated and cause remanded.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

Hiceins, J., dissenting: I am unable to agree with the majority
opinion in this case. A fair interpretation of G.S. 130-35 and G.S.
130-36 gives the State Board of Health authority to exclude in its dis-
cretion part of the territory embraced in the original petition filed with
and approved by the Board of Commissioners, provided the district as
approved has the support of 51 per cent of the resident freeholders.
One of the purposes of the hearing to be held by the Board of Health
is to determine whether the district as approved has the required sup-
port. G.8. 130-36 provides (not the district but) a district shall be
created and established, and that the State Board of Health shall adopt
a resolution to that effect defining the boundaries of such district and
declaring the territory within such boundaries to be a sanitary district.

G.8. 130-35 provides the State Board of Health shall give notice,
naming a time and place within the proposed distriet, and shall hold a
public hearing concerning the creation of the proposed district. By
requiring the Board of Health to conduct a hearing, to fix boundaries,
and by order to set up the district, the Legislature had in mind the
Board should have authority to do more than simply say, “ves,” or
“no,” to the proposals submitted in the petition. I do not see in the
acts referred to a legislative plan thus to place the Board of Health in
a straight jacket. I vote to affirm,
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1.

2.

8.

4.

5.

HAROLD D. HARMON v. MARY PRIME HARMON.
(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

Appeal and Error § 46—
Ordinarily, the doing or refusing to do an act within the discretion of
the court is not reviewable on appeal.

Pleadings § 6: Process § 6: Judgments § 18—

Upon motion to vacate a judgment based upon service by publication on
the ground that the clerk of the Superior Court had not sent a copy of the
notice of service as required by G.S. 1-99.2, the court may vacate the judg-
ment, and, instead of dismissing the action, may in his diseretion order
that service be completed in accordance with the provisions of statute and
enlarge the time for answering. G.S. 1-152. In the present case the ques-
tion is moot because of defendant’s general appearance.

Appearance § 1—
The filing of an answer is equivalent to a general appearance.

Appearance § 2—
A general appearance waives all defects and irregularities in process
and gives the court jurisdiction of the answering party even though there
may have been no service of snmmons.

Divorce and Alimony § 214 d—After divorce obtained in good faith with-
out fraud, cohabitation with second wife is not rendered adulterous by
decree setting aside divorce.

After decree of absolute divorce, the husband remarried. Thereafter,
the first wife had the decree set aside for defective service for that the
clerk had not mailed her a copy of the order of service by publication,
although the affidavit of the husband had given her correct address. Upon
intimation that the court would set aside the decree, the husband ceased
to cohabit with the second wife, and continued his action for absolute
divorce on the ground of separation. The first wife filed answer alleging
his adulterous cohabitation as a bar. Held: The husband having done all
required of him by law for service by publication and the evidence disclos-
ing no intentional wrong on his part or fraud or collusion in procurement
of the divorce decree, his cohabitation with the second wife up to the time
he knew the decree would be set aside was not adulterous so as to bar his
right of action.

6. Appeal and Error § 38—

Exceptions not set out in the brief and in support of which no reason
or argument is stated or authority cited are taken as abandoned. Rule of
Practice in the Supreme Court No. 28.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting,

Arrear by defendant from Campbell, J., May Term, 1956, of MECK-

LENBURG.
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This is an action instituted by the plaintiff for an absolute divorce
based on separation of more than two years.

The plaintiff, Harold D. Harmon, and the defendant, Mary Prime
Harmon, were married 17 December 1933. The plaintiff and defendant,
then living in Miami, Florida, separated on 22 October 1946. The
plaintiff, a senior pilot for Eastern Air Lines, moved to Atlanta, Geor-
gia, and was later transferred to Charlotte, North Carolina, where he
has lived since 1 April 1954,

On 28 February 1955 the plaintiff instituted this action. Summons
was issued and verified complaint was filed. The Sheriff of Mecklen-
burg County returned the summons issued in this action endorsed,
“The defendant, Mary Prime Harmon, cannot after due and diligent
search be found within the State of North Carolina. Said defendant
is in fact a resident of Miami Springs, Dade County, Florida, and lives
at 160 South Drive, Miami Springs.”

Thereafter, on 1 March 1955, pursuant to an affidavit for service on
the defendant by publication, the court entered an order of publication
directing that such order be published in the Mecklenburg Times, a
newspaper published in Mecklenburg County, once a week for four
weeks. The affidavit for service by publication set forth therein that
the defendant was a resident of Miami Springs, Dade County, Florida,
and lived at 160 South Drive in Miami Springs.

The notice of publication was published as required by the order of
the court in the Mecklenburg Times and the affidavit of the publisher
of such paper was duly filed in proper form in this action. The defend-
ant filed no answer.

At a term of the Superior Court in Mecklenburg County on the 26th
day of April 1955, the case was tried. The jury answered the issues
in favor of the plaintiff and he was granted an absolute divorce.

On the 23rd day of July 1955, the plaintiff married Betty Curtis of
Birmingham, Alabama, who thereupon moved to Charlotte and lived
with the plaintiff as his wife until the 9th day of February 1956.

The defendant, Mary Prime Harmon, on 29 August 1955, through
her attorneys, made a special appearance and filed a motion (1) to
vacate the judgment of divorce entered by Judge Patton for that the
Clerk of the Superior Court of Mecklenburg County had not sent a
copy of the notice of service of process by publication to the defendant
as required by G.8. 1-99.2, and (2) to dismiss the action.

The hearing on the above motion was finally disposed of on 10 Feb-
ruary 1956. On 9 February 1956 the court intimated that it would
set aside the judgment on the next day. The plaintiff and his wife,
Betty Curtis Harmon, of the second marriage, having been notified
that the court would set aside the previous divorce decree entered in
this cause, separated on 9 February 1956. Judge Campbell held that
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“service of process upon the defendant was not completed at the time
of the rendition of the judgment herein, that the same was improvi-
dently entered, and that such judgment should be set aside.” Judgment
was accordingly entered. However, the court in its discretion ordered
that notice of the institution of the action, with copy of the original
summons and verified complaint theretofore filed in the cause, be
mailed by the Clerk of the Superior Court of Mecklenburg County to
Mary Prime Harmon, defendant, at 160 South Drive, Miami Springs,
Florida, within five days after the entry of the order, “which notice
shall further notify said defendant that she is required to appear before
the Clerk of the Superior Court of Mecklenburg County, North Caro-
lina, at the courthouse of said county in Charlotte, North Carolina,
within thirty-five (35) days of the date of mailing said notice, and
answer or otherwise plead to the complaint in this action, or the plain-
tiff will apply to the court for the relief demanded in the complaint
herein.”

The defendant excepted to the refusal of the court to dismiss the
action. Later, however, she filed a verified answer in which she ad-
mitted that the plaintiff and defendant had lived separate and apart
for more than two years; but alleged in her further answer and defense,
as a bar to the relief sought by the plaintiff, that on or about 23 July
1955 and on numerous occasions thereafter the plaintiff had committed
adultery with Betty Curtis in Birmingham, Alabama, and Charlotte,
North Carolina.

This cause came on for trial at the May Term 1956 of the Superior
Court of Mecklenburg County. Issues were submitted to the jury and
answered as follows:

“1. Has the plaintiff been a resident of the State of North Carolina
for more than six months next preceding the institution of this
action?

Answer: Yes

“2. Were the plaintiff and defendant married as alleged in the com-
plaint?
Answer: Yes

“3. Have the plaintiff and defendant lived separate and apart from
each other for more than two years next preceding the institution
of this action, as alleged in the complaint?

Answer: Yes

“4, Did the plaintiff commit adultery, as alleged in the answer?

Answer: No.”

From the judgment entered on the verdiet the defendant appeals,
assigning error.
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John H. Small for plaintiff appellee.
Carpenter & Webb and Charles F. Coira, Jr., for defendant appellant,

DEennNy, J. The defendant’s 15th assignment of error is based on her
first exception which assigns as error the refusal of the court below to
dismiss the action in addition to setting aside the judgment entered on
26 April 1955. The court below, in its discretion, instead of dismissing
the action, ordered that service be completed in accordance with the
provisions of G.S. 1-99.2, and enlarged the time for answering.

A judge of the Superior Court, in a civil action, may “in his discre-
tion, and upon such terms as may be just, allow an answer or reply to
be made, or other act to be done, after the time limited, or by an order
may enlarge the time.” G.S. 1-152; Aldridge v. Insurance Co., 194
N.C. 683, 140 S.E. 706; Roberts v. Merritt, 189 N.C. 194, 126 S.E. 513;
McNair v. Yarboro, 186 N.C. 111, 118 S.E. 913.

Ordinarily, where a judge is vested with discretion, his doing or
refusing to do the act in question is not reviewable upon appeal. Alex-
ander v. Brown, 236 N.C. 212, 72 8.E. 2d 522; Church v. Church, 158
N.C. 564, 74 S.E. 14; Wilmington v. McDonald, 133 N.C. 548, 45 S.E.
864.

The defendant prevailed on her motion to set aside the judment on
the ground that service had not been completed or obtained on her at
the time the judgment complained of was entered. Hence, she had
nothing to appeal from at that time except the contention, wholly
without merit, that the court could not thereafter get service on her with-
out dismissing the action and requiring the plaintiff to reinstitute it.
Even so, the question the defendant seeks to have us determine with
respect to the failure to dismiss the action is now moot, since she has
made a general appearance, filed a verified answer, set up a plea in bar
and testified in her own behalf in the trial below.

G.S. 1-103 provides that, “A voluntary appearance of a defendant is
equivalent to personal service of summons upon him.” The filing of an
answer is equivalent to a general appearance, and a general appearance
waives all defects and irregularities in the process and gives the court
jurisdiction of the answering party even though there may have been no
service of summons. Harris v. Bennett, 160 N.C. 339, 76 S.E. 217;
Ashford v. Davis, 185 N.C. 89, 116 S.E. 162; Burton v. Smith, 191 N.C.
599, 132 S.E. 605; Abbitt v. Gregory, 195 N.C, 203, 141 S.E. 587; Ashe-
boro v. Miller, 220 N.C. 298, 17 S.E. 2d 105; In re Blalock, 233 N.C.
493, 64 S.E. 2d 848, 25 ALL.R. 2d 818. This assignment of error is
overruled,

The most serious question on this appeal is presented by the defend-
ant’s exception No. 16, on which she bases her assignment of error No. 3,
challenging the correctness of the following portion of his Honor’s
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charge to the jury: “The court charges you as a matter of law that
during the period that the judgment of absolute divorce was in full
force and effect and until it was set aside on February 10, 1956, the
relations between the plaintiff in this action and Betty Curtis would
not constitute adultery, unless you find from this evidence and by its
greater weight that during that interval of time the plaintiff knew that
his divorce decree was invalid, and that his continuing to live with
Betty Curtis was done in bad faith and at a time when he knew or
had sufficient ground or reasonable ground to know that he did not
have a valid divorce and that his marriage ceremony on July 23, 1955,
was ineffective and did not constitute a marriage between himself and
Betty Curtis.”

The textbook writers and the courts are in considerable disagreement
as to whether cohabitation, under circumstances such as this case pre-
sents, does or does not constitute adultery. There seems to be unanim-
ity among the authorities, however, that cohabitation pursuant to the
second marriage does constitute adultery if the parties to the second
marriage obtained the divorce decree through collusion and in bad
faith or by fraud. 8. v. Williams, 220 N.C. 445, 17 S.E. 2d 769, reversed
317 US. 287, 87 L. Ed. 279; s. ¢, 222 N.C. 609, 24 S.E. 2d 256; s. c.,
224 N.C. 183, 29 S.E. 2d 744, affirmed 325 U.S. 226, 89 L. Ed. 1577;
S. v. Whitcomb, 52 Towa 85, 2 N.W. 970; S. v. Watson, 21 R.1. 354, 39
A. 193, 78 Am. St. Rep. 871, affirmed in 179 U.S. 679, 45 L. Ed. 383.

The authorities also hold that where one party to a marriage obtains
a divorce by fraud and marries another who knows nothing about the
fraud and enters into the marriage in good faith, such innocent person
is not guilty of any wrongdoing. Or, if one who is married represents
that he is a single person and enters into a second marriage without
obtaining a divorce, he may be prosecuted for having lived with the
second spouse. 8. v. Cutshall, 109 N.C. 764, 14 S.E. 107, 26 Am. St.
Rep. 599.

In the last cited case, Clark, J., later Chief Justice, quoted with ap-
proval from the case of Alonzo v. The State, 15 Tex. App. 378, as
follows: “While it is true that to constitute adultery there must be a
joint physical act, it is certainly not true that there must be a joint
criminal intent. . . . While the criminal intent may exist in the mind
of one of the parties to the physical act, there may be no such intent in
the mind of the other party. One may be guilty, the other innocent
. . . So, if one of the parties was mistaken as to a matter of fact, after
exercising due care to ascertain the truth in relation to such fact, which
fact, had it been true, would have rendered the alleged criminal act
legal and innocent, the party so acting under such mistake of fact
would be innocent of crime.”
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In 17 Am. Jur., Divorce and Separation, section 463, page 380, it is
said: “Cohabitation pursuant to the second marriage after the annul-
ment constitutes adultery,” citing S. v. Watson, supra, and S. v. Whit-
comb, supra. (Emphasis added.)

We find in 27 C.J.S,, Divorce, section 56(3), page 599, the following:
“Since an absolute divorce dissolves the marriage tie, . . . subsequent,
intercourse between a former spouse and a third person does not con-
stitute adultery, provided a final decree has been rendered, and no fraud
was practiced to obtain it. A subsequent reversal of the decree does
not render the cohabitation under a second marriage before the reversal
adulterous,” citing Gordon v. Gordon, 141 111, 160, 30 N.E. 446, 33 Am.
St. Rep. 294, 21 L.R.A. 387; Bailey v. Bailey, 45 Hun. 278, affirmed
142 N.Y. 632, 37 N.E. 566.

Likewise, in this same volume, section 67, page 626, it is said: “Where
a wife, after having obtained a divorce, married and cohabits with her
second husband before her first husband moves to vacate the decree,
and the decree is vacated, the wife’s act in cohabiting with her second
husband does not constitute adultery so as to preclude her from obtain-
ing a divorce,” citing Chisholm v. Chisholin, 105 Fla. 402, 141 So. 302.

In the last cited case, the wife, after obtaining a divorce decree, mar-
ried and cohabited with another, but separated from the second husband
before her first husband moved to vacate the original decree. The orig-
inal decree was vacated. The court held in the second trial for divorce
from her first husband that her cohabitation with her second husband
may technically be regarded as bigamy but did not constitute adultery
such as would preclude her from obtaining a divorce.

In the case of Bailey v. Bailey, supra, the plaintiff instituted an
action for divorce against his wife on the grounds of her adultery. A
decree granting the plaintiff an absolute divorce was entered on 5 Feb-
ruary 1886, which decree expressly gave him the right to remarry.
From the judgment entered the defendant appealed. Plaintiff, without
awaiting disposition of the appeal, married another woman and there-
after cohabited with her until 17 September 1886, when he heard that
the court had decided to reverse the judgment. The court entered the .
order of reversal on 20 September 1886. The judgment was set aside
because the question of the sanity of the wife at the time the action was
instituted was raised. Her acts of adultery were proved beyond question.
The Court said, however, “The court certainly had full and complete
jurisdiction over the parties and the subject-matter of the action, and
there is not the slightest suggestion of any wrong by the plaintiff in
obtaining the judgment.” And further, “. . . wherever the law invites
an act, which would otherwise be unlawful, whether it be by express
general provisions or through a valid judgment which purports to ex-
press the law of the particular case, the acts of parties in pursuance
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thereof are not tllegal, and especially is connubial cohabitation, under
such circumstances, free from the charge of adultery.”

In Meyer v. Meyer, 343 111. App. 554, 99 N.E. 2d 706, it appears that
on 28 December 1942, Hester S. Meyer filed a complaint for divorce in
the Circuit Court of Cook County against her husband, Arthur Meyer,
on the ground of desertion. She alleged in her complaint that she was
a resident of Cook County and the State of Illinois. The defendant
filed an answer and a cross-complaint for divorce also on the ground
of desertion. On 18 January 1943 the husband was granted an absolute
divorce. Thereafter, on 1 May 1943, Arthur Meyer, relying on the
validity of the divorce decree, married Constance Arts. A child was
born to Meyer and Constance Arts on 9 June 1945. On 11 July 1944,
Hester S. Meyer filed a petition attacking the divorce on the ground
that the court lacked jurisdiction for the reason that neither she nor
Arthur Meyer was a citizen of Cook County at the time the action was
instituted and, therefore, she requested that the divorce decree be
expunged. Arthur Meyer moved in the lower court to dismiss the peti-
tion for want of equity, which was allowed. Mrs. Meyer appealed.
In the opinion filed 11 April 1946, the court reversed the order and
remanded the cause for a new trial with specific instructions. Meyer
v. Meyer, 328 I11. App. 408, 66 N.E. 2d 457. There the Court said that,
“The only question presented is whether plaintiff made out a prima
facie case on the proposition that the decree of divorce was null and
void for want of jurisdiction, her position being that neither of the
parties was a resident of the County of Cook at the time the divorce
proceeding was instituted, as required by the statute.”

Finally, after another appeal, reported in 333 Ill. App. 450, 77 N.E.
2d 556, an order was entered in the Circuit Court on 1 April 1948,
expunging the decree of divorce. Thereafter, it appears new pleadings
were filed in the pending action. Plaintiff set up the cohabitation of
the defendant with Constance Arts in bar of the relief sought by him in
the cross-complaint. The court found the plaintiff, Hester S. Meyer,
guilty of habitual drunkenness for the space of more than two years
prior to the filing of the cross-complaint and granted the defendant,
Arthur Meyer, an absolute divorce. The court said with respect to the
second marriage of the defendant, “That Arthur Meyer’s cohabitation
up to February 17, 1948, under his marriage of May 1, 1943 to Con-
stance Arts, was not adultery or bigamy, constituting a defense to his
complaint for divorece; . . .” See Smith v. Smith, 64 Iowa 682, 21 N.W.
137; Pratt v. Pratt, 157 Mass. 503, 32 N.E. 746, 21 L.R.A. 97.

No one contends that the bonds of the marriage between the plaintiff
and the defendant were dissolved by the judgment entered on 26 April
1954. The real question here, however, is this: Do the facts as re-
vealed on this record warrant the conclusion that the plaintiff’s conduct
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in marrying Betty Curtis and living with her as his wife until the day
before the decree of divorce entered on 26 April 1954 was set aside,
constitutes adultery? We would answer this question in the affirmative
without hesitation if the record disclosed any evidence of bad faith,
collusion or fraud on the part of the plaintiff, Harold D. Harmon, in
connection with the procurement of the divorce decree entered on
26 April 1954. 8. v. Williams, supra. But there is no such evidence.
He disclosed to the court in his affidavit the correct address of the
defendant, Mary Prime Harmon. He employed competent counsel to
represent him. He did what the law requires of a party when service
must be obtained by publication. Therefore, in our opinion, it would
be unfair and unjust to penalize this plaintiff when there is no evidence
of intentional wrong on his part. Consequently, from the facts dis-
closed on this record, the charge of the court below will be upheld.

A careful examination of the record discloses that sixteen of the
defendant's exceptions either have not been brought forward and as-
signed as error, or no reason or argument is stated, or authorities cited
in support of the assignments based thereon. Hence, these exceptions
and assignments of error will be taken as abandoned. Rule 28, Rules of
Practice in the Supreme Court, 221 N.C. 562. In our opinion, the
remaining exceptions and assignments of error present no question of
substantial merit that would justify us in disturbing the result of the
trial below.

In the trial below we find

No error.

Jornson, J., not sitting.

MARY ALICE DENNY, Guarprax oF THE E8TATE oF LOUISE HUFFINES
DENNY, MiNor, AND MARY ALICE DENNY, INpIviDUALLY, v. R. C.
COLEMAN, SR,, R. C. COLEMAN, JR., JOE COLEMAN, C. I, COLEMAN
AND MRS. HARRIET L. SIKES, TRADING AND DoINg BUSINESS AS
GREENSBORO TOBACCO WAREHOUSE COMPANY, anxp J. F. FUQUA,
ArLso Kvown as J. T. FUQUA,

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)
1., Torts § 5—

Where the acts of several persons concur in producing a single tortious
injury, the injured person may sue them either jointly or separately, not-
withstanding that their liability as between themselves may be primary
and secondary.
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2. Trover and Conversion § 2—

Each party participating in a wrongful conversion may be sued by the
owner without joinder of the others. since each is jointly and severally
liable.

8. Torts § 6—

Where the owner sues some of the parties participating in a tortious
conversion of his property and obtains judgment by default and inquiry,
regular in all respects, the original defendants are not entitled to bring in
the other tort-feasors as against plaintiff, and as between plaintiff and the
original defendants, the action is pending solely to determine the amount
of damages to be ascertained by the jury, G.8. 1-212, although the original
defendants may seek to enforce their right of contribution against the
other tort-feasors in the manner provided in G.8. 1-240.

Jounson, J., not sitting,

ArreaL by defendants R. C. Coleman, Sr., R. C. Coleman, Jr., Joe
Coleman, C. L. Coleman and Mrs. Harriet Sikes, trading and doing
business as Greensboro Tobacco Warehouse Company, from Rousseau,
J., September Term, 1956, of GuiLrorp (Greensboro Division).

This action was instituted in the Civil Division of the Greensboro
Municipal-County Court. Summons was issued on 21 March 1956 and
plaintiffs’ complaint was filed on 9 April 1956.

Plaintiffs allege that they rented to Ed Shearon for the 1955 agricul-
tural season a certain farm owned by them for a cash rental of $600.00;
that the said farm had a tobacco acreage allotment of 2.80 acres and
that a tobacco acreage allotment marketing card for said farm was
issued in the name of Mary Alice Denny; that the tenant Shearon culti-
vated a crop of tobacco on plaintiffs’ farm and that the tenant Shearon
and defendant Fuqua wrongfully obtained plaintiffs’ tobacco marketing
card from the Commodity Stabilization Service and sold the crop of
tobacco grown on plaintiffs’ land at the tobacco warehouse operated by
the defendants Coleman and associates; that the tenant Shearon and
defendant Fuqua received from the defendant Tobacco Warehouse
Company the net proceeds from the sale of said tobacco in the sum of
$896.10; that the tenant Shearon has paid to plaintiffs the sum of
$122.00 on his rent account, leaving a balance due plaintiffs of $478.00.

Plaintiffs further allege that under the provisions of G.S. 42-15 they
held a lien on all erops raised on their farm during the 1955 season and
that the defendants Coleman and associates wrongfully paid to Ed
Shearon and defendant Fuqua the proceeds of the tobacco raised on
plaintiffs’ farm and marketed by Ed Shearon and defendant Fuqua.

Before the time for answering expired, the defendant Fuqua filed with
the court an unverified motion, praying that Ed Shearon be made a



92 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

DEXNY v. COLEMAN,

party defendant. This motion has never been heard and is still pend-
ing in the Municipal-County Court.

Appellants failed to file any answer or other pleadings within the time
allowed by law and no extension of time in which to file such pleadings
was ever requested or granted by the court.

After the time for answering had expired, the judge of the Municipal-
County Court entered a judgment by default and inquiry against the
appellants. After the time for appealing from the entry of the judg-
ment by default and inquiry had expired, appellants filed with the
court their unverified motion, praying that said Shearon be made a
party defendant as a proper and necessary party, and sought to adopt
as their own the motion filed by their co-defendant Fuqua.

Upon the hearing of the inquiry as to damages and appellants’ mo-
tion, the judge of the Municipal-County Court overruled the appellants’
motion and awarded judgment in favor of the appellees in the sum of
$478.00, with interest.

Appellants appealed to the Superior Court from the judgment of the
Municipal-County Court. At the hearing on their motion in the Supe-
rior Court before his Honor J. A, Rousseau, they offered no evidence
of any nature in support thereof and admitted in open court that they
were not entitled to have the judgment by default and inquiry set aside.
Judge Rousseau denied appellants’ motion to make Ed Shearon a party
defendant to the action. Judgment was accordingly entered and the
above named defendants appeal, assigning error.

Chas. M. Ivey, Jr., for appellees.
Andrew Joyner, Jr., for appellants.

Denny, J. A plaintiff may sue joint tort-feasors either jointly or
separately. MclIntosh, North Carolina Practice and Procedure, 2nd
Edition, Volume 1, section 584, page 293; Charnock v. Taylor, 223
N.C. 360, 26 S.E. 2d 911, 148 A.L.R. 1126; Godfrey v. Power Co., 223
N.C. 647, 27 S.E. 2d 736, 149 A L.R. 1183; Jones v. Elevator Co., 231
N.C. 285, 56 S.E. 2d 684.

Melntosh, supra, section 584, page 343, states: “. . . when the acts
of defendants concur to produce a single injury, thus making them joint
tort-feasors, plaintiff may sue them jointly or separately. He has the
same option when two defendants are both liable to him in tort, though,
as between themselves, their liability is primary and secondary.”

In 53 Am. Jur., Trover and Conversion, sections 155 and 156, page
929, et seq., it is said: ‘“Although one of several tort-feasors may be
held liable for the full amount of damages for a conversion in which he
has participated, and it is not necessary to join the others, there is joint
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and several liability on the part of several persons participating in a
conversion . . .

“Tt is clear that it is not necessary to join the original converter of
the property with a subsequent purchaser in an action against the latter
for a wrongful conversion of the property.”

Ordinarily, in an action arising out of a joint tort, wherein judgment
may be rendered against two or more persons, who are jointly and
severally liable, and not all of the joint tort-feasors have been made
parties, those who have been made parties may at any time before
judgment, upon motion, have the other joint tort-feasors brought in
and made parties defendant in order to determine and enforce contri-
bution. G.8S. 1-240; Godfrey v. Power Co., supra; Freeman v. Thomp-
son, 216 N.C, 484, 5 S.E. 2d 434.

The motion to make an additional party, in the instant case, however,
was not made until after a judgment by default and inquiry had been
entered, a judgment which these appellants concede is valid and which
they are not entitled to have set aside. Therefore, nothing is left open
for further inquiry in this action, as between the plaintiffs and the
appellants, except the amount of damages to be ascertained by the jury.
G.S. 1-212; Wilson v. Chandler, 238 N.C. 401, 78 S.E. 2d 155; DeHoff
v. Black, 206 N.C. 687, 175 S.E. 179; Muitchell v. Ahoskie, 190 N.C. 235,
129 S.E. 626; Armstrong v. Asbury, 170 N.C. 160, 86 3.I2. 1038; Plumb-
ing Co. v. Hotel, 168 N.C. 577, 84 S.E. 1008; Blow v. Joyner, 156 N.C.
140, 72 S.E. 319.

G.S. 1-240 authorizes defendants in tort actions to bring in other
joint tort-feasors hefore judgment in order that their mutual contingent
liabilities may be litigated “before they have accrued, Lackey v. R. Co.,
219 N.C. 195, 13 S.E. 2d 234, so that all matters in controversy growing
out of the same subject of action may be settled in one action, Freeman
v. Thompson, 216 N.C. 484, 5 S.E. 2d 434, though the plaintiff in the
action may be thus delayed in securing his remedy.” Ewvans v. Johnson,
225 N.C. 238, 34 S.E. 2d 73. However, when a plaintiff has elected to
sue one or more joint tort-feasors, but not all of them, the others are
not necessary parties and the plaintiff cannot be compelled to pursue
them. Charnock v. Taylor, supra.

In our opinion, when joint tort-feasors, who have been sued in an
action, fail to file an answer to a complaint that states a good cause of
action, and the plaintiffs obtain a judgment by default and inquiry,
which is regular in all respects, a motion, lodged thereafter, to bring in
other joint tort-feasors so as to determine liability for contribution as
between themselves, comes too late, and we so hold. Such defendants
may, however, seek to enforce their right to econtribution in the manner
provided in G.S. 1-240.
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The cases of Beard v. Sovereign Lodge, 184 N.C. 154, 113 S.E. 661,
and Strickland v. Shearon, 193 N.C. 599, 137 S.E. 803, cited and relied
upon by the appellants, are not in point. These cases involve motions
to set aside judgments based on facts wholly unrelated to the factual
situation on the present appeal.

The judgment of the court below is

Affirmed.

JornsoN, J., not sitting.

WILLIAM HENRY TYNDALL anp Wirg, VESTA GENORA TYNDALL, .

R. F. TYNDALL axp WirFgE, CARRIE TYNDALL, P. A. TYNDALL axp
WIFE, MABLE TAYLOR TYNDALL, SMITHIE MAY TYNDALIL axp
HussaNp, FARL TYNDALL, anp HATTIE TYNDALL DAIL axn Hus-
BAND, A, B. DAIL,

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

Vendor and Purchaser § 18—Where vendors refuse to give information

peculiarly within their knowledge as to the purchase price, tender is
unnecessary.

A contract to convey was predicated upon the purchaser's payment of
one-fifth the encumbrances on the land and one-fifth the medical, hos-
pital and funeral expenses of the vendors’ grantors, who had reserved a
life estate in themselves. Evidence of the contract and its due execution
and that the purchaser, prior to the mnale grantor's death, requested infor-
mation as to the amount due and was met by threat of assault, that less
than a year afrer the male grantor’s death, he requested statement of the
amount due and received no response, and that thereafter the vendors sold
to a stranger, is sufficient to repel nonsuit, since the evidence discloses that
tender may have been useless, in which event it is not required by law.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting,
PARkER and BossIirr, JJ., dissent.

APPEAL by plaintiffs from Bone, J., 13 February, 1956 Civil Term,
LeNoir Superior Court.

Civil action instituted 6 July, 1954, to recover damages for the
alleged breach of the following contract:

“Tra1s AGREEMENT, made this 22nd day of November 1938, by and
between R. F. Tyndall and wife, Carrie Tyndall, P. A. Tyndall
and wife, Mable Tyndall, Smithy May Tyndall and husband, Earl
Tyndall, and Hattie Tyndall Dail and husband, A. B. Dail, all of
the County of Lenoir and State of North Carolina, partics of the
first part, and Henry Tyndall and wife, Vesta Tyndall of the
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County of Lenoir and State of North Carolina, party of the second
part;

“WirNessETH: That whereas A. E. Tyndall and wife, Emma Tyn-
dall, have this day executed and delivered a deed of Gift to the
parties of the first part, for and in consideration of the assumption
by the said parties of the first part as Grantees under said deed,
of the mortgage indebtedness due against the Homeplace of A. E.
Tyndall and wife, Emma Tyndall, and the further assumption by
the parties of the first part of all medical, hospitalization and
burial expenses of the said A. E. Tyndall and wife, Emma Tyndall.
And Whereas the party of the second part was financially unable
to assume or pay his proportionate part of the said debts and
future debts which may be incurred and whereas the said first
parties to this Agreement desire that the said second party have
an opportunity to acquire a one-fifth interest in said lands this day
conveyed to the first parties only.

“Now, THEREFORE, In consideration of the sum of $1.00 and other
valuables the parties of the first part contract and agree with the
party of the second part that upon the death of A. E. Tyndall and
wife, Emma Tyndall, or at anytime prior thereto that the party
of the second part pays a one-fifth part of all indebtedness now
existing against the lands belonging to Emma Tyndall and pays
a one-fifth part to all medieal, hospitalization and funeral expenses
which may hereafter be incurred by A. E. Tyndall and Emma
Tyndall. That the parties of the first part will convey by deed
to the second party herein a one-fifth undivided interest in said
lands and it is understood and agreed by and between all the
parties to this Agreement that in the event any party whether
Grantee under the deed hereinbefore referred to or otherwise fails
to pay his or her one-fifth part of all mortgage indebtedness, taxes,
insurance, medical, hospitalization or funeral expenses which may
be incurred now or hereafter by A. E. Tyndall and Emma Tyndall
that such party will divest himself or herself by deed of his interest
in said lands belonging to Emma Tyndall to such other parties to
this Agreement who may pay their proportionate part of said
expenses.

“To THE TRUE AND Fairarur PERFORMANCE of the above stipula-
tions the parties of the first part and the party of the second part
have hereunto set their hands and seals the day and year first
above written.”

The contract was under seal and its execution duly acknowledged by
all parties. The deed of gift referred to was executed by A. E. Tyndall
and wife, Emma Tyndall, conveying described lands to their four chil-
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dren other than the plaintiff, William Henry Tyndall. Emma Tyndall
died in 1939. A. E. Tyndall died in May, 1953. Each reserved a life
estate in the lands conveyed.

The plaintiff, William Henry Tyndall, testified in substance that he
requested R. F. Tyndall (who acted for all defendants) for information
as to the amount of encumbrances on the land and the amount of
expenses that he had paid. This inquiry was made before the death of
A. E. Tyndall. The inquiry was met by a threat of assault with a
deadly weapon.

On 20 October, 1953, the plaintiffs served written notice an all
defendants that they had elected to take under the contract and that
they were ready, able and willing to pay one-fifth of the encumbrances
and expenses, and requested statement of the amount due. To this
notice there was no response. The plaintiffs introduced in evidence the
admission in the defendants’ answer that they had sold the entire tract
of land to Rex Howard for $18,600. The evidence disclosed that the
encumbrances amounted to about $1,300. The amount of other expenses
incurred by the defendants is undisclosed.

The defendants admit the execution of the contract but set up as a
defense (1) the contract was without consideration, (2) the plaintiffs
failed to comply with the terms by paying or tendering any part of the
encumbrances and expenses, (3) the re-assignment of the one-fifth
interest by Rex Howard to the plaintiffs was a sham and made for the
purpose of instituting this action.

At the close of the plaintiffs’ evidence, judgment of nonsuit was
entered, from which the plaintiffs appealed.

Lamar Jones and J. Harvey Turner, for plaintiffs, appellants.
Jones, Reed & Griffin for defendants, appellees.

Hiceins, J. The only question presented by the appeal is the suffi-
ciency of the evidence to survive the motion for nonsuit. The plaintiffs
introduced the written contract. Their evidence tended to show that
Emma Tyndall died in 1939 and E. A, Tyndall died in May, 1953.
Before Tyndall’s death the plaintiffs requested of R. F. Tyndall infor-
mation as to the amount of encumbrances and expenses, and by way of
reply received a threat of an assault with a deadly weapon.

The plaintiffs, on 20 October, 1953, served written notice on all
defendants of their election to take their one-fifth share provided in
the contract and that they were ready, able and willing to make the
payments required. They asked for a statement of the amount thereof.
The defendants did not reply to the notice. The contract provided for
payment at the death of A. E. Tyndall and Emma Tyndall. The
amount due for hospital, doctor bills and burial expenses could not be
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determined until after the death of the survivor. William Henry Tyn-
dall testified he made the request for information as to amount paid
and the request was met with a threat of violence. The plaintiffs werc
entitled to the information requested. If was within the peculiar
knowledge of the defendants. Their refusal may be considered evidence
of their intention not to comply. Their sale and conveyance of the land,
according to their own admission, after the plaintiffs’ request for the
statement had been refused, may also be considered as evidence of their
intention not to comply. Where tender is obviously useless, it is unnec-
essary. Millikan v. Simmons, 244 N.C. 1853, 93 S.E. 2d 59; Bank v.
Supply Co., 226 N.C. 416, 38 S.E. 2d 503; McAden v. Craig, 222 N.C.
497, 24 S.E. 2d 1; Chesson v. Container Co., 215 N.C. 112, 1 S.E. 2d
357; Gaylord v. McCoy, 161 N.C. 685, 77 S.E. 959.

It may be noted the contract required the plaintiffs to pay “a one-
fifth part to all medical, hospitalization and funeral expenses which
may hereafter be incurred by A. E. Tyndall and Emma Tyndall.” 1t
is possible that final determination of the amount of such expenses
incurred by A. E. Tyndall could not be ascertained with certainty until
claims were filed in the course of administering his estate. The contract
does not seem to require installment payments on the part of the plain-
tiffs, at least in the absence of a demand. For these reasons it appears
not to have been contemplated by the contracting parties that payments
should be made eo instante the death of the surviving parent.

The plaintiffs introduced the contract, evidence of its execution, fail-
ure to perform on the part of the defendants, and damages resulting.
Taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, they
are entitled to have the jury pass on the issues of fact involved. Of
course, the defendants will have equal opportunity to present their
defenses, including their challenge to the validity of the reassignment
by Rex Howard. The judgment of nonsuit entered by the Superior
Court of Lenoir County is

Reversed.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

Parker and BosriTT, JJ., dissent.

4—245
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E. L. LOWIE & COMPANY v. R. T. ATKINS, TrapiNe As ATKINS OIL
COMPANY.

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 19—

Assignments of error may not be filed initially in the Supreme Court
but must be filed in the trial court and certified with the case on appeal,
G.S. 1-282, and assignments not so supported by the record will not be
considered. Rule of Practice in the Supreme Court No. 19(3).

2, Same—

An assignment of error must disclose the question sought to be presented
without the necessity of going beyond the assignment itself. Rule of Prac-
tice in the Supreme Court No. 21,

3. Appeal and Error § 21—

An appeal is itself an exception to the judgment, presenting the question

whether error of luw appears upon the face of the record.
4, Same—

An exception to the judgment must fail if the record proper fails to
disclose error, and where the judgment is supported by the verdict, errors
in matters of law do not appear upon the face of the record.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting,

ArPEAL by defendant from Bickett, J., at April 1956 Term, of
JOHNSTON.

Civil action to recover on contract for merchandise sold and deliv-
ered.

Defendant in answer filed denied indebtedness, and set up further
defense which upon motion was stricken. And upon trial in Superior
Court both plaintiff and defendant offered evidence,—defendant taking
exception to denial of motions for nonsuit. Two issues were submitted
to the jury, and were answered as here indicated: “(1) Did the plain-
tiff and defendant enter into a contract, as alleged in the complaint?
Answer: Yes. (2) In what sum, if any, is the defendant indebted to
the plaintiff? Answer: $1723.36.”

Thereupon and in accordance therewith judgment was signed and
entered, to which defendant excepted, and appeals to Supreme Court,
and assigns error.

Wood & Spence for Plaintiff Appellee.
Lyon & Lyon for Defendant Appellant.

WinsorNE, C. J. At the outset, while defendant entered exceptions
Numbers 12 and 37, respectively, to the action of the trial court in
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denying his motions for judgment as of nonsuit made first when plain-
tiff rested its case, and renewed at the close of all the evidence, there is
no assignment of error based on these exceptions. Hence they will be
deemed to be abandoned. Rule 19(3) of Rules of Practice in Supreme
Court, 221 N.C. 544, at 554.

In this connection it is noted that appellant debates in his brief these
two exceptions. Suffice it to say, as declared in S. v. Dew, 240 N.C. 595,
83 S.E. 2d 482, assignments of error may not be filed, in the first in-
stance, in this Court. They must be filed in the trial court and certified
with the casc on appeal. G.S. 1-282. Therefore these exceptions here
present no question for this Court to consider and decide.

Morcover, there appear in the record of case on appeal approximately
forty-one other exceptions, referred to mainly by number, grouped
under heading “AssicxMENT: OF ERroR,” none of which is sufficient in
form to present the error relied upon without the necessity of going
beyond the assignment itself to learn what the question 1s, as is required
by Rule 21 of the Rules of Practice in Supreme Court. See Steelman
v. Benfield, 228 N.C. 651, 46 S.E. 2d 829, and cases cited. Sece also
Tillis v. Cotton Mills, 244 N.C. 587; Armstrong v. Howard, 244 N.C.
598. Again it may be noted in respect to these exceptions that assign-
ments of error may not be filed, in the first instance, in this Court. S. 2.
Dew, supra.

But Exeception 44 purports to be directed to the entry of the judgment.
And an exception to the judgment rendered raises the question as to
whether error in law appears upon the face of the record. Indeed the
appeal to the Supreme Court is itself an exception to the judgment, or
to any other matter of law appearing upon the face of the record. See
Lea v. Bridgeman, 228 N.C. 565, 46 S.I5. 2d 555; Culbreth v. Britt, 231
N.C. 76, 56 S.E. 2d 15, and cascs cited; also (ibson v, Ins. Co., 232 N.C.
712, 62 S.E. 2d 320; Duke v. Campbell, 233 N.C. 262, 63 S.E. 2d 555;
In Re Blalock, 233 N.C. 493, 64 S.E. 2d 848; S. v. Sloan, 238 N.C. 672,
78 S.E. 2d 738; Barnette v. Woody, 242 N.C. 424, 88 S.E. 2d 223;
Cannon v. Wilmington, 242 N.C. 711, 89 S.E. 2d 595.

In Lea v. Bridgeman, supra, opinion by Ervin, J., it is said: “The
exceptions to the judgment present only the question as to whether
error appears upon the face of the record, and the exceptions must fail
if the judgment is supported by the record,” citing cascs.

The record, in the sense here used, refers to the essential parts of the
record, such as the pleadings, verdiet and judgment. See Thornton v.
Brady, 100 N.C. 38, 5 S.E. 910, and citations of it as shown in Shepard’s
North Carolina Citations. And a judgment, in its ordinary acceptation,
is the conclusion of the law upon facts admitted or in some way estab-
lished. Gibson v. Ins. Co., supra. Hence in the light of these princi-
ples, applied to the case in hand, manifestly the judgment is supported
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by the verdict. And error in matters of law upon the face of the record
are not made to appear.

For reasons stated there is in the judgment from which appeal is
taken

No error.

Jouxson, J., not sitting.

WILLBURN H. SCOTT v. BURLINGTON MILLS CORPORATION.
(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

Master and Servant § 6f: Pleadings § 19b—

A complaint alleging plaintift’s wrongful and malicious discharge from
his job and wrongful blacklisting by defendant employer, but failing to
allege that the discharge was in breach of any contract of employment,
fails to state a cause of action tor wrongful termination of the employ-
ment, since without a contract of employment a discharge is not wrongful,
and therefore the complaint is not demurrable on the ground that it joined
a cause of action.for wrongful discharge with an action for blacklisting.
G.S. 14-355.

Jounsox, J., not sitting.
DENNY, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

AppeaL by plaintiff from Preyer, J., 30 April, 1956 Term, GUILFORD.

The complaint alleges (a) the residence of plaintiff, the corporate
existence of defendant, and the location of its mills in North Carolina;
(b) that plaintiff had worked for defendant for eight years prior to
6 January, 1955, and because of such length of service was paid extra
compensation when working for defendant; (c¢) that plaintiff was an
expert weaver and when at work earned $180 every two weeks.

Section 7 of the complaint alleges:

“That on the 6th day of January, 1955, through malice and ill will
and for the purpose of making an example of the plaintiff, the said
plaintiff was fired from his said job as a weaver and although the plain-
tiff had been working for the defendant for a period of eight years
straight, his termination paper was marked ‘unsatisfactory work.” That
such layoff paper, or discharge paper, was false. That the said defend-
ant used this plaintiff as a ‘guinea pig’ to try to scare and coerce other
weavers whose records were not as good as this plaintiff’s and such
discharge was malicious and entered into wrongfully and in violation of
the General Statutes of North Carolina.”
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Section 8 of the complaint alleges:

“That the said defendant has blacklisted the plaintiff and, although
he 1s an expert weaver of silk and rayon, every place he has applied
for a job refused to employ the plaintiff when inquiry is made and the
said Burlington Mills report to the weavers trade that the work of the
plaintiff was unsatisfactory. That such blacklisting is false, untruc
and has caused this plaintiff great distress in body and in mind and has
caused him to lose his earnings and also his right to work; and the
said defendant, by word of mouth, through its agent and by its false
entry in regard to the work of the plaintiff, has prevented the plaintiff
from securing work of the same kind at other plants, and in particu-
larly at other plants of this defendant in the State of North Carolina.
That the conduct of the defendant is in direct violation of the General
Statutes of North Carolina, Section 14-355, and this suit is brought
against the defendant as provided under said section and this plaintiff
is entitled to recover penal damage in a civil action against the said
defendant.

“That by reason of the defendant wrongfully blacklisting this plain-
tiff and by word of mouth and by written communication, the defendant
has prevented this plaintiff from securing work; he has been wrong-
fully and maliciously discharged from his job.”

Plaintiff alleges that he has sustained damages in the amount of
$25,000.

Defendant demurred to the complaint for that “there is a misjoinder
of causes of action in that the complaint attempts to allege an action
for wrongful discharge and an action for blacklisting in the same com-
plaint against this defendant.”

The demurrer was sustained and the action dismissed. Plaintiff
appealed.

H. F. Seawell, Jr., for plaintiff appellant.
Brooks, McLendon, Brim & Holderness for defendant appellee.

Per Curiam. The complaint nowhere alleges that the discharge was
in breach of any contract of employment. Without such contract, a
discharge is not wrongful. No cause of action has been stated because
of the termination of the employment. May v. Power Co., 216 N.C.
439, 5 S.E. 2d 308; Howell v. Credit Corp., 238 N.C. 442, 78 S.E. 2d
146. As only one cause of action is alleged, the judgment sustaining
the demurrer is

Reversed.

Jounson, J., not sitting,
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DENNY, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

STATE v. NATHANIEL EDDIE DUNN.

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)
Narcotics § 2—

Evidence that there was found in the glove compartment of defendant’s
car a glass tumbler, three hypodermic needles, a hypodermic syringe, gauze,
and a small bottle of water labeled for use in injections, without tinding
any habit forming drugs and without evidence that the articles had been
used or were possessed for the purpose of administering habit forming
drugs, is insuflicient to be submitted to the jury in a prosecution under
G.S. 90-108.

JOHNBON, J., not sitting.

ArpEAL by defendant from Williams, J., May Criminal Term, 1956,
of CUMBERLAND.

Criminal prosecution on bill of indictment charging that defendant,
on 2 January, 1956, “unlawfully, willfully and feloniously did have
and possess a hypodermic syringe and needle adapted for the use of
habit forming drugs by subcutaneous injections, and which was pos-
sessed for the purpose of administering habit forming drugs, in violation
of N. C. General Statute 90-108, . . .” (Italics added.)

Upon the jury’s verdict of guilty as charged, judgment was pro-
nounced imposing prison sentence. Defendant excepted and appealed,
assigning errors.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton
for the State.

Nance, Barrington & Collter for defendant, appellant.

Per CuriaMm. Defendant played the saxophone in the DeLesa Club
band. While driving home, about 3:35 a.m., he “ran’ a stop sign and
shortly thereafter failed to stop for a red light. A State Highway
Patrolman observed him, “blew his siren on him,” and defendant
stopped. Defendant exhibited his operator’s license and registration
card. He was arrested, indicted and tried for said traffic violations.

With defendant’s permission, the officer searched defendant’s car.
He found in the glove compartment a glass tumbler, three hypodermic
needles, a hypodermic syringe, gauze, and & small bottle of water
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labeled “water for injections, used for the preparation of solutions for
injections.” No habit forming drugs were found.

The officer testified: “I asked the defendant what he was doing with
that (the articles) in his car. He stated first that it was for penicillin,
and I asked him the second time, and he stated that he did not even
know it was in there.” According to the officer’s testimony, defendant
stated further that he frequently permitted others to use his car.

The testimony of defendant tended to exculpate him. According to
defendant, the officer asked him: “What do you do with this?” And
his answer was, “Looks like you use it for penicillin”; because it looked
like the same thing used when he was given injections in the army.

The only character evidence was to the effect that defendant’s gen-
eral reputation in the community was good.

There is no evidence that defendant knew that these articles were in
the glove compartment unless an inference of such knowledge may be
drawn from the fact that they were there. Be that as it may, there is
no evidence that these articles had been used or were possessed for the
purpose of administering habit forming drugs.

The evidence, when considered in the light most favorable to the
State, as the Attorney-General rightly concedes, does nothing more
than raise a suspicion that defendant may be guilty of the offence
charged.

The defendant’s motion for judgment of nonsuit, aptly made at the
close of all the evidence (G.S. 15-173), should have been allowed.
Hence, the judgment of the court below is

Reversed.

Jouxson, J., not sitting.

VALLIE FULK THORPE v. ROBERT 0. BURNS axp MARY H. BURNS 1/
TERMINIX COMPANY OF NORTH CAROLINA.

(Filed 28 November, 1956.)
Courts § 4b—

Where the record supports the finding that notice of appeal to the
Superior Court from a municipal-county court was not given within the
time required by statute, order of the Superior Court affirming the judg-
ment of the municipal-county court and dismissing the appeal will be
sustained.

Jorxson, J.. not sitting.
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AppeAL by defendants from Preyer, J., 9 January, 1956 Civil Term,
GuiLrorp Superior Court.

Civil action instituted in the Municipal-County Court, Guilford
County, on 7 July, 1955, for the recovery of $330.53 damages for breach
of contract. The defendants did not answer, though duly served with
summons and copies of the complaint. Judgment by default and
inquiry was entered 16 August, 1955, and on 1 September, 1955, the
court, after hearing evidence, on the inquiry as to amount of damages,
adjudged the plaintiff recover of the defendant the sum of $330.53. On
1 September, 1955, the day of the inquiry, “without notice or knowing
of the default judgments already entered in the cause, the defendants
forwarded to the Municipal-County Court and caused to be filed . . .
answer to the plaintiff’s complaint.” From the judgment on the inquiry,
the defendants appealed to the Superior Court of Guilford County.

In the Superior Court the plaintiff filed a motion to dismiss the
appeal on the ground, among others, that answer had not been filed and
that notice of appeal was not timely given. Judge Preyer, after hear-
ing, found facts in accordance with the plaintiff’s motion and on 8 Feb-
ruary, 1956, signed judgment affirming the judgment of the Municipal-
County Court and dismissing the appeal. The defendants appealed to
this Court, assigning errors.

Shuping & Shuping for plaintiff, appellee.
George M. Anderson for defendants, appellants.

Per CuriaMm. The record supports the findings of Judge Preyer that
notice of appeal to the Superior Court was not given within the time
required by the statute. The order affirming the judgment of the
Municipal-County Court and dismissing the appeal from that court
was warranted by the findings and is in accordance with law.

Appeal dismissed.

JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

STATE v. OSCAR HOLDER (AND OTHERS NOT APPEALING).
(Filed 28 November, 1956.)

APpeAL by defendant Oscar Holder from Gwyn, J., at 6 February,
1956, Criminal Term of GUILFORD.
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Criminal prosecution upon bill of indictment No. 4140 charging de-
fendants Oscar Holder and Roxie Holder, altas Roxie Cumbee, with
felonious assault upon one E. H, Hennis, with a deadly weapon, to wit,
a certain rock, with intent to kill, inflicting serious injury, not resulting
in death, consolidated for trial with other bills of indictment, including
No. 4139 charging E. H. Hennis with assault upon Oscar Holder with
a deadly weapon.

Upon trial in Superior Court the case was submitted to the jury upon
evidence offered, and under the charge of the court.

Verdict in No. 4140: Both defendants are guilty of assault with
deadly weapon.

Judgment: As to defendant Roxie Holder, alias Roxie Cumbee,
prayer for judgment continued; and as to defendant Oscar Holder,
judgment is that he be confined in common jail of Guilford County
for the term of twelve (12) months, to be assigned to work under super-
vision of the State Highway and Public Works Commission.

Defendant Oscar Holder appeals therefrom to Supreme Court and
assigns error.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Love for
the State.
Adam Younce and T. Glenn Henderson for Defendant Appellant.

Per CuriaMm. The evidence offered upon the trial below taken in the
light most favorable to the State, is abundantly sufficient to take the
case to the jury, and to support the verdict returned by the jury, on
which judgment rests.

And upon consideration of all exceptions taken in the course of the
trial, and to the charge of the court, as a whole, prejudicial error is not
made to appear. Hence in the judgment from which appeal is taken
there is

No error,

Jounson, J., not sitting.
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ODELL WEAVIL, ApMINISTRATOR OF DENNIS FREEMONT WEAVIL, DeC'p,,
v. C. W. MYERS TRADING POST, INCORPORATED.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)
1. Automobiles § 10—

A motorist is required, in the exercise of reasonable care, to keep a
proper lookout in his direction of travel, and while he is not required to
anticipate that a truck will be standing on the highway without flares or
other warning signs of danger prescribed by statute, he remains under duty
to proceed as a reasonably prudent person would under the circumstances
to avoid collision with the rear of such truck.

2. Automobiles § 89—

A red light is recognized by common usage as a method of giving warning
of danger during hours of darkness, and a driver is required in the exercise
of due care, upon seeing a red light, to heed its warning and reduce his
speed.

8. Automobiles § 8—Whether red flashing lights were turn-signal lights
held for jury upon the evidence in this case.

The evidence disclosed that the main lighting fuse in defendant’s truck
blew out, that the driver stopped the truck and immediately knocked on
the flashing red signal lights on the front and rear of the left of the truck,
which lights were round without signal arrows. There was no evidence
that the signal device was of a type approved by the Department of Motor
Vehicles. G.S. 20-154. Held: Plaintiff’s contention that the truck gave the
statutory left-turn signal is not supported by the evidence, and the con-
flicting contentions of the parties upon the evidence as to whether the red
signal lights flashing on and off were sufficient to indicate a left turn or
merely indicated the presence of the vehicle on the highway at that par-
ticular point, were properly submitted to the jury in the charge of the
court.

4. Automobiles § 14—Right of driver of following vehicle to pass to the
right ot a vehicle in front of him on highway.

Notwithstanding the provisions of G.8. 20-149, a following vehicle may
pass a vehiele in front of it on the highway on its right side when the
driver of the front vehicle has given a clear signal of his intention to make
a left turn and has left sufficient space to the right to permit the overtaking
vehicle to pass in safety, and the circumstances are such that ordinary
care dictates such course in order to avoid a collision, But this rule does
not apply when the driver of the front vehicle has stopped and given no
clear signal of his intention to make a left turn, but merely has red lights
flashing on and off on the left rear and left front of his vehicle, in which
instance the driver of the overtaking vehicle, in the exercise of due care,
should approach with his automobile under control and reduce his speed or
stop, if necessary, to avoid injury,

5. Automobiles § 46—

The charge of the court upon the evidence in this case as to whether
flashing signal lights on the left rear and left front of defendant’s station-
ary truck were left-turn signals or merely warning signals of the presence
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of the truck on the highway, together with the law applicable to the duty
of a motorist approaching from the rear of such vehicle, is held without
error.

6. Automobiles § 10—

The charge of the court on the rule that the inability of a motorist,
traveling within the statutory maximum speed, to stop before hitting a
stationary vehicle without lights ahead of him on the highway, is not con-
tributory negligence per se, is held without error, construing the charge
contextually. G.S. 120-141(e).

%7. Appeal and Error § 19—

An assignment of error must present a single question of law for consid-
eration by the Court.

8. Appeal and Error § 42—
A charge must be read as a composite whole and not disjointedly.

JOoHN8ON, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by plaintiff from Patton, Special Judge, June Term 1956 of
ForsyTH.

Civil action by administrator to recover damages for an alleged
wrongful death.

The jury found for its verdict that plaintiff’s intestate was killed by
the actionable negligence of the defendant, and that plaintiff’s intestate
by his own negligence contributed to his death. Judgment was rendered
in accordance with the verdict.

From the judgment, plaintiff excepts and appeals.

Deal, Hutchins & Minor for Plaintiff, Appellant.
Jordan & Wright for Defendant, Appellee.

ParkER, J. This is the second time this case has been before the
Court. The first appeal was from a judgment sustaining a demurrer to
the complaint. The judgment was reversed. Weavil v. Myers, 243
N.C. 386, 90 S.E. 2d 733.

The plaintiff has appealed a second time, and his assignments of
error, except formal ones, are to the charge of the court alone.

About 7:00 p.m. on 26 November 1954, a dark night, Zachary Battle,
an employee of defendant and on his employer’s business, with Eugene
Davis riding with him, was driving to Winston-Salem on State Highway
No. 311 at a speed of about 35 miles per hour, a truck of the defendant
loaded with lumber about 10 feet high. The truck was a 1949 Reo with
a 20 feet bed on it, steel trimmings, and a flat wooden floor. According
to a witness for the plaintiff, the load of lumber extended 5 feet or more
behind and beyond the body of the truck. Neither a red flag nor a red
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light was displayed at the end of the load. The end of the load had no
reflectors. Zachary Battle and Eugene Davis were the only eye wit-
nesses to the collision, except plaintiff’s intestate. Battle and Davis
were examined adversely by plaintiff before trial, and at the trial plain-
tiff introduced their examinations in evidence. The head lights, tail
lights and clearance lights worked on the same fuse. As Battle was
driving along the road with his head lights, tail lights and clearance
lights on, the main fuse blew out, and his head lights, tail lights and
clearance lights went out. Battle stopped the truck in about two of its
lengths. When the truck stopped, Battle saw no lights of a car ap-
proaching from the rear or meeting him from the front.

The truck had a signal light on each front fender, and two signal
lights on the rear of the truck, one on each side. ‘“The signal lights were
on the frame of the truck, right on the side . . . they were flush with
the back end of the steel bed.” The signal lights were on a different
fuse from the head lights, tail lights and clearance lights. The signal
lights could only be turned on by knocking them on, and could only be
turned on one side at the same time.

When the truck stopped, Battle immediately knocked on his left-turn
signal lights, because he did not know where his truck was on the high-
way, but did know the left-hand side of it was farther on the highway
than its right-hand side. He also testified he knocked on the left-turn
signal lights, so people coming could have some light. He further testi-
fied he did not intend to turn to the left with his stopped truck, although
a left-turn signal indicates a left turn: “that is what it is supposed to
be.” Before the truck stopped, Eugene Davis jumped off it with a flare,
ran down the highway in front of it about 200 feet, and placed the flare
on the highway. As he started back to the truck the collision occurred.
Davis testified that before the collision occurred he saw the truck’s left-
turn signals flashing for a left turn. Battle got a flare, and, as he was
getting out of the truck, he saw a flash of light in his rear view mirror,
heard something “rip” that sounded like brakes, and an automobile
driven by plaintiff’s intestate crashed into and under the rear of the
truck. That was about a minute after the truck’s head lights, tail lights
and clearance lights went out. No car was approaching the stopped
truck from its front at the time of the collision. A piece of lumber from
the rear end of the truck penetrated the windshield of the automobile
driven by plaintiff’s intestate, and practically decapitated him, causing
almost instant death. Plaintiff’s intestate had the lights of his auto-
mobile on.

State Highway Patrolmen E. W. Mabe, the sole witness for the de-
fendant, examined the lighting system of the truck at the scene shortly
after the collision. He testified: “I saw a light which was located on
the left front fender of the truck; at the time I arrived it was function-
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ing. The light located on the left front fender of the truck was a 4-inch-
in-diameter light, round, with an amber plastic face on the front, in the
direction of the front of the truck, and a red plastic lens that was facing
the rear of the truck. I saw no arrow or other directional device what-
soever on that light. It was just a round red light when viewed from
the rear, which flashed on and off . . . The signal lights in the rear of
the truck on the side of the truck did not have any arrow pointing one
way or the other; but they did indicate, when they flashed, a turn on the
side the light was on, just like the front one indicated. If the left one
was on, it indicated a left turn, and if the right one was on, it indicated
a right turn.”

Patrolman Mabe further testified substantially as follows: The con-
crete pavement of the highway where the truck stopped was 22 feet
wide. The truck stopped on its right-hand side of the pavement with
the left rear of the truck about a foot and a half to the right of the
center line on the highway., There were three feet of driveable space
on the right shoulder beside the stopped truck. South of the stopped
truck and behind it the highway was straight and approximately level
for about 800 to 1,000 feet, and to the North of the truck it was straight
and about level between 350 to 400 feet. Single wheel skid marks for a
distance of 39 feet led up to the rear wheels and front wheels of plain-
tiff’s intestate’s automobile at the scene of collision.

One of the allegations of negligence in the complaint is that Zachary
Battle, when he stopped the truck, turned on his left-turn signals indi-
cating his intention to make a left turn from the highway, though he
had no intention of doing so, making it dangerous for plaintiff’s intestate
to pass the truck on its left, and forcing plaintiff’s intestate to turn back
on his right side of the highway, thus setting a trap for plaintiff’s intes-
tate from which it was impossible for him to extricate himself, which
negligence was a proximate cause of his death. The answer alleges
that, when Battle stopped his truck, he turned on the left-turn electrical
signal lights on the truck; and the answer in alleging further defenses
states, when the truck stopped Battle switched on the left-turn signal
lights, thereby causing a flashing red light to be emitted from both the
left-hand rear and left-hand front portions of the stopped truck.

Plaintiff’s first assignment of error is based upon his Exceptions 1, 2,
3,8and 9. All these Exceptions have reference to the charge in respect
to the signal lights on the stopped truck. Exception 1 is to the part of
the charge in quotation marks that the defendant has offered evidence
tending to show that, as soon as the truck stopped, Battle turned on the
signal lights, “that it was not a signal light indicating a left-hand turn,
but was only a flashing light.”
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The court charged as follows:

“(Now, there has been argument in this case and evidence tending
to show that Battle, the operator of defendant’s vehicle, when he
stopped, turned on signals that were not operated by the main
lighting mechanies of the vehicle, the plaintiff contending that he
turned on a left-hand turn, a directional signal; the defendant con-
tending that he only turned on a flashing light which would notify
vehicles coming from both ways that he was there).

“Now, if you find from this evidence that the signal which he turned
on was a directional signal, indicating a left-hand turn, then that
would have been an indication to a person or operator of a vehicle
coming from behind that he intended to turn left, and such person
coming from behind had a right to rely upon that action, that he
was intending to turn from a direct line to the left.

“(On the other hand, if you find that it was not a directional signal,
indicating a left-hand turn, but was only a flashing signal, indicat-
ing the presence of the vehicle on the highway at that particular
point, then a person coming from behind would have been required,
under the law, to bring his vehicle under control and stop, or, in the
exercise of ordinary care, to pass to the left and go on).”

Plaintiff’s Exception 2 is to the first part of this excerpt from the
charge in parentheses: his Exception 3 is to the last part in parentheses.

Plaintiff’s Exception 8 is to the following part of the charge in paren-
theses, which immediately followed a part of the charge that gave plain-
tiff’s intestate the benefit of the principle of a man confronted with a
sudden emergency:

“And if you should find from this evidence that the vehicle of the
defendant was sitting on the main-traveled portion of the highway
on the right-hand side of the center line, with a directional signal
indicating a left-hand turn, then, under the law, the deceased,
Weavil, would have not been required to turn to the left and under-
take to pass on the left, with the truck indicating a left-hand turn.
(But, if you should find that the light on the defendant’s truck—if
you find there was one—was only a flashing signal, indicating its
presence in the highway, and not a signal indicating a left-hand
turn, then he would have been required, in the exercise of due care,
to bring his vehicle under control and stop and avoid colliding with
the defendant’s truck).”

Plaintiff’s Exception 9 is to this part of the charge in parentheses:
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“Now, in Issue 2, if the defendant has satisfied you, from the evi-
dence and by its greater weight, that Dennis Freemont Weavil, in
the operation of his vehicle, was negligent in that he failed to keep
a proper lookout in the direction in which he was traveling, or
failed to keep his vehicle under reasonable control; or operated it
at a speed greater than was reasonable and prudent under the cir-
cumstances; or if he saw the vehicle of the defendant in front of
him and failed to bring his vehicle under control and stop, if neces-
sary, to avoid colliding; (or if the defendant’s vehicle was emitting
a flashing signal, indicating that it was there, rather than a left-
hand turn, and he failed either to stop or to pass at least two feet
on the left-hand side of the defendant’s vehicle).”

On a dark night defendant’s truck, due to the head lights, tail lights
and clearance lights suddenly going out by reason of a blown fuse, was
stopped on its right-hand side of the 22 feet wide concrete pavement of
the highway with its left rear about a foot and a half to the right of the
center line on the highway. When these lights went out, there were no
lights of & car approaching or coming from behind. Immediately upon
the stopping of the truck, the driver knocked on its left-turn signals.
The truck was then standing on its right side of the highway with its
left-turn signal lights flashing red on and off. These signal lights had
no arrow or other directional device. The highway behind the truck
was straight and approximately level for about 800 to 1,000 feet.
Plaintiff’s intestate, driving his automobile, approached the stopped
truck from the rear. His lights were on, and he was meeting no vehicle,

Plaintiff’s intestate was not required to foresee or anticipate that a
truck would be stopped and left standing on the traveled portion of the
highway ahead of him, partially blocking it, without the flares or other
warning signs of danger prescribed by our statutes, but this did not
relieve him of the duty of exercising reasonable care, of keeping a proper
lookout, and of proceeding as a reasonably prudent person would under
the circumstances, to avoid collision with the rear end of a motor
vehicle stopped or standing on the highway ahead. Dawson v. Trans-
portation Co., 230 N.C. 36, 51 8.E. 2d 921; Tyson v. Ford, 228 N.C. 778,
47 S.E. 2d 251.

“While the plaintiff had the right to assume that other motorists
would not obstruct the highway unlawfully, and would show the statu-
tory lights if they stopped, he could not for that reason omit any of the
care that the law demanded of him.” Steele v. Fuller, 104 Vt. 303, 158
A. 666, :

Motorists on the public highways have equal and reciprocal rights
to the use thereof. The legal standard of care required of them is
unvarying and alike at all times—that of a reasonably prudent man
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under the circumstances. Kellogg v. Thomas, 244 N.C. 722, 94 S.E. 2d
903; Henderson v. Henderson, 239 N.C. 487, 80 S.E. 2d 383.

We said in Wall v. Bain, 222 N.C. 375, 23 S.E. 2d 330: “It is the
duty of the driver of a motor vehicle not merely to look but to keep an
outlook in the direction of travel; and he is held to the duty of seeing
what he ought to have seen.”

There is nothing in the evidence to show that plaintiff’s intestate, as
he approached the truck standing in the highway ahead, could not see
all that is ever visible on an automobile ahead stopped or standing in
such a condition on a dark night. As he approached, on the left rear
of the truck and on its left fender were red signal lights flashing on and
off. A red light is recognized by common usage as a method of giving
warning of danger during hours of darkness, for instance of excavations
in the highway, of road barricades, of an automobile standing on the
highway, or of other objects or conditions on the highway, that consti-
tute a menace to travellers, and a driver on seeing a red light ahead in
the highway is required in the exercise of due care to heed its warning,
James v. White Truck & Transfer Co., 1 Cal. App. 2d 37, 36 P. 2d 401;
Martin v. Puget Sound Electric Ry., 136 Wash. 663, 241 P. 360; Blash-
field’s Cyclopedia of Auto. Law and Practice, Per. Ed., Vol. 24, sec.
1225.

In James v. White Truck & Transfer Co., supra, the Court said:
“Appellants suggest that a motorist observing a red light ahead would
assume or believe that it was attached to a moving vehicle, and there-
fore entitled to some other warning of a stationary object. We cannot
give assent to this contention, nor approval to the doctrine involved in
the suggestion. Whether the red light is on a swift or slow moving
vehicle, or on a stationary obstruction, from the time it is first observed,
it conveys the information of danger and the observer is bound to heed
its warning.”

In Martin v. Puget Sound Electric Ry., supra, the Court said: “It
is not the rule that a driver of an automobile must stop his automobile
or check his speed every time he sees a red light on the highway, at risk
of being chargeable with negligence. Whether he is so negligent by not
so doing must always depend upon the circumstances. While a red
light is a signal of danger, it is also a signal that usually points out the
place of danger. If it is at one side of the highway, an approaching
driver has the right to assume that it marks the limit of danger, and
that the other side of the highway is clear. It is only when the light
blocks the highway, or is so placed as to indicate that the passage is so
narrowed as not to afford a safe passage within the speed limit, that he
is chargeable with negligence if he does not approach with his vehicle
under control.”
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In the instant case the plaintiff contended that the driver of the truck,
when he stopped, knocked on left-turn signal lights indicating a left-
hand turn of the truck. The defendant contended that the signal lights
did not indicate a left-hand turn, but they were only flashing lights. It
is plain from the court’s charge that such was the theory of the trial.
It seems that both contentions find support in the reasonable inferences
to be drawn from the evidence. The opinions of the witnesses were
inferences they drew from the evidence. There is no evidence, however,
that the mechanical or electrical signal device on defendant’s truck was
a device of a type approved by the Department of Motor Vehicles for
use in giving the signals for starting, stopping, or turning as prescribed
by G.S.20-154. Banks v. Shepard, 230 N.C. 86, 52 S.E. 2d 215. Plain-
tiff’s contention in his brief that the truck gave a statutory left-turn
signal is not supported by the evidence. Whether, according to the
evidence, the red signal lights on the truck flashing on and off were
sufficient to indicate a left turn of the truck was for the jury to decide.

It was the duty of plaintiff’s intestate to keep a proper lookout ahead
in the direction he was travelling, to watch out for signals from the
driver of any vehicle ahead to turn, stop or start, to give due regard to
them, and in the exercise of ordinary care be prepared to avoid danger
in case of any movement of the vehicle ahead which is properly signaled.
Cohen v. Ramey, 201 Ark. 713, 147 S'W. 2d 338; Wright v. Clausen,
253 Ky. 498, 69 S.W. 2d 1062, 104 A.L.R. 480; Cook v. Gillespie, 259
Ky. 281, 82 S.W. 2d 347; Branstetter v. Gerdeman, 364 Mo. 1230, 274
S.W. 2d 240; Evans v. Alerander, 168 Pa. Super. 481, 78 A. 2d 879;
60 C.J.S., Motor Vehicles, p. 747; Blashfield, Cyclopedia of Automobile
Law and Practice, Per. Ed. Vol. 2, sec. 1123. The driver of the auto-
mobile behind in failing to observe plain turning or stopping signals
given by the motorist ahead may be guilty of contributory negligence
in the event of a collision and injury to himself. Lawson v. Darter, 157
Va. 284, 160 S.E. 74.

The truck in this ease was standing still, not moving forward. G.S.
20-149 prescribes that a motorist overtaking another vehicle proceed-
ing in the same direction shall pass at least two feet to the left thereof.
This Court said in Maddox v. Brown, 232 N.C. 542, 61 S.E. 2d 613—
quoted in Ward v. Cruse, 236 N.C. 400, 72 S.E. 2d 835: “. . . notwith-
standing the provisions of this statute (G.S. 20-149), a motorist may,
in the exercise of ordinary care, pass another vehicle, going in the same
direction, on the right of the overtaken vehicle when the driver of that
vehicle has given a clear signal of his intention to make a left turn and
has left sufficient space to the right to permit the overtaking vehicle to
pass in safety.”” The courts generally hold a motorist on the road is
bound to exercise ordinary care for his own safety under all the circum-
stances, and that the so-called law of the road, established by common
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law or statute, is not an inflexible rule, the violation of which will neces-
sarily render an offender guilty of negligence or contributory negligence,
but, if ordinary care so dictates under the circumstances, he may, in
order to avoid a collision, turn in violation of the ordinary rule of the
road. Ledbetter v. English, 166 N.C. 125, 81 S.E. 1066; Cooke v.
Jerome, 172 N.C. 626, 90 S.E. 767; Anno. 24 AL.R. pp. 1304 et seq.,
where the cases are cited.

The rule stated in Maddox v. Brown, supra, Ledbetter v. English,
supra, and Cooke v. Jerome, supra, does not fit the exact facts here, but
it would seem to lend support to the principle that a motorist may, in
the exercise of ordinary care, pass or attempt to pass another vehicle
headed in the same direction, but standing still on the highway, on the
right, when the driver of the vehicle ahead has given a clear signal of
his intention to make a left turn and by such signal the motorist behind
had reasonable grounds to believe, and believed, that the safe way to
do was to pass or attempt to pass to the right, and it was unsafe to
attempt to pass by going to the left, and there was sufficient space to
the right to pass in safety. Under such circumstances it would not be
negligence or contributory negligence upon the part of the motorist to
pass or attempt to pass on the right. But where the driver of the
stopped truck has given no clear signal of his intention to make a left
turn, but the truck standing on the right of the highway merely has on
the left rear and left fender a red light flashing on and off, it would
seem that the driver of an automobile approaching at night from the
rear, in the exercise of ordinary care, is bound to approach with his
automobile under control, so as to reduce his speed or stop, if necessary,
to avoid injury. See charge of trial court held without error in Cooke
v, Jerome, supra.

Here plaintiff’s intestate turned neither to the right nor to the left,
but drove straight ahead into and under the rear of the truck stopped
on its right side of the highway. It is attempted to justify this by
showing it was necessary, owing to the conduct of the driver of the
truck in turning on left-turn signals. As the evidence is conflicting as
to whether the signals were clear left-turn directional signals, or merely
a red light flashing on and off to give notice of the truck stopped in the
highway, the court properly submitted the matter to the jury. We do
not discover any error in the part of the charge embraced by plaintiff’s
assignment of error No. 1. The court in its charge as to the first issue
clearly and correctly declared and explained the law arising on the evi-
dence in the case as to the signal lights favorably to plaintiff. It would
lengthen this opinion too much to set it out, and no exception is taken
to that part of the charge. We think the charge as to the lights on the
left side of the stopped truck presented the controversy to the jury
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clearly and fairly, and gave the plaintiff all, if not more, than he was
entitled to.

Plaintiff’s assignment of error No. 2 is based upon his Exceptions 4,
5, 6 and 10. Exception 4 is to the part of the charge as to passing an
automobile at least two feet to the left thereof, as required in certain
cases by G.S. 20-149. Exceptions 5 and 6 are to the part of the charge
as to stopping an automobile within the radius of the lights thereof,
which inability to stop for one operating his automobile within the
statutory maximum speed limits shall not be considered contributory
negligence per se, as set forth in G.8. 20-141(e). Exception 10 is to the
failure of the court in its charge to declare the law upon the evidence
that defendant’s driver made an abrupt stop without signal or warning
thereof, its failure to declare the law upon the evidence that defendant’s
driver had room to pull off the hard-surfaced part of the highway on
the dirt shoulder out of the way of oncoming traffic, ete. “An assign-
ment of error must present a single question of law for consideration by
the Court.” Dobias v. White, 240 N.C. 680, 83 S.E. 2d 785. Assign-
ment of error No. 2 presents several different questions of law for con-
sideration, and is broadside in its nature. However, the plaintiff in his
brief in discussing this assignment of error only refers to the part of the
charge, to which he has excepted, which refers to G.S. 20-141(e}). Yet
the plaintiff admits in his brief that the court in its charge, immediately
after the part of the charge which is the basis of his Exception 6, quali-
fied this part of the charge excepted to by his Exceptions 5 and 6 by a
statement “of the correct rule.”

A charge must be read as a composite whole and not disjointedly.
Vincent v. Woody, 238 N.C. 118, 76 S.E. 2d 356 ; Mling Co. v. Highway
Com., 190 N.C. 692, 697, 130 S.E. 724. When the charge in this case
is s0 read, prejudicial error sufficient to overthrow the trial below is not
shown. All the assignments of error have been considered, and are
overruled.

No error.

Jounson, J., not sitting,
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RACHEL SMITH, EMrLOYEE, v. MECKLENBURG COUNTY CHAPTER
AMERICAN RED CROSS, EMPLOYER; TRAVELERS INSURANCE (COM-
PANY, CARRIER.

(Filed 12 December, 19386.)

1. Master and Servant § 53b—

The Workmen’s Compensation Act contemplates but a single claim for
disability for an injury regardless of whether the injury be total or partial,
temporary or permanent. G.S, 97-2,

2. Master and Servant § 53a—

An agreement for the payment of compensation when approved by the
Industrial Commission is as binding on the parties as an order, decision or
award of the Commission.

8. Master and Servant § 53c—

The parties entered into an agreement for compensation for total tempo-
rary disability for a specitied number of weeks, and the injured employee
executed a receipt stating that claim for further compensation for change
of condition would have to be made within one year from the date ot final
payment under the agreement. More than a year thereafter, upon discov-
ery that the injury resulted in a permanent partial disability, the employee
filed claim therefor. Held: The claim was barred by G.S. 97-47.

JoHuNsoN, J., not sitting.

ApprAL by defendants from Rudisill, J., 26 March, 1956 Special Term,
MECKLENBURG.

Plaintiff seeks compensation for permanent partial disability. Pay-
ment has been made for the period plaintiff was out of work.

A hearing was had by a deputy commissioner of the Industrial Com-
mission in April 1955. He found these facts: Plaintiff was an employee
of Mecklenburg County Chapter of American Red Cross. Travelers
Insurance Company (hereinafter referred to as carrier) was its insur-
ance carrier. Plaintiff and carrier filed with the Industrial Commission
its Form 21, entitled “AGREEMENT FOR COMPENSATION FOR DisaBILITY,”
by which the parties stipulated (a) that they were bound by the North
Carolina Workmen’s Compensation Act; (b) that plaintiff, on 2 Octo-
ber, 1952, at Cherry Point, N. C,, sustained an injury by accident aris-
ing out of and in the course of her employment; (¢c) that her average
weekly wage was $57.69; (d) that disability resulting from the injury
began 4 November, 1952; (e) that “the employer and the insurance
carrier hereby undertake to pay compensation to the employee at the
rate of $30.00 per week beginning 11-11, 1952, and continuing for neces-
sary weeks”; the first payment of compensation amounting to $60 was
paid 29 November, 1952.
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The deputy commissioner further found that said agreement was
approved by the Industrial Commission on 9 December, 1952, and pur-
suant to said agreement, carrier paid to claimant compensation in the
amount of $90. The deputy commissioner found that plaintiff, on
9 December, 1952, executed the Commission’s Form 27. Form 27 bears
the notation: “TaE Usk or THis ForMm Is REQUIRED UNDER THE Pro-
VISIONS OF THE WORKMEN'S CoMPENSATION AcT.” The instrument
which plaintiff executed is as follows:

“CrosiNG RECEIPT
NorTH CAROLINA INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION

This is to acknowledge that I have this date received from The Trav-
elers Insurance Co. the sum of $30.00; that I have heretofore received
weekly payments in the total amount of $60.00; that I have received a
total of $90.00 as compensation for injury sustained on or about 10-2,
1952, while employed by The American National Red Cross.

I returned to work on 12-2, 1952, at a wage of $57.69 per week.

I understand that my eompensation payments stop when I sign this
receipt. I also understand that if my condition changes for the worse,
I can claim further compensation only by notifying the Industrial Com-
mission within one year from the day I received my last compensation
payment.

Last compensation payment received on Deec. 9, 1952,

Witness: Employce or Dependent:
s/Mrs. Mary E. Snyder s/Rachel Sinith

508 E. Morehead St. 2134 Crescent Ave,
Charlotte, N. C. Charlotte, N. C.

Manual Classification Code No. 8742
Type of Disability (use Commission’s Code) T
Number of Weeks Temporary Total 3

From 11-11-52 to 12-2-52
Number of Weeks Temporary Partial

From to
Number of Weeks Permanent Partial
From to
Amount of Compensation Paid $90 00
Second Injury Fund (Major) (Minor) $
Total Medical Paid (including nursing,
hospital, drugs, ete.) $310 55
Artificial Members $
Funeral Benefits $
Does this report close the case? (Yes or No):

Yes
The Travelers Insurance Company (Carrier)
s/A. C. Newson 2-12-53”
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The commissioner found the injury of 2 October, 1952, was to plain-
tiff’s right leg, that following the injury and until the hearing in April
1955, plaintiff had been under the care of an orthopedist, and she now
has a permanent partial disability to her right leg as a result of the
accident of October 1952. He found that plaintiff failed to file her claim
with the Industrial Commission for permanent partial disability until
after 9 December, 1953. The deputy commissioner thereupon concluded
that plaintiff’s claim for additional compensation was barred by G.S.
97-47. He denied the claim. Plaintiff duly excepted and appealed to
the full Commission. The full Commission supplemented the findings
of fact by the trial commissioner as follows:

“5. That the physician who was treating plaintiff advised defendants
on May 26, 1954, he was still treating her for her injury; that defend-
ants thereupon notified said physician they denied liability for this
treatment on the grounds that the claim was barred by the statute of
limitations.

“6. That as a result of the accident giving rise to this claim plaintiff
has sustained a 20% permanent partial disability to her right leg.”

Except as thus amended and supplemented, the Commission approved
and adopted the findings of fact made by the deputy commissioner.
A majority of the Commission (Commissioner Gibbs dissenting) con-
cluded as a matter of law that G.S. 97-47 had no application to the
facts of this case; that plaintiff was not seeking a review and alleged
no change in her condition, that she simply stated that she had a 20%
permanent partial disability to her right leg for which no compensation
had been paid as provided in G.S. 97-31; that under the agreement of
26 November, 1952, the cause was still pending before it awaiting
adjudication. It thereupon awarded compensation to plaintiff for the
permanent partial disability found to exist. From this award defend-
ants duly excepted and appealed to the Superior Court. The Superior
Court overruled the exceptions filed by defendants to the findings of
fact and the conclusions of law and affirmed the award made by the
Industrial Commission. From the judgment entered thereon, defend-
ants appealed.

Carpenter & Webb for plaintiff appellee.
Boyle & Potter for defendant appellants.

RobMmaw, J. The judgment and assignments of error present for con-
sideration this question: Does G.8. 97-47 bar plaintiff’s claim for addi-
tional compensation?

The statute authorizes the Commission, on the application of a party
in interest or on its own motion on the grounds of a change in condi-
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tion, to review any award, increasing or diminishing the compensation
to be paid. By express language of the statute “no such review shall
be made after twelve months from the date of the last payment of com-
pensation pursuant to an award under this article ., . .”

The Commission, in making the award for permanent partial dis-
ability, held that the filing of the “AGREEMENT FOR COMPENSATION FOR
DisaBiLiTy” tolled the statute of limitations (G.S. 97-24) and gave the
Commission authority to hear the claim for permanent disability. It
said: “The Commission thus obtained jurisdiction of this case until
the matter had been adjudicated. One of the matters for adjudication
in this case was the question of specific disability to the plaintiff and
payment of compensation therefor under the provisions of G.S. 97-31.
Such question was never adjudicated by the Commission, nor settled
by any agreement between the parties. The question of specific dis-
ability was therefore pending before the Commission.” (Emphasis
added.)

The amount of compensation payable to an employee as a result of
an accident is predicated on the extent of the disability resulting from
the accident. Disability is defined by the statute as incapacity because
of an injury to earn wages, G.S. 97-2. Disability may take any of
several forms. It may be total or partial and may or may not be per-
manent. The statute fixes the quantum of disability for certain inju-
ries, G.S. 97-31.

The common law gives but one right of action for injuries resulting
from negligence. The cause of action cannot be split and recovery had
for the various kinds of damage resulting from the negligence. Eller
v. R. R., 140 N.C. 140; Underwood v. Dooley, 197 N.C. 100, 147 S.E.
686; Insurance Co. v. Motor Lines, 225 N.C. 588, 35 S.E. 2d 879. An
accident resulting in compensable injuries to an employee likewise gives
only one right of action or claim to the employee, and any award made
should, within the statutory limits, compensate for the disability, irre-
spective of the number of elements which go to make up the disability.
Apparently the parties recognized this sound principle when they filed
with the Commission the “AGREEMENT rFor COMPENSATION FOR Dis-
ABILITY.” 1t is expressly stipulated that the parties “are subject to and
bound by the provisions of the North Carolina Workmen’s Compensa-
tion Act.” They agreed that employee sustained an injury by accident
arising out of and in the course of employment and fixed the date of
the accident. They stipulated the weekly wage and the date disability
began. In response to the query as to the injuries sustained, they said:
“Plane hit air-pocket throwing injured to floor.” The agreement pro-
vided for compensation to the employee “beginning 11-11, 1952, and
continuing for necessary weeks,” clearly implying that compensation
would be paid for the disability sustained in conformity with the pro-
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visions of the Compensation Act. Manifestly, this was the under-
standing of the Commission when the agreement was filed with it.
Otherwise, it would not have, on 9 December, 1952, approved the agree-
ment. In fact, the Commission now says this agreement to pay com-
pensation suffices to toll the statute of limitations for filing claims,
G.8. 97-24, and is the basis on which it orders additional payment.

Plaintiff returned to work on 2 December, 1952, at the same wage she
was receiving prior to the injury. She has worked continuously since
2 December, 1952, On 9 December, 1952, a week after she returned to
work, settlement was made with her by the carrier for what it then
thought was the extent of her disability. The carrier finished paying
her for the time she lost from work. She executed the Commission’s
Form 27 designated “Crosine Receipr.” The receipt describes the
injury using the Commission code as “T,” meaning temporary total.
It shows no compensation paid for permanent partial disability. It is
stated in boldface type that payments stop when the receipt is signed,
with the further statement that plaintiff understood that if her condi-
tion changed for the worse, further compensation could only be claimed
by notifying the Commission within one year from the date of the last
compensation payment. This receipt was duly and promptly filed with
the Commission.

Plaintiff testified that she did not read the receipt before she signed
it. It was handed to her by her employer. She was busy with other
work, She is educated and concedes that she has the ability to read
and understand what the receipt said. There is no suggestion of fraud
or misrepresentation. It is manifest that none of the parties, on 9 De-
cember, 1952, realized that the injury which the plaintiff sustained
would result in permanent disability. There is no specific finding on
that fact, but there is nothing in the findings which negatives that
conclusion.

As early as 1933 this Court held that where compensation for dis-
ability was paid pursuant to an agreement, the right to seek additional
compensation was barred unless claim was filed, within one year from
the last payment of compensation, as required by the statute, G.S.
97-47. Lee v. Rose’s Stores, 205 N.C. 310, 171 8.E. 87. The Lee deci-
sion was approved in Knight v. Body Co., 214 N.C. 7, 197 S.E. 563.
These cases were followed in 1950 by Tucker v. Lowdermilk, 233 N.C.
185, 63 S.E. 2d 109. It is there said: “An agreement for the payment
of compensation when approved by the Commission is as binding on
the parties as an order, decision or award of the Commission unappealed
from, or an award of the Commission affirmed upon appeal.” These
cases were cited and approved this year. Parts v. Builders Corp., 244
N.C. 35. We are dealing with a matter of statutory construction.
Notwithstanding the lapse of time since the decision in Lee v. Rose’s
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Stores, supra, and the cases which have followed it, the Legislature has
not modified the statute so as to affect those decisions and their appli-
cation to this case.

Our decisions as to the effect of an agreement to pay compensation
for disability are in harmony with decisions in other states. The
Supreme Court of Vermont, speaking with respect to agreements be-
tween employer and employee, said: “The original agreement approved
by the commissioner, being for an indefinite time, was equivalent to
an award of such compensation . . .” Bosquet v. Howe Scale Co., 120
A, 171; Michelson v. Industrial Commission, 31 N.E. 2d 940 (Ill.);
Hartford Accident & Indemnity Co. v. Industrial Com’n., 151 N.E. 495
(I11).

Practical considerations support the interpretation given the statute.
The thirteenth biennial report of the North Carolina Industrial Com-
mission shows 60,961 industrial injuries for the fiscal year 1952-1953
and 57,293 injuries for the year ’53-'54. The cost resulting from these
injuries was $7,389,338 in ’52-'53, and $5,525,270 for '53-’54. In ’52-'53
there were requests for hearings by the Commission in 920 cases, and
in '53-’54 requests for hearings in 1,053 cases. It thus appears that
more than 95% of all industrial injuries of the last biennium were
disposed of without the necessity of ecalling on the Commission for
formal hearings. The Commission was called upon to hold hearings in
less than 20,000 cases from 1 July, 1929, through 30 June, 1954, approxi-
mately one-third of the industrial accident cases reported in a single
year. If the theory on which the Commission proceeds in this case is
a correct interpretation of the Act, it is doubtful if any employer or
carrier would make settlement with an injured employee until a hearing
was had and a formal award made. If the agreement to pay compen-
sation leaves the case pending before the Commission to be heard five,
ten, or twenty-five years hence at the option of the employee on the
assertion that all of his disabilities were not included in the “AGREEMENT
FOR COMPENSATION FOR DisaBiLity” and “Crosing Receer,” a Her-
culean problem would at once confront the Commission. Certain it is
that employers and carriers would immediately demand that the extent
of their liability be determined by a formal hearing at a time when
testimony with respect to the scope and extent of the injuries would
be available. The language of Barnhill, J. (later C. J.), in Biddix v.
Rex Mills, Inc., 237 N.C. 660, 75 S.E. 2d 777, is pertinent. He said:
“The underlying spirit and purpose of the Act is to encourage and pro-
mote the amicable adjustment of claims and to provide a ready means
of determining liability under the Act when the parties themselves
cannot agree. The Industrial Commission stands by to assure fair
dealing in any voluntary settlement and to act as a court to adjudicate
those claims which may not be adjusted by the parties themselves.”
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To meet the problem, typified by this case, of changed physical con-
dition following an award, our statute provides that the employee may,
within one year from the final payment, make application for addi-
tional compensation because of a changed condition. Where the harm-
ful consequences of an injury are unknown when the amount of com-
pensation to be paid has been determined by agreement but subse-
quently develops, the amount of compensation to which the employee
is entitled can be redetermined within the statutory period for reopen-
ing. It is a “change in condition” as the term is used in the statute.
Speaking on this subject, the Supreme Court of Oklahoma, in Skelly
Oil Co. v. Standley, 297 Pac. 235, said: “It is insisted that disability
resulting from the injury to the arm was not claimed or made a part
of the agreed statement of facts, and, therefore, the commission is with-
out jurisdiction to act in review of the aggravated condition, as con-
templated by section 7296, supra. This is tantamount to saying that
the full effect of the accident must be known by the claimant and
reported by him within the statutory period, and, if not, compensation
cannot be allowed. Such a holding would be contrary to the spirit of
the act as well as the liberal interpretation policy adopted. Moreover,
section 7296 provides for a review of an award ‘on the ground of a
change in conditions.’” A liberal interpretation impels us to hold that
the change in condition, when proven, permits a continuing jurisdiction
to end, diminish, or increase compensation previously awarded, even
though the change in condition manifests itself in injuries not expressly
enumerated in the original award, but yet attributable to the original
accident.”

In Utah Fuel Co. v. Industrial Commission, 159 P. 2d 877, 162 A.L.R.
1457, it appeared that one Gerard, an employee, sustained an injury
while in the employment of plaintiff. It was anticipated that it would
be necessary to amputate one of his legs. Settlement was made with
him for the approximate amount he would be entitled to receive under
the Workmen’s Compensation Act. Subsequently it became necessary
to amputate the other leg. The Supreme Court of Utah said: “Under
these eircumstances the commission did not err in assuming jurisdiction
and granting a further award in consonance with the changed condition
and in conformity with our Workmen’s Compensation Act.”

A copious note dealing with the statutes of the various states and the
decisions thereunder with respect to the modification or extensions of
awards because of changed conditions will be found in 165 A.L.R.,
beginning on p. 12.

The agreement for compensation for disability approved by the
Commission and the payment made by the carrier followed by the
execution of the closing receipt by plaintiff employee more than one
year prior to the filing of application with the Commission for an addi-
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tional award puts the case beyond the time given by G.S. 97-47 in
which to claim additional compensation.

The judgment of the Superior Court affirming the award made by the
Industrial Commission is

Reversed.

JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

FRED F. MURRAY, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE oF JAMES C. MURRAY,
DEeCEASED, v. E, W. WYATT, SR., aAxp E. W. WYATT, JR, anp JOE
BOYLE.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 51—
‘Where motion to nonsuit is made at the close of plaintiff’s evidence and
renewed after the close of all the evidence, only the second motion is to be
considered on appeal. G.S. 1-183.

2, Trial § 22a—

Upon motion to nonsuit, the evidence, whether offered by plaintiff or by
defendants, must be considered in the light most favorable to plaintiff.

8. Automobiles §§ 41k, 42k—

The evidence tended to show that intestate was directing the unloading
or dumping of trucks at a “refuse pile,” and was signalling the drivers
before they made their respective movements, that he was standing at the
rear of one truck when the operator of another truck backed into him and
crushed him between the vehicles, There was conflict in the testimony as
to whether the driver of the backing truck backed into intestate without
having received signal. Held: The evidence was sufficient to be submitted
to the jury on the issue of negligence and did not establish contributory
negligence as a matter of law.

4. Automobiles § 12—
Before backing a vehicle the driver is under duty in the exercise of due
care to see that he can make the movement in safety.

5. Automobiles § 25—
Any speed may be unlawful and excessive if the operator of a motor
vehicle knows or by the exercise of due care should reasonably anticipate
that a person or vehicle is standing in his line of travel.

6. Automobiles § 36—

Where defendants allege that the operator of the vehicle causing the
injury was backing at the direction of the injured person, by way of new
matter constituting a defense, and by way of contributory negligence. the
burden of proving such affirmative defenses is on defendants, the allega-
tions being expressly denied in the reply.
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7. Automobiles § 46: Negligence § 20—

The refusal of the court to give peremptory instructions on the issue of
contributory negligence is proper when the determinative facts are in
dispute.

8, Automobiles § 87: Trial § 28¢c—

The admission of testimony of witnesses that they did not see intestate,
who was supervising the movement of the trucks, give defendant driver a
signal to back and did not hear defendant driver give warning by sounding
his horn will not be held prejudicial on the ground that the witnesses, from
where they were, could not have seen what they testified they did see, when
the evidence fails to prove such impossibility, and there is testimony, not
objected to, of the same import, the probative value of the testimony ob-
jected to being for the jury.

9. Automobiles § 46: Trial § 81e—

Negative evidence may be for the court on the question of whether it has
any probative value in determining the sufficiency of all the evidence to
make out a case, but when the evidence, apart from such negative evidence,
is sufficient to take the case to the jury, the trial court may not comment
on the weight of the evidence, negative or otherwise.

10. Customs and Usages § 8—

Where the evidence discloses that truck drivers in the performance of
their duties in dumping their trucks on a particular project had a safety
rule to await a signal from the foreman before maneuvering their trucks
to the “refuse pile,” and that such practice was known to defendant driver,
an instruction to the jury that if they found from the evidence that defend-
ant driver moved his truck at the time in question without awaiting signal
from the foreman, such failure would be negligence, is warranted.

JoHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpPEAL by defendants from Mallard, J., March Term, 1956, of WAKE,

Action to recover damages for the alleged wrongful death of James C.
Murray on 16 July, 1953,

Plaintiff alleged that Murray’s death was caused by the negligence
of Boyle, defendants’ employee. Defendants denied that Boyle was
negligent and pleaded the contributory negligence of Murray in bar of
plaintiff’s right to recover. '

Answering the issues of negligence and contributory negligence in
plaintiff’s favor, the jury awarded damages in the amount of $15,000.00.-

The facts stated in the numbered paragraphs below are established
by admission or stipulation.

1. Murray, truck and plant foreman for F. D. Cline Paving Company
at its road mix plant near the Town of Youngsville, was engaged in the
performance of his duties, which included the supervision and direction
(1) of the movement of trucks engaged in the hauling of mixtures to and
from said plant and the company’s road construction project on U. S.
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Highway #1, and (2) of the loading and unloading of said trucks at the
plant site.

2. Defendants were engaged in the business of trucking and contract
hauling, owning and operating a fleet of trucks.

3. Boyle was operating defendants’ 1952 Chevrolet dump truck,
engaged in hauling materials to and from said plant and said road con-
struction project; and at or about 12 o’clock noon was operating said
truck as agent, servant and employee of defendants.

4. The truck operated by Boyle, along with other trucks owned by
defendants and operated by their employees, were returning from said
highway construction project to said plant, hauling certain plant mix-
tures that had been rejected for use upon the highway.

5. Murray died “as the direct and proximate result of injuries re-
ceived when Truck #2 (operated by Boyle) backed into Truck #1
(operated by Jones), pinning him between the trucks . . .”

Six witnesses gave testimony relevant to the circumstances of Mur-
ray’s death. Perkins, Perry and Lambeth, offered by plaintiff, were
employees of Cline on 16 July, 1953; and Boyle, Hutchins and Jones,
offered by defendants, werc employees (operating dump trucks) of
defendants on that date.

The plant site was a big clearing. Bulldozers had pushed trees off in
all directions. Perkins operated a tractor with a pan attached. His
job was to strip the top soil and put it on a big pile near the mix plant,
for use with stone in the mix plant. The mix plant was set up in the
middle of the clearing.

The “refuse pile” was southwest of the “topsoil pile” and of the mix
plant. It was composed of mixtures hauled to the road construction
job and rejected. There had been no “refuse pile” prior to 16 July,
1953. The first “refuse” was dumped about 9 to 9:30 that morning.
During the morning several of defendants’ trucks had dumped rejected
materials there, under the direction of Murray. When Murray was
killed, the “refuse pile” was three feet high, fourteen yards each way.

About 12 o’clock noon, certain of defendants’ trucks, loaded with
rejected materials, returned to the plant site to dump their loads on the
“refuse pile.” According to Jones, four trucks, identified by the names
of the respective drivers, came onto the plant site in this order: the
Hawks truck, the Boyle truck, sometimes referred to as Truck #2, the
Jones truck, sometimes referred to as Truck #1, and the Hutchins truck.
It appears that all of the trucks, in the area east of the “topsoil pile”
and mix plant, proceeded south until they got beyond the “topsoil pile”
and mix plant; but thereafter different courses were taken by the Boyle,
Jones and Hutchins trucks. Hawks, according to Jones, “was on ahead
of all of us.” It may be inferred from his testimony that Hawks had
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dumped his load before the other three reached the immediate vicinity
of the “refuse pile.”

Upon reaching this area, Jones turned to his right, west, and stopped
first on the east side of the “refuse pile.”” Then, accordmg to Jones,
Murray, who was then about 20-30 feet from his truck, told him “to
pull on up and unload.” Thereupon Jones drove up, then backed his
truck against the “refuse pile.”” When he stopped, the Jones truck
faced north. According to Jones, Murray “was standing there beside
my truck . . . telling me what to do with my ticket . . . walked to
the back of my truck hollering to . . . Hawks what was leaving, telling
him what to do with his ticket.” When Jones looked back, so he testi-
fied, “the truck backing down east struck him and pinned him between”
the Jones truck and the Boyle truck. The Jones truck had not dumped
its load.

While these events were in progress, Boyle had taken this course:
He did not turn right, west, until he got beyond the “refuse pile.” He
then turned, went around the south end of the “refuse pile’” and thence
north along the west side thereof. When he stopped the Boyle truck
faced west; and some 30 feet east of the rear of his truck, downgrade,
was the northwest portion of the “refuse pile.”

Hutchins, so he testified, followed Boyle around the south end of the
“refuse pile” and to the west side thereof, but stopped some 50 yards
behind him. As Hutehins put it: “I had stopped because I was waiting
for Joe (Boyle) to get his signal then I was going to pull up. I was
waiting for the signal to pull in there. I would not have pulled in had
no signal been given to me. I would have stayed right there where 1
was and where I did stay.”

As indicated, much of the foregoing is from the testimony of defend-
ants’ witnesses. Plaintiff’s principal witnesses gave testimony, in sub-
stance, as set out below.

Perkins testified, in substance, as follows:

He had just dumped a load on the “topsoil pile.” On his way down
the “topsoil pile” he observed the trucks some 100 yards to the south.
“Not knowing exactly what it was all about, I stopped the tractor just
to look and see what was going on.” His seat on the tractor was some
five feet above the ground. . . . T could see very clearly everything
that was in my view out front.” His tractor then faced west.

He saw Murray walk to the front of the truck that faced north and
stand there. Then Murray walked towards the tail end of that truck.
He (Perkins) could see underneath the bed of the truck, “little above
knee high.” Murray, standing with his face towards Perkins, held up
his hand and gave directions to this driver to dump his load. “At the
same time I saw a truck with the back coming towards Mr. Murray’s
back.” The truck facing north was standing still. Murray was pinned
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between the tail gates of the backing truck and the standing truck.
He was “hung” between the two trucks.

He ran down the hill. The boys were hollering: “Pull up, pull up,
pull up. You have a man pinned in here.” The motor of the Boyle
truck was not running. “I heard the truck crank up and instead of
pulling forward it lurched backwards and Mr. Murray’s feet flew off
the ground, and this truck finally pulled up and Mr, Murray fell to the
ground. Mr. Murray got up and fell all in the rock pile.”

Further testimony by Perkins, admitted over defendants’ objections,
tended to show: that the plant foreman gave directions with reference
to loading and unloading the trucks; that the practice at this plant site
with reference to the backing of trucks into position for loading and
unloading was to back when motioned to do so and to stop to dump his
load when the person giving directions “put his hand up in the air”;
and that this practice was followed at this plant site from 13 May, when
he started to work there, until Murray’s death.

Perry testified, in substance, as follows:

His job was to operate the “dozer” at the mixing plant. He was
working on the “dozer,” some 75-100 yards from the “refuse pile,” when
the Jones truck came in. Murray was riding on the running board.
When the Jones truck came to a stop, Murray got off, paused at the
door of the truck where the driver was, then left and walked down to
the rear of the Jones truck, then turned left and faced back towards the
front end of the Jones truck.

When the Boyle truck began backing, Murray was right at the
corner. “I would say that Truck #2 backed about 30 feet before it
came into contact with the rear of Truck #1.” When Truck #2 drove
off, he saw Murray fall to the ground. He then went to Murray.

Other evidential facts will be stated in the opinion.

Defendants alleged in substance that Boyle backed his truck in
accordance with signals and instructions given him by Murray; that
Murray left the place of safety from which he had given said signals
and instructions to Boyle and moved quickly to a position directly in
the path of the backing Boyle truck, but Boyle had no knowledge or
notice that Murray had done so; and that Murray’s negligence in so
doing was the cause of his fatal injuries. Some of defendants’ evidence,
taken in the light most favorable to them, tends to support these alle-
gations.

Judgment for plaintiff in accordance with the verdict, was signed and
entered. Defendants excepted and appealed. They present assign-
ments of error 1-62, both inclusive, hased on exceptions of correspond-
ing numbers, for our consideration.
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Thomas A. Banks and William T. Hatch for plaintiff, appellee.
Smith, Leach, Anderson & Dorsett for defendants, appellants.

Bossitt, J. Defendants offered evidence. Hence, the only motion
for judgment of nonsuit to be considered is that made at the close of
all the evidence. G.S. 1-183; Atkins v. Transportation Co., 224 N.C.
688, 32 S.E. 2d 209.

In determining its sufficiency for submission to the jury, the evidence,
whether offered by plaintiff or by defendants, must be considered in the
light most favorable to plaintiff. Singletary v. Nizon, 239 N.C. 634,
80 S.E. 2d 676; Williamson v, Clay, 243 N.C. 337, 90 S.E. 2d 727.
Under the rule stated, there was no error in submitting the case to the
jury.

There was plenary evidence that Murray (with his back towards
Boyle), and the Jones truck, were standing at the north end of the
“refuse pile” directly in the path of the Boyle truck while it backed
downgrade and pinned Murray between the two trucks. Moreover, the
evidence, including Boyle’s testimony, tended to show that, while back-
ing, he could not see what was behind him; and that Boyle gave no
signal by horn or otherwise before he started to back or while backing.

In view of the evidence that both Murray and the Boyle truck were
in fact directly behind him, it was for the jury, upon all the evidence,
to say whether Boyle failed to use due care in backing his truck without
first exercising due care to ascertain whether he could do so without
striking Murray or the Jones truck. Adams v. Service Co., 237 N.C.
136, 74 S.E. 2d 332. There is little difference between backing a truck
when you cannot see what is behind you and in driving forward when
blindfolded.

Conceding, as contended by defendants, that the Boyle truck moved
at “a normal speed for backing up,” there was evidence of a special
hazard. See: G.8. 20-141(a) (¢); Baker v. Perrott, 228 N.C. 558, 46
S.E. 2d 461. Any speed may be unlawful and excessive if the operator
of a motor vehicle knows or by the exercise of due care should reason-
ably anticipate that a person or vehicle is standing in his line of travel.

As indicated above, defendants, by way of new matter constituting a
defense (G.S. 1-135(2)) and by way of contributory negligence (G.S.
1-139), alleged that Boyle backed his truck as directed by Murray.
The burden of proving such affirmative defense was on defendants.
MacClure v. Casualty Co., 229 N.C. 305,49 S.E. 2d 742. The same rule
applied to defendants’ plea of contributory negligence. Hunt v. Wooten,
238 N.C. 42, 76 S.E. 2d 326, and cases cited. It is noted that these
allegations were expressly denied in plaintiff’s reply thereto.

Defendants’ said allegations, and defendants’ evidence in support
thereof, constituted the backbone of their defense. The jury was at
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liberty to reject them and did so. Certainly, the undisputed evidence
here, taken in the light most favorable to plaintiff, did not establish
plaintiff's contributory negligence so clearly that no other reasonable
inference or conclusion could be drawn therefrom. Dennis v. Albemarle,
243 N.C. 221, 90 S.E. 2d 532.

Nor did the court err in refusing to give defendants’ requested per-
emptory instruction, to the effect that they would answer the contribu-
tory negligence issue, “Yes,” if they found the facts to be as all the
evidence tended to show. The court did instruct the jury that if they
found from the evidence and by its greater weight, first, that Murray
was negligent “in that he failed to see what he should have seen, that
he failed to keep a proper lookout and failed to exercise proper care for
his own safety or that he signaled the driver to back in there and then
stepped into the way of it or that he failed to keep looking and seeing
what he would have seen,” and second, that such negligence on the part
of Murray was a proximate cause of Murray’s death, they would answer
the contributory negligence issue, “Yes.” The instructions given were
in substantial compliance with the requirements of G.S. 1-180.

Concerning the testimony of Perkins and of Perry, defendants insist
that, from where they were, they could not have seen what they testified
they did see. It is elementary that the probative value of their testi-
mony was for the jury.

Even so, defendants contend it was error to permit Perkins and Perry
to testify that they did not see Murray give any signal to Boyle and did
not see Boyle give any signal, by hand, horn or otherwise, before or
while he backed his truck. As to the latter, Boyle made no contention
that he gave any signal. As to not seeing a signal by Murray, the gist
of the testimony of Perkins and of Perry was that Murray was dealing
with Jones, at his truck, facing away from Boyle, when Boyle started
and continued to back his truck. And Jones testified, without objection,
as follows: “I did not at any time see him turn his face in the direction
of the truck of Joe Boyle, or give any signal in that direction whatso-
ever. I did not hear the sound of any horn or signal from the truck
of Joe Boyle as it hacked towards the rear and into the rear of my
truck.”

Defendants insist further that the court, even in the absence of special
request, should have instructed the jury specifically “concerning the
probative value, weight or effect of ‘negative’ testimony.” Neither
defendants’ assignment of error nor their brief advises us as to the
instructions they considered appropriate. In some cases, where defend-
ant’s motion for judgment of nonsuit turns on the sufficiency of certain
negative evidence to take the case to the jury, the court must say as «
matter of law whether such negative evidence has any probative value.
Johnson & Sons, Inc., v. R. R., 214 N.C. 484, 199 S.E. 704. But when

5 —245
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the evidence, apart from such negative evidence, is sufficient to take
the case to the jury, the rule is that the trial court may not comment
on the weight of evidence, negative or otherwise. Carruthers v. R. R.,
218 N.C. 49, 9 S.E. 2d 498. The decision in the Carruthers case was
reversed on rehearing, 218 N.C. 377, 11 S.E, 2d 157; but this was on the
ground of invited error, that is, the erroneous instructions were prepared
by appellant and given by the court at his specific request. On rehear-
ing, the Court adhered to the law as stated in the original opinion.

The defendants insist that the court erred in instructing the jury as
follows:

“Gentlemen, I instruet you that if you find that there was an estab-
lished practice pertaining to the manner of moving motor vehicles at
that mixing plant site and that such practice was reasonable and that
such practice was for the reasonable safety of those engaged in working
thereon and that such practice required the operators of motor vehicles
thercon to await a signal from the foreman before moving thereon, and
that such practice was known to the said Joe Boyle, or in the exercise
of reasonable care, should have been known by him, then the Court
instructs you it would have been the duty of Joe Boyle to abide by
signals from the foreman and failure so to do would be negligence.”

As indicated above, Perkins testified to the existence of such a prac-
tice. But, apart from his testimony, there is ample evidence thereof.
Indeed, Boyle testified that he pulled up and waited for instructions
from Murray. On cross-examination, he testified that Murray “would
show us where to unload and directed me.” As indicated above,
Hutchins testified that he stopped, waiting for Boyle to get a signal
from Murray; and that he too was waiting for a signal before starting
his truck. As indicated above, Jones backed his truck to the north edge
of the “refuse pile” for dumping as directed by Murray. There was
evidence that defendants’ trucks had been loading and unloading at
this plant site five or six weeks. Too, Boyle, then 18 years old, testified
that he had operated defendants’ dump truck some four months, part
of the time at this plant site, loading and unloading in accordance with
Murray’s directions. The foregoing suffices to warrant the instruction.
Indced, Boyle’s testimony, including his alleged reliance on Murray’s
directions, tends to show that the practice existed and that he was well
aware of such practice.

The crux of this case was whether Boyle backed his truck in accord-
ance with instructions from Murray. It is evident that the jury did not
accept defendants’ evidence and contention. Perhaps they thought it
unrcasonable that Murray, standing at the Jones truck then backed to
the “refuse pile” for unloading, would give directions to Boyle to back
his truek to the very same spot. Too, while Boyle and Hutchins testi-
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fied that Murray gave certain directions to Boyle, it is noteworthy
that, as indicated above, the testimony of Jones was contra.

We have discussed the assignments of error on which defendants
appear to lay major emphasis. The others are too numerous to warrant
discussion in detail. Suffice to say, each has been carefully considered;
and we find no error sufficiently prejudicial to warrant a new trial.
Indeed, the impression prevails that the case was well and fairly tried
in accordance with settled principles of law.

No error.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

JOHNNIE A. HUGHES v. ANCHOR ENTERPRISES, INC.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)
1. Negligence § 40—

An owner is charged with knowledge of an unsafe condition of the prem-
ises created by its employee in discharge of his duties, but an unsafe con-
dition created by a third party must have existed for such length of time
that the owner knew, or, by the exercise of due care, should have known
of its existence before the owner may be held responsible therefor.

2. Same—

Plaintiff’s evidence tended to show that she slipped and fell in leaving
defendant’s restaurant at a place at the entrance made slippery by reason
of soapy and slimy substances splattered on the floor by an employee in
mopping the floor. Defendant’s evidence was in conflict in material re-
spects. Held: The evidence considered in the light most favorable to
plaintiff is sufficient to require the submission of the case to the jury.

8. Evidence § 42f—
It is competent for defendant to introduce in evidence a statement in the
original complaint even though the original complaint has been superseded
as a pleading by an amended complaint.

4. Appeal and Error § 41—
The admission of testimony over objection cannot be held prejudicial
when the objecting party’s own witnesses thereafter testify to the same
import.

5. Principal and Agent § 13¢: Evidence § 42d—

Testimony of a statement made by an agent which is merely narrative
of a past occurrence and not a part of the res gestae is hearsay and incom-
petent as substantive evidence against either the principal or the agent, but
is competent as bearing upon the credibility of the agent as a witness when



132 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

HueMEs v. ENTERPRISES.

the statement is in direct conflict with the testimony of the agent at the
trial.

6. Trial § 17—

A general objection to testimony cowpetent for a restricted purpose,
without request that its admission be limited, is ineffectual. Rules of
Practice in the Supreme Court No. 21.

7. Negligence § 18—

In the absence of other relevant statements or circumstances, evidence
of an offer or promise made by a defendant or its agent to pay the hospital
and medical expenses of the injured person is not competent as an admis-
sion of negligence when the statements do not relate to the cause of plain-
tiff’s injuries.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

AppeaL by defendant from Crissman, J., July Term, 1956, of RicH-
MOND.

Civil action to recover damages on account of personal injuries sus-
tained by plaintiff, a patron, in defendant’s “Howard Johnson Restau-
rant” near Rockingham, North Carolina.

Plaintiff alleged that she slipped and fell; and that her fall and con-
sequent injuries were caused by the negligence of the defendant in
creating an unsafe condition in the area where she fell.

Defendant, answering, denied negligence; also, defendant pleaded
contributory negligence in bar of plaintiff’s right to recover.

Issues of negligence, contributory negligence and damages were an-
swered in plaintiff’s favor. The jury awarded damages in the amount
of $6,750.00.

Evidence offered in support of plaintiff's allegations tended to show
the facts narrated in the numbered paragraphs below,

1. On 13 March, 1954, plaintiff, her husband, her sister, and plain-
tiff’s two daughters by a former marriage, were on their way from
Fayetteville, North Carolina, where they resided, to Rock Hill, South
Carolina, to visit plaintiff's parents; and about 3:30 p.m. they stopped
for a meal at defendant’s restaurant.

2. The outer entrance to the restaurant consisted of double doors,
glass in metal frames, which afforded access to a vestibule; and the
inner entrance, beyond the vestibule, consisted of like doors affording
access to the interior of the restaurant premises.

3. Entering the restaurant proper, immediately to the left there was
a line of booths, the seat backs or partitions being three feet high; and
the top of the seat back or partition nearest said inner entrance was so
constructed as to constitute a plant or flower box. Beyond this, to the
left, there was an aisle three feet wide, which was a passageway to the
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booths along the front of the restaurant and to other booths across
said aisle.

4. Entering the restaurant proper, straight ahead, there was a com-
bination counter, consisting of a soda pickup, ice cream service, grocery,
candy display and cash register stand; and to the right thereof there
was a soda fountain and horseshoe counter.

5. When plaintiff and her party entered, the terrazzo floor of the
vestibule and of the area between the inner entrance and the combina-
tion counter was dry and safe. They turned left, went to the fourth
booth at the front of the restaurant; and plaintiff was so seated that
her back was toward the entrance area.

6. Thereafter, and while plaintiff was occupied with her meal, de-
fendant’s employee, with a bucket and mop, undertook to clean an area
near the inner entrance. In so doing, he left the floor of the area
between the end of the aisle and the inner entrance in a slippery condi-
tion by reason of soapy and slimy substances splattered thereon.

7. Plaintiff, unaware of the mopping or cleaning operation, finished
her meal, left the booth and walked down the aisle to leave the restau-
rant. As she turned to her right, at or near the seat back or partition
in which the plant or flower box was located, she stepped onto one of
the slippery places, slipped, fell and was injured.

Defendant’s evidence tended to show that no mopping or cleaning
had been done in any area where plaintiff walked; that the floor where
plaintiff walked was dry and in all respects in first class condition; and
that plaintiff’s injuries were not caused by any negligence on its part.

Wall, defendant’s employee, testified that he had started sweeping or
mopping; that his mop bucket contained a mixture of water and clean-
ing compound; that the cleaning compound did not make the water
slick ; and that, before plaintiff was injured, he had mopped only in the
area around the fountain, some distance from where plaintiff fell.

Bearing on the contributory negligence issue, defendant’s evidence
tended to show that plaintiff, when seated in the booth, faced the
entrance area; and that on two or more occasions before her meal was
served or eaten she went out through said entrances to see about a dog
they had left (tied) outside the restaurant. This evidence was in direct
conflict with evidence offered by plaintiff.

Batson, defendant’s witness, who was the Assistant Manager, testified
that he assisted plaintiff’s husband in taking plaintiff to the hospital.
On cross-examination, he was asked this question: “I’ll ask you if you
didn’t tell him (plaintiff’s husband) after you got to the hospital and
after you talked to Mr. Lowery (the manager of the restaurant) to get
Mrs. Hughes a good room and the best medical service that you could
get and you would take care of it?” He testified, over defendant’s
objection, as follows: “I don’t recall saying that to Mr. Hughes, sir.”
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The next question asked was this. “But you wouldn’t swear that you
didn’t tell him that, would you?” He testified, over defendant’s objec-
tion, as follows: “I don’t know exactly how I put it in words, but we
would take care of her.”

Thereafter, plaintiff’s husband, who had previously testified as plain-
tiff’s witness, was recalled for further direct examination. He was per-
mitted to testify, over defendant’s objection, as follows: “Mr. Batson
told me to go ahead and put my wife in a private room and get the best
medical care available and they would take care of it.”

Judgment for plaintiff, in accordance with the verdict, was signed
and entered. Defendant excepted and appealed. Upon appeal, defend-
ant assigns as error, inter alia, the overruling of its motions for judg-
ment of nonsuit and the admission, over objection, of certain of plain-
tiff’s evidence.

Pittman & Webb for plaintiff, appellee.

Leath & Blount and Varser, McIntyre & Henry for defendant, ap-
pellant.

Bossrrr, J. The principles of law governing the liability of the
proprietor of a store or restaurant to an invitee are well settled. They
are restated in Lee v. Green & Co., 236 N.C, 83, 72 S.E. 2d 33, where
Johnson, J., cites numerous prior decisions.

It is well to bear in mind that, when the unsafe condition is created
by a third party, it must be made to appear that it had existed for such
a length of time that the defendant knew or by the exercise of due care
should have known of its existence; but this is not required when the
unsafe condition is created by the defendant’s employee(s). The basis
of the dissent in Lee v. Green & Co., supra, is that the minority of this
Court considered the evidence insufficient to show that the alleged
unsafe condition was created by defendant’s employee(s) or the dura-
tion of its existence.

No structural defect is involved here. Plaintiff’s allegations and
evidence are that when plaintiff entered the restaurant and walked to
the booth where she was served the floor of the entrance area and aisle
was dry, safe and attractive; but that, while she was in the restaurant,
defendant, through its employee, had created the unsafe condition that
caused her to slip and fall when she undertook to use again the identical
passageways.

The evidence was sufficient, when considered in the light most favor-
able to plaintiff, to require submission of the case to the jury. Since a
new trial is awarded, for reasons stated below, we refrain from discuss-
ing the permissible inferences that may be drawn from the conflicting
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evidence presently before us. Sloan v. Glenn, ante, 55; Caudle v.
R. R., 242 N.C. 466, 88 S.E. 2d 138, and cases cited.

It is noted that defendant, in support of its contention that plaintiff
was contributorily negligent as a matter of law, quotes and relies on
an excerpt from plaintiff’s original complaint. This excerpt was offered
as evidence by defendant and admitted for jury consideration. Even
30, the case was tried on plaintiff’s amended complaint and defendant’s
answer thereto. While the excerpt from the original complaint was
competent as evidence, as a pleading it was superseded by the amended
complaint. Burrell v. Transfer Co., 244 N.C. 662, 94 S.E. 2d 829.

Testimony by plaintiff’s witnesses, admitted over objection, tended
to show that, after plaintiff fell, a man who worked in the restaurant.
referred to as the Assistant Manager, helped plaintiff’s husband assist
her to the car and carry her to the hospital.

However, Batson, a witness for defendant, testified that he was the
Assistant Manager; that he was in the kitchen when the accident oc-
curred; that when he learned of it he went to the front; that plaintiff
was then seated in said fourth booth; and that he and plaintiff’s hus-
band helped plaintiff down the aisle, out the front door and then to the
hospital. Hence, if incompetent when offered, any prejudicial effect
of said testimony by plaintiff’s witnesses was eliminated when Batson,
under direct examination, gave his said testimony.

Batson, on cross-examination, testified: “I did not tell Major Hughes
that I had told J. D. Wall not to put water in front of the door when
there were people in the restaurant and not to mop in that manner.”

When plaintiff’s husband (Major Hughes) was recalled, plaintiff’s
counsel asked this question: “Q. You testified yesterday that when you
got to your wife and while Mr. Batson was standing at the place where
she fell that Mr. Batson made a statement to you. Well, you go ahead
and tell his Honor and the jury what statement that was.” Over objec-
tion, he answered: “Mr. Batson stated to me, ‘T have told the boy not
to mop the floor like this.”” Defendant’s motion to strike was denied.

There is no evidence that Batson was present when plaintiff fell.
At that time, according to his testimony, he was back in the kitchen.
The declaration, if made, was a narrative of what Batson had told
Wall, an employee, on some unidentified past occasion. Hughes’ said
testimony was not competent against defendant as substantive evidence.

In Hubbard v. R. R., 203 N.C. 675, 166 S.E. 802, Stacy, C. J., stated
the rules of evidence relevant here as follows:

“It is the rule with us that what an agent or employee says relative
to an act presently being done by him within the scope of his ageney or
employment, is admissible as a part of the res gestae, and may be
offered in evidence, either for or against the prinecipal or employer, but
what the agent or employee says afterwards, and merely narrative of a
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past occurrence, though his agency or employment may continue as to
other matters, or generally, is only hearsay and is not competent as
against the principal or employer. . . . (Citations omitted)"

“Notwithstanding the rule just stated, it has been held in a number
of cases that what an agent or employee says, even though narrative of
a past occurrence, may be offered in evidence, not for the purpose of
fixing liability upon the principal or employer, but to contradict or to
impeach the agent or employee, when his previous statement is at vari-
ance with his testimony given on the trial. . . . (Citations omitted)”

For later decisions in accord with the rule first stated by Stacy, C. J.,
see Lee v. R. R., 237 N.C. 357, 75 S.E. 2d 143, and Stansbury, N. C.
Evidence, Section 169, and cases cited.

Batson, under direct examination, testified that when he assisted
Hughes in helping plaintiff down the aisle to the front door he observed
that the floor was dry, that it had not been mopped. Therefore, Hughes’
testimony as to Batson’s said declaration was competent for considera-
tion as bearing on the credibility of Batson and the weight to be given
his said testimony. Defendant’s objection was general, challenging the
competency of the testimony as to Batson’s said declaration for any
purpose. In view of defendant’s failure to request that it be limited to
impeachment of Batson, its admission, under the rule stated in Hubbard
v. B. R, supra, and under Rule 21, Rules of Practice in the Supreme
Court, 221 N.C. 544, 558, was not prejudicial error.

But plaintiff was not content to let the matter rest here. In the
phrase of Stacy, C. J., plaintiff went a bowshot too far.

Both on cross-examination of Batson, and more specifically on direct
examination of Hughes, when recalled for further testimony, plaintiff
elicited testimony that Batson, after reaching the hospital, told Hughes
to go ahead and put his wife in a private room and get the best medical
care available and “they” would take care of it, as set forth in detail
in the above statement of facts.

“Anything that a party to the action has said, if relevant to the issues,
is admissible against him as an admission.” Stansbury, N. C. Evidence,
Section 167; Hobbs v. Coach Co., 225 N.C. 323, 329, 34 S.E. 2d 211.

But, in accord with the weight of authority elsewhere, the rule in
this jurisdiction is that, in the absence of other relevant statements or
circumstances, evidence of an offer or promise made by the defendant
to pay the hospital and medical expenses of the injured person is not
competent as an admission of liability. The law will not stifle a party’s
disposition to succor an injured person by a red light, warning that if
he responds to generous and humanitarian impulses he does so at the
peril of having his benevolent conduct counted against him as an
admission of liability. Biddiz v. Rex Mills, 237 N.C. 660, 75 S.E. 2d
777, Patrick v. Bryan, 202 N.C. 62, 162 S.E. 207; Brown v. Wood, 201
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N.C. 309, 160 S.E. 281; Norman v. Porter, 197 N.C. 222, 148 S.E. 41;
Barber v. R. R., 193 N.C. 691, 138 S.E. 17; Annotation: 20 A.L.R. 2d
291. See also, Cab Co. v. Casualty Co., 219 N.C. 788, 15 S.E. 2d 295.

Brogden, J., in Brown v. Wood, supre, has reminded us that a con-
trary rule would consider the services of the Samaritan, whom the ages
have called Good, in behalf of the man found stripped and wounded, an
admission of liability for his condition rather than the actions of a man
having compassion on his unfortunate neighbor.

True, cases arise in which the testimony goes well beyond an offer
or promise to pay the hospital and medical bills of the injured person.
Other cases arise in which the testimony falls short of an offer or prom-
ise to pay such bills. An analysis of certain of our decisions may be
helpful.

In Gibson v. Whitton, 239 N.C. 11, 79 S.E. 2d 196, and in Jerntgan v.
Jernigan, 238 N.C. 444, 78 S.E. 2d 179, and in Hobbs v. Coach Co.,
supra, the testimony related to statements made by a defendant whose
alleged negligent operation of a motor vehicle was the basis of plain-
tiff’s cause of action. In the Jernigan case, the statement attributed to
defendant was that “he could have stopped before he hit the Capps
car” and that “there would have been several ways he could have
missed Capps’ car, without hitting.” In the Gibson case, the statement
attributed to the defendant was that he would take care of everything
and plaintiff had nothing to worry about. In the Hobbs case, the state-
ment attributed to the defendant (driver) was that he had gone to sleep
and didn’t know what happened. Evidence of such statements was held
competent on the issue of the declarant’s alleged negligence. It should
be noticed that in the Hobbs case, the evidence was admitted as to the
declarant, the defendant driver, but excluded as to his employer, the
corporate defendant.

Here the declarations attributed to Batson do not relate to what
caused plaintiff’s injuries. Indeed, he was not present on the occasion
of her injury. Nor was he a party to this action.

Another type of case is illustrated by Brown v. Wood, supra. Plain-
tiff’s injuries arose out of an automobile collision. Wood, the owner,
was not present when the collision occurred. Plaintiff alleged that
Sanders, the driver, was operating the car as Wood’s agent. The trial
court sustained Wood’s motion for judgment of nonsuit, for lack of
evidence as to the alleged agency; but submitted the cause to the jury
as to Sanders. Upon plaintiff’s appeal from said judgment of nonsuit,
statements attributed to Wood when he visited plaintiff in the hospital
were considered. The conclusion reached was that Wood’s offer or
promise to pay plaintiff’s medical and hospital bills, if this were all,
would not be competent; but that, when he went further and assured
plaintiff that he would see “that everything was all right” the evidence
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should have been admitted as relevant to Wood’s liability. These facts
are important: (1) Wood had no personal knowledge as to how the
collision occurred; (2) thére was plenary evidence of the negligence of
Sanders; and (3) the liability feature of the case to which the evidence
was addressed was the liability of Wood for the negligent acts of
Sanders.

Here the situation is different. Admittedly, the mopping or cleaning
was done by Wall, defendant’s agent. The crucial question was whether
it was done in the area where plaintiff fell, as contended by her, or over
near the fountain, some distance from where plaintiff fell, as contended
by defendant. Wall’s agency is not in dispute. Hence, the theory on
which Brown v. Wood, supra, was decided, has no application here.

In Barber v. R. R., supra, it was in evidence, without objection, that
immediately after plaintiff’s injury he was placed in the baggage car of
defendant’s train, taken to Danville, Virginia, and carried to the hos-
pital there for treatment by Dr. Miller. Plaintiff was permitted to
testify, over objection, that defendant sent him to Dr. Miller for treat-
ment,

This Court regarded Barber v. R. R., supra, as a borderline case.
The fact that plaintiff was taken to the hospital was considered rele-
vant, the extent of plaintiff’s injuries being in controversy. Apart from
this, the evidence to which objection was made did not add appreciably
to the testimony theretofore admitted without objection.

Here Batson testified that he assisted Hughes take plaintiff to the
hospital. Had plaintiff stopped there, a different situation would con-
front us. Indeed, the final instruction to the jury was this: “. . . the
Court charges you that the mere fact that the management of the
defendant was solicitous of the plaintiff’s condition on this occasion
would not of itself indicate or create any liability on the part of the
defendant.” (Italics added.)

But plaintiff pressed on, undertaking to show a specific offer or prom-
ise by Batson that “they” would pay all bills for a private room in the
hospital and for the best medical care available. When the court, in the
quoted final instruction, told the jury that mere solicitude would not
of itself indicate or create liability, the failure to refer to the admitted
incompetent evidence as to a specific promise to pay the hospital and
medical bills would seem to accentuate the prejudicial effect thereof.

Under the facts here, the court was in error in admitting the testimony
as to Batson’s specific promise that defendant would pay the hospital
and medical bills incurred in the treatment of plaintiff’s injuries; and
in a case such as this, where the evidence was in sharp conflict as to the
cause of plaintiff’s injuries, the error must be regarded sufficiently
prejudicial to necessitate a new trial.
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Questions posed by other assignments of error may not arise when

the cause is tried again.

New trial.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

ARTHUR M. DEBRUHL aNp Wirg, JANIE W. DeBRUHL, PETITIONERS, V.

STATE HIGHWAY & PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION, RESPONDENT.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Evidence § 25: Trial § 5% —

Where a pretrial order fixes the issue to be submitted to the jury, such
issue becomes the theory upon which the case must be tried, and evidence
irrelevant to such issue is incompetent.

2. Eminent Domain § 18c—

Where, in condemnation proceedings, a pretrial order establishes that
petitioner is entitled to recover compensation only for the value of the
land taken execluding the value of a house thereon, evidence as to the value
of the house is not germane, and when voluminous testimony as to the
value of the house is admitted and it is apparent that such testimony
affected the verdict, the admission of such testimony must be held preju-
dicial notwithstanding an instruction to the jury that it should not consider
the testimony as to the value of the house.

8. Appeal and Error § 41—

Where voluminous evidence as to an item of damages not recoverable
upon the issue upon which the case was tried is admitted and it is obvious
from the verdict that the jury considered such incompetent testimony in
fixing the amount of damages, the admission of such testimony must be
held prejudicial notwithstanding an instruction to the jury that they
should not consider evidence as to such item of damages.

4. Appeal and Error § 2—

Where a new trial is awarded on respondent’s appeal for error in the
admission of evidence as to an item of damage not recoverable upon the
theory upon which the case was tried, but petitioners maintain that the
theory of trial erroneously excluded certain items of damage, which con-
tention could not be presented on respondent’s appeal from the verdict in
favor of petitioners, the Supreme Court may nevertheless determine the
basic question in order to avoid protraction of the litigation.

5. Contracts § 8—

The legal effect of the language in a written instrument is a question of
law to be determined by the court.
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6. Same—

In censtruing a written instrument, the court must seek to ascertain
from the language used, the subject matter, the end in view and the pur-
pose sought to be accomplished, the Intention of the parties at the time
the document was executed.

7. Same—

All instruments should receive a sensible and reasonable construction
and not one which will lead to absurd consequences or unjust results.

8. Highways § 8b—

The State Highway and Public Works Commission was created for the
purpose of constructing and maintaining the State highways, and all other
powers it possesses are incidental to the purpose of its creation. G.S.
136-18. Therefore, in acquiring a right of way it has no power to acquire
title to any building or part of a building not within the boundaries of
the right of way sought, no more by deed than by condemnation.

9. Eminent Domain § 9—Right-of-way agreement held not to give Commis-
sion title to residence but gave owners right to remove that part lying
within the right of way acquired.

The owner of land executed an option to the State Highway and Public
Works Commission which stated that it included the purchase price of a
residence and any and all other improvements on the right of way sought,
less their salvage value, with provision that a stipulated amount should
be paid upon delivery of the right-of-way agreement and the balance paid
when the dwelling was removed from the right of way. The right-of-way
agreement and release later executed provided that the owners agreed to
remove the dwelling, in lieu of salvage materials, by a stipulated time or
the same should become the property of the Commission. Only a small
part of the dwelling was within the boundaries of the right of way then
sought. Later the Commission, in making improvements, condemned the
rest of petitioners’ land. Held: The Commission did not acquire title to
the residence under the right-of-way agreement, but gave petitioners the
right to remove that portion thereof which was within the right of way
then sought, and upon the later condemnation of the rest of the tract, the
petitioners are entitled to have the value of the residence considered upon
the question of the amount of compensation.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.
BoseirT, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

AppeaL by defendant from Froneberger, J., March Term 1956 of
BuNcoMEE,

This is a condemnation proceeding authorized by G.S. 136-19.

Prior to December 1948 plaintiffs were the owners of & lot on the
south side of Druid Drive in Asheville. The lot was fifty feet in width
and approximately 148 feet deep. Situate on the lot was a brick resi-
dence occupied by plaintiffs. For the purpose of relocating and improv-
ing Highways 19 and 23, the Highway Commission, in 1948, took an
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option from plaintiffs for a portion of their property. The option was
exercised in January 1949. This acquisition was in connection with
Highway Project 9075.

In 1952 the Highway Commission, deeming further improvements to
Highways 19 and 23 advisable, set up Project 9086 for that purpose.
To consummate the Commission’s purpose, it was necessary to acquire
all of plaintiff’s remaining property rights. The Commission, on 7 May
1952, gave notice that it had appropriated plaintiffs’ property. Plain-
tiffs, in due time, instituted this proceeding, alleging ownership of the
lot with the building thereon, subject to the easement acquired by
defendant in 1949. Defendant answered, admitting that plaintiffs were
the owners of the land taken by it. It denied, however, that plaintiffs
were the owners of the building or any part of the building, asserting
that it owned the building by virtue of the purchase made in 1949.
Commissioners were appointed for the purpose of ascertaining compen-
sation to which plaintiffs were entitled. The commissioners held hear-
ings and made reports stating separately the value of the building and
the value of the land. Plaintiffs and defendant each filed exceptions
to the reports. The clerk overruled the exceptions and entered judg-
ment confirming the reports, From this judgment the parties appealed
to the Superior Court.

The issue to be submitted to the jury was fixed at a pretrial hearing
in October 1954. Plaintiffs excepted to the order fixing the issue and
appealed. The appeal was dismissed as premature but without preju-
dice to the rights of plaintiffs. See 241 N.C. 616, 86 S.E. 2d 200.

Judge Froneberger held a pretrial conference. He concluded the
issue settled in 1954 was correct.

The cause was submitted to the jury on the issue fixed at the pretrial
hearing; viz.: “What amount are petitioners entitled to recover of
respondent for the land, excluding the house thereon, condemned for
highway purposes on the 7th day of May 1952?” The jury assessed the
damages at $12,500. Judgment was entered on the verdict. Defendant
excepted and appealed. Additional facts necessary to a determination
of the appeal will be set out in the opinion.

Sanford W. Brown for petitioner appellees.
R. Brookes Peters and McLean, Gudger, Elmore & Martin for re-
spondent appellant.

Ropmaw, J. The basic question in this case is: What is the property
for which compensation is to be paid? At the pretrial conference in
October 1954 the court concluded that compensation was to be paid for
the land taken, excluding any house thereon. The order fixing the issue
to be submitted to the jury became the theory on which the case was to
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be tried. So long as that remained the pattern on which the case was
to be tried, the evidence should be confined to the value of the land.
Evidence tending to show the value of the house was not germane and
hence was not competent. Godfrey v. Power Co., 190 N.C. 24, 128 S.E.
485; Connor v. Mfg. Co., 197 N.C. 66, 147 S.E. 672; Shepherd v. Lum-
ber Co., 166 N.C. 130, 81 S.E. 1064; Moore v. Horne, 153 N.C. 413,
69 S.E. 409; Sprinkle v. Ponder, 233 N.C. 312, 64 S.E. 2d 171. Where
it is apparent that the incompetent evidence affected the verdict of the
jury, the admission of such evidence is prejudicial error. 8. v, Page,
215 N.C. 333, 1 8.E. 2d 887; Deming v. Gainey, 95 N.C. 528,

Plaintiffs consistently assert that the theory on which the case was
tried is not correct and unduly circumscribes their right to compensa-
tion. To protect and preserve their rights they offered evidence as to
the value of the land and the house. This evidence was extensive. The
evidence so offered was admitted over objection by the defendant. The
evidence and statement of contentions with respect thereto in the charge
of the court form the basis of more than 200 exceptions. While many
of these exceptions may be lacking in substantial merit, enough remain
to make it appear that the verdict was affected by the incompetent
evidence.

Arthur DeBruhl was permitted, over objection, to testify to the size
of his house, its width and depth, the direction it faced, its location
with respect to the northern line of the right of way acquired in 1949,
that this line passed some two feet north of the southeast corner of his
home and six feet north of the southwest corner. He exhibited a map
which showed the lot and house thereon with the north right-of-way line
indicated by a red line. He testified the house had seven rooms, de-
scribing the size of each room, the kind of flooring to be found in each
room, the kind and number of bath fixtures and where located, the type
of water heater, the kind of electric range and other electric fixtures
with which the house was equipped, the kind of walls and kind of paint
used on the different walls, the kind of furnace used to heat the house,
the number of rooms on the second floor, with a description of the stair-
way leading to the second floor, the kind of roof, the size of the base-
ment, the size and kind of porches, and the tapestry brick used to veneer
the house. TFor the purpose of illustrating his testimony he offered
photographs and a floor diagram of the house. He was asked his opin-
ion of the fair market value of the land.on 7 May 1952. He replied:
“It was $200.00 a front foot.” It is not disputed that the lot has a
frontage of fifty feet. Hence, applying plaintiff’s value to the land, the
jury should have answered the issue $10,000. Immediately after plain-
tiff fixed the value of the land alone he was asked: “What was the
value in dollars of the entire property?” He replied: “$22,800.00.”
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Four other witnesses were used by plaintiffs to establish their claim
for compensation. None were called upon to express an opinion as to
the value of the land without the house.

Witness McKinney was asked his opinion of “the fair, reasonable
market value of the DeBruhl property north of the red line on Druid
Drive, on May 7, 1952.” He replied: “From $14,000 to $15,000. After
the end of that building was taken off.”” Witness Whitaker, responding
to a similar question, fixed the value at $17,500. Witness Riddle fixed
the value at $15,500, and Mrs. DeBruhl placed the value at $22,800.

The jury fixed the value of the land without the house at $12,500. We
are unable to find any evidence in the record to support the verdict.
There is plenary evidence in the record to support the verdict if com-
pensation is to be paid for that portion of the house beyond the north
line of the right of way acquired by defendant in 1949. That the evi-
dence with respect to the house, detailed and minute as it was, affected
the verdict is too apparent to admit of debate, and this is so notwith-
standing the express instruction given the jury at the request of de-
fendant. “You will not consider any evidence in this case concerning
any house that may have becn located upon the lands appropriated by
the respondent for highway purposes.”

Counsel for appellees, with commendable frankness, says: “If re-
spondent did own the remainder of the dwelling or had paid for damages
to 1t, it is obvious that error was committed in permitting testimony as
to the value of the remainder of the dwelling.”

To remand the case for a new trial without more would leave the
basic question stated in the beginning of the opinion unsettled and
would, we apprehend, result in protracted litigation which may be
avoided if that question is now answered. Normally questions not
determinative of the appeal are not decided, but in this instance we feel
justified in answering the question essential to a correct solution of this
case. We have the benefit of the briefs filed at the Spring Term 1955
which are directed at that identical question,

The parties are in agreement that the question does not involve any
issue of fact. The answer is to be found upon a construction of the
written instruments executed in 1948 and 1949 in connection with the
construction of Project 9075 and is a question of law to be determined
by the court. Brown v. Hodges, 232 N.C. 537, 61 S.E. 2d 603.

On 2 December 1948 plaintiffs gave to defendant an option to pur-
chase a specifically described right of way for highway purposes. Fol-
lowing the description fixing the boundaries of the right of way, the
option provides: “This option also includes the purchase price of a 1%
story brick veneer residence and any and all other improvements on
said right of way, less their salvage value. The property owners re-
serve the right herein to oceupy said residence for a period of 12 months
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from date of this option and shall have the right during said 12 months
period of time to remove the dwelling and other improvements from the
right of way, which operation shall be at the expense of the property
owners in lieu of the salvage materials therein. Failure to remove the
said residence and/or improvements within the time allotted, they shall
become the property of the State Highway & Public Works Commission
and shall therefore be disposed of at the option of the Commission.”
(Emphasis added.) Then follow provisions fixing the time within which
the option may be exercised and the amount to be paid if the option is
exercised. Following these provisions is a paragraph: “And it is fur-
ther understood and agreed that the consideration herein stipulated to
be paid shall be paid and received in full payment of the purchase price
of said right of way and in full compensation for all damages, if any,
result from the granting of this option and of this right of way, and the
construction of said streets, roads and/or sidewalks upon said right of
way across said lands.” (Emphasis added.) Then follows: “Nore:
It is understood and agreed by all parties hereto that $4,200 shall be
paid upon delivery of a duly executed right of way agreement to the
Commission, and the balance of $500.00 shall be paid when dwelling has
been removed from the right of way.” (Emphasis added.)

Defendant exercised its option to purchase, and on 21 January 1949
plaintiffs executed a “RieHT OF WAY AGREEMENT,” conveying the right
of way and the rights called for in conformity with the option. On the
same day plaintiffs executed a “RELEASE oF CLAalM FOR RIGHT or WAY
AND Damace.” This release, after reciting payment of $4,200 for the
damages sustained for the relocation of the highway, provides: “We
further agree herein to remove brick dwelling from aforesaid right of
way on or before December 2, 1949, at our expense in lieu of the salvage
materials therein, or the same shall become the property of the State
Highway Commission and shall therefore be disposed of at the option
of the State Highway Commission without further obligation to we, the
undersigned.

“Right of way appropriation and purchase price of

brick dwelling ... $4,700
“Less amount held until building is moved............. 500
“Partial Payment.................. 4,200”

Plaintiffs contend that the defendants purchased and paid for and
hence acquired only that portion of the building within the right of
way. Defendant, on the other hand, asserts it paid for and acquired
both the portion within and outside of the right of way.

Courts, in construing written instruments, seek to ascertain the in-
tention of the parties at the time the document was executed. “The
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heart of a contract is the intention of the parties, which is to be ascer-
tained from the expressions used, the subject matter, the end in view,
the purpose sought, and the situation of the parties at the time.” Elec-
tric Co. v. Insurance Co., 229 N.C. 518, 50 S.E. 2d 295.

“An elementary rule invoked in the construetion of contracts requires
the court to ascertain the intention of the parties, and to do this note
must be taken of the purpose to be accomplished, the situation of the
parties when they made, and the subject-matter of the contract.” U. 8.
v. D. L. Taylor Co., 268 ¥. 635; Jones v. Casstevens, 222 N.C. 411,
23 S.E. 2d 303; Rhyne v. Rhyne, 151 N.C. 400, 66 S.E. 348.

“All instruments should receive a sensible and reasonable construc-
tion, and not such a one as will lead to absurd consequences or unjust
results . . .7 Fairbanks v. Supply Co., 170 N.C. 315, 86 S.E. 1051.

When we apply this rule to the facts of this case, it is apparent, we
think, that the parties never contemplated, in 1948 and in 1949, that
defendant was acquiring more than a right of way across the lands of
plaintiffs with the incidental right to have its right of way freed from
any use and occupancy by plaintiff. Hence, plaintiffs were given the
right within twelve months to move the house. Plaintiffs were to have
such materials as they could salvage in moving the house or in cutting
off the portion of the house within the right of way. To guarantee that
plaintiff’s would clear the right of way of any portion of the house, the
Commission retained $500, which was to be paid when the whole house
or the portion of it in the right of way was cut off and moved from the
right of way. The agreement was, by express language, “to remove
brick building from aforesaid right of way on or before December 2,
1949, at our expense . . .” Only a small portion of the house was
within the boundaries of the right of way. According to plaintiffs’ con-
tention, only some two feet was within the right of way. According to
defendant, some ten to fifteen feet was within the right of way. In any
event, it would seem that the portion within the right of way could have
been removed without destroying the value of the remainder for resi-
dential purposes. Certainly it would not be argued that $500 retained
by the Commission was for the purchase of the entire residence. If
defendant, as it now contends, was the owner of the entire building,
why should it retain $500 to insure the destruction of a building of no
value to nor wanted by it, but having distinet value to plaintiffs? Isit
not clear that the $500 retained was intended to reimburse the Highway
Commission for the cost of removing the portion of the building from
the right of way if plaintiffs neglected to do so within the time fixed?

Defendant is the State agency created for the purpose of constructing
and maintaining our public highways. All the other powers it possesses
are incidental to the purpose for which it was created, G.S. 136-18. The
Commission was not authorized to purchase residences not needed in the
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construction or maintenance of our highway system. Had defendant
condemned a right of way across plaintiffs’ land in 1949, it would not
have acquired any title to any building or part of a building not within
the boundaries of the right of way. A deed conveying a right of way
gives the grantee no more rights than he would acquire by condemna-
tion. Shepard v. R. R., 140 N.C. 391. Of course, it would have been
obligated to pay just compensation for all the damages suffered by the
property owner in the relocation of the highways then under construc-
tion. Proctor v. Highway Commission, 230 N.C. 687, 55 S.E. 2d 479;
Highway Commission v, Black, 239 N.C. 198, 79 S.E. 2d 778.

Since defendant did not acquire, in 1948 and 1949, any portion of the
building or land lying outside the right of way conveyed to it, it follows
that plaintiffs are entitled to be fairly compensated for the part of the
house as well as the land taken by the Highway Commission. The
amount to be paid must be determined upon an appropriate issue sub-
mitted at a time when both plaintiffs and defendant have an oppor-
tunity to submit evidence as to the value of the property so taken.

For the errors committed there must be a

New trial.

JounsoN, J., not sitting.

Bossrrt, J., took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

STATE v. JAMES DAVIS anp JAMES E. McCALL.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings § 11—

Upon an indictment charging possession, without lawful excuse, of a
crowbar, hack saw and automatic pistol, in a prosecution under G.S. 14-55,
without charge or evidence of possession of such implements with intent
to use them for the purpose of unlawfully and feloniously breaking and
entering, the State’s evidence of possession, with further testimony that
the crowbar and hack saw were ordinary implements used by carpenters
and mechanics, and without contention that either is an implement de-
signed for the purpose of housebreaking or that in combination they may
not be used for legitimate purposes, is insufficient to be submitted to the
jury.

2. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings § 6-—

In a prosecution under G.S. 14-53, the burden is on the State to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the possession of the implements specified
was “without lawful excuse” within the spirit of the statute, and the
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possession of a pistol for personal protection, even though unauthorized,
cannot be unlawful possession within the meaning of the statute.

JoHNsoN, J., not sitting.

ArpeAL by the defendant MecCall from Williams, J., February Term
1956 of CUMBERLAND.

The defendants James Davis and James E. McCall were jointly
indicted in one bill for larceny of an automobile, and in another charg-
ing that they unlawfully, wilfully, and feloniously did have and possess,
without lawful excuse, certain implements of housebreaking, to wit, one
crowbar, one hack saw, and one automatic pistol, in violation of G.S.
14-55. The cases were consolidated and tried together.

The State’s evidence tends to show that the defendants were first seen
about 1:30 a.m. on 11 January 1956 in a 1953 Oldsmobile near Dowd’s
Grocery Store on Water Street in the City of Fayetteville, MecCall was
driving the car and Davis was beside him. They pulled away from the
grocery store and went down the street a short distance and turned
around. They got mixed up in traffic and the officer who saw them on
Water Street caught up with them on Eastern Boulevard about 15
minutes later. He followed them and stopped them on the Old Wil-
mington Road, near Campbell Avenue. He checked MecCall’s driver’s
license and made inquiry about the ownership of the car; he was told
it had been borrowed from a soldier whom Davis knew. The officer
saw part of a hack saw sticking out from under the front seat. Davis
was requested to get out of the car and the officer found a crowbar under
the front seat and a .25 automatic pistol in the glove compartment,
with one bullet in it. A pair of pliers was also found in the glove com-
partment by another officer. The defendants did not have a key to the
trunk of the car.

According to the State’s evidence, McCall admitted that the pistol
and the tools belonged to him. Both defendants told the officers they
were plasterers’ helpers and used the tools in their work. The evidence
is to the effect that the crowbar was the type in general use in construc-
tion work and can be bought in any hardware store; that the pliers were
the same type most anyone would have in the home and in his auto-
mobile, and the hack saw was of the ordinary type one could buy in any
hardware store in the State; that they were common tools used by
carpenters and mechanics. The evidence is in conflict as to where and
when McCall obtained the pistol.

The State’s evidence further tends to show that MeCall drove the
Oldsmobile to his work on Monday. According to the arresting officer,
the arrest took place on Tuesday, 12 January 1956, about 1:30 a.m.
The indictment gave the date as 11 January 1956. Other evidence of
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the State tends to show the arrest was actually made on Tuesday, about
1:30 a.m., on 10 January 1956. (As a matter of fact, 12 January 1956
fell on Thursday following the trip to Durham made by the defendants
on the previous Sunday, 8 January 1956.)

The arresting officer testified “I had no information or knowledge
that these tools were to be used by these defendants . . . for the pur-
pose of housebreaking or for burglary purposes. It came to my mind
that that is probably what they were to be used for. I was suspicious
that is what they intended to use them for. I have no proof that they
intended to use them in breaking and entering or for working or for
anything.”

The evidence of the defendants tends to show that Davis, accom-
panied by Mack Williams, drove the Oldsmobile to the home of McCall
on the Sunday prior to the time of their arrest, and requested him to
drive the car to Durham. Neither Davis nor Williams had a driver’s
license. MeCall testified that he owned the gun found in the glove
compartment of the car; that he carried it with him for protection;
that he put the pistol and the pliers in the glove compartment hefore
he left for Durham on Sunday; that he got the tools out of his father’s
car and put them in the Oldsmobile; that Davis told him he didn’t
have any tools in the Oldsmobile and he got the tools so they could
change a tire if he had a blowout; that “the hack saw was just there
with the crowbar and I took them all.” He further testified that he
had been employed in construction work for about a year by R. B.
Benton for whom his father also worked; that he (the defendant) used
these tools (referring to those introduced in evidence) in his work.
According to the evidence, the defendant did have to change a tirc on
the Durham trip, and Davis had to get into the trunk through the back
seat of the car to get the spare tire because they did not have a key
to the trunk.

The defendant McCall admitted on cross-examination that he had
been in Juvenile Court on several occasions charged with breaking and
entering, but was convicted of such an offense only once; that he was
convicted in September 1953 and given a sentence of two years. At the
time of the trial below the defendant MeCall was 17 years of age.

After the State rested and the defendants rested, the State recalled
its first witness, C. D. McLaurin, the arresting officer, who testified
that he had to chase the defendants in order to eatch up with them at a
speed of 75 to 80 miles an hour. The defendant Davis on cross-exami-
nation had denied that they had driven 75 miles an hour, and further
testified that they had not tried “to give the officers the slip.”

At the close of all the evidence, the solicitor announced that the
State would take a nol-pros as to the defendant McCall on the charge
of larceny of the automobile. The defendant Davis was convicted on
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both counts, and the defendant McCall was convicted on the count
charging him with the possession, without lawful excuse, of certain
implements of housebreaking. From the judgment imposed on the
defendant McCall, he appeals, assigning error.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Bruton for
the State.
Henry C. Blair and L. 8. High for appellant.

Denny, J. The most serious question on this appeal is whether or
not we should sustain the defendant’s assignments of error based on
exceptions duly entered to the refusal of the court below to allow his
motion for judgment as of nonsuit interposed at the close of the State’s
evidence and renewed at the close of all the evidence.

The indictment upon which the defendant was tried and convicted
was based on the provisions of G.S. 14-55, which read as follows: “If
any person shall be found armed with any dangerous or offensive
weapon, with the intent to break or enter a dwelling, or other building
whatsoever, and to commit a felony or other infamous crime therein; or
shall be found having in his possession, without lawful excuse, any
pick-lock, key, bit or other implement of housebreaking; or shall be
found in any such building, with intent to commit a felony or other
infamous crime therein, such person shall be guilty of a felony and
punished by fine or imprisonment in the State’s prison, or both, in the
discretion of the court.”

The State is relying upon the cases of S. v. Vick, 213 N.C. 235, 195
S.E. 779, and S. v. Baldwin, 226 N.C. 295, 37 S.E. 2d 898, to sustain the
verdict below. On the other hand, the defendant is relying upon the
case of S. v. Boyd & Wilborn, 223 N.C. 79, 25 S.E. 2d 456, for a reversal
thereof.

In the case of S. v. Vick, supra, the indictment charged that the
defendant did unlawfully, wilfully, and feloniously, without lawful
excuse, have in his possession certain pick-locks, keys, bits, hammers,
crowbars, nitroglycerin, dynamite caps, fuses, drills, soap, shotguns,
rifles, axes and other implements for housebreaking contrary to the form
of the statute. About 4:00 o’clock on a morning in May 1935, officers
of Nash County were searching for one Alfred Denton, an escaped
convict. They went to the home of one Bottoms at Gold Valley and
waited. They saw an automobile approach Bottoms’ home and drove
out to meet, it with their lights off. When the officers got within 150 or
200 yards of the approaching automobile they turned their lights on.
Denton was driving the approaching car and attempted to turn around.
In doing so he cut the wheels in a ditch and the car was unable to move.
The officers recognized this defendant in the car with Denton. As the
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officers approached the car Denton opened fire with a pistol. The
defendant picked up a rifle and shot at them from the rear seat. The
officers returned the fire. Whereupon Denton and Vick got out of the
car and escaped, using their car as a shield, but were apprehended later.

The defendant made no contention that the articles found in the
possession of Denton and the defendant were not implements of house-
breaking. His defense was bottomed entirely on an alibi. He was
convicted and appealed to this Court, which found no error in the trial
below. In disposing of the appeal, this Court, speaking through Barn-
hill, J. (later C. J.), said: “There are many facts of which the court
may take judicial notice, and they should take notice of whatever is,
or ought to be, generally known within the limits of their jurisdiction,
for justice does not require that courts profess to be more ignorant than
the rest of mankind. 15 R.C.L., 1057. It is not unusual for the court
to take judicial notice that certain weapons not specifically described
in the statute are deadly weapons. They likewise take notice of other
like generally known facts. While each of the articles found in the
possession of the defendant has its legitimate use, it cannot be said
that taken in combination these articles are tools of any legitimate
trade or calling. There is no legitimate purpose for which this defend-
ant and his companion could have the combination of articles found in
their possession. On the other hand, taken in combination, they are
the instruments and tools usually possessed and used by housebreakers.”

In 8. v. Baldwin, supra, the bill of indictment charged the defendant
“unlawfully, wilfully and feloniously was found armed with and having
in his possession without lawful excuse certain dangerous and offensive
weapons, to wit: One 18” Stillson wrench, one brace #4310, one 14”
drill, one 54 ¢” drill, one 344" drill, one ,30” drill, five detonatlng caps,
two ﬁashhght batteries Ray O Vac one burgess super service battery,
2” cell, one pair brown gloves, one way pack pickle jar containing two
sticks of dynamite, four .32 calibre bullets, one drill chuck key, one
bottle containing paregoric and other implements of dangerous and
offensive nature fitted and designed for use in burglary or other house-
breakings or for the use in burglary with explosives with intent to so
use said tmplements for the purpose of unlawfully and feloniously
breaking and entering a dwelling or other building against the form of
the statute in such case made and provided . . .” (Emphasis added.)
The second count charged that the defendant had in his possession,
without lawful excuse, the articles enumerated in the first count in the
bill. At the close of all the evidence, the State took a voluntary nonsuit
on the first count which charged the defendant with having such tools
and other implements “with intent to so use said implements for the
purpose of unlawfully and feloniously breaking and entering a dwelling
or other building.”
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In the case of S. v. Boyd, supra, the implements found in the posses-
sion of the defendants were enumerated in the bill of indictment as
follows: “3 pistols with cartridges for same, bolt clippers, wrecking
bar, two big screwdrivers, 2 pairs of gloves and flashlights, blackjack,
brace and bit, and pliers or nippers and other implements of dangerous
and offensive nature fitted and designed for use in burglary or other
housebreaking or for use in burglary with explosives.”

The Highway Patrolman who arrested the defendants testified that
when he stopped them, Wilborn said, in the presence and hearing of
Boyd, that “they had that stuff in there for their protection”; that “they
had been stopped with some liquor and had some liquor taken from
them.” On cross-examination, the Patrolman continued: “The bolt
clippers are what is known as a bolt clipper or cutter, is used for cutting
bolts, are part of a mechanic’s tools—you can use them to cut most
anything-—they are used around a garage . . . The brace and bit is a
common tool of the carpenter, I would say . . . The screwdriver you
see in every garage and in homes, that is a very common tool . . . I
believe the wrecking bar is an ordinary wrecking bar—nothing unusual
about it . . . a lot of mechanics have them and use them . . . This
little screwdriver is an ordinary screwdriver . . . You can buy them
anywhere, and the same thing about the pliers—they are used around
garages and filling stations, and carpenters and electricians use them—
everyone should have flashlights. . . . Mr. Wilborn told me that he
had the pistol for protection—that he had some liquor taken off of him
. . . Mr. Boyd said that he was just riding with him as a passenger.
Mr. Wilborn said he was a mechaniec. That was what he said that he
had followed the trade of a mechanic for a long number of years and
these were his tools.”

On the present appeal, the defendants are not charged with possessing
a single item or tool enumerated in G.S. 14-55. In fact, the indictment
enumerates a crowbar, which is an ordinary tool, according to the
State’s evidence, used by carpenters and mechanics, and an ordinary
hack saw that may be purchased in any hardware store in the State.
However, if the State had been in a position to indict and prove that
these defendants had possession of these tools, “with intent to so use
said implements for the purpose of unlawfully and feloniously breaking
and entering a dwelling or other building,” we would have an entirely
different question for consideration and determination. But the State
expressly negatives any knowledge or proof of any such intent and
purpose on the part of the defendants. Moreover, there is no contention
on the part of the State that the crowbar or hack saw is an implement
designed for the purpose of housebreaking, or that in combination they
may not be used for legitimate purposes.



152 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

BRUNBON v. GAINEY,

In the last cited case, Winborne, J. (now C. J.), pointed out that
under the English cases, “. . . when a person is charged with posses-
sion of an implement of housebreaking, the burden of proving lawful
excuse is on the person so charged, that burden is discharged by the
accused if he prove that the alleged implement of housebreaking, capa~-
ble of being used for that purpose, is a tool used by him in his trade or
calling.” He further said, “The phrase ‘without lawful excuse’ must
be construed in the spirit of the statute. And, even though the posses-
sion of the pistols and blackjack be unlawful, and even though the
.defendants possessed the pistols and blackjack for the purpose of per-
sonal protection in the unlawful transportation of intoxicating liquor,
in accordance with statement of defendant Wilborn, such possession is
not within the meaning of the statute in question.” The judgment of
the Superior Court was reversed as to both defendants.

The above cited cases, however, do not relieve the State of the burden
of showing beyond a reasonable doubt that the possession of the tools
enumerated in the bill of indictment was without lawful excuse.

While the record of this 17-year-old defendant is bad for housebreak-
ing, his intent and purpose in having possession of the enumerated tools
and pistol constituted no part of the erime charged in the bill of indiect-
ment upon which he was tried. The sole question for the determination
of the jury was simply this: Did the defendants have possession of
these tools without lawful excuse? :

We have reached the conclusion that the State failed to offer sufficient
evidence to sustain the verdict from which the defendant McCall ap-
peals. His motion for judgment as of nonsuit should have been sus-
tained.

The judgment of the Superior Court against the defendant James E.
MecCall is

Reversed.

JoHNsON, J., not sitting.

OTIS C. BRUNSON, ApMINISTRATOR OF BOBBY RAY BRUNSON, Minor CHILD,
Decgasepd, v. HAROLD HARTWELL GAINEY.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)
1. Automobiles § 19—

If, under the circumstances, a reasonably prudent man could foresee and
anticipate that an emergency would arise as a result of defendant’s own
conduct, defendant may not excuse himself on the ground that he was
called upon to act in the emergency thus created.
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2. Automobiles § 25—

A motorist is required by statute to operate his vehicle so as not to
endanger or be likely to endanger any person or property, and to reduce
speed when special hazards exist with respect to a narrow or winding road-
way, pedestrians or other traffic. G.8. 20-140, G.S. 20-141.

8. Automobiles § 34—

A motorist approaching a place where he knows children of tender years
are likely to be on or near the highway is under duty to exercise care for
their protection in recognition of their childish impulses.

4. Automobiles § 46—Evidence held to require instruction that doctrine of
sudden emergency does not apply if defendant's own negligence causes
emergency.

There was evidence from which the jury could find that defendant knew
he was approaching a place where children of tender years were likely to
be on the highway, that defendant was traveling along the dirt road in the
area at 40 miles per hour, and that when the child which defendant struck
was first visible he was in the center of the road, without anything to
obstruct vision for a distance of 350 yards, but that defendant was less
than 150 feet from the child when he first observed him. Defendant con-
tended to the contrary that the child suddenly ran in front of his car.
Held: It was error for the court to charge on the doctrine of sudden emer-
gency without also charging, in response to apt request, that a person
whose own negligence brings about the emergency may not rely thereon to
excuse his negligent conduct, it being a permissible inference from the
evidence that the emergency was due to defendant’s excessive speed or
failure to maintain a proper lookout.

JOoHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpeAL by plaintiff from Hobgood, J., February 1956 Regular Term
of HARNETT.

Plaintiff seeks to recover damages for the death of a three-year-old
son who was struck and killed by an automobile operated by defendant.
The tragedy occurred 6 May 1955 on a rural road. Plaintiff alleges
that the child was struck and killed as a result of the negligent opera-
tion of defendant’s automobile. He alleges that the automobile was
being operated at a speed of 40 to 45 m.p.h., which speed was neither
reasonable nor prudent under the existing circumstances. He alleges
defendant was traveling in a neighborhood well known to defendant as
a place where children of tender years were accustomed and at a time
when they were likely to be at play on the highway. He alleges that
plaintiff’s intestate, on the opposite side of the road from the home,
started to cross the road on the approach of the automobile, and in his
attempt to cross was struck and killed; and, if defendant had been
operating his automobile at a careful and reasonable rate of speed,
maintaining a proper lookout, and in a prudent manner, he could have
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seen the child in his attempt to cross the highway in ample time to stop
before striking the child.

Defendant by answer admits he was familiar with the road. He
admits that the car he was driving struck and killed the child about
noon, that the sun was shining. He denies that children were wont to
play in the road. He denies that he was operating his vehicle at the
speed alleged by plaintiff, asserting that his speed was 30 to 35 m.p.h,,
which was reasonable and proper under the then existing conditions.
He alleges the road he was traveling was “an average dirt road”; that
he was observant and “was keeping a proper lookout down the road
ahead of him; that as he approached the home of plaintiff’s intestate he
saw a small child sitting on the poreh of said home, but no other person
was in sight; that just as he approached the home proper, plaintiff’s
intestate jumped from behind a bush that was growing along said road
or highway directly into the path of the automobile that was being
driven by this defendant, and it was impossible for him to have stopped
his automobile before striking said child . . .”

The court submitted the case to the jury on two issues: negligence of
the defendant and damages. The jury answered the first issue in the
negative. Thereupon the court rendered judgment for defendant and
plaintiff excepted and appealed.

Bryan & Bryan for plaintiff appellant.
Young, Lamm & Taylor for defendant appellee.

Ropmax, J.  Plaintiff, by assignments of error 9, 11, 14, and 15, pre-
sents for consideration the accuracy of the charge, as related to the
defense asscrted by defendant, that he was confronted by a sudden’
emergency.

Plaintiff testified: “that the defendant passed by the deceased’s
house about three or four times a day, and sometimes more than that;
that the defendant passed the deceased’s house every single day; that
the home of the deceased had a small front yard; that the children of
the witness, including the deceased, played in the yard and in the edge
of the diteh in front of the house, because the yard was very small; that
the witness had four children at that time; that they played in the yard
and in the edge of the road every day; that they were playing in the
yvard and the edge of the road many times when the defendant passed
in front of the house . . .”

No person testified that he witnessed the accident. Plaintiff relied
largely upon the testimony of Highway Patrolman Williams, who in-
vestigated the occurrence. He described the physical conditions as he
found them and related statements made to him by defendant. Defend-
ant did not offer any evidence.
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It appears from Mr. Williams’ description that the home is on the
south side of the road, which is approximately fourteen feet wide. At
some places the road is sand and gravel with a very hard surface, and
in other places it is sandy with just one wheel rut down the center of
the road. In front of the house the road was sandy with a one-car path.
The depth of the sand in the road ranged from three to seven inches.
The road lay in an east-west direction. It was straight for 350 yards
approaching plaintiff’s house from an easterly direction. From the
edge of plaintifi’s house to the edge of the road is twelve feet. From the
edge of plaintiff’s steps to the edge of the road is seven feet. Just north
of the center of the road was a patch of blood that covered “a right
large area.” Defendant told the witness the blood spot marked the
point where he struck the child. Defendant’s car was in the highway,
forty-three feet west of the blood spot. There were skid marks from
the blood spot to a point 138 feet east of the blood. There is an em-
bankment on each side of the road. There were trees, bushes, and
weeds growing on the embankments. The embankment on the north
side of the road is about three feet high. On the north side of the road
and about fifty-seven feet east of the house is a mail box.

Because of the bushes and trees, one traveling in a westerly direction
would not see the porch of plaintiff’s residence when he was more than
forty-five feet east of the mail box. From a point where the skid marks
started to the front wheels of defendant’s ear was 181 fcet. Defendant
told witness “that he was traveling from east to west, and passed the
house at approximately 40 miles per hour and that the first thing the
defendant knew there was a child in the road in front of him and that
he applied his brakes; and that the defendant told the witness that he
did not know whether the child was sitting or walking.”

In another part of his testimony the witness stated he was “told by
the defendant that when the defendant first saw the child the child was
in the middle of the road, that he applied his brakes, that he did not
know whether the child was sitting or walking at the time he was
struck; that the defendant said he was driving about 40 miles per hour
at the time.”

When defendant pointed out the skid marks to witness, he asked
defendant “why it was so long to the skid marks east of the car and
that the defendant answered that he was traveling about 40 miles per
hour when he saw the child, and that he attempted to stop before strik-
ing the child . . .”

In answer to defendant’s contention that the jury should not find
that the child came to his death by the negligence of defendant for that
defendant was confronted with a sudden emergency, plaintiff requested
the court to charge the jury: “The doctrine of sudden emergency is
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unavailing to one who, by his own negligence, placed himself in such a
position of emergency.”

Plaintiff also requested the court to charge the jury: “The duty of
due care on the part of the driver does not just begin when the vietim,
infant or adult, is actually observed in a perilous position, but as soon
as the victim should have been foreseen by the driver by his keeping a
proper lookout, prior to the injury or death.”

The court declined to give either of the requests of plaintiff, and this
refusal is made the basis of assignments of error 14 and 15.

The court charged on this phase of the case as follows: “Now, I
would like to charge you thus as to the defendant’s contention with
reference to sudden emergency. I charge you, gentlemen of the jury,
that it would be incumbent upon you, as jurors, to determine whether
or not a sudden emergency or peril did in fact exist at the time and
place of the accident, and if you do find that an emergency did exist at
that time, (I charge you that one who is required to act in an emergency
is not held by law to the wisest choice of conduct, but only to such
choice as a person of ordinary care and prudence similarly situated
would have made, because it is well understood that a person in the
presence of an emergency is not usually held to the same deliberation
and circumspect care as in ordinary circumstances where no emergency
exists. The standard of conduct required in an emergency, as else-
where, is that of a prudent man.)”

Plaintiff excepted to the portion of the charge in parentheses and
assigns that portion as prejudicial error. Again, on the question of
sudden emergency, the court charged: “‘when a person is confronted
with a sudden emergency he is not held by law to the same degree of
care as under ordinary circumstances, but only the degree of care which
an ordinary prudent person would use under similar circumstances,’ and
that would be for you, the jury, to determine.”

Plaintiff excepted to the foregoing portion of the charge, and this
constitutes his eleventh exception and assignment of error.

The instructions requested by plaintiff point to the error in the
charge. One cannot, by his negligent conduet, permit an emergency to
arise and then excuse himself on the ground that he was called upon
to act in an emergency. Foreseeability is the test of liability for
asserted negligent injuries. If a reasonably prudent man can foresee
and anticipate that injury is apt to result from his conduet, prudence
would dictate and the law demands that he exercise reasonable care to
prevent the injury.

In Goss v. Williams, 196 N.C. 213, 145 S.E. 169, this instruction was
given approval: “You are instructed that the mere fact that a child
runs in front of a moving motor vehicle so suddenly that the driver had
no notice of danger, does not necessarily relieve a defendant from lia-
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bility. There still remains the question whether the negligent driving
of the automobile made it impossible for the driver to avoid the accident
after seeing the child, or when by the exercise of reasonable care, such
driver could have seen the child in time to avoid the injury, there being
a greater degree of watchfulness and care required of automobile drivers
as to children than adults.”

In Bullock v. Williams, 212 N.C. 113, 193 S.E. 170, the Court gave its
approval to this charge: “An automobile driver, who by the negligence
of another, and not by his own negligence, is suddenly confronted with
an emergency and is compelled to act instantly to avoid an accident or
injury, is not guilty of negligence if he makes such a choice as a person
of ordinary prudence placed in such a position might make; even though
he didn't make a wise choice, and whether he used reasonable care under
the circumstances is ordinarily a question for the jury.”

Speaking with respect to the duty of one to exercise care to avoid a
situation which might result in an emergency, the Missouri Court said,
in Windsor v. McKee, 22 S'W. 2d 65: “Plaintiff complains that in-
struction C is erroneous because it does not require the jury to find,
before excusing the conduct of defendant McKee, on the ground that he
acted in an emergency, that such emergency was not brought about by
the negligence of MeKee himself. 1t is well-recognized doctrine that
a person may not excuse his conduct on the ground that he acted in an
emergencey, or under the influence of a sudden peril, where the emer-
gency or peril resulted from his own negligence. Hall v. St. Louis-San
Francisco Ry. Co. (Mo. Sup.) 240 S'W. 175; Garvey v. Ladd (Mo.
App.) 266 S.W. 727. The doctrine as thus stated is somewhat mis-
leading. It iz not the conduct in the emergency that the law does
not excuse. There is no culpability in such conduct, It is the negli-
gent conduet which brought about the emergency which the law
does not excuse. The act done in the emergency immediately caus-
ing the injury is a mere link in the causal chain connecting the neg-
ligent act, which brought about the emergency, with the injury. It
is this negligent act, and not the non-negligent act done in the emer-
gency, that liability springs from.” Barnes v. Caulbourne, 240 N.C.
721,83 S.E. 2d 898; 4. C. L. R. R. v. Trucking Co., 238 N.C. 422, 78
S.E. 2d 159; Butler v. Allen, 233 N.C. 484, 64 S.E. 2d 561; Sparks v.
Willis. 228 N.C. 25, 44 S.E. 2d 343; Hoke v. Greyhound Corp., 227 N.C.
412, 42 S.E. 2d 593; Independent Oil Refining Co. v. Lueders, 134 So.
418 (La.); Gootar v. Levin, 293 P. 706 (Cal.); Harper v. Crislip, 138
SE. 93 (W. Va.).

The statute law (G.S. 20-140) commands the operator of an auto-
mobile to drive with caution and circumspection. He is commanded not
to operate in a manner so as to endanger or be likely to endanger any
person or property. Further statutory directions (G.S. 20-141) are
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given with respect to speed when traveling upon a narrow or winding
roadway or when special hazards exist with respect to pedestrians or
other traffic.

There was evidence from which the jury could find defendant knew
he was approaching a place where he was likely to find children of
tender years on the highway. This knowledge would impose a duty to
exercise care for their protection and a recognition of childish impulses.
Pope v. Patterson, 243 N.C. 425, 90 S.E. 2d 706; Greene v. Board of
Education, 237 N.C. 336, 75 S.E. 2d 129; Hawkins v. Simpson, 237
N.C. 155, 74 S.E. 2d 331; Hughes v. Thayer, 229 N.C. 773, 51 S.E. 2d
488; Henson v. Wilson, 225 N.C. 417, 35 S.E. 2d 245; S. v. Gray, 180
N.C. 697, 104 S.E. 647, Was the emergency on which defendant relies
due to excessive speed?

There was evidence from which the jury could find that when the
child was first seen he was in the center of the road, and defendant did
not know whether the child was sitting or walking. The evidence would
justify a finding that the point where the child was struck was visible
for a distance of 350 yards, but defendant was less than 150 feet from
the child when he first observed him, and it was then too late to avoid
the child. Was the emergency on which defendant relies due to his
failure to keep a proper lookout?

If the peril suddenly confronting the defendant was due to excessive
speed or to his failure to maintain a proper lookout, the fact that care
was exercised after the discovery of the peril would not excuse the negli-
gent conduct which was the proximate cause of the injury and damage.
The court should have so instructed the jury.

New trial..

Jounson, J., not sitting.

STATE v. SQUIRE MOORE, JR.
(Filed 12 December, 1958.)

1. Criminal Law § 81c: Evidence § 51—

The competency of a witness to testify as an expert in the particular
matter at issue is addressed primarily to the discretion of the trial court,
and its determination is ordinarily conclusive unless there be no evidence
to support the finding or unless there is abuse of discretion.

2, Same—

Where a witness is tendered as an expert upon abundant evidence of
qualification, the act of the trial court in permitting him to testify as an
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expert is tantamount to holding him to be an expert in the field of his
testimony.

3. Criminal Law § 81h: Evidence § 47f: Automobiles § 71—

Where there is ample evidence of a witness’ qualification as an expert
on the subject of chemical analysis of human blood to determine the alco-
holic content thereof, and as to the effect of certain percentages of alcohol
in the blood stream, the admission of his testimony as to the alcoholic con-
tent of defendant’s blood as revealed by a test made by the witness shortly
after defendant’s arrest and as to the effect of certain percentages of
aleohol in the blood stream, will not be held for error upon objection, the
qualification of the witness being addressed to the discretion of the trial
court and abuse of discretion not appearing.

4. Criminal Law § 62f—

Where appeal is taken to the entry of judgment suspending the prison
term, the judgment will be stricken on appeal and the cause remanded for
proper judgment.

JounsoN, J., not sitting.

ArpeaL by defendant from Gwyn, J., at 16 April, 1956, Criminal
Term of GUILFORD.

Criminal prosecution upon a bill of indictment charging that on
27 May, 1955, Squire Moore, Jr., at and in the County of Guilford,
“unlawfully and willfully did drive a motor vehicle upon the public
highways of North Carolina while under the influence of intoxicating
liquor and narcotie drugs, against the form of the statute in such case
made and provided,” ete.,—it being stipulated that the prosecution
originated in Municipal Court of the City of Greensboro upon a proper
warrant charging defendant with the identical offense charged in the
bill, and same was lawfully transferred to Superior Court for trial when
defendant demanded trial by jury.

Plea: Not guilty.

Upon trial in Superior Court the State offered testimony of a member
of the Greensboro police department tending to show that while on
duty as a police officer, driving in a police car around 3:30 or 3:45 a.m.,
on 27 May, 1955, he saw a Buick automobile traveling on certain public
streets in the city of Greensboro; that it was going from side to side;
that he stopped the Buick automobile at the intersection of Wilkerson
and Bennett Streets; that defendant was driving it, and was so intoxi-
cated that the officer helped him out, and arrested him for driving
intoxicated, and took him to the police station; that in the opinion of
the officer the physical and mental faculties of defendant were impaired,
and he was under the influence of some intoxicating beverage,—that
he was drunk; and that on the way to the police station the officer told
defendant he could get a blood test if he wanted it, and explained to
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him the blood test would show up the aleoholic content in his blood;
and defendant “agreed to take it, and he took it.” The State then
rested its case.

Defendant, reserving exception to the denial of his motion for judg-
ment as of nonsuit, offered testimony tending to show that he had a
general good character, and that he only had beer to drink, and was
sober. And defendant, as witness, testified that he was driving his
automobile; that he told the officer he had been drinking a couple of
beers, and was not under the influence of any kind of intoxicating drink
or hiquor,—did not feel them; that the officer said, quoting defendant,
“looked like I had drunk a case of beer”; and that the officer asked
him (defendant) about taking a blood test, to which he said “0.K.”
and went on and took the test.

Defendant rencwed motion for judgment as of nonsuit, and same was
denied, and defendant excepted. The State then rested, and counsel
for defendant made and completed his address to the jury on behalf of
defendant, but counsel for State had not addressed the jury.

Counsgel for State then moved the court to re-open the case and permit
further evidence to be offered.

Thereupon further evidence for the State was offered. R. B. Dauvis,
Jr., testified in pertinent part as follows: “. . . I am a chemist. I own
and operate the Doctors’ Medical Laboratory here in Greensboro. I
perform all types of tests for the medical profession of Greensboro and
Guilford County on patients in an attempt to help them arrive at a
diagnosis. We run tests on blood, sputum, all types of body fluids and
body secretions. We run tests for determination of the alcoholic con-
tent in the bloodstream. I have run over 1500 tests here.in Greensboro.
That covers a period which will be four years this coming October. As
to my training in my profession, I graduated from Wake Forest College
with a Batchelor of Science degree. 1 had nearly two years of medicine
in Medical School and . . . a year and a half extra training at Burge
Hospital in Springfield, Missouri. After that time I came back to
Greensboro and opened the Doctors’ Medical Laboratory. As to
whether in any of these institutions I did any work in eonnection with
aleohol tests, it was all types of tests I performed and learned the pro-
cedures, and so on. I did run tests analyzing blood. Most of the
analyzing of blood was done at Burge Hospital . . . for component
parts of blood in disease and conditions under those situations. The
courses I had in medical school pertinent and relevant to the work I am
now performing were: . . . gross anatomy, neurological anatomy,
haemotology, physiology, bio-chemistry . . . I have run tests correlat-
ing my observation of an individual with my findings of the blood tests.
I have done so in a hundred cases. I have made the mental observation,
and so forth, to compare with my test. In the cases that I have studied
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from a physical appearance . .. a man’s action, his reflex actions,
pupils of his eyes . . . to attempt to determine whether or not I could
draw any kind of similarity between a man's physical appearance and
that of my blood-alcohol test. In all cases where a person’s appearance
would indicate intoxication, my test bore it out.” Then, over objection
and exception by defendant, the witness, in response to question by the
State, as to what recognized medical associations and professional group
he is a member of pertinent to this line of work, stated: “I belong to

the American Technologists Association; . . . to a group sponsored by
the American Technologists Association in which we have membership
known as Clinical Laboratory Directors; . . . to the North Carolina
Public Health Association, the North Carolina Bacteriological Associa-
tion, the American Council of Bio-Analysts, and . . . of the American
Association for the advancement of Science . . . a 108-yeéar-old organi-
zation.”

Then over objection and exception by defendant, this question was
asked the witness: “Q. Mr. Davis, based upon your education, training,
and experience in the analyzing of blood, particularly with reference to
the alcoholic content, state whether you are able to give an opinion as
to whether or not a person is under the influence of some intoxicating
beverage from the results of your laboratory tests and results of your
finding in regard to the alcoholic content of that blood,” to which the
witness answered: “Yes, I am, sir.”

Thereupon the State submitted Mr. Davis to the court “as an expert
haemotologist and clinical technologist and technician and chemist.”

Objection by defendant was overruled, and he excepted.

Then the witness proceeded to testify, without objection: That in
response to call, in early morning of 27 May, 1955, he went to police
station, arriving around 4 o’clock, and there as result of conversation
with defendant, and for defendant, he took a sample of blood from
defendant, and later made an analysis at his laboratory.

Then over objection and exception by defendant, the witness was
asked these questions to which he answered as indicated: “Q. Now,
then, Mr. Davis, what were the results of this blood-alcohol test that
you ran on the defendant Squire Moore’s blood? A. The result of this
test showed that there was 0.22% concentration of alcohol in the blood-
stream. Q. Mr. Davis would you explain to the jury exactly what
0.22% of alcohol means in relation to whether or not a person is intoxi-
cated? A.0.22% alcoholic concentration shows that the person is under
the influence of alecohol. Q. At what point does a person become under
the influence in regard to the percentage of aleohol in his bloodstream?
A. At 0.15% or above. Q. Mr. Dayvis, in your opinion, at what point
is a person not under the influence in regard to the percentage of alcohol
in his bloodstream? A. In my opinion 0.01 to 0.04 a person is not under

6-—245
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the influence of alcohol. Q. Mr. Davis, in your opinion, at 0.05% state
whether or not a person is under the influence? A. At 0.05% a person
could or could not be, That is to say maybe one person out of a hun-
dred would be under the influence at 0.05. Q. Mr. Dayvis, in your opin-
ion, at what scale in regard to the percentage of alcohol in a person’s
bloodstream could & person be or not be under the influence? A. The
scale would be 0.05, 0.06, and so on up to 0.14%), anywhere in that
range. Q. So you say from 0.05 up to but not including 0.15 a person
could or could not in your opinion be under the influence of some intoxi-
cating liquor? A. That’s right. Q. Mr. Davis, would you explain to
the jury . . . the variance there? A. Well, progressing, 0.05 might
have one person out of a hundred under the influence of alecohol at that
concentration, at 0.06 we might have a few more showing being under
the influence, and so we go on up the scale to 0.14 maybe you wouldn't
have but one person out of the average hundred who was not showing
being under the influence of alcohol. So, as the scale progresses upward,
more and more people become under the influence. Q. And then at
0.15 everyone is considered to be under the influence? A. Yes, sir.
(The Court, in his discretion, permitted the leading character of ques-
tion.) Q. Mr. Davis, at what point does a person become unconscious
in regard to the alcoholic content in his bloodstream? A. At 0.35%
above. Q. At what point does death ensue, Mr. Davis, in regard to the
alcoholic content of a person’s blood? A. At a concentration of 0.45
to point 50. Q. Mr. Davis, state whether or not alcohol in the stomach
causes a person to become intoxicated? A. It will not. Q. When does
and where is its location in respect to causing a person to become intoxi-
cated? A. The alcohol must be in the bloodstream. Q. Now, Mr,
Davis, does the aleoholic content that you in your laboratory findings

. indicate the amount of aleoholic beverages that a person has con-
sumed? A. No, sir. Q. What does it? A. It simply represents the con-
centration of alcohol in the bloodstream, how much is concentrated in
the bloodstream. Q. Mr. Davis, what factors determine the amount
of aleohol that will show up in the bloodstream in relation to an indi-
vidual? A. Well, whether there is any food in the stomach, particularly
proteins and fats will slow down the absorption rate of alcohol. An-
other thing that is depended on is the condition of an individual’s liver,
inasmuch as the liver is the chief organ in the body of getting rid of
alcohol. Whether or not the individual is . . . aleoholic or whether
or not he is a person who might be called a temperate or moderate
drinker. Those are the factors which enter into that question, I believe.
Q. Mr. Davis, from your education, training and experience do you have
an opinion satisfactory to yourself as to whether or not the defendant
Squire Moore was under the influence of some intoxicating beverage
when vou took the blood sample from him there on the 27th day of
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May, 1955, at the police station? A. Yes, sir. Q. What is your opinion?
A. He was, sir.”

Then defendant, through his counsel, cross-examined the witness
Davis as to subjects he studied at Wake Forest College and at Ogle-
thorpe University; and as to tests made by him at Burge Hospital; and
as to the establishment by him of the laboratory at Greensboro; and
as to how he made tests for ascertainment of alcoholic content of blood;
and as to instructions in connection therewith; and as to whether he had
any personal memory of defendant to indicate that he was intoxicated.
In the course of the examination, the court inquired of counsel if he
were undertaking to show instructions as to operation of apparatus the
witness had were wrong. Counsel replied that he was “undertaking to
find out really how this man gets to be a blood tester for alcohol.” The
cross-examination was concluded with the question: “Q. He didn’t do
anything then, so far as you know, to make it obvious to you he had
drunk anything? A.I don’t have any reason to remember anything of
that kind.”

Thereupon the State rested. Defendant renewed motion for judg-
ment as of nonsuit. Overruled. And counsel for defendant was per-
mitted to re-argue the case to the jury.

The case was then submitted to the jury under charge of the court.

Verdict: Guilty as charged.

Judgment: Confinement in common jail of Guilford County for the
term of six months, to be assigned to work under the supervision of
State Highway and Public Works Commission and pay a fine of $100.00
and costs. Prison sentence suspended for a period of three vears on
conditions stated.

Defendant excepted thereto and appeals therefrom to Supreme Court
and assigns error.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Robert E.
Ghiles for the State.
Robert 8. Cahoon for Defendant Appellant.

WinsornE, C. J. While this appeal contains numerous assignments
of error, founded upon exceptions to evidence offered, and to the charge,
the basic question presented is this: Did the trial court err in finding
the witness Davis (1) qualified as an expert to testify on the subject
of chemical analysis of human blood to determine alcoholie content
thereof, and (2) qualified as an expert to testify as to the effects of
certain percentages of alcohol in the bloodstream?

If the witness were qualified, his testimony was competent, and if
he were not, it would be incompetent.
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In this connection this Court has uniformly held that the competency
of a witness to testify as an expert is a question primarily addressed
to the court, and his discretion is ordinarily conclusive, that is, unless
there be no evidence to support the finding, or unless the judge abuse
his discretion. LaVecchia v. Land Bank, 218 N.C. 35, 9 S.E. 2d 489,
and cases cited. See also S. v. Smith, 221 N.C. 278,20 S.E. 2d 313; In re
Humphrey, 236 N.C. 142, 71 S.E. 2d 915; Samet v. Ins. Co., 237 N.C.
758, 75 S.E. 2d 913. Anno. 166 A.L.R. 1067.

In the Smith case, supra, Seawell, J., writing for the Court, declared:
“The qualification of a witness to give an opinion as one skilled, or as
is usually termed, an expert, depends on matters of fact and the ques-
tion is addressed to the trial judge, with opportunity to the objector to
test the experience of the witness by appropriate examination. Regard-
less of the professional label, it is for the court to say whether the
witness 1s qualified to testify as one skilled in the matter at issue, and
his finding will not be disturbed when there is evidence to support it,
and the discretion has not been abused.”

Here the witness testified in detail as to his study, training and
experience. He was then tendered by the State as an expert haemotolo-
gist and clinical technologist and technician and chemist. Objection
by defendant was overruled, and the witness was permitted to testify
in the capacity of an expert. This was tantamount to the judge holding
him to be an expert in the field of his testimony. The testimony indi-
cates the knowledge and experience of the witness in conducting experi-
ments as to alcoholic content in the blood of a human being, and as to
the effect of aleohol upon the human system in respect to intoxication,
when introduced into the blood stream. Thus it appears that there is
abundant evidence to support the holding of the judge that the witness
Davis is such expert.

Indeed in S. v. Willard, 241 N.C. 259, 84 S.E. 2d 899, this Court con-
sidered the question as to whether expert testimony as to the results
of a blood test taken after a defendant’s arrest on charge of driving
under the influence of an intoxicating beverage is admissible in the
courts of this State. In that case the witness was R. B, Davis, Jr., the
same person as here. The trial court there held him to be an expert
chemist and haemotologist, and defendant made no objection. And
this Court held there that the expert testimony (given by the witness
Davis) as to the results of tests of defendant’s blood was admissible
on the trial of the case on the charge of driving a motor vehicle upon
the public highways within the State while under the influence of intoxi-
cating beverage. G.S. 20-138,

Now on the present record it appears that this same witness has run
tests correlating his observation of individuals, in a hundred cases, with
his findings of the blood tests, and that in all cases where the person’s
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appearance would indicate intoxication, his test bore it out. And he
testified that based upon his education, training and experience in the
analyzing of blood, particularly with reference to the aleoholic content,
he is able to give an opinion as to whether or not a person is under the
influence of some intoxicating beverage from the results of his labora-
tory tests and results of his finding in regard to the alcoholic content
of that blood.

Hence it does not appear that the trial judge abused his discretion in
holding the witness Davis an expert. Therefore his testimony to which
defendant excepts is competent evidence for the consideration of the
jury.

Moreover the assignments of error, based upon exceptions to the por-
tions of the charge, apparently are predicated upon contention that
because evidence was erroneously admitted, the charge is in error. No
error, however, is made to appear.

All assignments of error have been duly considered, and in the trial
from which appeal is taken, there is no error.

However, appeal having been taken to entry of judgment, suspending
prison term, the judgment is stricken and the cause remanded for proper
judgment. See S. v. Ritchie, 243 N.C. 182, 90 S.E. 2d 301, and cases
cited. Also S. v. Ingram, 243 N.C. 190, 90 S.E. 2d 304.

Error and remanded.

Jouxsox. J., not sitting.

STATE v. WILBORD N. HENDERSON.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

AprpEAL by defendant from Gwyn, J., at 27 February, 1956, Criminal
Term of GUILFORD.

Criminal prosecution upon a bill of indictment charging that on
10 September, 1955, Wilbord N. Henderson, late of the County of
Guilford “unlawfully and willfully did drive a motor vehicle upon the
public highways of North Carolina, while under the influence of intoxi-
cating liquor and narcotic drugs, against the form of the statute in such
case made and provided” ete.,—the bill having been found and returned
by the grand jury after warrant issued out of Municipal County Court
of the city of Greensboro, on affidavit charging like offense, had been
forwarded to Superior Court of Guilford County upon motion being
made by defendant for a trial by jury.
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Upon the trial in Superior Court the State introduced two officers of
the police department of the city of Greensboro tending to support the
charge under which defendant stands indicted. Then R. B. Dayvis, Jr.,
held to be an expert technician, testified in substantial accord with the
testimony given by him in the case of S. v. Moore, ante, 158, bringing
to focus alleged errors similar to those presented in that case.

Verdict: Guilty.

Judgment: Confinement in common jail of Guilford County for term
of six months, to be assigned to work under supervision of State High-
way and Public Works Commission and pay a fine of $100.00 and the
costs,—prison sentence suspended on condition stated.

Defendant appeals therefrom to Supreme Court and assigns error.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General Giles for
the State.
Elreta Melton Alexander for Defendant Appellant.

Per CuriaMm. Decision on this appeal is controlled by decision on
the appeal in the case of 8. v. Moore, ante, 158. Hence, in the light of
the decision there, this Court finds no error in the trial below. However,
appeal having been taken to entry of judgment suspending the prison
term, the judgment is stricken and the cause remanded for proper judg-
ment. See 8. v. Ritchie, 243 N.C. 182, 90 S.E. 2d 301; also S. v. Ingram,
243 N.C. 190, 90 S.E. 2d 304.

Error and remanded.

JoHNsON, J., not sitting.

MAMIE P. LINEBERGER v. SECURITY LIFE & TRUST COMPANY aAxp
PILOT FREIGHT CARRIERS, INC.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Insurance § 82c—Facts agreed held to disclose final discharge terminat-
ing certificate under group policy.

‘Where the certificate under a group policy states that upon termination
of the employment the insurance of the employee under the group policy
ends, and under the agreed statement of facts it is disclosed that the
employee was discharged from his regular employment over a month prior
to his death, and his name removed from the employer’s insurance records.
that at no time thereafter did his name appear on such records, and that
no premium was paid to insure his life thereafter under the group policy,
the beneficiary in the certificate may not recover thereon, notwithstanding
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that the employee worked thereafter at irregular intervals for the em-
ployer for a total of sixteen days during the month and two-thirds follow-
ing his final discharge, there being nothing in the findings of fact to support
the contention that his final discharge as a regular employee was a tempo-
rary lay-off.

2. Same—

Provision in a certificate under a group policy that upon termination of
employment the employee might apply within a thirty-one day period for a
policy of life insurance with insurer in any one of the forms customarily
issued, except term insurance, does not have the effect of continuing the
certificate in force after termination of the employment in contradiction of
the express terms of the certificate, but merely gives the employee the right
to apply for. in accordance with terms stipulated, and have issued a policy
of insurance.

8, Same—

Where certificate under a group policy sets forth in plain language that
insurance thereunder should terminate upon termination of the employment
and that the insured employee should have right to apply for a regular
policy within thirty-one days after termination of the employment, neither
insurer nor the employer is required to give the employee notice that termi-
nation of employment terminates the insurance or notice of his privilege
of conversion,

4, Same—

The employer paying premiums under a group policy is not the agent
of the insurer, and error of the employer in reporting to insurer that a
certain person was an employee when in fact the relationship had been
terminated by final discharge, does not bind insurer.

5. Same=—

Where, by the plain and unambiguous terms of a group certificate, in-
surance as to the employee thereunder is terminated when employment is
terminated, such terms fix the period of coverage under the certificate and
will be interpreted and enforced according to the terms of the policy in
their usual, ordinary and accepted meaning.

Jouxson, J.. not sitting.

AprpeaL by plaintiff from Patton, Special Judge, June Civil Term
1956 of ForsyTH.

Civil action to recover the sum of $3,000.00, the face value of a cer-
tificate of insurance issued to Jasper C. Lineberger under a group life
insurance policy issued by Security Life & Trust Company to Pilot
Freight Carriers, Inc.

The parties waived a jury trial, agreed upon a statement of facts
arising upon the pleadings, and consented that the judge could enter
judgment thereon.
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The judge rendered judgment that the plaintiff have and recover
nothing from Security Life & Trust Company, and dismissed the action.
Plaintiff excepted to the judgment, and appealed.

Weston P. Hatfield for Plaintiff, Appellant.
Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice for Security Life & Trust Com-
pany, Defendant, Appellee.

Parker,J. On 8 March 1953 Security Life & Trust Company issued
to Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc., a motor vehicle public carrier, its Group
Policy No. G-198, which was a Non-Contributory Policy with all pre-
miums thereon paid monthly by Pilot Freight Carriers, Ine., and no
part thereof paid by any of its employees covered by said policy.
Under the arrangement between them the Pilot Freight Carriers, Inec.
was a self-administrative unit, and it kept and maintained in its office
a record showing the names of its employees covered by the policy at
any given time. Security Life & Trust Company had the right at will
to inspect this record, or any other records in the office of Pilot Freight
Carriers, Inc. pertaining to the policy of Group Insurance and to the
employees covered by it. Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc. was required,
and did make a monthly report to Security Life & Trust Company on
forms furnished by it, entitled “Premium Statement for Group Life
Insurance,” which report contained the number of its employees covered
by the policy, the amount of insurance in force on the lives of its em-
ployees under the policy as of the given insured date, the number of
new employees insured since the last due-date, employees terminating
insurance since last due-date, and other pertinent information.

At the times mentioned in the pleadings Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc.
maintained a freight terminal in Forsyth and Mecklenburg Counties.
On 30 June 1952 Jasper C. Lineberger entered the employment of Pilot
Freight Carriers, Inc. as a freight checker at its terminal in Forsyth
County, and was discharged on 31 January 1953. He was rehired on
26 May 1953, and worked as a full-time employee as a freight checker
until 31 July 1954. On 31 July 1954 his employment was terminated
by Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc., and he, together with several other
employees, was discharged, on account of a lack of work for them at
the Forsyth County Terminal. The effective date of his discharge was
1 August 1954. He was offered a job at its terminal in Charlotte, which
he declined to accept. When he was discharged on 31 July 1954, he
received his final pay cheque, and was notified there was no further
work for him at the Forsyth County Terminal.

When he was discharged on 31 July 1954, Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc.
removed his name from its insurance record showing the names of all
its employees covered by the Group Policy, and at no time thereafter
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did his name appear on its insurance records showing the names of its
employees covered by the Group Policy. Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc.
paid no premium for coverage under said policy of group insurance on
his life for either the months of August or September 1954. The last
premium paid by it for coverage under the policy of group insurance
on his life was for the month of July 1954, the due-date of which was
1 July 1954,

For the due-date of 1 August 1954 Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc. sub-
mitted to Security Life & Trust Company on 6 August 1954 the “Pre-
mium Statement for Group Life Insurance,” which showed Jasper C.
Lineberger as one of its 48 employees, and it delivered to Security Life
& Trust Company its cheque for $1,153.22 in payment of the premium
due for August 1954.

When Jasper C. Lineberger was rehired on 26 May 1953, there was
issued to him a certificate in accord with the terms of the Group Policy
showing that he was insured under the Group Policy. The certificate
named plaintiff as beneficiary. Pursuant to a rider attached to the
Group Policy on 1 September 1953 the amount of insurance under the
certificate was increased to $3,000.00.

When he was discharged on 31 July 1954, he was not notified by his
employer or by Security Life & Trust Company that the insurance on
his life under the Group Policy was being terminated, or that the same
could be converted as provided by the certificate. Neither he, nor
Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc., nor anyone, paid any sum whatsoever to
Security Life & Trust Company on the premium on the policy of Group
Insurance for coverage thereunder on his life for the month of August
1954, or for any month thereafter.

For the work done by him for Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc., prior to
1 August 1954, he was paid weekly by cheque, and was carried on the
regular payroll of the company as a full-time employee. After his
discharge on 31 July 1954, he worked at irregular intervals during
August and September 1954 for Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc. for a total
number of 16 days prior to his death on 20 September 1954. During
this period of irregular work his name was not carried on the insurance
records or on the employment records kept by Pilot Freight Carriers,
Inc., showing the names of its regular and full-time employees, who
were covered by the Policy of Group Insurance during the months of
August and September 1954, and he was paid in cash from the petty
cash fund.

A copy of Group Policy No. G-198 was attached to the agreed state-
ment of facts, and made a part thereof. This policy provides: “TErMI-
NATION OF INsURANCE. The insurance of any employee insured here-
under shall automatically cease: . . . (2) On the date of the termina-
tion of his employment. Termination of employment for the purposes
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of insurance hereunder, shall mean cessation of active work as an
employee, except . . .” There are two exceptions: one, if an em-
ployee’s cessation of active work is caused by sickness, injury or retire-
ment, and two, if an employee is on leave of absence or temporary lay-
off. The two exceptions are not relevant here.

It seems evident that the words “termination of his employment”
within the terms of the policy refer to the status of the employee rather
than to a contractual relationship, and must mean a complete severance
of the relationship of employer and employee, of which the employee
has knowledge, by positive act on the part of either or both. It is such
a termination of employment as will make effective all parts of the
insurance contract. This is apparent from the exception that “if an
employee’s cessation of active work is caused by sickness, injury or
retirement, his employment may be deemed to continue until premium
payments for such employee’s insurance are discontinued by the em-
ployer.” Pearson v. Assurance Society, 212 N.C. 731, 194 S.E. 661;
Emerick v. Conn. Gen. Life Ins. Co., 120 Conn. 60, 179 A. 335, 105
ALLR. 413; Beecey v. Traveler’s Ins. Co., 267 Mass. 135, 166 N.E. 571;
Colter v. Traveler's Ins. Co., 270 Mass. 424, 170 N.E. 407: Peters v.
Aetna Life Ins. Co., 279 Mich. 663, 273 N.W. 307; 44 C.J.5., Insurance,
p. 1265; Appleman’s Insurance Law and Practice, Vol. 1, sec. 122,

The agreed statement of facts sets forth that there was a complete
severance of the relationship of employer and employee between Pilot
Freight Carriers, Inc. and Jasper C. Lineberger by his discharge from
employment on 31 July 1954, effective 1 August 1954, at which time
he received his final pay cheque. He knew he was discharged from
employment because of lack of business at its Forsyth County Termi-
nal, and when he was offered employment at its Mecklenburg County
Terminal, he refused to accept it. When he was discharged on this
date, Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc. removed his name from its insurance
records showing that he was an employee covered by the Group Poliey,
and at no time thereafter did his name appear on such records. From
then until his death on 20 September 1954 no premium was paid by
anyone to Security Life & Trust Company for coverage on his life under
the Group Policy. From the agreed statement of facts it is clear that
the report made to Security Life & Trust Company by Pilot Freight
Carriers, Inc. on 6 August 1954 that he was an emplovee on 1 August
1954 was made in error. His termination of employment on 31 July
1954 was such a termination as to make effective all parts of the insur-
ance contract. Plaintiff’s contention that Jasper C. Lineberger’s dis-
charge on 31 July 1954 was a temporary lay-off finds no support in the
agreed statement of facts. As Jasper C. Lineberger's discharge on
31 July 1954 was a complete severance of the relationship of employer
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and employee existing between them, the employer had no right to
continue the insurance as to him. “Group insurance policies are issued
to the employer to insure employees. One who is not an employee is
not insurable.” Hawthorne v. Met. Life Ins. Co., 285 Mich. 329, 280
N.W. 777.

The Group Insurance Policy provides: “EmpPLOYEES ELIGIBLE. . . .
(b) Each employee in the employ of the Employer after the Effective
Date of this policy shall be eligible for insurance upon the completion
of one month of continuous service.” Jasper C. Lineberger during the
irregular intervals in August and September 1954 that he worked for
Pilot Freight Carriers, Inc. for 16 days was not eligible for insurance
under the Group Policy,

The certificate of insurance issued to Jasper C. Lineberger on 26 June
1953, after he was rehired on 26 May 1953, is attached to the agreed
statement of facts, and made a part thereof. This certificate issued to
him provides that it is subject to the terms and conditions of Group
Policy No. G-198, and contains this provision:

“ConversioN. Upon termination of insurance under the group life
policy, because of termination of employment with the Employer,
any employee shall be entitled to have issued by the Insurance
Company, without medical examination, a policy of life insurance
in any one of the forms customarily issued by the Insurance Com-
pany, except term insurance, upon written application made to the
Home Office of the Insurance Company within thirty-one days
after the termination of employment and upon payment of the
premium applicable to the class of risk to which the employee
belongs and to the form and amount of policy at the employee’s
then attained age. Any individual policy issued in accordance with
this provision shall become effective at the expiration of the thirty-
one day period during which the employee was entitled to make
application for the individual policy. The amount of the individ-
ual policy shall not exceed the amount of the employee’s life insur-
ance in force at the beginning of such thirty-one day period.”

Jasper C. Lineberger’s termination of employment was on 31 July
1954, and he died on 20 September 1954. There is nothing in the agreed
statement of facts to indicate that he made any effort to use the con-
version privilege set forth in plain English in his certificate of insurance,
which inured to his benefit. What was said in Pearson v. Assurance
Soctety, supra, is pertinent here: “It (a conversion right in the certifi-
cate of insurance and master policy) grants the insured employee a
privilege or option under certain conditions therein stipulated. The
insured did not exercise this option or privilege by applying for such
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poliey or by paying the required premium. The plaintiff, therefore, has
no claim against the defendant by reason of the terms of this provision.”
See also: Appleman’s Insurance Law and Practice, Vol. 1, p. 115.

The certificate of insurance issued to Jasper C. Lineberger plainly
sets forth that upon the termination of his employment with Pilot
Freight Carriers, Inc. his insurance as an employee under the Group
Policy ended. The policy does not require that notice that termination
of his employment terminated his insurance under the Group Policy,
or that notice of his privilege of Conversion, be given to him by either
employer or the insurer. Group Policy No. G-198 was a Non-Contribu-
tory Policy with all premiums thereon paid monthly by Pilot Freight
Carriers, Inec., and no part thereof paid by any of its employees covered
by the policy. Jasper C. Lineberger was charged with knowledge of
those terms, and neither the insurer nor the employer had any duty to
apprise him that he was not covered by the policy after his discharge as
an employee, of which discharge he had full knowledge, or that he had
a privilege of Conversion. Beecey v. Traveler’s Ins. Co., supra; Thull
v. Equitable Life Assurance Society, 40 Ohio App. 486, 178 N.E. 850;
Equitable Life Assurance Soctety of U. S. v. Yales, 288 Ky. 309, 156
S.W. 2d 128; Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Thompson, 203 Ark. 1103,
160 S.W. 2d 852; Adkins v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., 130 W. Va. 362, 43 S.E.
2d 372; 44 C.J 8., Insurance, p. 1265; Appleman’s Insurance Law and
Practice, Vol. 1, pp. 108-109.

In Adkins v. Aetna Life Ins. Co., supra, it is said: “As the conversion
privilege clause of the policy, for the reasons already stated, gave the
insured nothing more than the right to obtain a converted policy upon
stated conditions within the specified period after the termination of
his employment and did not extend his insurance under the policy
beyond the end of the policy month in which his employment termi-
nated, no notice by his employer that his employment had terminated
could restore his insurance under the policy or serve to keep it in force
or effect. Pearson v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of United States,
212 N.C. 731, 194 S.E. 661; Duval v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 82
N.H. 543, 136 A. 400, 50 A.L.R. 1276; Murphy v. Chrysler Corporation,
306 Mich. 610, 11 N.W., 2d 261; Metropolitan Life Ins. Co. v. Hawkins,
156 Va. 720, 158 S.E. 877; Costelle v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., Mo.
App., 164 SW., 2d 75; Equitable Life Assurance Society of United
States v. Yates, 288 Ky. 309, 156 S.W. 2d 128; English v. Metropolitan
Life Ins. Co., 300 Mass. 482, 15 N.E. 2d 804; Kowalski v. Aetna Life
Ins. Co., 266 Mass. 255, 165 N.E. 476, 63 A.L.R. 1030.”

It is written in Haneline v. Casket Co., 238 N.C. 127, 76 S.E. 2d 372:
“It was said in Dewease v. Insurance Co., 208 N.C. 732, 182 S.E. 447,
‘the employer in a group insurance policy is not ordinarily the agent of
the insurance company.’”
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Deese v. Ins. Co.,204 N.C. 214, 167 S.E. 797, relied on by the plaintiff
is distinguishable. In that case Oscar J. Deese had agreed to pay his
employer the sums required to keep the Group Policy in force as to
him. The employer had not renewed the Group Policy. In reliance
upon the provisions of the Group Policy, Deese continued to pay the
sums which he had agreed to pay after the Group Policy had expired,
but within the grace period of 31 days allowed by the policy for the
payment of the renewal premium. The jury found by its verdict that
Deese was an employee of the Carolina Nash Company at the time of
his death. The facts are quite different from the facts in the instant
case. The other cases relied upon by appellant from other jurisdictions
are distinguishable.

The Group Policy by express terms provided that Jasper C. Line-
berger’s insurance as an employee ended when his employment termi-
nated, and these express terms fixed his coverage period. These terms
are plain, clear and unambiguous, and of the essence of the contract,
and they will be interpreted and enforced according to the terms of the
policy in their usual, ordinary and accepted meaning. Haneline v.
Casket Co., supra; Motor Co. v. Ins. Co., 233 N.C. 251, 63 S.E. 2d 538.
“Tt is our duty to construe policies of insurance as written, and not to-
rewrite them.” Scarboro v. Ins. Co., 242 N.C. 444, 88 S.E. 2d 133.

Jasper C. Lineberger’s insurance under the Group Policy ended, when
he was discharged on 31 July 1954. There is nothing to show that he
tried or intended to exercise his conversion privilege. Security Life &
Trust Company is not liable in any way to plaintiff on the certificate
sued upon. The judgment is correet, and is

Affirmed.

Jonnson, J., not sitting.

MURRAY J. HORN (EMPLoYEE) v. SANDHILL FURNITURE COMPANY
(EMPLOYER), AND HARTFORD ACCIDENT & INDEMNITY COMPANY
(CARBIER).

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 28—

On appeal to the Supreme Court from judgment of the Superior Court
affirming or reversing an order of the Industrial Commission. review is
limited to assignments of error relating to matters of law at the trial in
the Superior Court.
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2, Appeal and Error § 21—

An exception to the judgment presents the questions whether the facts
found are sufficient to support the judgment and whether error of law
appears upon the face of the record.

8. Master and Servant § 40c—

In order for an injury to be compensable under the Workmen’s Compen-
sation Act, the injury must be traceable to the employment as a contribut-
ing proximate cause.

4, Same—

Whether an injury arises out of the employment is a mixed question of
law and fact.

5. Master and Servant § 550—

Findings of the Industrial Commission which involve mixed questions of
law and fact are not conclusive if the conclusion of law is not supported
by the facts found.

6. Master and Servant § 40c—Injury to employee from accident on highway
while going to place of his own choice for lunch is not compensable.

The evidence tended to show that claimant parked his car on the em-
ployer’s land across the highway from the plant, leaving his lunch in the
car, that the employer merely permitted such use of the land, that claimant
was not paid for the time taken out for lunch and was free to go to a place
of his own choosing, and that claimant was struck by an automobile while
crossing highway to his car for his lunch. Held: The risk of going to
lunch is not a risk incident to the employment but is a risk incident to the
hazards of the street like those to which the public generally is subjected,
and therefore the evidence supports the finding and conclusion that the
injury did not arise out of the employment.

JomuNsoN, J., not sitting.

ApPEAL by claimant from Armstrong, J., May Civil Term 1956 of
MooreE.

Proceeding before the Industrial Commission for compensation for
injuries to Murray J. Horn, which injuries the claimant contends he
suffered by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment
by the Sandhill Furniture Company.

The Hearing Commissioner’s findings of fact and conclusions are
summarized: The jurisdictional facts found were based on a stipula-
tion of the parties. On and prior to 3 December 1954 claimant worked
as a laborer on the second shift at the main furniture plant of the Sand-
hill Furniture Company, which was situate on the west side of N. C.
Highway No. 211, a dominant highway about 60 feet wide. The em-
ployer owned land on the east side of this highway, where claimant and
a majority of the other employees at the plant parked their cars and
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ate their lunches. Such use of this land was with the consent of the
employer, but was permissive and not compulsory.

On 3 December 1954 claimant went to work between 4:00 and 5:00
o’clock p.m., and parked his car on the land of his employer on the east
side of the highway. He left his lunch in his car. He had “a break” to
eat lunch for 30 minutes between 9:00 and 9:30 p.m., during which
period he, and the other employees, were not paid, and were free to go
where they pleased. The employees, including claimant, were not
required by the employer to go to this land, where their cars were
parked, to eat lunch. About 9:05 p.m. claimant, together with other
employees at the plant, started walking across the highway from the
plant where they worked to the place where their cars were parked
across the highway to eat lunch. When claimant had walked about
half way across the hard-surfaced part of the highway, he was struck
and injured by a car driven along said highway by an employee at the
plant, who, at the time, was “off duty.” Claimant did not sustain an
injury by accident arising out of and in the course of his employment,
and the Hearing Commissioner made a conclusion to that effect. The
Hearing Commissioner further concluded there was no causal relation-
ship between claimant’s injury and his employment. Based upon his
findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Hearing Commissioner
denied the elaim.

On appeal to the Full Commission, the findings of fact, conclusions of
law and denial of the claim by the Hearing Commissioner were affirmed,
and claimant appealed to the Superior Court,.

In the Superior Court the order of the Full Commission was in all
respects affirmed, and claimant appealed to the Supreme Court.

Teague & Johnson and Mason & Williamson for Appellant.
Boyette & Brogden for Appellees.

ParkEr, J. Claimant has two assignments of error. The first one
is to the judgment, the second is that the judge erred in affirming the
Full Commission’s order that claimant did not sustain an injury by
accident arising out of and in the course of his employment by the
Sandhill Furniture Company.

The consideration of an appeal from a judgment of the Superior
Court affirming or reversing an award made by the Full Industrial Com-
mission, or affirming or reversing an order of the Full Commission deny-
ing a claim, is limited to a review of only such assignments of error, as
are properly made that there was alleged error in matters of law at the
trial in the Superior Court. Lewter v. Enterprises, Inc., 240 N.C. 399,
82 S.E. 2d 410; Glace v. Throwing Co., 239 N.C. 668, 80 S.E. 2d 759;
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Worsley v. 8. & W. Rendering Co., 239 N.C. 547, 80 S.E. 2d 467; Rader
v. Queen City Coach Co., 225 N.C. 537, 35 S.E. 2d 609.

- An exception to the judgment presents two questions: one, are the
facts found sufficient to support the judgment, and two, does any error
of law appear upon the face of the record? Rader v. Queen City Coach
Co., supra; Bailey v. Bailey, 243 N.C. 412, 90 S.E. 2d 696.

It is settled law that, “where an injury cannot fairly be traced to the
employment as a contributing proximate cause . . . it does not arise
out of the employment.” Bryan v. T. A. Loving Co., 222 N.C. 724,
24 S.E. 2d 751; Lewter v. Enterprises, Inc., supra; Lockey v. Cohen,
Goldman & Co., 213 N.C. 356, 196 S.E. 342; Walker v. Wilkins; Inc.,
212 N.C. 627, 194 S.E. 89. Therefore, if claimant’s injury cannot fairly
be traced to his employment as a contributing proximate cause, it is
not compensable under our Workmen’s Compensation Act. Lewter v.
Enterprises, Inc., supra; Berry v. Furniture Co., 232 N.C. 303, 60 S.E.
2d 97; Gilmore v. Board of Education, 222 N.C. 358, 23 S.E. 2d 292.
“There must be some causal relation between the employment and the
injury.” Conrad v. Foundry Co., 198 N.C. 723, 153 S.E. 266.

Whether an accident arose out of the employment is a mixed question
of law and fact. Poteete v. Pyrophyllite Co., 240 N.C. 561, 82 S.E. 2d
693; Matthews v. Carolina Standard Corp., 232 N.C. 229, 60 S.E. 2d 93;
Plemmons v. White’s Service, Inc., 213 N.C. 148, 195 S.E. 370.

This Court said in Perley v. Paving Co., 228 N.C. 479, 46 S.E. 2d 298:
“The rule declared by the statute and uniformly upheld by this Court
that the findings of fact made by the Industrial Commission, when
supported by any competent evidence, are conclusive on appeal, does
not mean, however, that the conclusions of the Commission from the
evidence are in all respects unexceptionable. If those findings, involv-
ing mixed questions of law and fact, are not supported by evidence the
award cannot be upheld.”

That claimant sustained severe injuries is not disputed. Claimant
has no exceptions to the findings of fact made by the Hearing Commis-
sioner, and adopted as their own by the Full Commission on appeal,
and affirmed by the Superior Court, except that he contends that the
Superior Court erred in holding that the facts found from the evidence
by the Full Commission supported its conclusion that his injury by
accident did not arise out of and in the course of his employment by the
Sandhill Furniture Company.

In Matthews v. Carolina Standard Corp., supra, the evidence upon
which the Industrial Commission made its findings of fact and conclu-
sions showed the following: The decedent was employed as a general
laborer by defendant corporation in and about its planer mill and
lumber yard. He was paid an hourly wage. The work hours were from
8:00 to 4:45, except that from 12:00 noon to 12:45 work was stopped
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for lunch., During this time employees were not paid, and were free to
eat lunch there or go anywhere they wished. Most of them ate their
lunch on the premises, some went home for lunch, and some went to a
nearby store. It did not affirmatively appear that decedent brought his
lunch on the day of his injury. During the lunch recess the decedent
attempted to get on a moving truck belonging to one Dockery and
delivering lumber to defendant corporation on the premises, and in some
way fell under the rear wheels, and was killed. Decedent had been
given no order, and had no duty with the truck or its contents. The
Court said: “We conclude that the Commission has found from the
facts in evidence that they were insufficient to show any causal connec-
tion between the injury suffered and the employment of decedent by the
defendant corporation. After a careful examination of all the evidence
reported by the Commission, we think this conclusion was supported
by the evidence and should have been upheld.” The Full Commission
denied the claim, the Superior Court reversed the Commission, and
remanded the proceeding with instructions that an award of compensa-
tion be made, and this Court reversed the Superior Court.

In Bryan v. T. A. Loving Co., supra, the decedent was on his way to
his place of employment to report for work. He alighted from a bus
that had carried him to a point in front of and across the highway from
his place of work. He started on foot across the highway behind the
bus to his work. He was hit and killed by a ear while he was still on
the hard surface. This Court said: “We conclude that the claimant
has failed to bring her claim within the provisions of the Workmen’s
Compensation Statute. The specific facts found are insufficient to sus-
tain the conclusion that the injury resulting in death arose out of and in
the course of the employment.” See also: Davis v. Mecklenburg
County, 214 N.C. 469, 199 S.E. 604.

In Bray v. Weatherly & Co., 203 N.C. 160, 165 S.E. 332, it is said:
“The relation of employer and employee is usually suspended when the
servant leaves the place of his actual employment and is resumed when
he puts himself in a position where he can again do the work at the
place where it is to be performed.”

In California Casualty Indem. Exch. v. Industrial Acct. Com., 190
Cal. 433, 213 P. 257, it was held that where the driver of an ice truck
was killed while crossing the street from a cigar store just after having
obtained lunch at a place where his duties did not call him, the employer
permitting him to eat lunch where he desired, the injury did not arise
out of his employment so as to warrant an award of compensation. The
Court said: “The injury must have its origin in a risk connected with
the employment, and must have flowed from that source as a rational
and natural course.”
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In Dreyfus & Co. v. Meade, 142 Va. 567, 129 S.E. 336, it was held
that a night watchman, whose place of duty was on the premises of his
employer, was not injured in the course of his employment, where he
was hit and injured by an automobile on the street, after he had left
the premises to go two blocks away for lunch.

In Jack v. Morrow Mfg. Co., 194 App. Div. 565, 185 N.Y .S. 588, the
Court said: “The deceased was clearly not in the course of his employ-
ment when going to his midday meal after leaving the employer’s plant
or premises.”

In Boal v. State Workmen’s Ins. Fund, 127 Pa. Super. Ct. 237, 193 A.
341, the Court held that an injury received by night janitor with defi-
nite hours of employment, but with permission to go home for lunch,
while returning to place of employment after having gone for lunch
during hours of employment, was not compensable as having occurred
in course of employment. See to same effect Rybitski v. Lebowitz, 175
Pa. Super. Ct. 265, 104 A. 2d 161.

In Pearce v. Industrial Com., 299 Ill. 161, 132 N.E. 440, 18 A.L.R.
523, it was held that an injury from a fall upon the sidewalk to an
employee in a building, who had gone for supplies for the noonday
lunch, in accord with an agreement among certain emplovees to pur-
chase such supplies, and eat them on the premises of employer, in pref-
erence to bringing cold lunches, does not arise out of his employment
within the meaning of the Workmen’s Compensation Act.

In Lipinsk: v. Sutton Sales Co., 220 Mich. 647, 190 N.W. 705, an
injury while returning to salesroom after lunch was held not compensa-
ble as one arising out of and in the course of employment.

In the following cases it was held that an injury to employee away
from employer’s premises during lunch hour did not arise out of and in
the course of the employment: De Porte v. State Furniture Co., 129
Neb. 282, 261 N.W. 419; California Highway Com. v. Industrial Acet.
Com., 61 Cal. App. 284, 214 P. 658; Layton v. Spear & Co., 261 App.
Div. 856, 24 N.Y.S. 2d 793; Moore v. Sefton Mfg. Corp., 82 Ind. App.
89, 144 N.E. 476; Heffren v. American Medicinal Spirits Corp., 272 Ky.
588, 114 8.W. 2d 1115; Ohrmund v. Ind. Com., 211 Wis, 153, 246 N.-W.
589; Pillen v. Workman’s Comp. Bureau, 60 N.D. 465, 235 N.W. 354;
Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. v. Ind. Com., 100 Utah 8, 110 P. 2d 334;
Maitchell v. Ball Bros. Co., 97 Ind. App. 642, 186 N.E. 900; MclInerney
v, Buffalo & S. R. Corp., 225 N.Y. 130, 121 N.E. 806; Furino v. Lansing,
293 Mich. 211, 291 N.W. 637.

All the evidence shows that claimant was entirely free to go where
he pleased to eat lunch. While going to lunch he was struck and injured
on N. C. Highway No. 211 by a car driven along the highway by an
employee of the Sandhill Furniture Company, who, at the time, was
not on duty. It is perfectly clear from these facts that claimant’s
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duty as a laborer for Sandhill Furniture Company did not require him
to be on N. C. Highway No. 211 at the place where the automobile struck
him. At the exact time of his injury he was on a personal errand, and
was not performing any service to his employer as a laborer. Where
claimant should take his lunch, or how he should go there, were not
matters in any way incidental to or connected with the character of
work for which he was employed. Or to phrase it differently, claimant’s
exposure to the risks of the highway was voluntary on his part, and was
not incidental to the performance of his work, or in any way connected
with it, so as to make his presence on the street a part of the duty
required of him by reason of his employment. The risk of going to
lunch is not a risk incident to the employment, but is a risk incident to
the hazards of the street, precisely like those to which the public gen-
erally is subjected.

We conclude that upon the record and the entire evidence in the pro-
ceeding, the finding and conclusion that claimant did not sustain an
injury arising out of and in the course of his employment is supported
by the evidence, and that the ruling of the court below in affirming the
order of the Full Industrial Commission was correct. No error of law
appears upon the face of the record.

Affirmed.

JoHNsON, J., not sitting.

CITY OF WINSTON-SALEM v. WINSTON-SALEM CITY COACH
LINES, INC.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error §§ 8, 16—

A defendant is authorized to file petition for writ of certiorari to an
order overruling demurrer when, in its opinion, the order will prejudicially
affect a substantial right to which it is entitled unless the ruling of the
court is reviewed on appeal prior to the trial of the cause on its merits.
Rule of Practice in the Supreme Court No. 4(a).

2. Appeal and Error § 16—

Where certiorari is allowed to review an order overruling defendant’s
demurrer, the writ does not eliminate the necessity for the preservation of
exceptions, entered in the court below, bearing on the question or questions
sought to be reviewed, but the allowance of the writ constitutes an excep-
tion to the judgment, presenting for review errors of lauw appearing on the
face of the record.
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8. Carriers § 5: Utilities Commission § 2—Utilities Commission has exclu-
sive original jurisdiction of dispute as to curtaillment of services by
intra-city bus carrier.

Where a municipality has granted a franchise to a utilities company to
operate passenger buses over its streets, the parties may mutually agree
upon extensions and services. changes in routes, or curtailment of services.
when in the opinion of the governing board of the municipality such
changes are, under the existing conditions, for the best interest of all con-
cerned, including the public. However, when the parties are unable to
agree to a proposed curtailment of existing services, the matter is within
the exclusive jurisdiction of the Utilities Commission, G.8. 62-121.47(h).
and the municipality may not enjoin the utility from proposed curtailment
of services, although the utility may not change its schedules or curtail its
services unless given authority to do so by the Utilities Commission,

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

CerTIORARI allowed upon petition of the defendant to review the order
of Johnston, J., overruling the demurrer to plaintiff’'s complaint, at
Chambers in Winston-Salem, North Carolina, 21 July 1956. From
ForsyTH.

This proceeding was instituted in the Superior Court of Forsyth
County by the City of Winston-Salem on 10 July 1956 to restrain the
defendant Coach Lines from putting into effect on 22 July 1956 a pro-
posed schedule which would have substantially curtailed bus service
within the corporate limits of the City of Winston-Salem and which
included the elimination of all bus service by the defendant company
at night and on Sundays.

The defendant’s letter addressed to the Chairman of the Public
Safety Committee of the Board of Aldermen of the City of Winston-
Salem was dated 19 Jupe 1956 and, among other things, stated that
copies of the schedules which the defendant proposed to put into effect
on 22 July 1956 were enclosed. The letter also contained the following
statement: “Unless we are advised to the contrary, we will assume that
these schedules meet with the approval of your Committee.”

The defendant demurred to the complaint on the ground that the
Superior Court is without jurisdietion of the controversy between the
plaintiff and the defendant for that the North Carolina Ttilities Com-
mission (hereinafter called TUtilities Commission) has exclusive juris-
diction thereof.

His Honor Frank M. Armstrong, presiding over the regular July
Term 1956 of the Superior Court of Forsyth County, on 10 July 1956
issued an order directing the defendant to appear before the Honorable
Walter E. Johnston, Jr., Resident Judge of the Twenty-first Judicial
District, at Chambers in the Forsyth County Courthouse, at 10:00 a.m.,
Saturday morning, 21 July 1956, and show cause, if any it may have,
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why an order should not be entered by the court, restraining the defend-
ants, its officers, agents and employees from putting into effect its pro-
posed schedule of routes and trips intended to take effect on 22 July
1956; and further restraining the defendant, its officers, agents and
employees from curtailing its service to the traveling public of the
City of Winston-Salem and from discontinuing any portion thereof.

This matter was heard before Judge Johnston at the time and place
scheduled. His Honor, after considering the verified complaint, the
demurrer, the written briefs filed by both parties, and the argument of
counsel, entered an order overruling the demurrer, granting the defend-
ant thirty days in which to answer, and restraining the defendants, its
officers, agents and employees from putting into effect its proposed
schedules

The defendant excepted to the order and filed a petition for writ of
certiorari pursuant to the provisions of Rule 4(a), Rules of Practice in
the Supreme Court, 242 N.C. 766. We allowed the petition.

Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, attorneys for City of Winston-
Salem.

Lassiter, Moore & Van Allen and Weston P. Hatfield, attorneys for
petitioner Coach Lines.

Attorney-General Patton, Asst. Attorney-General Paylor, Amicus
Curiae, for the State.

Dexny, J. The defendant was authorized to file the petition for a
writ of certiorari pursuant to the provisions of the above Rule, if the
order overruling its demurrer, in its opinion, will prejudicially affect a
substantial right to which it is entitled unless the ruling of the court is
reviewed on appeal prior to the trial of the cause on its merits. Such
writ was allowed by the Court in its discretion. Ordinarily, such writ
will not eliminate the necessity for the preservation of exceptions.
entered in the court below, bearing on the question or questions sought
to be reviewed. The allowance of the writ, however, like an appeal.
constitutes an exception to the judgment, and the Court may review
errors of law appearing on the face of the record proper.

It appears from the complaint that the defendant is a corporation
duly created, organized and existing under the laws of North Carolina.
with its principal office in the City of Winston-Salem; that it is engaged
in transporting passengers for hire by bus over the streets of said City
for a stipulated fare, and was incorporated for the purpose of taking
over the bus business formerly operated in the City of Winston-Salem
for many years by Duke Power Company. That under date of 9 May
1955, the plaintiff and the defendant entered into an agreement in the
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form of a franchise ordinance, duly adopted by the Board of Aldermen
of the City of Winston-Salem, which in pertinent part reads as follows:

“Section 2. The Company is hereby given and granted a non-
exclusive and non-transferable franchise to engage in the business
of furnishing bus passenger transportation service to the public
over the streets and highways of the City along the routes now
assigned to Duke Power Company, with such additions thereto
and deletions therefrom as may be hereafter adopted . . .

“Section 8. During the term of the franchise hereby granted, the
Company shall maintain such schedules and will otherwise render
such bus transportation service over the routes assigned to it in
accordance with the foregoing provisions as will meet the reason-
able needs of the public. All controversies with respect to exten-
sions and services shall be determined by The North Carolina
Utilities Commission . . .”

It appears from the record, however, that prior to the institution of
this action the Board of Aldermen of the City of Winston-Salem
adopted a resolution which purports to delete from the franchise ordi-
nance or contract, the provision that “All controversies with respect to
extensions and services shall be determined by The North Carolina
Utilities Commission . . .”

The appellee concedes that decision in this case turns upon the cor-
rect interpretation of G.S. 62-121.47. This statute exempts from regu-
lation eight classes of services, to wit: “(a) transportation of passen-
gers for or under the control of the United States government, or the
State of North Carolina, or any political subdivision thereof, or any
board, department or commission of the State, or any institution owned
and supported by the State; (b) transportation of passengers by taxi-
cabs or other motor vehicles performing bona fide taxicab service and
carrying not more than six passengers in a single vehicle at the same
time and not operated on a regular route or between fixed termini;
provided, no taxicab while operating over the regular route of a common
carrier outside of a town or municipality and a residential and com-
mercial zone adjacent thereto, as such zone may be determined by the
Commission as provided in (h) of this paragraph, shall solicit passen-
gers along such route, but nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit
a taxicab operator from picking up passengers along such route upon
call, sign or signal from prospective passengers; (¢) transportation by
motor vehicles owned or operated by or on behalf of hotels while used
exclusively for the transportation of hotel patronage between hotels
and local railroad or other common carrier stations; (d) transportation
of passengers to and from airports and passenger airline terminals when
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such transportation is incidental to transportation by aircraft; (e)
transportation of passengers by trolley buses operated by electric power
derived from a fixed overhead wire, furnishing local passenger trans-
portation similar to street railway service; (f) transportation by motor
vehicles used exclusively for the transportation of passengers to or
from religious services; (g) transportation of bona fide employees of
an industrial plant to and from their regular employment; (h) trans-
portation of passengers when the movement is within a town or munici-
pality exclusively, or within contiguous towns or municipalities and
within a residential and commercial zone adjacent to and a part of such
town or municipality or contiguous towns or municipalities; provided,
the Commission shall have power in its discretion, in any particular
case, to fix the limits of any such zone.

“The Commission shall have and retain jurisdiction to fix rates and
charges of carriers operating under (e) and (h) of this subsection, and
shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine controversies with respect
to extensions and services, and the Commission’s rules of practice shall
include appropriate provisions for bringing such controversies hefore
the Commission and for the hearing and determination of the same,

”

Notwithstanding the above concession on the part of the appellee, it
contends that the controversy in this case is not “with respect to exten-
sions and services,” but relates solely to a threatened breach by the
defendant of its contract with the City of Winston-Salem, by which
the defendant will substantially curtail the services which it specifically
agreed to furnish,

The defendant, in its letter of 19 June 1956, referred to above, pointed
out that it had protested the heavy inroads into its traffic by so-called
“Suburban” bus lines which are openly providing rides wholly within
the city limits along the few routes which could be profitable to the
defendant. That, in spite of a substantial doubt that these carriers
were ever intended by the Board of Aldermen to carry passengers
wholly within the City, the Board of Aldermen has not seen fit to pro-
tect it from this destructive practice. That these carriers operate only
during the hours while travel is heavy, while the defendant operates its
buses 18 hours daily. The letter further states, “We have continued to
suffer monthly recurring losses while trying to offer the high level
service which we have been operating. It is apparent that we must
either expand our routes into the areas where traffic is available to us
or balance our expenses and income by adjusting the volume of our
service.”

Any provisions with respect to rates and services contained in a
franchise contract between a utilities company and a municipal corpo-
ration, authorizing the utilities company to transport passengers over
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its streets, are subject to the orders of the Utilities Commission in
respect thereto. G.S. 62-121.47; G.S. 62-122(1) ; In re Southern Public
Utilities Co., 179 N.C. 151, 101 S.E. 619; Utilities Commaission v.
Greensboro, 244 N.C. 247, 93 S.E. 2d 151.

It makes no difference whether the provision in the franchise to the
effect that, “All controversies with respect to extensions and services
shall be determined by The North Carolina Utilities Commission,” has
or has not been deleted therefrom. The Utilities Commission is vested
by law with jurisdiction of such controversies. G.S. 62-121.47(1).
This does not mean, however, that the officials of a municipality and
one to whom a municipality has granted a franchise to operate passen-
ger buses over its streets, may not mutually agree upon extensions and
services, changes in routes, or curtailment of services when in the
opinion of the governing board of the municipality it is, under the
existing conditions and circumstances, for the best interest of all con-
cerned, including the publie, to approve such extensions, changes in
routes or the curtailment of existing services. It is only when the
parties to such controversies are unable to reach an amicable agree-
ment that the Utilities Commission, and not the courts, is the proper
forum to hear and determine such controversies. However, no change
in fares or rates may be made except in the manner prescribed by
statute. In re Southern Public Utilities Co., supra. Controversies in
regard to schedules, rates, extensions and services, changes in routes,
or curtailment of existing services, are within the power of the Utilities
Commission to remedy, upon complaint being made, and are not proper
subjects for injunctive or other equitable relief by the courts. Transit
Co. v. Coach Co., 228 N.C. 768, 47 S.E. 2d 297; City Coach Co. v.
Transit Co., 227 N.C. 391, 42 S.E. 2d 398; Warren v. R. R., 223 N.C.
843, 28 S.E. 2d 505; Carolina Motor Service v. R. R., 210 N.C. 36, 185
S.E. 479, 104 A L.R. 1165.

We interpret G.S. 62-121.47(1) to mean that the Utilities Commission
is not vested with power to require the operators of services enumerated
therein to obtain a franchise from it and does not have any supervision
or jurisdiction over such operation, except the operations set forth in
subsections (e) and (h}), and as to them it retains “jurisdiction to fix
rates and charges,” and “to hear and determine controversies with
respect to extensions and services.” Utilities Commisston v. Coach Co.,
236 N.C. 583, 73 S.E. 2d 562,

In our opinion the Utilities Commission has exclusive jurisdiction to
hear and determine the controversy involved in this proceeding, and
we s0 hold, subject to the right of appeal therefrom to the Superior
Court. G.S. 62-26.6, as amended by the 1955 Session Laws of North
Carolina, Chapter 1207.
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In light of the conclusion we have reached, the action of the court
below in overruling the defendant’s demurrer and restraining it from
putting into effect its proposed schedules, is reversed. This does not
mean, however, that the defendant may proceed to put its proposed
schedules into effect. The controversy with respect thereto having
arisen, the defendant may not change its schedules or curtail its services
unless it is given authority to do so by the Utilities Commission.

Reversed.

JoHNsoN, J., not sitting.

STATE v. PAUL A. ALLEN.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Assault and Battery § 4—

In prosecutions for assault by intimidation, each case must depend upon
its own peculiar circumstances, but it is sufficient to constitute a criminal
assault if there is such show of violence as to cause reasonable apprehen-
sion of immediate bodily harm so as to put a reasonable person in fear
whereby he is forced to leave a place where he has a right to be.

2. Assault and Battery § 14—Evidence of assault on female by show of
violence causing her to leave place where she had a right to be, held
sufficient.

Evidence tending to show that defendant repeatedly, day after day,
stopped his car for a few minutes within a very few feet of prosecutrix
at a place on a public street corner where prosecutrix customarily awaited
her ride to work, that defendant would constantly gaze at her and move
the lower part of his body back and forth implying a lustful desire directed
particularly toward prosecutrix, and that because of fear of him prose-
cutrix quit walking the usual way to the place for her ride, and that, on
the occasion before his arrest, caused prosecutrix to run to the steps of a
public school at the place, is held sufficient to be submitted to the jury in
a prosecution for assault on a female. G.S. 14-33.

JoHNsoON, J., not sitting.

AprEAL by defendant from Guwyn, J., April Term 1956 of GuiLrorp
(Greensboro Division).

Criminal prosecution upon a warrant charging defendant with an
assault on a female person, G.S. 14-33, heard on appeal from the
Municipal-County Court, Criminal Division, upon the defendant’s plea
of Not Guilty.
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The State’s evidence presented these facts:

Nancy Powers, a 21-vear-old woman, lives with her parents at 1519
Andover Avenue, one block off of Summit Avenue, in the city of
Greensboro. She is employed as a stenographer by Sears, Roebuck &
Co., at its local place of business. She regularly rides to work each
working day with Mr. & Mrs. Paul Rumley. She walks down Andover
Avenue to Textile Drive, and East up Textile Drive to get to Summit
Avenue, where she stands on the Southwest corner of Summit Avenue
and Textile Drive to wait for her ride. The Rumleys regularly pick
her up there about 25 minutes to 8:00 o’clock each working morning.
On the morning of 19 January 1956 when Nancy Powers was walking
down Andover Avenue, to reach the place where the Rumleys pick her
up, the defendant slowly drove his automobile along Andover Avenue,
staring at her, and practically stopped when he got beside her. She
did not know him, and defendant’s acts frightened her. She walked
on to her regular place for her ride. While she was waiting there for
her ride, she saw the defendant a few minutes later at the corner of
Andover Avenue and Textile Drive. His automobile was stopped. He
then left, drove up to the corner of Textile Drive and Summit Avenue,
and sat there about four or five minutes staring intently at her. He
was about 12 or 15 feet from her, and seemed to be moving back and
forth the lower part of his body. She was frightened by his sitting there
staring at her, The Rumleys came by, and she left,

On the morning of 20 January 1956 Nancy Powers went the same
way to the place where the Rumleys met her. Her father followed her
in their car, and parked at the Northwest corner of Summit Avenue,
and Textile Drive. While there she saw the defendant driving his car
South on Summit Avenue. He stopped his car about 200 yards behind
their car. In two or three minutes the defendant started his car and
came by her driving very slow and looking at her, as if he were going
to stop.

Nanev Powers did not go to work on Saturday, 21 January, or
Sunday, 22 January. On Monday, 23 January, she went to work. She
left her home, and cut through the row of houses on Summit Avenue,
instead of going down Andover Avenue. Upon reaching Summit Ave-
nue, she turned to the right, and went to the usual place to meet the
Rumleys. She saw the defendant coming South on Summit Avenue.
He drove slowly by looking at her, and turned at the corner South of
Textile Drive and Summit Avenue. Three times on that morning he
slowly drove by her looking at her. When he would get to the inter-
section of Textile Drive and Summit Avenue, he would stop, sit there
and look at her, and seemed to be moving the lower part of his body.
At that time he was across a paved street from her. She testified:
“That morning I ran toward the school; I wait for my ride in front of
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Proximity School; I started walking fast toward the school and got
almost to the walk which leads up to the school, I saw him going up
the other side of the boulevard, going north on Summit Avenue and I
ran to the steps of the school; then my ride came and picked me up.
I called my grandfather when I got to work that morning.”

On Tuesday, 24 January, there was snow, and Nancy Powers did not
see the defendant, when she went to meet the Rumleys.

On Wednesday, 25 January 1956, Nancy Powers in going to meet the
Rumleys cut through and between the houses on Summitt Avenue, and
went down Summit Avenue to the corner to the usual place for her ride
with the Rumleys. As she approached this place, she saw the defendant
sitting in his car on the Northwest corner of Textile Drive and Summit
Avenue, and he was parked in front of a car in which her grandfather
was sitting. As she stood waiting for her ride, the defendant drove his
car across to the Southwest corner and stopped three or four feet in
front of her. He sat there four or five minutes staring at her, and
moving his body back and forth. Then her grandfather drove his car in
front of the defendant’s car, stopped, got out, went to the defendant’s
car and asked him to get out. The defendant drove off fast almost
hitting her grandfather. She did not go anywhere then, though she was
frightened, because her grandfather was there.

J. H. Powers, Nancy’s grandfather, testified that when she called
him over the telephone on 23 January 1956, and told him about the
defendant’s acts, she was crying.

Sergeant H. M. Evans, a member of the Greensboro Police Depart-
ment, arrested the defendant on the charge in this case. He asked the
defendant if he was the person, who had been driving by Nancy Powers.
The defendant replied he was, and had been watching her for about ten
days, and turned on Summit Avenue to see her. The defendant said
he was engaged in self-pollution, and was trying to get Nancy Powers
to look at him, while he was so engaged.

The defendant told Lt. Maurice Geiger of the Greensboro Police
Department that what Sergeant Evans said he was doing was true,

The defendant offered no evidence.

The jury returned a verdiet of Guilty, and from judgment of impris-
onment imposed for 30 days the defendant appeals.

George B. Patton, Attorney General, and Harry W. McGalliard,
Assistant Attorney General, for the State.
Z. H. Howerton, Jr., for Defendant, Appellant.

Parker, J. The defendant presents for decision one question: did
the trial court commit error in denying his motion for judgment of
nonsuit made at the close of the State’s evidence?
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The warrant charges an assault, not an assault and battery.

In S. v. Mclver, 231 N.C. 313, 56 S.E. 2d 604, the facts were as fol-
lows: On 7 January about 7:00 a.m. Mrs. Helen Outlaw was walking
to work on Russell Street in the city of Fayetteville. Near the railroad
crossing she met the defendant, who said to her, “you are looking
pretty this morning.” On Thursday on her way to work she met him
again. It had been raining and she was walking a little to the edge of
the sidewalk. She saw the defendant coming toward her, and he
started talking. This Court said his words may be fairly construed
as an indecent sexual proposal. She was frightened, and ran across the
street. On Friday morning she met the defendant at the same place,
and he made a similar remark. Police were nearby because Mrs. Out-
law had told them of the former occurrences, and they arrested the
defendant. This Court held that the evidence was properly submitted
to the jury, and said: “North Carolina is rightly listed as one of the
jurisdictions in which it is not essential to the definition of assault, or to
the completion of that crime, that there should be a present ability to
carry out the threat or menace if it is sufficient in manner and character
to cause the person menaced to forego some right of conduct he intended
to exercise, or to leave a place where he had a right to be.”

In S. v. Sutton, 228 N.C. 534, 46 S.E. 2d 310, this Court he¢ld the
State’s evidence made out for the jury a case of assault, where the
defendant’s standing and staring at Mrs. Louise Allen caused her to
leave her office where she was at work in the courthouse at Plymouth,
and go out into the hall, and stand on the first step leading to the court-
room. The defendant followed her into the hall, and continued to
stare at her. She stepped up two more steps, and the defendant stepped
towards her two more steps still staring. She became frightened and
ran up the steps screaming, and the defendant ran up the steps behind
her.

In S. v. Williams, 186 N.C. 627, 120 S.E. 224, evidence that a 23-year-
old man several times accosted a 15-year-old girl on the streets of a
town, with improper solicitation, causing her to flee from him in a
direction she had not intended to go, and, in her great fear of him,
causing her to become nervous and to lose sleep at night, was held to
make out a case for the jury of an assault on a female,

In S. v. Daniel, 136 N.C. 571, 48 8.E. 544, it is said: “The principle
is well established that not only is a person who offers or attempts by
violence to injure the person of another guilty of an assault, but no one
by the show of violence has the right to put another in fear and thereby
force him to leave a place where he has a right to be.”

In S. v. Martin, 85 N.C. 508, the Court said: “The principle govern-
ing this case has been decided by several adjudications on the subject
by this Court. The principle is that no man by the show of violence
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has the right to put another in fear and thereby force him to leave a
place where he has the right to be.”

The rules of law in respect to assaults are plain, but their apphcatxon
to the faects is sometimes fraught with difficulty. Each case must
depend upon its own peculiar circumstances.

The defendant told Sergeant of Police H. M. Evans he had been
watching Nancy Powers for ten days. Considering the evidence in the
light most favorable to the State, and giving to it the benefit of every
reasonable inference to be drawn therefrom, as the law requires us to do.
when a motion for judgment of nonsuit is made, the facts show the
defendant repeatedly day after day stopping his car a few minutes
within a few feet of Nancy Powers, while she was standing on a public
street corner in the city of Greensboro waiting for her ride to go to
work, a place where she had a right to be, gazing at her and moving
the lower part of his body back and forth, implying a lustful desire
directed particularly toward her. It seems apparent from the defend-
ant’s conduct and acts, that he, possessed by his lustful obsession for
Nancy Powers, deliberately planned to meet her at the same place on
successive mornings. Because of fear of him she quit walking the
usual way to the place for her ride, and went a different way. On the
morning of 23 January 1956 she was standing on the street corner
waiting for her ride to work, and three times the defendant drove by
looking at her, and, when he would get to the intersection of Textile
Drive and Summit Avenue, he would stop his car, sit there, look at her,
and seemed to be moving the lower part of his body. At such times he
was across a paved street from her. Such acts of the defendant fright-
ened her. and caused her to run to the steps of Proximity School. At
that time the Rumleys came along, and she left. Considering the de-
fendant’s acts there on the morning of 23 January 1956, in connection
with similar acts of the defendant there on 19 January 1956 and 20 Jan-
uary 1956, in the light most favorable to the State, can it be said as a
matter of law, thereby taking the case away from the jury, that the
defendant’s acts on 23 January 1956 were insufficient to constitute a
show of violence creating in the mind of Nancy Powers a reasonable
apprehension that the defendant was planning to get out of his car and
inflict upon her immediate bodily harm to satisfy his lust, and thereby
put her in fear, and forced her to run from a place where she had a right
to be? In our opinion, the answer to the question is, No: it is a case
for the jury.

A show of violence, causing “the reasonable apprehension of imme-
diate bodily harm” (8. v. Ingram, 237 N.C. 197, 74 S.E. 2d 532).
whereby another is put in fear, and thereby forced to leave a place
where he has a right to be, is sufficient to make out a case of an assault.
S. v. Mclver, supra; S. v. Daniel, supra: 8. v. Martin, supra.
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The trial court correctly denied defendant’s motion for judgment of
nonsuit. In the trial below we find
No error,

JounsoN, J., not sitting.

ED DEATON v. LEWIS D. COBLE.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Frauds, Statute of, § 5~

A memorandum stating that defendant owed a stipulated sum to a cer-
tain person for plumbing and heating work on a house and that defendant
“ggreed to” plaintiff “$1000.00 of this amount when I pay off” is held
insufficient under the statute of frauds to charge defendant with the debt
due by the third person to plaintiff, there being no special promise to
answer for the debt of the third person. G.S. 22-1,

2. Evidence § 40—

While parol evidence is incompetent to contradict an unambiguous
written instrument, where the writing is insufficient to constitute a legally
effective instrument, parol evidence is competent to show faets which
would render the writing inoperative or unenforceable,

8. Appeal and Error § 42—

Where the parties do not object to the issues submitted, an exception to
the charge on the ground that its subject matter related to an issue which
should not have been submitted, is untenable.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

ApprAL by plaintiff from Crissman, J., at 18 June, 1836, Civil Term
of CABARRUS.

Civil action to recover upon alleged contract.

Plaintiff alleges in his amended complaint: (2) That on or about
6 August, 1953, defendant executed a paper writing in words and figures
as follows:

“8-6-53
“T owe Bill Mabrey $1538 for plumbing and heating in house on
Kannapolis Road.
“T agree to Ed Deaton $1000.00 of this amount when I pay off.
(Signed) Lewis D. Cole
«  Sept. 10-53
Bill Mabry.”
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(3) That co-temporaneously with the execution of the foregoing
paper writing and at the special instance and request of defendant,
plaintiff advanced and paid to Bill Mabry the sum of $1,000.00 in sole
reliance upon the promise of defendant to repay to plaintiff said
amount; and that defendant promised and agreed to repay same on or
about 10th day of September, 1953 —which (4) defendant has refused
to do after pavment demanded.

Defendant, answering, denies each of these allegations of the amended
complaint, except he admits that he has refused to repay plaintiff any-
thing on his alleged claim.

And for further answer and defense, defendant avers: (1) That prior
to 10 September, 1953, Bill Mabry had contracted and agreed with
defendant to do the plumbing and heating work on a house on which
defendant was general contractor; that plaintiff and Bill Mabry came
to see defendant and asked that he agree to pay to plaintiff $1,000.00
of the amount to be earned by Mabry under the sub-contract for a past
indebtedness due to plaintiff by Mabry; that defendant agreed that
whenever Bill Mabry completed the plumbing and heating work in
accordance with the sub-contract, and defendant was ready to settle
with Mabry. in acecordance with the sub-contract, defendant would
pay to plaintiff $1,000.00 of the amount earned by Mabry, if he and
Mabry so desired; (2) that Mabry failed and refused to comply with
sald sub-contract and defaulted on same, and defendant is not indebted
to him in any amount by reason of the sub-contract; and that it became
necessary for defendant to engage and pay someone else to do the
plumbing and heating work; (3) that Mabry was adjudged a bankrupt
by the U. 8. Distriet Court on 4 December, 1953, ete., (4) that “defend-
ant received no consideration from plaintiff or from Mabry for his
agreement to pay plaintiff rather than Mabry when Mabry complied
with his contract;” “(5) that the purported agreement was not written
with sufficient definiteness to comply with the Statute of Frauds (G.S.
22-1) and is not enforceable, which is hereby expressly pleaded in bar
of any recovery by plaintiff herein.”

Upon trial in Superior Court, plaintiff, as witness in behalf of him-
self, testified in pertinent part as follows:

“T am a contractor. I did not know the defendant until the 6th day
of August. 1953, when I first met him. I know Bill Mabry and had
known him six or seven years. On the 6th of August, Mr. Coble came
to Bill Mabry’s shop . . . Mr. Mabry, Mr. Coble and I had a conver-
sation that day. Bill said he wanted to borrow $1,000.00, would Mr.
Coble sign for it? He was sitting in back of the car and Bill wrote it
out and Mr. Coble signed it, and I gave him the money . . . currency,
$100 bills . . . I have seen that piece of paper before. Mr. Mabry’s
signature is at the bottom. Mr, Coble signed it, Lewis G. Coble . . .”
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Plaintiff then offered in evidence the paper writing described in the
amended complaint as hereinabove set forth.

Then the plaintiff continued: “At that time Mr. Mabry, Mr, Coble
and I discussed the matter as to approximately when amount was to
be paid, which was to be in about three months . . . and around three
I called Coble. He said he hadn't collected any money. In a few
weeks I called him again . . . At that time Mr. Coble did not deny
that he owed me money. At the time that paper was written and signed
and a $1000 in bills was passed by me to Mabry, Mr. Mabry did not
owe me any money. Mr. Mabry has never paid me any part of that
$1000.00 . . .”

Then under cross-examination plaintiff continued, in pertinent part,
as follows: “. . . Mr. Mabry and I were in an automobile at Mr.
Mabry’s shop on the occasion that we are talking about. Mr. Coble
came up . . . I did not know anything at that time about Mr. Coble
building a house . . . until Bill told me. . . . Mr. Mabry did not tell
me he was building; said he was having a fellow to come by there and
he needed the money and if I'd sign a statement without any, and I
said ‘Yes.! Mr. Coble did not say anything about that plumbing work
having been finished at the time the statement was signed. I know
that Mr. Klutz is the one who finished the plumbing work. I ...
don’t know what Mr. Mabry had done about the plumbing work.”

And the plaintiff continued under cross-examination: “The money
changed hands when Mr. Coble was there, right after Mr. Coble signed.
Mr. Coble did not tell me that if he owed anything to Mr. Mabry
because of the plumbing, from what he owed Mabry, he would give me
a thousand dollars. He signed the statement just like it reads and that
is all. I do not know how long after that it was before Mr. Mabry
went into bankruptey. I did not file any kind of claim in bankruptey
against Mr. Mabry. I gave the money to Mr. Mabry. I have never
tried to collect that amount from Mr. Mabry. This particular paper
was not already written before Mr. Coble got over there. It wasn’t
sometime later that Mabry signed it. It was mentioned that in about
three months the work would be finished and Mr. Coble would pay off.
That date is 8/6/53. Underneath ‘Coble’ is ‘September 25, 1953.
Underneath that ‘Bill Mabry.” Both of those dates were put in there
at the same time. I guess they were, I know that, I saw it. I cannot
explain why two different dates were put there . . . It was after Bill
Mabry went into bankruptey that I got in touch with Mr. Coble, and
said something to him about the money.”

Then on re-direct examination plaintiff testified: “I gave the cash
to Mr. Mabry.” And on re-cross-examination he concluded: “That is
my signature on that paper . . . the original complaint which I filed
in this case. I did not allege in it that I advanced the thousand dollars
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to Coble . . . I didn’t know what all was in it . . . It says there 1
gave the money to Coble, but I didn’t give any money to Coble; and
he did not get any money out of the transaction, not that day.”

Then Bill Mabry, as witness for plaintiff, testified in pertinent part:
“I am a plumber engaged in the plumbing business, and was so engaged
in August 1953. I had a conversation on August 6, 1953, with Ed
Deaton and Lewis Coble . . . at the shop. I had been doing some
work for Lewis Coble, couple of jobs, prior to the time I had the con-
versation with Coble and Deaton . . . I told Coble I wanted him to
come by there . .. I wanted him to borrow some money from Ed
Deaton, would he sign for a thousand dollars. He said ‘Yes. . . . He
read the paper and signed it . . . Ed gave me the money, a thousand
dollars. At that time Mr. Deaton did not owe me any money, and I did
not owe Mr. Deaton any money. That is my handwriting on Exhibit A
(the paper writing sued on) ... I signed it . .. I saw Mr. Coble
sign that paper. We were all three in the car. I received the money
from Mr. Deaton when we signed it or when we left; Deaton paid me.”

Then the witness Mabry continued under cross-examination: “Mr.
Coble had asked me to do the plumbing work on a house that he was
building before this time. I had agreed to do the plumbing work.”
Then over objection and exceptions by plaintiff, numbered 2 to 14,
both inclusive, the witness was permitted to testify that at this time
he had actually just started the work, just roughed it in; that he was
obligated to put in the furnace and heating plant, but he hadn’t com-
pleted that work at the time the paper was signed; that Mr. Deaton
knew that; that he did not strike a lick of work on this house after that
date; and that he didn’t go back to the job after the paper was signed.”

Then the witness Mabry continued under cross-examination: “It was
more than two months after that before I went into bankruptey. It
was about the 4th of December . . . Mr. Deaton has never asked me
for this thousand dollars or to pay him back . . . T did not give Mr.
Coble any of that thousand dollars, T wasn't supposed to. That was
between me and Mr. Deaton. I have never paid back the thousand
dollars; I am not supposed to. No, I have never paid it.”

Here plaintiff rested his case, and motion of defendant for judgment
as of nonsuit was overruled, and defendant excepted. And defendant
offered no evidence and rested his case, and renewed his motion for
judgment as of nonsuit. Motion was overruled and he excepted.

Then under charge of the court the case was submitted to the jury,
without objection, upon these issues, the first three of which were
answered as shown, and the last two were not answered:

“1. Did the defendant execute the paper writing referred to in the
complaint? Answer: Yes.

T—245
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%2, Did the defendant promise to repay plaintiff for money he ad-
vanced? Answer: No.
“3. If so, did plaintiff advance money to Bill Mabry in reliance
thereon? Answer: No.
“4, Did defendant breach his promise to plaintiff? Answer:
“5. In what amount, if any, is the defendant indebted to the plain-
tiff? Answer:”

Judgment was signed in favor of defendant. Plaintiff excepted
thereto, and appeals to Supreme Court and assigns error.

C. M. Llewellyn and M. B. Sherrin for Plaintiff Appellant.
John Hugh Williums for Defendant Appellee.

WineorNE, C. J. The statute of frauds, G.S. 22-1, in pertinent part
provides that “no action shall be brought . . . to charge any defendant
upon a special promise to answer the debt, defasult or miscarriage of
another person, unless the agreement upon which such action shall be
brought, or some memorandum or note thereof shall be in writing, and
signed by the party charged therewith .

Testing the paper writing sued on by the provision of this statute, it
is seen that it lacks the essential of a “special promise to answer the
debt . . . of another person” the plaintiff, The second sentence is in-
complete, and uncertain in meaning. Thus there is no written special
promise. Hence an action may not be maintained on it.

Moreover, exceptions to the testimony of the witness Mabry brought
forward as basis for assignments of error are without merit.

It is erroneously contended that the paper writing is unambiguous,
and hence the meaning of it is a matter of law to be determined by the
court, and it cannot be varied, modified or added to by parol evidence.
But the parol evidence rule is inapplicable. This rule presupposes the
existence of a legally effective written instrument. It does not in any
way preclude a showing of facts which would render the writing inop-
erative or unenforceable. Stansbury North Carolina Evidence, Sec.
257, p. 519.

Furthermore, when the portions of the charge to which exceptions
are taken are considered in context, it is seen that they are without
merit. Likewise the ground upon which exception is taken to the failure
of the court to properly charge the jury as required by G.S. 1-180 is
without merit. Appellee suggests, in brief filed here, that in these
exceptions appellant is actually complaining because of the subject
matter and submission of the second issue which left to the jury the
determination as to whether defendant promised to repay plaintiff,



N.C] FALL TERM, 1956. 195

PATRICK ?. PATRICK.

Be that as it may, the record fails to show that the issues submitted
were objectionable to the parties.

Some of the assignments of error appear to have been abandoned.
But, in any event, due consideration has been given to all assignments
of error, and in the judgment from which plaintiff appeals there appears
to be

No error.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

SUSIE PATRICK v. JAMES PATRICK.

(Filed 12 December, 19356.})

1. Judgments § 25—

The Superior Court has jurisdiction of a motion in the cause to set
aside a judgment on the ground that it was obtained and the court in-
duced to assume jurisdiction by fraud upon the court intrinsic to the cause
of action.

2, Judgments § 26—

Where the institution of a cause of action and the rendition of a decrec
therein is fraudulently concealed from defendant, his motion in the cause
to set aside the judgment for intrinsic fraud made less than a month after
his discovery of the decree is made in apt time,

8. Abatement and Revival § 14—
The court may vacate a decree of divorce on the ground of fraud even
after complainant’s death when property rights are involved.

4. Judgments § 27e¢: Divorce and Alimony § 22—Findings held to support
decree setting aside absolute divorce on the ground of fraud on the
court.

The evidence was to the effect that the wife obtained a decree of absolute
divorce on the grounds of five years separation upon service by publication
in accordance with the letter of the law then in effect, which did not pro-
vide service outside the State and did not require mailing notice to defend-
ant’s last known address. The evidence further tended to show that the
husband was then working in another state but communicated with the
wife regularly, sending her money and visiting her frequently, that there-
after she joined him in such other state, and that they then moved back to
their home in North Carolina, where they lived together until her death.
and that during the entire time she kept him in ignorance of the divorce,
and that he did not discover that the decree had been entered until it was
presented in support of a motion to oust him as administrator of her estate.
Held: The evidence supports the court’s finding that the wife, by means of
the false allegations contained in her complaint, perpetrated a fraud upon
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the court thereby causing the court to assume jurisdiction of defendant
and grant the divorce decree, and judgment setting aside the divorce upon
the husband’s motion in the cause is affirmed.

5. Process § 6—

The purpose of service of process is to give notice and an opportunity to
be heard, and, even though the letter of the law may be followed with
respect to the affidavit for publication, when this method of service is not
intended to give notice, but to conceal it, in accordance with a calculated
effort on the part of plaintiff to keep actual notice from defendant, juris-
diction of defendant is not aequired.

Joinson, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by the administrator of the plaintiff from an order of Bone,
J., upon motion in the cause.

The essential facts necessary to an understanding of the case are set
forth in the order entered by Judge Bone at the May, 1956 Term, Len01r
Superior Court, as follows:

“This cause comes on to be heard before the undersigned Judge
presiding at this term upon motion in the cause by the defendant
to set aside the Judgment of Absolute Divorce heretofore rendered
at the April 1929 Term. After hearing the proof offered by both
sides and the argument of counsel, the Court finds the following
facts:

“1. That plaintiff and defendant were married to each other in the
City of Philadelphia, State of Pennsylvania, on the 7th day of
June 1907, and lived together in said City and State until about
the year 1917, when they moved to the City of Kinston, North
Carolina, and took up residence there.

“2. That no children were born to said marriage.

“3. That during the year 1923 the defendant obtained employment
in the City of Philadelphia, State of Pennsylvania, and moved to
that City and resided therein through the year 1930 while the
plaintiff continued to live in Kinston, North Carolina.

“4, That between the years 1923 and 1930 plaintiff and defendant
communicated with each other, defendant sent to the plaintiff
money from time to time, and came back to Kinston on frequent
visits to the plaintiff, remaining with her at times from a week to
ten days.

“5. That on January 21, 1929 the plaintiff instituted this action
and filed her complaint in which she alleged that the defendant
abandoned her without just cause; that plaintiff and defendant had
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lived separate and apart for five successive years and that plaintiff
was the injured party, all of which said allegations were untrue.

“6. That plaintiff caused summons to be served upon defendant by
publication, which in all respects complied with the laws of this
State, and that at the April 1929 Term a judgment of absolute
divorce was rendered in this action as appears of record.

“7. That about the year 1930 the plaintiff left IKinston, North
Carolina, for the purpose of reuniting with the defendant, who was
then living in the City of Philadelphia, State of Pennsylvania, and
thereafter plaintiff and defendant returned to the City of Kinston,
North Carolina, and there lived together for about ten years and
until the time of the death of the plaintiff, which occurred on
February 28, 1956.

“8. That on March 2, 1956, upon application of the defendant, the
Clerk of the Superior Court of Lenoir County issued to him letters
of administration upon the estate of the plaintiff, which said letters
of administration were subsequently revoked and Henry Scott
was appointed administrator of the estate of plaintiff. Thereafter
defendant filed an account with the Clerk and turned over to the
said Henry Scott, Administrator, all monies which had come into
his hands as administrator of the estate of the plaintiff.

“9, That the defendant had no knowledge of the aforesaid judgment
of Absolute Divoree, nor of the pendency of this action until on or
about March 9th 1956.

“10. That the plaintiff, by means of the false allegations contained
in her complaint, perpetrated a fraud upon the court, thereby
causing the Court to exercise its jurisdiction and grant the said
Judgment of Divorce.

“Now, THERErORE, it is by the Court ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND
DECREED:

1. That the judgment of Absolute Divorce herein rendered at the
April 1929 Term be, and the same is hereby set aside and declared
void.

“2. That this action be dismissed from the docket.”
From the foregoing order, the administrator of the plaintiff appealed.

LaRoque & Allen and Lamar Jones for respondent, appellant.
Albert W. Cowper for defendant, appellee.
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Hiccins, J. The findings of fact by Judge Bone are abundantly
supported by the evidence before him. A number of neighbors testified
the defendant, James Patrick, frequently visited his wife in Kinston
between 1923 and 1929. These visits lasted from a week to 10 days.
The plaintiff’s sister testified: “I am 81 years old—Susie Patrick was
my sister and I visited her . . . as long as she lived except during the
periods when Susie was living in Philadelphia. . . . To my knowledge
Susie Patrick and her husband, James Patrick, were never separated
but lived together as husband and wife from the time of their marriage
until Susie Patrick’s death in 1956.” She further testified she had
never heard of any divorce until after Susie’s death.

Another witness testified that from 1924 to 1928 she lived directly
across the street from James and Susie Patrick; that in the Spring of
1925 James Patrick came to Kinston on visits and lived in the home
with his wife. He made numerous visits between 1925 and 1929. Susie
Patrick received letters from him. The witness knew nothing of a
divorce until Susie Patrick’s death. Other witnesses gave evidence of
like import.

The administrator offered evidence of three persons who said they
knew James and Susie Patrick. They separated in 1923 and lived
separate and apart until 1929 or 1930. They knew of the divorece pro-
ceeding. One of the witnesses testified she mailed a copy of the news-
paper notice of the divorce proceeding to James Patrick.

The defendant stated under oath he knew nothing of the divoree pro-
ceeding until 9 March, 1956,

This appeal presents these questions of law:

1. Did the Superior Court of Lenoir County, on motion in the cause,
have authority to set aside the divorce decree entered at its April
Term, 1929?

2. Was the motion to set the decree aside timely made?

3. Do the facts found support Judge Bone’s order setting aside the
divorce decree?

Both Henderson v. Henderson, 232 N.C. 1, 59 S.E. 2d 227, and Car-
penter v. Carpenter, 244 N.C. 286, 93 S.E. 2d 617, recognize the right
of an injured party to seek relief by motion in the cause where service
is by publication and lack of due notice deprives the party of an
opportunity to be heard. In the Henderson case, the Court said:
“Moreover, if a judgment be obtained by means of a fraud practiced
upon the court, the question may be raised by motion in the cause.”
In the Carpenter case, this Court said: “Where fraud on the court
deprives the defendant of due process, that is, due notice and oppor-
tunity to defend, and hence of jurisdiction of the person of the defend-
ant, the court, upon sufficient findings, will set aside the decree. Upon
motion in the ecause, and upon sufficient findings of fact made by the
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court incident to its determination thereof, the decree may be set aside.”
McLean v. McLean, 233 N.C. 139, 63 S.E. 2d 138; Bass v. Moore, 229
N.C. 211, 49 S.E. 2d 391; Hatley v. Hatley, 202 N.C. 577, 163 S.E. 593;
Fowler v. Fowler, 190 N.C, 536, 130 S.E. 315.

The Superior Court has power, upon motion in the cause, to make
inquiry, to find facts, and to determine whether proper notice was
given affording an opportunity to be heard. If, therefore, in the original
divorce proceeding the plaintiff caused the court to assume jurisdiction
over the defendant when notice of the pendency of the action was
fraudulently concealed from him, the court had power to set the decree
aside, even though the letter of the law had been complied with by
publication of notice in a newspaper. The purpose of service of process
is to give notice and an opportunity to be heard. The letter of the law
may have been followed with respect to the affidavit for publication
and the notice itself, yet the composite of Judge Bone’s findings shows
a calculated effort on the part of the plaintiff to keep actual notice
from James Patrick. When the method of service is not intended to
give notice, but to conceal it, jurisdiction of the defendant is not ac-
quired. In the McLean case this Court said: “The defendant presents
the view that not only was the service in this case invalid because not
reasonably calculated to give notice (Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank
& Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 94 L. Ed. 865) but that the plaintiff’s at-
tempt to secure a divorce by the means employed was a fraud upon the
court. The rule is that if a fraud is perpetrated on the court whereby
jurisdiction is apparently acquired, when jurisdiction is in fact lacking,
the judgment rendered therein is a nullity and may be vacated by
motion in the cause.”

The court found the defendant knew nothing of the divorce decree
until 9 March, 1956, when it was presented to the clerk in support of
a motion to oust him as administrator of his wife’s estate on the ground
he was not her husband. Twenty-five days after the notice the defend-
ant moved to set aside the divorce decree. He had the right thus to
proceed, even though the adverse party was dead. “By the weight of
authority, for the purpose of establishing property rights, the court
may vacate a decree, even after complainant’s death, when it was
obtained by fraud, and imposition on the part of the complainant, or
without due service of process.” Fowler v. Fowler, supra; Poole v.
Poole, 210 N.C. 536, 187 S.E. 777. In answer to question No. 2, we
hold the motion in the cause was properly and timely made.

The court’s finding of fact No. 6, in the light of the other findings,
simply means the plaintiff filed an affidavit in due form, obtained an
order of publication and published the notice of her divoree action in a
local newspaper, and that she obtained an uncontested decree of
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divorce. It must be conceded at that time the law did not provide for
service outside the State and did not require mailing of a notice to the
defendant’s last known address. From the findings it must be con-
cluded, however, the plaintiff had no cause for divorce on the grounds
alleged (five years continuous separation). The husband was away at
work, communicating with his wife, sending her money, visiting her
frequently for a week or 10 days at a time. This course of conduct
continued from the time he went to Philadelphia in 1923 until she
joined him there in 1930. Thereafter they lived together in Philadel-
phia and Kinston until her death separated them in 1956. During that
entire time she kept him in ignorance of the divorce. In fact, her con-
duct after she obtained the decree shows she did not consider herself
bound by it. The divorce decree seems not to have influenced their
lives in the slightest degree.

The facts found warranted the court in setting aside the divorce
decree on the ground the court was fraudulently induced to assume
jurisdiction over the person of the defendant when jurisdiction was not
obtained by the method of service employed. Lack of notice denied
the defendant the opportunity to appear and to defend. The order
appealed from is .

Affirmed.

Jonnson, J., not sitting.

PARKER, J., concurs in result.

ROBERT A. COLLIER, EXECUTOR OF THE LAST WILL AND TESTAMENT OF R. W.
MILLS, v. ELIZABETH MILLS, EUGENE F. MILLS, MRS. LILLIAN M.
RAPE, MILDRED M. EVANS, MARY FRANK W. GILLELAND axp IDA
BELL M. WALKER.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Appeal and Error § 3—

The granting of a petition for writ of certiorari to review order of the
trial court striking certain allegations of a pleading, in effect grants peti-
tioners the right of immediate appeal, in perfection of which the Rules of
Practice in the Supreme Court apply.

2. Appeal and Error § 16—
Where certiorari is allowed to review order of the trial court striking
certain allegations from a pleading, the petition for certiorari is in effect
an assignment of error directed to the entire order and is sufficient to pre-
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sent for review the question whether the lower court was in error in hear-
ing the motion and entering the order thereon.

8. Wills § 89—

In an action to obtain construction of a will, the admissibility of evi-
dence as to circumstances attendant when the will was made, to enlighten
the court in ascertaining the intent of testator as expressed in the instru-
ment, is to be determined by the court. Therefore, the court should be
free to make decision as to the competency of such evidence when offered,
unimpeded by any prior rulings striking allegations relating to the circum-
stances attendant.

4. Pleadings § 81—

G.S. 1-153 does not apply to a motion to strike allegations from a plead-
ing which relate solely to questions of fact addressed to the court.

3. Appeal and Error § 1—

A matter which has not been ruled upon in the lower court is not pre-
sented for decision in the Supreme Court.

JounNson, J., not sitting.

ON writ of certiorart to review order of Phillips, J., entered at August
Term, 1956, of IREDELL.

Action for declaratory judgment brought by executor for construc-
tion of the will of R. W. Mills, deceased, and for instructions in the
administration of the estate,

Testator, a resident of Iredell County, died 12 January, 1955. His
will, executed 24 December, 1949, was duly probated. Plaintiff quali-
fied and is now acting as executor.

The six defendants, children of the testator, are the only legatees
and devisees.

A list of property, alleged to be that owned by R. W. Mills at the
time of his death, is attached to the complaint. Included therein are
these items: (1) “200 shares of Dividend stock in Home Building &
Loan Association $20,000.00.” (2) “Note of Aaron Baker & wife for
$4,200.00 dated Feb. 20, 1951, with interest paid to Dec. 11, 1954.”
(3) “Note of David Scott, principal balance $60.00 & interest.”

Plaintiff alleged that a controversy exists between defendants ‘“as to
the disposition of the notes, mortgages and Home Building & Loan
stock enumerated in the inventory.” (In said list of property, the word
“mortgage (s)” does not appear. Presumably, the Baker and Scott
notes are secured by mortgages.)

Plaintiff alleged further that the controversy arises from contra-
dictory interpretations placed on the second and fourth items of the
will which, in pertinent part, provide:

“ITrem 2: T give, devise and bequeath unto my daughter, Elizabeth
Mills in fee simple and forever all of my household and kitchen furni-
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ture, my family automobile, all cash, money in bank and bonds that I
own at my death, after payment of my funeral expenses and costs of
paying my debts and settlement of my estate, and also the house and
lot situated on the East side of the Boulevard . . .”

“ITEM 4: My executor, hereinafter named, shall convert all the
rest and remainder of my property, real and personal, into cash and
I give, devise and bequeath the same when so converted equally, share
and share alike unto my six children, Eugene, Elizabeth, Lillian, Mil-
dred, Ida Bell and Mary Frank, to be theirs absolutely and forever.

A joint answer was filed by defendants Elizabeth Mills, Mildred M.
Evans and Ida Bell M. Walker. After admitting plaintiff's allegations
of fact, they asserted their contention that the said items in controversy
passed to Elizabeth Mills under Item 2. Further answering, “and by
way of Cross ActioN for affirmative relief,” they alleged, in eleven
numbered paragraphs, facts concerning the testator’s relationships to
his children, especially defendant Elizabeth Mills, and concerning the
testator’s property when the will was made and thereafter until his
death.

Defendants Eugene F. Mills, Lillian M. Rape and Mary Frank W.
Gilleland did not answer. In lieu thereof, they moved to strike para-
graphs 3, 4, 5 and 10 from said further answer of their codefendants.
They asserted, as the basis for their motion, these grounds: (1) The
facts alleged have no legal bearing upon a proper construction of said
will; (2) evidence in support of said allegations would be incompetent;
(3) movants would be prejudiced if said irrelevant, immaterial and
improper allegations were allowed to remain in said further answer.

The hearing before Judge Phillips was on said motion to strike.
Allowing the motion, he entered an order on 6 September, 1956, striking
paragraph 3, 4, 5 and 10 from said further answer. The answering
defendants excepted and gave notice of appeal.

In apt time, the answering defendants filed a petition in this Court
for a writ of certiorari under Rule 4(a), 242 N.C. 766, for immediate
review of said order of 6 September, 1956, which petition was allowed
by this Court.

Raymer & Raymer for defendants Elizabeth Mills, Mildred M.
Evans, and Ida Bell M. Walker, appellants.

R. A. Hedrick and Adams, Dearman & Winberry for defendants
Eugene F. Mills, Mrs. Lillian M. Rape and Mrs. Mary Frank M. Gille-
land, appellees.

Bosbirt, J. When the petition for writ of certiorart was allowed,
this in effect granted to petitioners the right of immediate appeal from
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the order of 6 September, 1956. In perfecting such appeal, Rules of
Practice in the Supreme Court, 221 N.C. 544, apply.

The record before us contains no assignment of error. Even so, it
shows that exception was taken to the order of 6 September, 1956; and
the petition for certiorart was in effect an assignment of error directed
to the entire order. This suffices to bring before this Court for review
the question as to whether the court below was in error in entertaining
appellees’ motion and in entering an order thereon.

When the cause was before Judge Phillips, the pleadings were incom-
plete. Appellees had not answered the complaint. The hearing related
solely to their motion to strike the designated allegations in appellants’
further answer.

The court made no construction or interpretation of the will.

The admissibility of evidence as to “circumstances attendant” when
the will was made, to enlighten the court in its task of ascertaining the
intent of the testator as expressed in the will, is discussed fully in Trust
Co. v. Wolfe, 243 N.C. 469, 91 S.E. 2d 246.

The question now presented concerns allegations, not evidence. In
this connection, it appears that certain of the alleged facts relate to
“eircumstances attendant” when the will was made, referring “to the
relationships between the testator and the beneficiaries named in the
will, and the condition, nature and extent of his property.” Trust Co.
v. Wolfe, supra. However, on this appeal, we do not undertake to mark
out which of the alleged facts, if any, are or may be relevant to a
proper construction or interpretation of the will.

It is settled that, in the absence of stipulation, “the circumstances
attendant” are to be established by findings of fact made by the court
on competent evidence presented to it. Trust Co. v. Wolfe, supra.

The rules applicable upon consideration of a motion to strike made
under G.8. 1-153 are grouped and restated by Johnson, J., in Dantel v.
Gardner, 240 N.C. 249, 81 S.E. 2d 660. In the cases cited, the pleadings
raised issues of fact for determination by a jury.

Here the situation is different. The challenged allegations, if con-
troverted, raise questions of fact for determination by the court. Issues
of fact, for determination by a jury, are not involved.

A party may be prejudiced before a jury when irrelevant and redun-
dant allegations, or allegations of incompetent matters, are read in the
hearing of the jury. When challenged allegations are stricken, they
are withheld from the ears of the jurors but not from the eyes of the
judge. In hearing a motion to strike, the court must read the chal-
lenged allegations and consider argument relating thereto; and, whether
the motion is allowed or disallowed, the court becomes fully aware of
the alleged facts. And when the ultimate question, to wit, the construe-
tion or interpretation of the will in the light of the “circumstances
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attendant” when the will was made, is presented to another Superior
Court judge for decision, he, too, upon his inspection of the court file,
becomes fully aware of all alleged facts theretofore stricken.

When the cause comes on for hearing on said ultimate question, the
Superior Court judge then presiding should be free to make his own
decisions as to what alleged facts, if any, constitute ‘“‘circumstances
attendant” as well as the significance, if any, thereof. He should be
free to make such decision, when evidence of the alleged facts is offered,
unimpeded by prior rulings relating solely to allegations.

After the order of 6 September, 1956, was entered, appellees filed an
answer in which they alleged factual matters. If a motion to strike
may be entertained, no doubt appellants will address such a motion to
designated allegations made by appellees. In such event, before the
cause comes on for hearing on said ultimate question, there would be
at least two preliminary hearings relating solely to allegations.

A series of hearings before successive Superior Court judges relating
solely to allegations, apart from the element of delay, would serve no
useful purpose. Reason and experience impel the conclusion that the
Superior Court judge who passes on the ultimate question, after all
pleadings have been filed, should determine what are relevant “circum-
stances attendant” and their significance, if any.

We are constrained to hold that the legislative intent expressed in
G.S. 1-153 has no application when the challenged allegations relate
solely to questions of fact addressed to the court. See: Gallimore v.
Highway Commission, 241 N.C. 350, 85 S.E. 2d 392; Woody v. Barnett,
235 N.C. 73, 68 S.E. 2d 810.

Whether the findings of fact made by the Superior Court judge are
based on competent evidence, and whether the facts found have any
significant bearing on the proper construction or interpretation of the
will, are subject to review by this Court.

Our conclusion is that the motion to strike was improvidently made
and that the court was in error in entertaining the motion and in ruling
thereon. Hence, the order is vacated and the cause remanded for
further proceedings consistent herewith.

Nothing herein should be considered as an intimation of opinion as to
the proper construction or interpretation of the will. No ruling thereon
has been made by a Superior Court judge and the matter is not before
us on this appeal. Trust Co. v. Wolfe, supra.

Error and remanded.

Jounson, J., not sitting.
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STATE v. VERNIE HIPP.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)
1. Homicide § 11—

A defendant may set up self-defense under a plea of not guilty to a
charge of murder.

2. Homicide § 27t—Evidence held to raise question of self-defense for con-
sideration of jury.

Defendant’s evidence was to the effect that her husband had made re-
peated threats against her life, that on the occasion in question she was
awakened by an assault committed by him, that he got a rifle, pointed it
at her heart and threatened to kill her, struck her on the side of the head,
and that when she realized what had happened, he was on the floor dead.
The evidence further tended to show that the deceased was a heavy, strong
man and defendant a frail woman. There was also testimony of other
statements made by her not consonant with the theory of self-defense.
Held: The evidence raises the question of self-defense, notwithstanding
contradictory evidence of the State or even defendant’s own declarations,
and it was prejudicial error for the trial court to fail to submit the ques-
tion to the jury under appropriate instructions.

8. Criminal Law § 51—

It is the function of the jury, not the court, to determine the credibility
of the testimony.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

AppEAL by defendant from Fountain, S. J., March, 1956 Term, LEE
Superior Court.

Criminal prosecution upon an indictment charging the defendant
with the crime of murder in the first degree in the killing of her hus-
band, Clayton Hipp. Upon arraignment the solicitor announced in
open court he would not ask for a verdict of guilty of murder in the
first degree, but for murder in the second degree or manslaughter.

The State offered evidence tending to show the following: The de-
ceased and the defendant were husband and wife. They lived in the
City of Sanford. They had a son, John Wayne, 16 years of age, who,
at the time of the homicide was not at home. At about eight o’clock
on Sunday evening, 18 July, 1954, the defendant called the police
department over the telephone and said to Officer Ferguson, “Police-
man, come over to my house. I have shot my husband and killed him.
Bring the coroner.” Officers Ferguson and Eatmon arrived at the
apartment in about five minutes. The defendant was standing in front
of a chair. The body of the deceased was slumped down on his knees
beside a couch with his right hand on the couch. A cigarette in the
fingers of his right hand was still burning. Lying against the chair was
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a .22 calibre auto-loading (erroneously called automatic) rifle. When
asked what happened, the defendant replied that she had shot Clayton,
that she aimed at his heart. She said he had loaded the rifle, given it
to her and “told her she was a damn liar and a s.0.b. if she didn’t shoot
him.” She said she shot him five times, twice in the chest and three
times after he fell. Examination disclosed two bullet wounds in the
chest and three in the back.

On cross-examination, the officer testified the defendant was drinking,.
She said she was tired of taking his beatings; that he had hit her and
put a lot of bruises on her, numbers of times, and she was getting tired
of taking it. The officers saw bruises on her neck, arm and chest and,
“We had had reports he had been beating her. We had been around
there a number of times before when she had bruises.” The deceased
was “a little on the stocky build, weighing about 175 pounds.” The
defendant “was more or less frail in appearance.”

The defendant testified in her own behalf as follows: “On Thursday
night before Sunday, he drew a butcher knife on my back. . . . We

. started to go to bed . . . When I looked back, he had a butcher
knife and was fixing to stab me in the back. I looked up at him. I
said, ‘Clayton, what do you mean?’ He dropped his hand and he just
froze. He didn’t speak for a few minutes, turned and went back to the
kitechen and put the knife up. He never mentioned the knife any more
and I didn’t either.

“ .. on Sunday (the day of the homicide) my husband was home
part of the day. He was there from 2:30 Sunday morning until 12 or
one o'clock Sunday evening. . . . The next time I saw him was when
he awakened me on Sunday evening. I had not been out of the house.
. . . When he woke me up he was twisting my leg and cursing me and
fighting me. I managed to get away from him and get on the opposite
side of the bed and tried to get out of the room. He chased me, was
still fighting me with his hands, He hit me over the face and neck,
twisted my arm. I was trying to get out, begging him to lie down and
let me go to Mama's. . . . I was trying to get to the door because he
was pretty drunk. I figured if I could get to the outside door I could
get out, . . . He was drunk, and all the time he was fighting I was
trying to get away. . . . He said he was going out to get John Wayne
and that he was going to beat hell out of him. When he started out
the door he told me, ‘If you stick your head out the door while I am
gone, I will pull every hair of your head out and choke you to death.’
. . . I thought that would be my break. I thought he would go, but he
came and sat in the corner; he picked his gun up; he cursed me again
and said, ‘No, I am going to kill you right now, and get John Wayne
later.” He picked up the gun and checked the ejector, a bullet fell out.
He came towards me with the gun, still cursing, and the gun pointed
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toward my heart, and the last word I spoke to him, I said, ‘Please put
the gun away.” That is when he struck me up the side of the head,
with what, I don’t know, and I don’t know what happened; how the
gun got in my hand or out of my hand, but I was stunned for awhile.
When I came to he was lying slumped over the couch with his left arm
over the couch and the rest of him on the floor. . . . I reached back and
picked up the telephone and I called the police station. ... I was
afraid of my husband at that time. I was scared of him because he
was allman. He could fight. . . . I don’t know why I shot him because
I never had in my mind to shoot him or anybody else. He had taken
the gun down and threatened to use it on me before, several times.”

The jury returned a verdiet of guilty of manslaughter. From a judg-
ment that the defendant be confined in the quarters provided for women
at the State’s Prison for a term of not less than eight nor more than 12
years, the defendant appealed.

George B. Patton, Attorney General, and Harry W. McGalliard,
Asst. Attorney General, for the State.
S. Ray Byerly and Gavin, Jackson & Gavin for defendant, appellant.

Hiceins, J. The defendant’s plea of not guilty placed upon the
State the burden of proving her guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The
plea permitted her to justify the killing, if she could, by showing the
act was done in self-defense. The evidence for the State was sufficient
to go to the jury on the charge of murder in the second degree, but did
it not also raise the question of self-defense?

The State introduced the defendant’s admission as evidence in the
case. The defendant told her story from the stand. That, too, was
evidence in the case. Boiled down to its essentials, her evidence paints
this picture: The deceased, a strong man, had assaulted and beaten her
repeatedly. Three days before the homicide he had a butcher knife at
her back. On the fatal day he threatened to pull every hair in her
head out and choke her to death. Upon his return after being gone for
a few hours, he began an assault on her while she was asleep. She tried
unsueccessfully to get away from him and to go to her mother’s, but
after twisting her arm and choking her, he got the rifle, threatened to
kill her, and pointed the gun at her heart. He struck her on the side of
‘the head, stunned her, and when she realized what had happened, he
was on the floor, dead. She called the officers,

It is neither the function of the trial court nor of this Court to say
whether the defendant’s story is true or false. That is the jury’s fune-
tion. “There is in this evidence an inference of self-defense which is
not cancelled out by the contradictory evidence of the State, even her
own declarations to others that the actual shooting was accidental. In
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her own evidence she attributed it to a fear, which neither humanity
nor reason may disallow, and of which the law itself is considerate.
Taking all the evidence together, the inference that the defendant
acted under a reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm cannot be
said to be based on a mere scintilla.” 8. v. Greer, 218 N.C. 660, 12 S.E.
2d 238,

If the defendant’s story is to be believed, she was not at fault in
bringing on the difficulty. Therefore, the door to the sanctuary of self-
defense was not closed to her. Even though a frail woman, her natural
reaction to an assault would be to defend herself. The instinct of self-
preservation is strong in most creatures of this earth. Even a mouse
will bite the hand that squeezes it. The question of self-defense arises
on this evidence and only the jury can answer it. The circumstances
under which one may fight and, if necessary, kill in self-defense are
clearly set forth in an opinion by the present Chief Justice in the case
of S. v. Robinson, 213 N.C. 273, 195 S.E. 824.

The learned trial judge charged the jury: ‘“Because of remarks made
by counsel in the arguments, I instruct you, gentlemen, that there is no
evidence of self-defense in this case. There is no evidence of a justifi-
able shooting or Kkilling of Clayton Hipp.” The instruction is the basis
of defendant’s Exception No. 40 and is preserved by Assignment of
Error No. 13. The exception is well taken. It was the duty of the
trial court to submit to the jury the question of self-defense under
proper instructions. For the error in failing to do so, the defendant is
entitled to a

New trial.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

CITY OF STATESVILLE, oA MunicrpaL CorporaTiON, v. THOMAS H.
ANDERSON.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

1. Eminent Domain § 10—

Where a part of a tract of land is condemned, the owner is entitled to
recover compensation for the part taken and compensation for injury to
the remaining portion, and thus receive as compensation the difference
between the fair market value of the entire tract before the taking and the
fair market value of the remaining land immediately after the taking, to
be offset by general and special benefits when applicable under the con-
trolling statute.
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2, Same: Eminent Domain § 18e—

In a proceeding by a municipality to condemn a narrow strip from de-
fendant’s land for street and sidewalk purposes, it appeared that the
line ran through a house on the property. The applicable statute provided
that title should vest in the city when it paid the compensation awarded.
Held: In the absence of evidence by the city showing that defendant would
have the right to remove the house and the cost and feasibility of removal,
an instruction to the effect that the damages should be diminished by the
value of defendant’s right to remove the house, must be held for preju-
dicial error.

8. Eminent Domain § 18b—

While defendant in condemnation proceedings has the burden of estab-
lishing by competent evidence the damage he will sustain by reason of
the taking, the burden is on petitioner to show matters in diminution of
damages by reason of defendant’s right to remove structures from that
part of the land condemned.

4. Eminent Domain § 9—

‘Where land is condemned for sidewalk and street purposes, the possi-
bility of the later abandonment of the easement is ordinarily too specula-
tive and conjectural to be considered in diminution of damages.

JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

ArpeAL by defendant from Johnston, J., February Term 1956 of
IREDELL.

This is a proceeding to acquire by condemnation a right of way
across lands of defendant adjacent to the west side of North Race
Street in order to widen the street and provide a sidewalk. The petition
specifically describes the land to be acquired, asserting the area involved
is nine-tenths of an acre.

Defendant in his answer admits he owns a tract of land which in-
cludes the area described in the petition. He alleges the area taken is
in excess of an acre and further alleges: “to widen North Race Street
all on the West side of said street as proposed, will undermine and
destroy the usefulness of a dwelling, located on said property, and the
defendant will be compelled to move the house at great expense or
demolish it.”

Commissioners were appointed to determine the amount of compen-
sation to which defendant was entitled. They made a report to the
clerk. He approved the report and rendered judgment, directing pay-
ment of the amount reported. Plaintiff and defendant each excepted
and appealed to the Superior Court.

Defendant’s land abuts on Race Street approximately 1650 feet.
The tract contains about thirty-six or thirty-seven acres. Situate on
this tract is a dwelling facing Race Street. The western line of the
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area described in the petition and to be acquired by plaintiff runs
through the house.

The jury, under instructions from the court, assessed defendant’s
damages. Judgment was entered in conformity with the verdict, and
defendant excepted and appealed.

Bazxter H. Finch and R. A. Hedrick for petitioner appellee.
Scott, Collier & Nash and Land, Sowers & Avery for respondent
appellant,

Rooman, J. The only issue for determination by the jury was the
amount of compensation to which defendant was entitled.

The court instructed the jury: “Now, members of the jury, the court
instructs you that under the estate sought to be acquired by the plaintiff
that the defendant would have the right at any time prior to the assert-
ing of the easement acquired to remove from the premises the house
that has been described as being on the property, or being on the line of
the property. The court instructs you that at any time prior to assert-
ing the rights sought to be acquired by the plaintiff that the defendant
would have the right to use this property for any purpose not incon-
sistent with the purposes for which the right is acquired by the plain-
tiff.”

The court further instructed the jury: “Now the court instructs you
that you will answer the first issue in such an amount and in only such
an amount as the defendant has satisfied you that he will be damaged
by this taking, that is, you will answer it in such an amount as you will
arrive at, determining the fair market value of the entire tract before
the taking and subtracting therefrom the fair market value of the prop-
erty after the taking, bearing in mind that the defendant will have the
right to remove the house from the tract to be taken but that he would
be under no obligaion or duty to do so.”

In other parts of the charge the jury was advised “that the defendant
would have the right to remove the house, but that he would be under
no obligation to do so.”

Defendant noted exceptions to the charge and assigned these excep-
tions as prejudicial error. Defendant’s exceptions are well founded.
The measure of damages when a portion of a tract of land on which
there is situate, in whole or in part, a building was stated with clarity
in Proctor v. Highway Commission, 230 N.C. 687, 55 S.E. 2d 479.
What was there said was repeated in Highway Commission v. Black,
239 N.C. 198, 79 S.E. 2d 778. We quote from that opinion: ‘“Where
only a part of a tract of land is appropriated by the State Highway and
Public Works Commission for highway purposes the measure of dam-
ages in such proceeding is the difference between the fair market value
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of the entire tract immediately before the taking and the fair market
value of what is left immediately after the taking. The items going to
make up this difference embrace compensation for the part taken and
compensation for the injury to the remaining portion, which is to be
offset under the terms of the controlling statute by any general and
special benefits resulting to the landowner from the utilization of the
property taken for a highway.” Amplification would not add clarity to
the rule so definitely stated.

The record in this case does not describe in any detail the building
affected by the acquisition. It does appear from the testimony of the
witness Stafford that the building must be moved. He testified that
the area to be acquired varies from seventeen to twenty-nine feet in
width. He estimated an average width of nineteen to twenty feet. He
said: “In order to obtain the width of 17 to 25 feet on the western side
of North Race Street it would go through the tenant house; and that
the tenant house should be taken away and moved.” Plaintiff’s other
witnesses, testifying about the building, merely placed a value of about
$1,000 on the house. Evidence for defendant tends to fix the value of
the house at $2,500. The only other evidence with respect to the house
is that it “has three excessive big rooms, two porches, underpinning,
and is in extremely good condition . . .”

This proceeding is under the charter of the City of Statesville, c. 243,
P.L. 1911. That Act provides that title shall vest in the city when it
pays the compensation awarded. Hence the city has the right to posses-
sion at the moment it pays the amount fixed by the jury. A narrow
strip of land is being condemned. Its maximum width is twenty-nine
feet. The city is acquiring it to widen the street and construct a side-
walk. The undisputed testimony is that the building must be moved to
accomplish that purpose. It may be reasonably assumed that the city
will act promptly in taking possession. Otherwise there would be no
reason for condemning defendant’s land.

What credit under the instruction should the jury properly allow
(1) for the right to remove the house and (2) the right of defendant
“t0 use this property for any purpose not inconsistent with the purposes
for which the right is acquired by plaintiff’? The court did not instruct
the jury that the plaintiff could immediately upon the ascertainment
of the damages take possession by paying into court the amount
awarded. It did not fix any time within which removal could be
effected, nor did it lay down any rule to guide the jury in measuring
this right of occupancy or right of removal. Not only did the court not
give the jury any rule by which to measure the rights which it said the
defendant had, but there was no evidence on which he could formulate
any rule. What would it cost to move the building? How far would
it be necessary to move it? What was the method of construction and
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how would this relate to the feasibility of moving the building? All
of these are material factors as well as the time element in measuring
the rights which the jury were advised could be used to diminish de-
fendant’s damages. Under the factual situation presented by this case
we are of the opinion that these rights, like the value which may attach
to the possibility of the abandonment of a right of way, are too minute
and conjectural to measure, and that the correct rule to apply is as we
have quoted from Highway Commission v. Black, supra.

Defendant has the burden of establishing by competent evidence the
damage he will sustain by the act of the plaintiff. The jury will not
be permitted to base their verdict on a speculation, Lieb v. Mayer, 244
N.C. p. 613, nor can defendant’s damages be diminished by ascribing to
him rights which have not been shown by the evidence to be of value.

New trial.

JouNsoN, J., not sitting.

F. L. TAYLOR v. E. M. HUNT.
(Filed 12 December, 1956.)

Master and Servant § 41—

‘Where an injured employee has accepted compensation under the Work-
men’s Compensation Act, no action instituted within six months from the
date of the injury may be maintained in the name of the injured employee
unless the complaint discloses that the action was instituted in the name
of the employee by either the employer or the insurance carrier. G.S. 97-10.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting,

AppEAL by plaintiff from McKeithen, Special J., 28 May Special
Term 1956 of MoORE.

This is a civil action instituted by the plaintiff on 23 January 1956
to recover for personal injuries sustained by him on 10 November 1955
when a motor vehicle operated by the defendant collided with a motor
vehicle being operated by the plaintiff on Highway No. 109, near
Denton, North Carolina.

The plaintiff, F. L. Taylor, at the time of the accident was president
of the Troy Lumber Company, a North Carolina corporation, and the
motor vehicle which he was operating belonged to the company and
was being used on a business trip for the company. Plaintiff was cov-
ered by the provisions of the North Carolina Workmen’s Compensation
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Act at said time and the insurance carrier of the Troy Lumber Com-
pany has paid certain compensation for plaintiff’s injuries.

The defendant, in answering the plaintiff’s complaint, set up in his
second further answer and defense, as a plea in bar, which in substance
alleges that, since the plaintiff was covered by the provisions of the
Workmen’s Compensation Act and had accepted compensation there-
under, the carrier had the exclusive right under the Act to bring the
action within six months from the date of the accident. Therefore, it
is alleged, this action should be dismissed since it was instituted within
six months of the date of the injury and there is nothing on the face of
the complaint to indicate that it was instituted by the carrier in the
name of the injured employee.

The plaintiff moved to strike all of the second further answer and
defense. The motion was denied.

The plaintiff applied for a writ of certiorart pursuant to thé pro-
visions of Rule 4(a) of the Rules of Practice in the Supreme Court,
242 N.C. 766. We allowed the petition.

David H. Armstrong for appellant.
W. D. Sabiston, Jr., for appellee.

DenNy, J. The appellant states in his brief that the action was
instituted with the knowledge, consent and approval of the insurance
carrier. We construe this statement to be tantamount to an admission
that the action was not instituted by the carrier in the name of the
injured employee, as authorized by G.S. 97-10. We think this view is
further confirmed by the appellant in his brief in which he contends
that the right of the employer or carrier to bring the action within six
months from the date of such injury or death, may be waived, citing
Foster v. Congress Square Hotel Co., 128 Me. 50, 145 A. 400, 67 A.L.R.
239.

We express no opinion as to whether the exclusive right given to an
employer or his carrier to bring suit within six months from the date
of the injury or death may or may not be waived in favor of the in-
jured employee, since waiver of such right is not pleaded by the plain-
tiff. See Wright v. Insurance Co., 244 N.C, 361, 93 S.E. 2d 438.

Under the original provisions of our Workmen’s Compensation Act,
Section 11, Chapter 120, of the Public Laws of 1929, an employee or
his personal representative had to elect whether he would accept the
benefits available to him under the Workmen’s Compensation Act, or
would proceed in a suit at common law against a third party to recover
damages for such injury. And where the injured employee or his per-
sonal representative elected to accept the benefits available under the
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provisions of the Workmen’s Compensation Act, such acceptance was
a complete bar to his right to proceed with the alternate remedy.

The Act, however, has always provided that where an employer has
assumed liability for an award for compensation, he shall be subro-
gated to such rights as the injured employee or his personal representa-
tive had against any other party for such injury or death. Likewise,
the Act provided that where an insurance carrier has paid an award
for which the employer was liable, the insurance carrier shall be subro-
gated to all the rights of the employer, and that such subrogated rights
may be enforced against a third party in the name of the employer, or
the insurance carrier, as the case may be, or in the name of the injured
employee or his personal representative. Brown v. R. R., 202 N.C. 256,
162 S.E. 613; McCarley v. Council, 205 N.C. 370, 171 S.E. 323.

In 1933 the General Assembly amended the Workmen’s Compensa-
tion Act, eliminating the requirement for an election of remedies, and
authorizing the employee or his personal representative to bring an
action against a third party if the employer had not instituted such
action within six months of the date of such injury or death. Chapter
449, Public Laws of 1933. The Act was amended again by Chapter
622, Session Laws of 1943, which amendment provided “that after the
Industrial Commission shall have issued an award, or the employer
or his carrier has admitted liability in writing and filed the same with
the Industrial Commission, the employer or his carrier shall have the
exclusive right to commence an action.” (Emphasis added.) Such
action may still be instituted in the name of the injured employee, or
his personal representative, and if not brought within six months by
the employer or his carrier, the employee or his personal representative
may institute such action. G.8. 97-10; Eledge v. Light Co., 230 N.C.
584, 55 S.E. 2d 179.

In the case of Lovette v. Lloyd, 236 N.C. 663, 73 S.E. 2d 886, this
Court, speaking through Ervin, J,. said: “G.S. 97-10 specifies how the
liability of the negligent third party to the injured employee is to be
enforced. The employer or the insurance carrier, who has paid or
become obligated to pay compensation to the employee injured by the
negligent third party, has the exclusive right in the first instance to
commence an action ‘in his own name and/or in the name of the injured
employee’ against the third party for the damages suffered by the
employee on account of the injury. If neither the employer nor the
insurance carrier commences the action against the negligent third
party within six months from the date of the injury, the right of action
passes to the injured employee, and the injured employee thereafter
has the right to bring the action in his own name against the third party
for the damages suffered by him on account of his injury.”
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1t is now settled, however, in this jurisdiction that in a compensation
case where the employee dies as a result of an accident arising out of
and in the course of his employment, any action against a third party,
whose negligence may have contributed to the death of the employee,
must be brought by the personal representative of the deceased and
not by the employer or his carrier. Whitehead & Anderson, Inc. v.
Branch, 220 N.C. 507, 17 S.E. 2d 637.

In our opinion, where an injured employee has accepted compensa-
tion under our Workmen’s Compensation Act, no action instituted
within six months from the date of the injury may be maintained in
the name of the injured employee, unless the complaint discloses that
the action was instituted in the name of such injured employee by
either the employer or his carrier. This view was adopted upon similar
faets by the Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia in the case of Smith
v. Virginia Ry. & Power Co., 144 Va. 169, 131 S.E. 440.

The ruling of the court below is

Affirmed.

Jounson, J., not sitting.

STATE v. VERNON LEGRAND MORGAN.

(Filed 12 December, 1956.)
1, Homicide § 22—

Where defendant contends he acted in self-defense, evidence of the gen-
eral reputation of deceased for violence is competent, but this rule does
not render admissible evidence of specific acts of violence which have no
connection with the homicide, and therefore, the court in such case prop-
erly excluded proof of a conviction of the deceased in the recorder’s court
on an unrelated charge of assault with a deadly weapon.

2. Homicide § 27—
The court’s charge to the jury on defendant’s plea of self-defense held
without error.

8. Criminal Law § 53f——

Defendant’s objection that the court failed to stress his contentions
equally with those of the State, held not supported by the record.

JOHNSON, J., not sitting.

ArpEAL by defendant from Williams, J., July Term, 1956, of MonT-
GOMERY.
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The defendant was indicted for the murder of Roy Cagle. The
Solicitor announced he would not ask for a verdiet of murder in the
first degree but for a verdict of murder in the second degree or man-
slaughter as the evidence might warrant.

The evidence offered by the State tended to show that on Sunday
afternoon, 8 January, 1956, the deceased, Roy Cagle, accompanied by
the State’s witness Melvin Davis, drove his automobile into Clegg’s
Garage in Star, N. C., and stopped 10 or 15 feet from a parked auto-
mobile in which the defendant Vernon Morgan and his brother Arthur
Morgan and Marvin Hancock were sitting. Shortly afterwards, the
defendant got out of his automobile with a double barrel shotgun in
his hand, approached the right side of the Cagle automobile and mo-
tioned the occupants to roll down the window, which was done. De-
fendant then charged Roy Cagle with having followed him and blocked
the road on him, and Cagle, according to the testimony of Melvin
Davis, reached over and opened the right front door of his automobile
(the left front door could not be opened from the inside), and imme-
diately the defendant shot Cagle. Davis sprang out and begged him
not to shoot him again, but the defendant stepped back and again shot
Cagle, who had then fallen on the front seat. The gun had been loaded
with buckshot, and the first discharge struck the deceased’s right breast
and the second struck his neck, ranging downward. The deceased died
almost instantly. It was testified by the examining physician that his
death was due to these gunshot wounds. Melvin Davis testified that
neither he nor Roy Cagle had any weapon of any kind; that Arthur
Morgan, brother of defendant, stood by at the time of the shooting
with a pistol in his hand.

The defendant Morgan admitted he fired the fatal shots, but claimed
this was done in self-defense. He testified that some time before he
had reported to the officers a whiskey still which he discovered while
hunting, and that afterwards an automobile which he identified as
Roy Cagle’s followed him on two occasions, blocked the road on him,
and had stopped in front of his driveway; that he had been told of
threats against him by Cagle, and he carried a gun in his automobile
for protection; that when Cagle drove up and stopped near him on this
occasion, he got out with his gun unbreached and motioned to the
occupants of the Cagle car to roll down the glass, and Davis, who was
in the Cagle car, reached in the dash and pulled out a pistol and placed
it on the seat between him and Cagle. Defendant testified he asked
Cagle why he blocked the road on him; that Cagle said, “I will kill
you,” and “shoved the pistol directly across Melvin Davis’ face and
right into my face.” Thereupon defendant said he fired twice. The
second shot was only a moment after the first. He said he told his
brother to take the pistol out of Cagle’s hand, which he did, and ex-
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hibited the pistol in evidence at the trial. The defendant also offered
evidence tending to show that Roy Cagle was a violent and dangerous
man and that he had been convicted several years before for assault
with a deadly weapon. He offered certified copy of a Recorder’s Court
judgment showing Roy Cagle’s plea of guilty of assault with deadly
weapon. The State’s objection to the copy of the judgment was sus-
tained, and defendant excepted.

The State offered evidence in rebuttal that Roy Cagle did not have
reputation for violence; that he was a married man engaged in trucking
between Lumberton and Star; that he did own a pistol, but this was at
his home, and that the one exhibited by the defendant was not his.

The jury returned verdict of guilty of murder in the second degree,
and from judgment imposing sentence defendant appealed.

Attorney-General Patton and Assistant Attorney-General McGal-
liard for the State.
H. F. Seawell, Jr., and Charles H. Dorsett for defendant, appellant.

Dgevin, J. The defendant admitted that he shot and killed the
deceased, but claimed that this was done in self-defense. The jury
rejected his plea and found him guilty of murder in the second degree.
The evidence supports the verdict and judgment.

The défendant has brought his case here for review, assigning errors
in the trial which he asserts influenced the adverse verdict.

Error is assigned in the ruling of the court in sustaining objection
to the introduction of a copy of a Recorder’s Court judgment showing
the conviction of Roy Cagle, the deceased, in 1952 on the charge of
assault with a deadly weapon. Having offered, on his plea of self-
defense,-evidence that the deceased bore the general reputation of being
a violent and dangerous man to his knowledge, the defendant contends
he was entitled also to show instances of violence on the part of the
deceased in support of his contention that he acted under the reasonable
apprehension of death or great bodily harm.

The competency of evidence of the general reputation of the deceased
for violence, known to the defendant, when offered in support of his
plea that he acted in self-defense, has long been recognized by this
Court. 8. v. Turpin, 77 N.C. 473; S. v. Blackwell, 162 N.C. 672, 78 S.E.
316; S. v. Hodgin, 210 N.C. 371, 186 S.E. 493; S. v. Rawley, 237 N.C.
233, 74 S.E. 2d 620. But the competency of testimony relating to a
single instance of lawlessness on the part of the deceased may not be
held supported by the rule enunciated in those cases. S. v. LeFevers,
221 N.C. 184, 19 S.E. 2d 488.

In the LeFevers case, supra, we said: “Where there is evidence tend-
ing to show that the defendant acted in self-defense, evidence of the



218 IN THE SUPREME COURT. [245

STATE v. MORGAN,

general reputation of the deceased for violence may be admitted, but
this rule does not render admissible evidence of specific acts of violence
which have no connection with the homicide. 8. v. Hodgin, 210 N.C.
371, 186 S.E. 493; 8. v. Melton, 166 N.C. 442, 81 S.E. 602; Smuth v.
State, 197 Ala. 193.” See also Gunter v. State, 63 Ga. App. 65, 10 S.E.
2d 264.

There was no error in sustaining objection to the proffered testimony.

The defendant also assigns error in the rulings of the trial judge with
respect to the admission of testimony in several other instances to
which he noted exceptions, but upon examination we find no error in
the rulings complained of.

The defendant assigns error in the court’s charge to the jury in the
respects to which he noted exception. His 16th, 17th and 18th excep-
tions are directed to the following language of the court:

“Now in this case the defendant has seen fit to set up as a defense a
plea of self-defense as a justification for taking the life of the deceased.”
(Exception No. 16.)

“The burden of satisfying you as to that defense is upon the defend-
ant to show, not beyond a reasonable doubt or by the greater weight
of the evidence, but to show it to your satisfaction, therefore, it becomes
necessary for you to know under what circumstances and with what
qualifica